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Our products

are allaround you.
On your walls.

Under your carpet and floor tiles -
or wrapped around your lunch.

Decorative
They're in the wires and cables that connect you to Poatings
the world, in the clinics and hospitals that keep us all

healthy, and in the factories, construction sites and

offices that drive our economy.

And if you’re holding a printed copy of this report,
they could even be in your hands.

Our teams of experts make many of the high-performance,
highly specialised chemical products that bind the modem
world together, using water-based solutions that eliminate
carbon emissions. We serve customers in a huge range of
markets, whose own end-products are a vital part of all our
daily lives. And we’re growing fast, by fulfilling our purpose:

creating innovative and sustainable polymer solutions for
the benefit of customers and society.
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Who we are and what we do

Synthomer at a glance

- We make high-performance, highly specialised
chemical products to serve customers all over
the world, and we’re a leading supplier of
sustainable water-based polymer solutions
which help eliminate harmful emissions.

Through our differentiated portfolio, our
wide customer base, and our track record of
outstanding innovation, we’re delivering on
our strategy: driving long-term sustainable
growth organically and through acquisitions.

2021 Highlights

Underlying performance statement '

The Group's performance management uses Underlying performance to plan for, control end assess the parformance of the Group. Underying performance
differs from the statutory tFRS performance as it excludes the effect of Special items, which are detailed in note 4 to the financial statemants. The Board's view is
that Uinderlying performance provides additional ctarity for tha Group's investors and stakeholders and so it is the primary focus of the Group's narrative raporting.
Whara appropriate, IFRS performance inclusive of Special lems is also described. Refersnces to ‘unit margin’ and ‘'margin’ are used in the commentary on
Underlying parformanca. X

Unit margin {or margin) is Galculated on selling price less variable raw material and logistics costs.

EBITOA is calculated as operaling profit befora depreciation, amortisation and Special I(e|ms.

Free Cash Flow is the movement in net debt before financing activities, foreign exchange and the cash impact of Special lterns, asset disposals and business
combinations.
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Our global reach

North America

£2.3bn

revenue

2020: £1.8bn
6,000+
customers
Suécessfully integrated

our OMNOVA acquisition
ahead of schedule

See page 21

EMEA

Asia

4,600+

employees
2020: 4,200+

principal end markets
l.aunched our Vision

2030 roadmap to a more
sustainable future

Sea page 18

Our four divisions:

Performance Elastomers

Delivering water-based Nitrile Butadiene
Rubber latex {NBR) and Styrene Butadiens
Rubber latax (SBR) products.

Functional Solutions

Delivering acrylic and vinylic water-based
dispersions.

Industrial Specialities

Delivering speciality chemical additives and
non-water-based chemistry for a broad range
of applications as well as laminates & fims.

Acrylate Monomers

Supplying acrylic monomers to our European
Functional Solutions Divisian and to third-
party customers.

Share of revenue

by end market
A 23.2% Health & Protection

B 11.6% Carpet, Compounds & Foam
C 6.3% Paper & Packaging
D 143% Coatings

E 84% Construction

F 76%  Technical Textiles
G B.1i%  Adhesives

H 20% Qil&Gas

| 8.5%  Polymer Additives
J 6.3% Laminates & Films
K 17% Coated Fabrics

L 4.0% Acrylate Monomers

37

production sitgs\

2020: 38

34%

reduction in Scope 1 and 2
GHG emissions since 2019

Announced proposed
$1 billion acquisition
to.form our Adhesive
Technologies division

See page 14
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Who we are and what we do

Our business model

Innovation, sustainability and customer service
are at the heart of our business model, which
draws on our unique teams and assets to deliver
high-performance speciality chemical products
and create vaiue for all our stakeholders.

Global demand...

4

...for lower-
carbon, more
circular products

...for construction
and urbanisation

...for health and
hygiene products

...for adhesives
and packaging

Focus on consumer
end-use dernand

Understanding the
© maero trends

O 4 Synthomer ple
Annual Report 2021

...shapes our
strategy...

To drive long-term
sustainable growth
organically and
through acquisitions
through six priorities:

» Research and development
and technical expertise to
exploit new consumer markets

» Driving efficiency and
excallence through operations

¢ Capacity utilisation
» Investment in capacity
* Bolt-on acquisitions

» Transformational transactions

........

Enreptenadnial
- pecple and cutture,
underpinned by our values

Intagrated tisk strategy and risk

rmanagement processes

Track record of intagrating

actjuisitions

...for serving
diverse global
markets...

Over 6,000
customers in:

* Health & Protection
* Carpet, Compounds & Foam
* Paper & Packaging
* Coatings

* Construction

* Technical Textiles

+ Adhesives

= Qil & Gas

= Polymer Additives
* | aminatas & Films
+ Costed Fabrics

* Acrylate Monomers

) Strong relationships with "

customers in highly
differentiated markets

Global technical
services teams

...through
four divisions
across three
continents...

Performance
Elastomers

Functional
Solutions

Industrial
Specialities
Acrylate
Monomers

~

Growing

' international breacth

ond reach, with
increasingly balanced

. sales across Americas, |

EMEA and Asia

on execution,
efficiency, and
business excellence’

Strong relationships with
raw materials’ suppliers '_-'

_and aresilient .
supply chain .-



s

...and fulfilling
our purpose...

-..Creating
innovative and
sustainable
polymer solutions
for the benefit
of customers
and society

Global
leadership
in water-hased
polymer solutions

Vision 2030,

...........

Qur
values
Salety, health and
environment
Accountability
Integrity
Teamwork

..........

...by making
specialist, high-
performance
products...

Qver 14 product lines

including:

* Water-based Nitrile latex and
Performance Materials products

for the healthcare, carpet, foam
and paper marksts.

Acrylic and vinylic watar-based
dispersions for the coatings,

construction, technical textiles,
adhesives and oil & gas markets.

Speciality chermical
additives and non-water-
based chemistry for a
broad range of applications
from polymer additives

and polymer manufaciure
to emerging materials.

Acrylate monomers that
improve the performance
characteristics of polymer
formulations including
latex and solution
copolymers and cross-
linkable polymer systems.

Highly
differentiated portiolio -

Improved products with
improved marging

...that add value
for customers...

Responding to
consumer needs
in thousands

of applications

Qutstanding global
and divisional
innovation

Focusing on product
sustainability benefits

. Formulations
designed for use
in customer-
specific products to meet
consumer neads

Close technical services

partnershipg with customers
- to advise on applications, -

sustainability and

...and create

value for all

stakeholders.

£522.2m

2020: £259.4m
EBITDA

4,632

2020: 4,601 employees

Employees in 24 countr\ies

£243.7m
2020: £211.3m
payroll

£28.9m
2020: £25.8m
R&D spend

43%
of naw products with
sustainability benefits

£1.6bn
2020: £1.2bn
spend with suppliers

£73.5m
2020: £12.8m
returned to shareholders

£86.4m
2020: £31.4m
corporate tax paid

Synthomer pic
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Who we are and what we do

What we make - and who we make it for

Differentiation. Specialisation. Sustainability.

And high performance. We're able to lead the way
in water-based polymers because of the breadth
and diversity of the end markets we serve, our
strong relationships with more than 6,000
customers, and our commitment to innovate and
deliver the high-performing products they need.

We draw on our unique business strengths...

/ Global leadership in -
;  water-based polymers
i which eliminate the need

for the volatile organic
L compounds in solvent- .
T ..~ basedproducts 7 .o

Cutting-edge
:  innovation focused on
: consumer neads including :
: specialisation and 3
sustainability

Powerful connections

¢ to customers through
i our technical service and
; research teams '

Woridwide reach
through innovation
and manufacturing sites
in Asia, EMEA and
North America

Synthomer pl¢
06 Annual Report 2021
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...t0 serve over 6,000 customers
in diverse, strategic end markets:

Health &
Protection
23.2% of revenue

Carpet,
Compounds &
Foam

11.6% of revenue

Paper &‘
Packaging
6.3% of revenue

Coatings
14.3% of revenue

Construction
B8.4% of revenue

Technical Textiles

7.6% of revenue

Adhesives
6.1% of revenue

Ol & Gas
2.0% of revenue

Polymer
Additives
8.5% of revenue

Laminates &
Fitms
6.3% of revenue

Coated Fabrics
1.7% of ravenue

Acrylate
Monomers
4.0% of revenue

a

We are a world lsader in Acnyonitrile Butadiene Rubber (NBR
latex} for glove-dipping and associated healthcare industries.
Gloves made from our spaciality NBR latex ensure a combination
of high tensile strength, good elongation and relaxation.

Our specialist High-Solid Styrene Butadiene (HS-SBR), Styrene
Acrylic {SA) and SBR-compounded products provide high-
performance binders for the backing of carpet and artificiat turf,
and as gel foam elastomers for floor coverings, footwear and
mattresses.

Wa are Europe's largest manufacturer of SBR and SA high-
performance hindars for graphic, packaging and speciality paper
coatings., Cur products help customers mest stringent regulatory
requirements and comply with rules on food contact.

Wa develop speciality binders to meet the performance

and regulatory requirements of the architectural and

industrial coatings market, using acrylic and vinylic copolymer
dispersions that are low Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs),
low odour and alkylpheno| ethoxylate (APEO) free.

Our dry and liquid specialist polymers provide binding or
bonding properties for many construction applications,
including mortar modification, liquid-applied waterproofing
membranes, ceramic tile adhesives, and flocring adhesives.

Qur products are used in a broad range of woven and
non-waven applications, including to bind mesh insulation
systemns in technical textiles, to provide the binder in distribution
layers in non-woven nappies, and in decorative laminates.

Our specialist polymers bond dispersions and bind industrial
and consumer adhesives, meeting our customers’ stringsent
technical and regulatory requirements,

We are a global Isader in speciality polymaric solutions that
promote wellbore stability and drilling efficiency in the most
challenging high-temperature, high-pressure and high-
differential pressure operating environments.

We make a broad range of specialist polymer solutions,
including suspending agents for PVC manufacture,
thermosetting polyester resins for powder coatings,

and thermal stabilisers in polyamide engineering plastics.

Wa produce decorative laminates for residential
and commercial intariors and recreational vehicles,
and performance films for luxury flooring, signage
and industrial applications.

We manufacture high-performance polyurethane and vinyl coated
fabrics used in seating and trims in cars, buses, boats and ships,
and in healthcare, hospitality, education and corporate offices.

Qur range includes our industry-leading PreFixx protective finish.

Wa make acrylic acid and acrylate monomers which improve
the performance characteristics of thousands of polymer
formulations including latex and solution copolymers and
cross-linkable polymer systems.

...by making speciality products

used in thousands of applications

that consumers use every day:

* Madical and examination gloves
= Industrial and fabric-supported glovas
+ Medical devices and balloons

* Carpet

« Tufted carpets

» Woven carpets

* Neadle felt carpstls

= Graphic paper
* Packaging

* Speciality paper
¢ Paper additives

* Architectural coatings
* Masonry coatings

= Intumeascent coatings
+ Metal coatings

+* Mortar modification

~ * Waterproofing

* Flooring adhasives

* (Glass fibre
» Roofing
= Dacorative laminates

* PSA packaging tapes
* PSA speciality tapes
* PSA labels

* Caulks and sealants

* Oil and gas cementing
+ Dyilling fluid additives

* Etastomeric modifier for

« Automotive carpets

= Gel foam etastomer
backings

* Bedding foam

* Footwear foam

» Sport surfaces
* Additives for
construction

* Technical fibre
s Foctwear
* Hygiene and wipes

= Packaging
speciaiities

» Release coatings

= Tape saturants

* Tyre cord

thermoplastics and friction
= Reinforcing resins for rubber

compounds

= Luxury fiooring
* Bathroom fittings
* Kitchen fittings

= Recreational vehicle fittings

+ Durable surfaces for
retail and domestic
applications

* Automotive and bus seating

* Marine seating and trim

= Healthcare, hospitality, education

and corporate seating

* Compounds and curing pastes

* Monomers
* Antioxidants

Synthomer ple
Annual Report 2021
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Who we are and what we do

Chair’s statement

Our people have risen to the unique demands
and delivered exceptional performance in 2021 -
the Board expected and planned for this,

and it has allowed us to carefully invest for
future growth, maintaining prudent leverage.

08
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‘In 2021, the Board
focused on the
significant demands of
the business as well as
succession planning,
business excellence
and delivering on the
OMNOVA acquisition.
The acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive
Resins business was a

"| strategic and important

step and we thank
shareholders for their
support.’

Caroline Johnstone
Chair

=

Exceptional performance,

built on robust foundations

Our business ended the year with racord
results, and with the foundations in place

for growth that will enable us LU Ciealy value
into the future. This was made possible by
two things: further delivering our consistent
strategy of long-term sustainable growth
organically and through acquisitions,
inctuding the $1 billion acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business which is
expected to complete in March 2022; and the
resilience and skill of our employess, who
have continued to put our values into practice
despite the ongoing challenges of the




COVID-18 pandemic. | would like to thank
them all personally, and also on behalf of the
Board. The safety of emplovees is our first
priority and the Board oversaw progress
towards achieving top quartile performance
across all our sites during 2021.

A smooth leadership transition,

and a consistent strategy

in June, wa announced the appointment of
Michae! Willome as our new Group Chief
Executive Officer, after Calum MaclLean
announced his intention to step down at the
start of the vear.

| was delighted to welcome Michael in
November, following an extensive search
process which identified him as a high-
calibre, proven business leader with
experience in the global speciality chemicals
industry and a strong track record of driving
growth (see page 84 for details). The smooth
transition since his appointment has
confirmed that Michael has the right
capabilities to lead Synthomer through the
next phase of its development, He has
already demonstrated his appetite for organic
and inorganic growth, a passion for building
our teams and developing our pecple, and an
instinctive understanding of the importance of
sustainability to our future.

This seamiless handover was due in no small
part to Calum, and on behaif of the Board

| would fike to thank him for his outstanding
leadership over the past seven years. | extend
the sarme thanks to Stephen Bennett, our
Chief Financial Officer, who in August
announced his intention to stand down.

As we discuss on page 107, we look forward
to welcoming Lily Liu this summer.

Calum and Stephen have helped transfarm
Synthomer into a diversified, differentiated,
global speciality chemicals business, and the
benefits can be clearly seen in the Company's
performance. They have built a strong
platform for continued success, and leave
behind a highly experienced leadership teamn.
We wish them both the very best.

Growth that supports our purpose

©One of the most exciting developments of
the year was QOctober’s announcement of our
proposged acquisition of Eastman’s Adhesive
Resins, which will bring clear benefits, as
discussed on page 14. It is a great example
of Synthomer's growth strategy in action,
and I'd like to cornment on two paints,

First, the Company’s ability to deliver

growth, The year’s results show that .

across the business, our teams have

worked superbly to create organic growth —
through innovation, capacity utilisation, and a
continuous focus on meeting strong customer
demand. This was despite the challenges
presented by disruptions in the global supply
chain, which were navigated with great skill
by our procurement, operations, and

commercial teams. The results also show that
the integraticn of OMNOVA - Synthomer's
largest acquisition at the time — is complsts,
well ahgad of schedule and is delivering
higher synergies than originally announced.
The synergies outlined have ali been realised,
despite the COVID-19 pandemic making it
difficult for new teams to meet in person.
This Is a tribute to everyone involved,
aspecially colleagues who have joined
Synthomer from OMNOVA, the teams who
made the transaction in the first place, and
the management and finance teams

who oversaw the integration process.

My second point is really a question. What is the
purpose of growth? Synthomer does not seek
growth for its own sake. Of course, we want to
keap creating valueg for shareholders. But we
also want to embed sustainabiity into every
aspect of the business, to help Synthomer
play a greater role in creating a fairer, more
sustainable future and respond to the climate
emergency. Growth, with the scale it brings,
rmakeas us more resilient. It enablas us to invest
in our people, our infrastructurs, and our assets,
and means we are better able to deliver on our
purpase of creating innovative and sustainable
polymer solutions for the benefit of customers
and society. That is why the Board spent a lot
of time on another highlight of Synthomer's
year - the launch of our Vision 2030 roadmap
10 a more sustainable business,

Regulatory fine

During 2018, the European Commission {the
Commission} initiated an investigation into
practices relating to the purchase of styrene
menomer by several companies, ingluding
Synthomaer, operating in the European
Econamic Area. The Company has and will
continue to fully co-operate with the
Commission during fts investigation. Based on
the information availabls and the resulting
assessment of the expected outcome of the
investigation a provision of £57.2 milion has
been made in relation to this case.

A more diverse, inclusive Synthomer,
underpinned by sound governance

The tull details of our Vision 2030 roadmap

- which includes our commitment to net zero
as well as expanding on Synthomer's
longstanding work on safety, health and
environment (SHE) — can be found in our
Sustainability report on pages 42 to 68,

We have, for the first time, fully integrated this
into our Annual Report so that stakeholders
can understand how sustainability is
inextricably linked to our financial
performance.

Along with tha rest of the Board, |
whalsheartedly endorse Vision 2030.

It is a huge step forward, strengthening

the business and helping Synthomer meet
the rising expectations of stakeholders over
the next decads. The Board has been fully
involved in the development of Vision 2030

and will be regularly revisiting and challsnging -

the targets, and where wa can be bolder
and go faster, in a balanced way.

At the same tima, we know that launching
Vision 2030 is not an end in itself. We have mare
to doin rnany areas ~ Including one particularly
close lo my heart, which is making cur culture
more diverse, inclusive, and supportive of the
employees who drive our success, with further
equality of career development opportunities.
We have made progress in many areas — and
there is a clear appatite from averyone in the
business to enhance our ability to plan and
develop people’s careers to ensura

their engagement and success, and our
business growth.

Like every other aspect of our strategy,

Vision 2030 must be underpinned by sound
governance — and | talk mere about this in my
introduction to the Governance report, on
page 90, where | also thank Dr Just Jansz for
his valued service ta the Board, and welcome
Roberto Gualdoni, who joined Synthomer as
an Independent Non-Executive Director in
July.

Dividend of 21.3 pence

The Board has recommended a final ordinary
dividend of 21.3 pence (2020: 8.6 pence) per
share, consistent with our dividend policy, this
excepticnal increase reftacting the unique
year of profitability.

Caroline Johnstone

Chair '

3 March 2022

SIUBLLUBIE)S [RIDUBUY dnm?] ‘

Looking ahead/
priorities for 2022

* Overses the complation of our
acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive
Resins to create our new Adhasive
Technologies division

* Ensurs that Adhasive Technologies is
effactively integrated into Synthomer,
and synergies are being captured

* Continue to focus on nitriles capacity
expansion and investment

= Oversee our leadership team transition
and succession planning

= Further drivg our Vision 2030
sustainability agenda and oversee
progress on Task Force on Climata-
retatad Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

= Continus to engage with investors and
all stakeholders

Synthomaer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Who we are and what we do

)

Chief Executive
Officer’s review

Exceptional results, built on a platform
of underlying growth - and with great
opportunities ahead.

‘When | look beyond the
-1 most obvious figures,

| see a more important
narrative. That’s a story
of consistent growth
built on the core assets
of this business.’

Michael Willome
Chief Exacutive Officer

5y
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Building on an outstanding year
to consistently deliver growth

and value

Synthomer has delivered record results

this year. But in a way, those results don't

tell the full story of our Company. When | look
beyond the most cbvious figures, | see a more
important narrative. That’s a story of congistent
growth built on the core assets of this business.
Today Synthomer enjoys leadership positions
in a wide range of attractive, global markets,
based on a broad pertfolio of differentiated
speciality products, We have proven expertise
in acquiring and integrating new businesses.

Furthermore, our poweriul sustainability
credentials, including our leadership in
water-based polymers in our disparsions
business and our sustainability innovations in
areas such as Nitrile latex for redical gloves,
or lower carbon footprint products in our
Functional! Solutions division mean that we
ara well positioned in this vitally important
area. Qur platform for future growth is strong.

The exciting thing for me is that there is more
we can do in all these areas. The unique
conditions of the past two years, and
particutarly those affecting our Performance
Elastomners division, may not come back for a
long time — but our underlying position means
we will have the appertunity to strengthen our
business further in the future. Cur innovative,

sustainable products perform a vital role in
pecplg's lives — and our strategy of investing
in organic and inorganic growth in attractive
end markets has consistently created value
for all pur stakeholders over several years,
and given us a platform to continue to deliver
in the years ahead.

Excellent EBITDA performance in all
divisions, creating a platform for the future
All our divisions have achieved record EBITDA
growth in 2021 as described in our divisional
reports on pages 26 to 37. The strongest growth
came from Performance Elastomers, which
grew EBITDA by 136.9%, mainly as a result of
the unprecedented, and one-off, demand for
Nitrile latex caused by the COVID-19 panderic
in 2020 and 2021 - though other areas of the
division also grew thair profitability. At the same
time, Functional Solutions grew by 49.8%,
and Industrial Specialities by 18.9%. '
Acrylata Monomers has returned to profitability
with £35.3 milion EBITDA. Overall, Group
EBITDA grew by 109.8% to £522.2 milion
and resulted in an EBITDA margin of 22.4%

of net sales (2020: 15.8%).

. This outstanding performance meant we

further strengthened our balance sheet.

We successfully deleveraged to 0.3x EBITDA, -

through strong Free Cash Flow and the equity
placing, creating the conditions to pursue
further inorganic and organic growth
opportunities, and add further value.

The most significant strategic event in
2021 was our acquisition of the Eastman's
Adhesive Resins business, which on
completion will create our new Adhasive
Technologies division.

This Is a highly complementary opportunity
with a strong focus on attractive end markets
such as packaging, hyglene, building and
construction, and high-performance tyre
additives. & will enable us to turther davelop,
manufacture and self tackifying resins and
additives for adhesive products and,

as we dascribe on page 14, it will expand
our portfolio and our geographical reach,
especially in the US, one of our focus markets.

People and teams making the difference
Everything we have achieved this year is

the result of the agility, dedication and
commitment of Synthamer people, all over,
the-world.

It is one thing to invest in attractive markets
and technologies, as the business has done
consistently over the years — but that does not
produce strong performance on its own.

That is down to pecple going the extra distance,
time and again, despite challenges such

as the COVID-19 pandemic, or significant raw
rmaterial and energy price increasas, or supply
chain disruption, or unprecedented demand.
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Robust investment case in line with global megatrends

Globally Growing
differentiated proportion of
chemical speciality
company chemicals

Strong organic
and inorganic
growth drivers

Reasilient
demand

Sustainable and
responsible
operator

Attractive
financial metrics

Accelerating
— —urbanisation———

Demographic and

——socialchange ~

Climate change and
~sustainability
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Who we are and what we do

Chief Executive Officer's review continued

| have met outstanding people and teams
everywhere | have been — and | look forward
to working with them on future opportunities
based on the success achieved so far.

As a speciality chemicals player with 37
production sites worldwide, our first priority
is to continue our journey towards becoming
a top quartile work environment in terms of
parsonal and process safety. We are on the
right track, but we still hava further 1o go

o ensure that our safety performance is
cansistent across the business, site by site.

Safety remains both a core value and a
strategic priority for Synthomer, and we
discuss our performance in detail on
pages 54 to 57.

| would also like to mention another
priority, ‘people development’. We will
spend significant time and effort on this
area, crealing an excellent environment
for all stages of people's professional life,
starting with our well-established and
highly successiul graduate programme,
our talent development initiativa for more
experienced employees, and senior
Isadership developmant. Our aim is to
create a culture which fosters trust, open
and fast communication between people,
units and regions, and strong performance
far our customers.

| would also highlight our need for more
diversity of all kinds in our Company.

As racent nominations to our Executive
Committee show, we have afraady made
first steps on a journey that clearly builds
value for the business, and we will continue
itin 2022 and beyond.

Maintaining our strategic focus

Once again, ouf results demonstrate how
critical it is to have leadership positions in our
markets. They have also shown how valuable
it is o have a growing global footprint, which
is why we continue to address opportunities

in the US, South East Asia and China, as well *

as Europe.

Above all, we need to make sure we are
always 'market-orientated” — which means |
always thinking about the end consumers
who will uttimately benefit from our products.
What do they need from the buildings they live
or work in, or the surface coatings solutlons
we all need in daily life, or the health and
hygiene products that serve them, or the
functional textiles, and autiomotive products
that suround tham?

Wa maka specialised chemical products for

our customers, who sell themn to consumers

- 80 understanding the consumer means we
can serve our customers better.

Synthomer plé
Annual Report 2021
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SyNovus™ Plus - sustainable innovation in action

Our specialised SyNovus™ nitrile products,
widely used in latex glove manufacture, have
ptayed an important part this year in the
success of our Performance Elastomers
division - and of Synthomar overall.

In 2021, teams at our Asia Innovation
Centre in Malaysia worked on making

ihe SyNovus™ range even more atiractive
to our customers — and more sustainable
- through developments in content and
manutacture. They created SyNovus™
Plus, a new nitrile product that we will
launchin 2022,

High-performing. Recyclable. And with
a lower carbon footprint.

SyNovug™ Plus provides the same
high-performance barrier pratection as
conventional nitrile [atex, but has several
critical differences - including the potential
for gloves made using SyNovus™ Plus to be
recycled into other products after thay are
womn for applications such as food handling

and hygiene {all gloves usad for medical
applications have to be incinerated),

The way we make SyNovus™ Plus also
enables our customers to reduce the
carbon footprint of their gloves. Our Life
Cycle Assessment has demonstrated that
customers need less nitrile latex and can be
more energy efficient in their manufacturing
because SyNovus™ Pius can be used in

a low-energy cure process.

And by eliminating the use of rubber
accelerators, which can leave residues
that cause reactions to people with latex
allergies, glovas made with SyNovus™ Plus
can be used by more professionals and
consumers in our customers” markets.

We believe SyNavus™ Plus has the potential
to transform our approach to NBR latex
- and shows that sustainable innovation
¢an be good for customers, consumers,
and our business.

S




We are also striving for innovation excellence,
always driven by consumer and customer
demand illustrated by our néw, patented
SyNowvus™ Plus Nitrile latex for gloves
combining exacting consumer requiremants
and sustainability.

Innovation continues to be a core pillar

of our growth strategy, helping us secure
differentiated market positions and generate
arirfad value for our customers. This year, the
full integration of OMNOVA has significantly
strangthened our innovation pipsling, and our
network of four global innovation centras of
excellence supportad by local application and
tachnical service centres is a kay strategic
asset, as we describe on page 38.

Inspired by our purpose, and committed
to Vision 2036

The demand for more 'sustainable products’
has never bean so great.

Here, too, we are in a strong position for future
growth. Our expertise in water-based palymers,
which have a lower envirgnmental impact than
solvent-based alternatives, makes us leaders
in many fields of specialised chemical products.

This year, we were awarded the London Stock |

" Exchange's Green Economy Marlk, given to
companies that derive more than 50% of their
revenues from sustainable solutions. We are
closing the coal-fired power station at Sokolov
{Czech Republic), which ends our use of
coal for power generation across Synhomer,
and we moved to electricity from renewable
sources in Eurcpe and North America. And our
Vision 2030 roadmap, aligned with the UN's
Sustainable Development Goals and reported
on in fuil for the first time on page 18 of this
Annual Report, sets out cur course to make
our business increasingly sustainable. it makes
clear that our ESG priorities, beyond safety,
remain combating climate change, becoming
more diverse and inclusive, and developing
our supply chain assurance.

We are wall-embarked on this journey, but we
know we have much more to do because as
well as being the right thing to do, we know
that consumers, and therslore our custarnars,
will increasingly demand sustainable products,
and prefer companies that can produca them.

°522.2m

EBITDA

+109.8%

Increass in EBITDA vs 2020

Looking ahead

| would like to thank everyone at Synthomer

— and my predecessor, Calum MacLean, whose
leadership over seven years at the company did
s0 much to create the differentiated, global
business we are today — for their dedication
over the last year.

Excaptional levels of profitability in 2021 have
enablad the Group to make major inorganic and
organic investments to significantly strengthen
our platform for future growth. As set out in the
February trading statemant, Nitrile latex margins
have normalised to pre-COVID levels and

the Group does not expact any Nitrile latex
pandemic premium in 2022, Year-to-date, Nitrile
latex demand remains subdued due to high
inventory lsvels of medical gloves and reduced
demand due to the easing of tha COVID-19
pandemic. However, trading conditions in Nitrile
latex are expected to normalise by the end of
H1 with market growth returning to 2019 levels
in the secand half. All other divisions have
had an encouraging start to the year, and the
Group expacts to make continued strategic,
commercial and operational progress in 2022.
Wae have very limited exposure to Russia and
Ukraing, with both countries accounting for lass
than 1% of Group revenue, and we continue to

‘| carefully monitor the situation and its potential

implications on our busingss. The acquisition
of Eastman's Adhesive Resing business is
expected to complete in Q1. The Group
continues to look for further boit-on acquisition
opportunities geared towards attractive
end-markets that are valug accretive to
Synthomer's portfolio. The Board remains
confident that the benefits of recent acquisitions
and disciplined capital allocation focused on

organic growth, inorganic growth and dividends

wiil undarpin growing sustainable profits and
valua ¢reation in the coming years.

Michael Willome
Chisf Executive Officer

3 March 2022
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Who we are and what we do

Our new platform for growth: Our planned Adhesive Tebhnologies division

Building on our success -

Adhesive Technologies

On 17 Decamber 2021, Synthomer
shareholders approved the acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive Resins. Subject to
regulatory approvals and customary closing
canditions, we intend to complete

the transaction in March 2022, and

create a new division for Synthomer:
Adhesive Technologies.

For details of the Eastman's Adhesive
Resins transaction, please see our investor
presentation on Synthomer.com.

Specizality products that broaden our,
portfolio and extend our reach

It is an exciting Mmoment in cur growth story,
and a demonstration of our organic and
inorganic growth strategy in action. In the
largest acquisition in our history, valued at
$1bn on a cash/debt free basis, Synthomer
will gain a US-based global business which
develops, manufactures and sells tackifying
resins and additives for adhesive products,
making us a global leader in the field.

Our growth strategy-in action

Adhesive Technologies will have a strong
focus on attractive end markets such as
hygiene, packaging and high-performance
tyre additives. On completion, it will mean
we can extend and diversify our portiolio,
reach more customers in more end markets,
and further expand our geographical reach.

A platform for growth

The transaction is in line with our
conservative capital allocation policy,

and has been enabled by the outstanding
performance of cur existing divisions as
well as our effective integration of OMNOVA,
ahead of schedule. Our track record and
experiance of integrating OMNOVA gives

us confidence that we have the people

and skills to realise synergies through

the creation of Adhesive Technologies.

And with its alignment with our sustainability
objectives ~ inciuding through a focus on
renawable raw materials, circular economy
approaches, and solvent-free product

_lines — we believe Adhesive Technologies

will provide us with a platform for further
sustainable growth.

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021

14

At-a-glance:

What Adhesive Technologies

will add te Synthomer

1. Well-invested assets with a glabal
leading position in adhesives

2. Around 650 tatented employees
worldwide, and a strong management
team

3. Six planis with strong SHE standards
and a track record of manufacturing
exceliance

4. More access o attractive end markets
with resiient growth fundarmentals

5. Greater scale and diversity 1o our
portiofio, and greater geographic reach

6. Strong R&D, and opportunitias for
further innovation-led growth

7. Alarge and growing portfolio of
sustainable products and alignment
with our Vision 2030 sustainability goals

8. Potential synergies following integration

9. Compeliing financial metrics with
accretive unit gross margins

Key product lines for

Adhesive Technelogies

Hydrocarbon Resins (HCR)

* Hydrogenated HCR (H,HCH)

* Non-Hydrogenated HCR (Non-H,HCR)
= Pure Monomaer Resins (PMR)

Non-Hydrocarbon Resins (Non-HCR)

= Amorphous Polyolefins (APQO)

+ Oleo Chemicals, Rosins and Dispersions
{OCRD)

J

increasing our reach in

attractive end markets

* Tapes and labels

» Packaging

= Hygiene

» Building and construction

» Tyres

» Other, including woodwork,
aulomotive, windows, rubber,
food and care, and inks




Who we are and what wa do

Synthomer strategy

Oursix-pillar strategy

1 Innovation and technical expertise to exploit new markets

* Anticipate consumer market trends and customer requirements to
deliver improved and differantiated products

* Focus on development rather than pure research

2 Driving efficiency and excellence through operations
= Operate continuous improvement across operations

» |dentify good practices and share throughout the business
= Improve commercial, HR, IT and procurement functions

3 Capacity utilisation

* Drive profitability through maxirmum
utilisation of assets

« |dentify the causes of production bottlenecks
and find innovative solutions

4 Investment in capacity
+ Seek to add capacity, particularly
in high-growth attractive end markats

5 Bolt-on acquisitions
¢ Actively seek opportunistic bott-on M&A in simifar chemistries

™

6 Transformational transactions

* Not to occur before deleveraging to within the range of our strict capital policy
» Transformational acquisitions not limited by geography ar chamistry

» Growih, stable EBITDA margins, and innovation are some of the target criteria

QOur Vision 2030 roadmap sets us on the path to net zero
and contains a series of targets across three key areas:

* Products

&)

pace 48}

* Operatons = People

1See page 74)
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Who we are and what we do

Our progress - KPIs

Measuring the progress

of our strategy

Financial

Strategy

Definition
Operating profit before depreciation, ameortisation
and Special ltems.

Comment

Group EBITDA increased 108.8% to £522.2 million, with strong
growth across all four divisions. Performance Elastomers EBITDA
grew by 136.9%. Functional Solutions EBITDA grew by 49.8%.
Industrial Specialitios EBITDA grew by 18.9%. Acrylate Monomaers
EBITDA returned to profit, delivering £35.4 million.

Strategy

Definition .
Basic Underlying earnings per share before Special ltams.

Comment

The 160.2% increase in underlying EPS reflects the strong increase
in underlying profit before tax, offset by a slight increase in the
weighted average number of shares in issue. Figures previous to
2019 have been restated for the Rights issue which completed in
July 2019,

Underlying performance statement

Strategy

Deafinition
Underlying profit before tax comprising IFRS profit before tax
before charging/crediting Special items. '

Comment

Group underlying profit before tax increased 162.6% to
£420.1 millian, drivan by strong growth in EBITDA across all
four divisions.

Strategy

Definition

Movement in net debt before financing activities, {oreign exchange
and the cash impact of Special ltems, asset disposals and
business combinations.

Comment

Free Cash Flow was driven by the rise in EBITDA and reflected the
increase in activity levels and raw material prices which drove a first
half 2021 net outflow, which was partly offset through working
capital management in the second half of the year when raw
material prices remained high.

Capital expendiltng was £82.2 milion (2020; £63.8 million} as the
Company focused on organic growth projects, business system
platforms and site sustenance expenditure.

The Group's performance managemsnt uses Underlying performance to plan for, control and assess the periormance of the Group. Underlying parformance differs
from the statutory IFRS performance as it excludes the effect of Spacial ltams, which are detalled in note 4. The Board's view is that Underlying performance
provides additional clarity for the Group's investors and stakeholders and so it is the primary focus of the Group's narrative reparting. Where appropriate, IFRS
perfarmance inclusive of Spacial hems Is also described. References to 'unit margin' and ‘margin’ are used In tha commentary on Underlying performance.

Unit margin {or margin) is calculated on selling price less variable raw matarial and logistics costs.

EBITDA is calculated as operating profit beforg depreciation, amortisation and Special tams. .
Free Cash Flow is the movement in net debt befors financing activities, foreign exchange and the cashimpact of Special lterns, asset disposals

and husiness combinations.

1 6 Synthomer ple
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Non-financial

Strategy .

Definition

Recordable injury rate for accidents involving more than first aid
treatment, exprassed as accidents per 100,000 hours worked by
employess and all contractors.

Comment

Our Group recordabls injury case rate (RCR) reduced to .31,
largely due to improved performance at former OMNQVA sites,
which saw RCR fall from 0.64 in 2020 te 0.47 in 2021. The Group
recorded 34 injuries in 2021, versus 37 in 2020. We reported no
cases of disease caused by accupational factors and there were
no accidents that resulted in fatality or permanent disability.

Strategy

Definition

Volume of our products sold in thousands of tonnes (ktes).

The volume is based on wet volumes ~ i.e. the volumes including
water content.

Comment

The growth in our volumes was driven by the full-year benefits of

| our integration of OMNCVA (compared to months in 2020) and the
Increasa in activity in Functional Sofutions and Industrial Specialities
markets. This is offset by lower Parformance Elastomers volumes,
which reflect the rationalisation of our SBR busingss and lower
nitriles volumes in H2 2021 caused by restrictions in output in
Malaysia and lower lavets of demand.

Strategy

Definition

Metered Energy (GJ) {including gas, electricity, steam and fuel oil}
used at each of our pfants divided by the number of tonnes of
product made. The energy excludes transport of goods to and
from site and the movement of the associated vehicles on site,
but internal transport on site is included.

Comment
COVID-19 continued to disrupt supply chains leading to inefficignt
operations. Key energy efficiency processes were also delayed.

Strategy

Definition
Percentage of sales volume In the year that can be attributed to
new and patented products launched in tha past five years,

Comment

Qur strong performance in 2021 reflects our greater scale in
innovation foliowing the integration of OMNOVA, and the full
opening of our new Asia Innovation Centre, dermonstrating cur
continued investment in innovation.

Synthomer plc
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Who we are and what we do

Our progress — KPls continued

In July 2021, we set out our Vision 2030 roadmap as our starting point for
realising our commitment to sustainability and to reaching net zero by 2050.

It includes targets for each of the three key areas of sustainability: products, .
operations and people, aligned with the seven UN's Sustainable Development
Goals most material to our business. Here we set out our first year of progress
against these targets. We will continuously review the targets to ensure that
they remain appropriately challenging. For more details, see pages 42 to 68.

~

1. Products

2. Operations

3. People

The UN's Sustainable Development Goals {SDGs) mast relevant to our Vision 2030 goals

Our targets are underpinned by a series of short-term objectives and are aligned with the UN's SDGs that are most material to our business.

f

-1 8 Synthomer plc
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Synthomer specialist polymers ran’

arg used to bond and bind ]

industrial and consumer adhesives @

for a wide range of applications.
Packaging and speciality tapes, paper
and filmic labels, contact adhesives and
can sealings all rely on our supetior
products which deliver sclutions ta
our customers' technical and
regulatory requirements.
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Review of tha year

Group financials

CFO'’s introduction to
the Financial review

2021 has been a year of strong performance
by all our divisions and a truly exceptional
performance in our Nitriles business delivering
a record EBITDA of £522.2 million.

‘EBITDA grew in each

of our divisions. Our
investment in organic
growth, and our
successful integration

| of OMNOVA, has created
a powerful platform for
future growth.’

Stephen Bennett
CFOD

v

2 O Synthomer plc
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Volume

+20% . ¢

2021: 1,671.5ktes 2020: 1.638.2ktes
2019: 1,465.7ktes

EBITDA

+109.8%

2021: £522.2m 2020: £259.4m 2019: £177.9m
Underlying PBT

+162.6%

2021: £420.1m 2020: £160.0m 2019: £116.2m
IFRS PBT

1,298.5%

2021: £283.9m 2020: £20.3m 2019; £100.5m
Underlying EPS

+160.29%

2021: 75.2p 2020: 28.9p 2019: 25.3p
IFRS EPS

+0,800%

2021: 48.3p 2020: 0.7p 2019: 21.5n
Free Cash Flow

2021: 217.6m 2020: £167.6m 2019: £92.8m

A proven strategy, good
execution and a strengthened
balance sheet

Our performance this year is a tribute to the hard
work of everyone at Synthomer, who putinan
extraordinary efforl to meet the needs of our
customers. it also reflects the success of our
strategy, as our investrnent in organic growth,
and our successful integration of OMNCOVA,
creatad a powerful platform for our performance.

Strong performance from all divisions
despite global supply chain disruption
EBTDA grew in each of our divisions.
Performance Elastomers EBITDA growth of
136.9% to £320.7 miliion reflected more than
the strong demand for hygiene products, with
improved demand and marging in Parformance
Materials also making an important contribution.
Functional Solutions EBITDA grew by 49.8%, to

£139.2 milion reflecting our stronger global reach
and increased market divarsity following the
integration of OMNOVA, factors which also saw
Industrial Specialitios EBITDA grow by 18.9% to
£47.8 million. Acrytate Monomers EBITDA grew
to £35.3 million, from a small loss in 2020.

The growth across the business took place
against a backdrop of squaezed supply chains
— and is tribute to the work of our procurement
and customer servica teams, who kept
mesting our customers’ needs.

Growth in gross margin per tonne
reflects increasing specialisation

This long-term growth reflects the fact that
our differentiated portfolio contains many
specialisad, high-performance products.
This year, extracrdinary demand for Nitrle latex
products during the COVID-19 pandemic meant
that our Nitrile business in particular performed
exceptionally and, even as this demand
softened, in ling with our expectations, our
specialised portfolio will continue to banefit
from the underlying market growth trand
that existed beiore the pandemic.

One of the most pleasing aspects of our
performance has been the consistent growth
in our gross margin per tonne over racent
years, a trend which continued in FY21 and
not just attributable to the impact from the
Nitrile latex business.

Rapid integration of OMNOVA

realises $42 million in synergies

Despite the pandemic, we completed the
integration of OMNOVA ahead of schedule.
The synergies we identified in our acquisition
investment case have also been realised faster
than budgeted, and have created greater value,
with $42 million realised in the first 18 months
of integratior. This has strengthened the
businass, and built the acquisition and
integration skills of our teams.

Free Cash Flow up 29.8% to £217.6 million
Strong cash generation and the £203.1 million
equity placing ahead of our acquisition of
Eastman's Adhsesive Resins business has helped
drive a rapid reduction of our net debt 10
£114.2 million Jeading to ieverage of 0.3x EBITDA.
This strengthened halance sheét underpinnad
our proposed acquisiton of Eastman's Adhesive

Resins business, which was approved by our
shareholders on 17 December 2021, and which

supports our overall strategy for organic and

inorganic investrent. We expect the acquisition

to complete in March 2022,

Reduced pension liabitities

As a result of more favourable market conditions
and several years of work, including a detailed
raview of our pension investmeant strategy,
our pension liability has decreased to

£122.4 millon from £221.4 million: at

31 Dacember 2020. Strong assat retums,
cash contributions of £27.0 mitlion and actuarial
gains of £51.2 million have all contributed.

Dividend of 21.3 pence

The Board has recommended a final ordinary
dividend of 21.3 pence {2020: 8.6 pence) per
share, this exceptional increase reflecting the
unique year of profitability.

Taken with the 2021 interirmn ordinary
dividend of 8.7 pence (2020: 3.0 pence)
per share, the total ordinary dividend is
30.0 pence (2020: 1.6 pence).

The total dividend for the year is in line with
the Group's dividend policy with the dividend
representing 40% of the Underlying earnings
per share, The final dividend per share is subject
to shareholder approval at the Annual General
Mesting on 28 April 2022 and will be payable
on 5 July 2022 to those shareholders registered
at the closa of business on 6 June 2022.

Looking ahead

The exceptional performance in 2021 has
enabled the Group to deleverage quickly and
has paved the way for the $1 billian acquisition
of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business, the
largest acquisition in the Group’s history.

The acquisition in the attractive acdhesives
market provides further differentiation and
diverslfication to the Group.

Coupled with our continued organic growth
investment programme, particularly in Nitriles,
the Group has created a powerful and rmutti-
faceted platform to underpin future growth.

Stephen Bennett
CFO

3 March 2022
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Review af the year
Group financials continued

Financial review

Special Hems 2021 2020
£m £m
Arnortisation of acquired intangibles {36.2) (30.9)
Restructuring and site closure costs {29.7) [42.5)
Acquisition costs and related gains {11.9) (14.8)
. Sale of business 7.4) {6.6)
Regulatory fine {57.2) -
Impairment charge - (36.6)
Total impact on operating profit {142.4) {191.2)
Fair valuer gainAloss) on unhedged interest rate derivatives 6.2 (3.6)
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilitios - (4.9
Total impact on profit before tax {136.2) {139.7)
Taxation Special ltems 6.8 (4.9)
Taxation on Special ltems , 11.8 20.5
Totatimpact on profit for the year {115.6) [124.7)

The following items of income and expense have been reported as Special tems:

* Amortisation of acquired intangibles
increased in 2021, reflacting the first
full year charge since the acquisition of
OMNOVA Solutions Inc on 1 April 2020,
The fair values of the intangible assets
arising on the acquisition of OMNOVA
amounting to £330.1 million are being
amortised over a period of 9-11 years

Presentation of
financial results

The Group has consistently usad two.
significant Alternative Performance
Measures (APMs) since its adoption
of International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) in 2005: ’

* Underlying performance, which
excludes Special ltemns from IFRS profit
measures

= EBITDA, which excludes Special items,
amortisation and depreciation from IFRS
operating profit.

The Board's view is that Underlying
parformance provides additional clarity
for the Group's investors and so it is the
primary focus of the Group's narrative
reporting. Further information and the
raconciliation to the [FRS measures

are included in note 5 of the

tinancial staterments.

" | Synthomer plc
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mainly dependsent on the characteristics of

the customer relationships.

Restructuring and site closure costs

in 2021 comprise:

— A E13.2 million charge in relation to the
substantially completed integration of the
OMNOVA acquisition net of a £1.2 million
pension curtaiiment cradit in relation to
the French business;

- A £11.6 million charge to demalish and
rationalise assets at a small number of
sites, to bring them into line with our ESG
strategy; and

- Afurther £4.9 milion for the completion
of the rationalisation of the Group’s
Eurapean Parformanca
Materials network.

Restructuring and site closure costs in 2020

comprised £19.5 million for integration of

OMNOVA, £20.9 million for the

rationalisation of the Group's European

Performance Materials netwark and

£2.1 miltion to rationalise the Acrylate

Monomers' site.

-

Acquisition costs and related gains are

for the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive
Resins business and comprise £15.0 million
of costs, mainly professional adviser fees,
offset by a £3.1 million gain ¢n a forsign
exchange darivative entered into in October
2021 to hedge the acquisition price.
Acquisition costs in 2020 related to the
acquisition of OMNOWVA.

Sale of business mainly comprised a further
£7.1 million loss on the ongrous contract far
the disposal of Synthomer’s European Tyre
Cord business as production is relocated to
Cagjing {China) to enable the Marl 3 asset
{Germany) 1o be fully closed. This is
incremental to the charge taken in 2020.
During 2018, the European Commission
initiated an investigation into practices
relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by sevaral companias, including
Synthomer, operating in the European
Economic Area. The Company has and

will continue to fully cooperate with the
Commission during its investigation.

Based on the information available and

the resulting assessment of the expected
outcome of the investigation a provision

of £57.2 milion has been made in relation
to this case.

In 2020, a £36.6 million irmpairment charge
was booked relating to four sites.

In Juty 2018 the Group entered into swap
arrangements to fix Euro interest rates

on the full value of the then €440 million
committed unsecured revolving credit
facility. The fair value movement

of the unhedged interast rate derivatives
relates to the movement in the mark-to-
market of the swap at 31 December 2021

in excess of the Group's current borrowings.
Following the Group's successful
refinancing in 2020, capitalised debt

costs relating to the 2018 refinancing

and the 2019 bridge to bond were written
off, leading to a toss on extinguishment

of £4.9 milian.

Taxation Special tems comprise the release
of uncertain tax provisions in relation to
historical tax issues in France and Malaysia.
Taxation on Special ltems is mainly deferred
tax credits arising on the amortisation of
acquired intangiblas and restructuring and
site closure costs.



Finance costs

2021 2020

£m £m
Net interest payable (26.9) (24.3)
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation (2.4) 3.7
Interest slement of lease payments {1.5) (1.6)
Underlying finance costs {30.8) (29.6)
Fair value gainfloss) on unhedged interest derivatives 6.2 @6
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilities - (4.9
Total tinance costs {24.6) (38.1)

We have designed our new
sustainability brand Lipolan™ TERRA
to help reduce the carbon footprint
typically associated with making latex
foam.

Our first product is called Lipolan™ TERRA
2022F and is made using processes that
can reducs that footprint by up to 60%.

It also contains 70% total solids, making it
more efficient to transport, which means we
can lower the associated logistics carbon
footprint by up to 5%. This is just tha start
though — we're now planning ways in which
to use bio-based and recycled feedstock.

-

Underlying finance costs increased to

£30.8 millicn {2020: £28.6 million) and
comprise interest on the Group's financing
facilities, interest rate swaps, amortisation of
associated debt costs and IAS 19 pensions
interest costs in respact of our defined benefit
pension schemes.

The rise in the net interest payable mainly
reflacts the higher intgrast rate on the

€520 million, 3.875% senior unsecured loan
notes dua 2025 bond issued in June 2020,
refinancing the OMNOVA acquisition finance
bridge, as offset by the lower level of
borrowings in 2021 relative to 2020 as a result
of the strong Free Cash Flow and the equity
placing in anticipation of the acquisition of
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business.

The Group’s committed unsecured facilities
comprise the $260 million term loan, the
€520 million bond and the €460 million
revolving credit facility. The revolving credit
facility was fully undrawn throughout 2021
and, as a result, the interest rate derivatives
were fully unhedged and the full movemaent in
fair value was taken to Special tems.

Taxation .

The Group’s effective tax rate is affacted by
the tax charge/credit of Special ltems. Itis®
theraefore helpful to consider the Lindarlying
and Special ltems tax rates separately:

» The efiective tax rate on Underlying profit
befors tax for the year decreased to 22.5%
(2020: 23.4%) due to the impact of
COVID-19 on the geographical mix
ol prafits.

s The effective tax rate for Special tems was -

15.1% (2020: 11.2%) and was driven by
deferred tax credits on the amortisation of
acquirad intangibles ang restructuring and
site closure costs, and a current tax cradit
in relation to historical tax issues in France
and Malaysia.

Non-controlling interest

The Group continues to hold 70% of
Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd and its
subsidiaries. These entities form a relatively
rinor part of the Group so the impact on
Underlying perforrnance from non-controlling
interests is not significant.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share is caiculated based on
the average number of shares in issue during
the year. The weighted average number ol
shares for 2021 increased to 432,290,000
(2020: 424,843,000) following the equity
share placing on 28 Octobsr 2021 where
42,485,080 shares werae issued raising net
proceeds of £203.1 million.

Underlying earnings per share for the year

is 75.2p, up from 28.9p in 2020, reflecting the
exceptional performance in the year. The IFRS
earnings per share is 48.3p {2020: 0.7p).

Synthomer plc 23
Annual Report 2021

@
©
]
2
a
=
o
=
=t

BAEUIBADE)

SIUBLIBIRIS [R)PURYY droD

SlUaWee)s eoueuy Auedwor)

Lo Lo JSYID

v



Review of the year

Group financials continued

Financial review continued

Balance sheet

Net assets of the Group increased by
64.5% to £1,033.0 mition, mainy reflecting
the £210.0 millior profit for the year, the
£203.1 million share issue and actuanal gains
of £66.8 million offset by dividend payments
of £74.0 million,

Provisions

As a result of the regulatory fine and the
rastructuring and site closure costs set
out above, provisions have increased

to £103,2 million {2020: £31.6 mittion}.

The closing balance includes £57.2 million
for the regulatory fine, £15.8 million and
£1.0 million in relation to the rationalisation of
the Group's European Performance Materials
network in Marl and Quiu respactively and
£10.6 miflion in rglation to the onerous
contract arising on the disposal of the
Eurapean Tyre Cord busingss.

In the year, a £5.1 million provision was
recognised for tha closure of OMNOVA's
administrative and R&0 site in Villejust
{France) and the site transformation

in Kluang (Malaysia) was completed.

A £11.6 million provision has been mads to
demolish and rationalise assets at a smal
number of sites, to bring them into line with
our ESG strategy.

Retirement benelit plans

The Group's principal funded defined benefit
pension schemegs are in the UK and the US
and are both ciGsed to new entrants and
tuture accrual. The Group also cperates an
unfunded defined benefit schame in Germany
and various other defined contribution
overseas retirement benefit arrangements.

The Group’s net retirement obligation
decreased by 44.7% to £122.4 million

at 31 December 2021 (31 December

2020: £221.4 miliion) and reflects the market _
value of assets and the valuation of liabilities
in accordance with |AS 19, This £99,0 milion
reduction in the net retirement obfigation

is principafly attributable to the conservative
investrnent strategy, £66.8 milion of actuarial
gains and Group funding contributions

of £27.0 million. The actuarial gain arose
due 10 a £15.6 million return on assets,

a £32.2 million impact from increases in
discount rates, an £11.8 mililon gain from
experience adjustments and a £7.2 million
gain on demographic assumptions.

The most recent triennial valuation of the
UK scheme took place at April 2021 and

is progressing in Jine with expectations.
The value of liabilities under this method
differs shightly from 1AS 19, but we expect
the finafised valuation to result in an improved
funding status ratative to the 2018 valuation
completed in 2619,

Synthomaer ple
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Cash performance

The Group's primary focus is on managing net debt by maximising Frae Cash Flow. The following
table summarises the movemert in net dabt and is in the format used by management:

2021 202¢

£m £m
Opening net (debt)/cash ‘ 1462.2) 20.7
Underlying operating profit (excluding joint venturas) 4483 188.4
Maovement in working capital (82.8) 235
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ' 64.2 84.9
Amortisation of other intangible assets 741 4.9
Shara-basad paymsnts charge 21 20
Capital sxpenditure 82.2) _(53.8)
Business cash flow 3568.7 229.9
Net interest paid {27.6) {14.0)
Tax paid {86.4} 31.4)
Pension funding {27.0) (18.8)
Dividends received from joint ventures 1.9 19
Free Cash Flow 217.6 167.6
Cash impact ofrestructuring and sito closure cosls {17.8) (25.3)
Cash impact of acquisition costs {6.6) {7.4)
Purchase of business - (587.6}
Salo of business 1.7 0.1
Proceeds on issue of shares 2031 -
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities 9.7 9.7
Dividends paid {73.5) 12.8)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {0.5) 3.1)
Foreign exchange and other movements 3.7 4.7)
Movement in net debt 348.0 (482.9)
Closing net debt 114.2) (462.2)

Underlying operating profit more than doubled
1o £448.3 million dus to exceptionally strong
trading but this was offset in part by an
£82.8 million investrmant in working capital
mainly due to significant rises in raw material
costs partially reflecting disruptions in raw
material supply chains. Working capital as

a percentage of sales - the key performance
measure monitored by the Group — remains at

around 10% in line with historical performance.

Cepreciation and amortisation of other
intangibles are in line with the previous year. -

Capital expenditure increased to £82.2 million,
recovering from the COVID-18 measures
introduced in 2020 to preserve cash and
liquidity. Our Nitrile latex capacity expansion
project in Malaysia is nearing completion, as
Is the project to replace the coal-fired power
station in Sckolov (Czech Republic). The Group
continues to invest in its Pathway Programme
systems transformation project, the first phase of
which was successiully deployed in May 2021.

Interest paid increased to 227“6 milfion
reflacting the first full period of additional
borrowings drawn for the OMNOQVA acquisition
and the successful issue in June 2020 of the
€520 million, 3.875% senior unsecured loan
notes due 2025, for which the first biannual
interest payment was due in January 2021,



Tax paid increased by £55.0 million to
£86.4 million. The Group's overall effective
tax rate reduced slightly, from 23.4% to
22.5%, and the increase in cash payments
is mainly due to higher profitability in 2021,

The cash impact of restructuring and site
closure costs was £17.8 million, which
comprises £6.0 milion of OMNOVA synergy
costs, £10.5 million utilisation of restructuring
provisions and £1.3 milion of other
restructuring costs in-tha yRar

The cash impact of acquisition costs was
£6.6 million, arising from the acquisition

of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business.

The 2020 net outflow of £7.4 million related
to the OMNOVA acquisition and comprised
£20.1 mition of costs offset by a £12.7 million
cash gain on deal-contingent foresign
exchange contracts.

The 2020 cash outflow for the purchase
business related to OMNOVA,

On 28 October 2021, the Group successfully
complated a share placing, raising £203.1 milion,
net of issue costs, again relating to the financing
of the proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adhesive Resins business.

Dividends paid In the year increased. The final
dividend paymant for 2020 was paid in July
2021, whereas the 2019 final dividend was
cancelled in order to preserve cash, liquidity
and balance sheet strength at the onset of the
COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020.

Qur debt is denominated in auros and dollars.

The euro weakened relative to sterling during
2021, leading o a foreign exchange gainin
net debt.

Currency

The Group presents its consolidated financial
statements in sterling and conducts business
in many currencies. As a result, it is subject
to foreign currency risk due to exchange

rate movemenits, which affect the Group's
translation of 1he esulls and Underlying net
assets of its operations. To manage this risk,
the Group uses foreign currency borrowings,
forward contracts and currency swaps o
hedge non-sterling net assets, which are
precominantly denominated in suros, US
dollars and Malaysian ringgits.

In 2021, the Group experienced an overall
currency headwind with average FX rates
against our three principal currencias
increasing by 3.4% 1o €1.165, 6.3% 10 $1.374
and 5.5% to 5.70 ringgits. This resulted

in a net £22.1 milion transiation headwind
in reparted EBITDA.

Given the global nature of our customer and
supplier base, the impact of transactional
foreign exchange can be very difierent from
translational forgign exchangs. We are able
to partially mitigate the transaction impact
by matching supply and administrative cost
currencies with sates currencies.

To reduce volatility which might affect

the Group’s cash or income statement,

the Group hedges net currency transaction
exposures at the point of confirmed order,
using forward foreign exchange contracts.
The Group’s policy is, where practicable,
to hedge all exposures on monetary assets
and liabilities.

Financing and liquidity

At 31 Decamber 2021, the Group had net
debt of £114.2 million compared to net debt
of £462.2 million at 31 December 2020.
The reduction in net debt reflects the
strong Free Cash Flow in the year and
the proceeds on the equity share placing.
This cash generation resulted in a
reduction in the Group's leverage, from
1.8x at 31 December 2020 to 0.3x at

31 December 2021, leaving the Group
well placed to finance the acquisition

of Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business.

Ahead of the Eastman’s Adhesive Resins
acquisition, a new committed unsecured
$300 miliion loan facility was entered into
on 28 October 2021 which will be drawn,
alongside a portion of the revalving credit
facility on completion. An equity share
placing was also undsrtaken on 28 Qctober
2021 raising £203.1 million net of issue
costs. These procseds were swapped into
US dollars on the day of the placing in order
to hedge against the dollar-denominated
acquisition price.

While arranging the new $300 million loan
facility the Group took the opportunity to
transition the referance rates for $260 million
term loan and non-Euro borrowings under
the €460 million rolling credit facility away
from inter-bank interest rate to risk-

free rates.

At 31 December 2021, the Group

had committed borrowing facilities of
approximately £1,250 million through until
July 2024 with a single financial leverage
ratio covenant of 3.5x for 2022 and 3.25x
for 2023 and 2024.

Synthomer plc
Annual Raport 2021

25

w
=2
=
13
@,
a
o
o
o
o
a

BOUBLLEAODY

SIUBIRIS fiourLY dnos

SuBLIGLENS [2ioueuy Aueduwon

UONBULON JeYlD




Review of the year

Divisional reviews

Performance
Elastomers

A year of exceptional

growth - and clear

opportunities for the future,
driven by innovation and
capacity expansion.
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‘We've been able to meet
the exceptional demand

of 2020 and early 2021
because of the dedication
of our people and our
“investment in innovation
and increased capacity.

That has created
significant value to
support Synthomer’s
future growth.’

Neil Whitley
President, Performance ocmers
Division and Asia, M&A and HR

Main markets

Health & protection

Carpet, compounds & foam
Paper & packaging

Main product lines

* Nitrile Butadiene Latex emulsion (NBR) ~
» Styrene Butadiene Latex emulsion {SBR)
» Antioxidants

+ Speciality SBR

+ Performance Matearials

+ Elastomeric Modifiers

947 people in 12 plants in Europes, Middle
East, South East Asta and China, and in two
US plants we share with Functional-Solutions.

Qur contribution to sustainability
Performance Elastomers has a strong
track record of innovation, increasingly
driven by consumers’ demand for products
with reduced impact on the enwviranment.

In line with the Group's 2030 target of more
than 60% of new products having a positive
sustainahility impact, the division has

an exciting innovation funnal in both

SBR and NBR which set the standards

for sustainability. :

Highlights of our performance

320./m

EBITDA

130.9%

in constant currency




Constant
2021 2020 % %
Safety (RCR) 0.11 0.31 (65)
Volum_es'(ktes) B844.2 896.0 (5.8)
Ravenue (Em) 951.5 680.3 399 46.2
EBITDA {€m) 320.7 142.5 1251 136.9
Operating profit - Underlying parformanca (Fm) 2949 116.8 1525 166.0
Operating profit — IFRS (Em) 286.9 80.8 255.1

This has been a record year
for EBITDA, and for me,

three factors stand out about
our very strong performance
across the division.

Dedicated people and strong teamwork
The first is that it was only possible because
of the commitment of our people and taams
to working through challenges - whether
those were the constraints imposed by
COVID-19, which had a particular impact in
Malaysia and on the people working in our
NBR business, or tha disruptions to global
supply chains that affected the whole
industry. Across the division, our teams kept
our manufacturing going throughout, working
sately, and consistently golng the extra mile
to meet the needs of our customers, resulting
in strong perfarmances from both our NBR
and SBR businessas.

Clear benefits from long-term
investment

The second is that there was a clear link
between our consistent investment in organic
growth and capacity utilisation, and our ability
to mest demand, particulary for Nitrile latex
to support the healthcare sector during

the COVID-19 pandemic.

We know that extracrdinary Nitrite latex
demand for glove manufacturing during the
pandemic resuited in exceptional earnings
and cash genaration this year, and we
expected conditions to normalise as supply
and demand became more balanced.

That began to happen in H2 2021,

Putting agige the exceptionsl demand created
by the pandemic, we intend to continue
investing in Nitrile latex because we, along
with other industry experts, expect the
underlying growth in demand for Nitrile

latex experienced pre-pandemic to continue,
given the global trends in the heatthcare and
hygiena product markets and the fact that
nitrile latex is increasingly substituting PVC
and natural rubber in personal protective
equipment. We have a very strong position

in this market with a high market share,
industry-leading manufacturing technology
and a track record of product innovation.
There are exciting opportunities on the
herizon and we will continue our focus

on product, process and application
improvements. We are currently
commigsioning our JOBE' expansion

project in Pasir Gudang, Malaysia, creating
60ktes of additional Nitrile latex capacity
which will provide additional products for our
local and growing US customer bases, At the
same time, we have carried out siting reviews
in Asia to snsure that the required Nitrile latex
capacity is available in the coming years to

meet our custorners’ continuing growth plans.

Added to this, we have some of the most
innovative, highly-skilled pecple in the industry
- and the full opening this year of our Asian
Innovation Centre {(AlC) has enhanced

our ability to lead the way on innovations

in preducts and processes, many of which
will have defined sustainability benefits for
customers and consumers - including
SyNovus™ Plus, described in the case

study on page 12. :

Divisional
snapshot

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021

27

o
S
=4
@
b
s
-
@
=g
o
3

SOUBUIBACT)

s|ueweles [epueuy dnoug

SIUBWSIE)S [e1oueuy Ausdwon \ ’

UQRBULIOJUI 18UIQ




Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Performance Elastomers continued

Ensuring we have the structure

in place for future success

Whils results this year have been strong,
we need to remain focused on staying
comgpetitive in all our markets. This vear, in
ling with the findings of our review of our SBR
business, we closed SBR facilities in Oulu,
Finland, and Marl, Germany, shifting our
production to our other sites, where we have
been able to focus on our strategic move
towards greater capacity utilisation.

Performance review

Safety

Performance Elastomers achioved a
recordable injury case rate of 0.11 in FY21, and
a process safety rate of 0.18. The three-year
avarage recordable injury case rate of 0.14
ilustrates consistent delivery of upper-quartile
safety performance across all sites, with an
ongoing focus on slips, trips and falls which
now account for most of the small number

of Incldents each year. Our major nitrile project
(JOB6) in Pasir Gudang achieved mora than
750,000 hours without a recordable accident.
Significant management attention and
reporting facuses on further improving
process safety performance, including leading
indicators for permit to work and management
of change. We are launching behavioural
safety programmes in 2022 to drive safety
performance to industry-teading levels.

Synthomer plc
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VYolumes

Performance Elastomers achieved aversll
volumes of 844.2ktes in FY21, a reduction
on the exceptional volumes of 896.0ktes in
FY?20, and in tine with our FY19 performance
of 849.1ktes. Within this overall figure,
volumes in our Nitrile latex business were
lower than in 2020. Nitrile latex performance
was affected by Emergency Movement
Control Orders put in place in Malaysia in
response 1o the pandemic in Q3, as well

as some customer de-stocking in H2 2021
that followad exceptional demand in FY20
and H1 2021. Our further investment in Nitrile
latex capacity, including JOBG and our
announced plans for significant further
investment in South East Asia, demonstrate
our long-term commitment te the growing
Nitrilg latex market.

We closed our Performance Materials facility
in Culy, Finland, in February 2021, reducing
SBR capacity by 55ktes in FY21, Our oldest
SBR plant in Marl is closing and a range of
products previcusly made at this plant are
being successfully transfarred across

the widler Syrthomer network. This will
significantly improwve the utilisation of the
Performance Elastomers Performance

- Materials assets in Europe.

Revenue :

The division achieved revenues of £951.5 million
in FY21, with particularly strong demand, driven
by the global COVID-19 pandemic, for Nitrile
latex for a range of medical and industrial
gloves. Glove prices rose to record levels and
with demand for Nitrile latex exceeding supply in
H1, margins rose wall above normalised levels.
As demand reduced during H2 both glove and
Nitrile latex prices reduced significantly,
returning to historical levals since January 2022,
Industry analysts forecast that demand for
Nitrile iatex, the preferrad material of choice for
medical gloves, will continue to grow strongly as
glove usage per capita continues to increase
in developing countries. Synthomer also has
a strong product devalopment pipeline arising
from our industry-leading Asia Innovation Gentre
in Malaysia, including SyNovus™ Plus, samples
of which were approved by customars in

1 2022, -



EBITDA

This was an exceptional year for the division,
and we achieved EBITDA of £320.7 million.
This compares to divisional EBITDA of

£142.5 million in FY20. The underlying margins
within the NBR business were at exceptional
levels as demand for Nitrile latex exceeded
supply and record production rates for madical
gloves continued in H1. Demand for Nitrile
latex started to slow through H2, partly due
to de-stocking, with margins reducing to
more normal levels since January 2022,

Pertormance Materials margins improvad
following our asset rationalisation programme,
and helped by movement in raw materials
through the yaar.

Priorities for FY22

rategic priorittes lor FY22 include:

. with a continued tocus an
cing the sustainahility of procucts
; ihe lI«]

nitaining pur SHE 1o
Focusing an our people agenda and
carcer gevelopment 1o confinue
recruiting and retaimng the best 1alent.

Extending our SyNovus™
product range, building

our capacity and reducing
energy use

We are proud of the innovation that goes into
developing new products for our customers,
especially those that support our — and our
customers' — sustainability ambitions.

But inngvation is equally important when
it comes to our processes, supporting
our strategy by increasing our capacity,
maintaining the high performance of our
speciality products, and making us more
energy efficient. ’

To support our family of patented SyNovus™
products, our new Asian Innovation Centre
in Malaysia launched a process innovation
programme designed to further improve the
way wa make the NBR nitrile gradas that
are vital to the manufacture of thin latex
examination gloves - a critical product

to us, and to the healthcare sector during
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Harnessing the energy from
chemical reactions

While at all times ensuring that our nitriles
product maintains its high performance in
our customers’ applications, our innovation
teams have adapted our systems to harness
the heat created by the chemical reactions
that lead to polymerisation, and used that
heat in the product process, reducing our
need for stearn.

In the second year of a three-year programme
that has involved cooperation between our
operations, commercial and technical support
teamns in Malaysia, the project has boosted
capacity by a further 10%, whils reducing
the energy consumption in use for both
Synthomer and our customers. It has meant.
wa could increass our supply ta customers at
a time of very high demand - and is creating
opportunities o use the technology within
other plants and product lines.

v
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Review of the year
Divisional reviews continued

Functional

Solutions

Building on our growth
platform through innovation
and sustainability.

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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_‘Very strong demand
across all end markets
served by Functional
Solutions has led to
robust-business growth
despite substantial

supply chain disruptions
in all regions.’
Rob Tupker

President, Functional Solutions and
Eurape

Main markets
Coatings
Construction
Technical Textiles
Adhesives

Oil & Gas

Main product applications
* Architectural paint

¢ Intumescent paint

* Wood and metal coatings

+ Tile and flooring adhesives
= Speciality tapes

+ Sealants

* Waterproofing

* Repair mortar

» Glass fibre scrim

* Non-woven and woven textiles
* Drilling additives

* Cement enhancement

1,807 peoplain 16 plants in Europe, the USA,
the Middle East, South East Asia and China.
11 technology and innovation centres.

Our contribution to sustainability
With a strong focus on its development
pipeline, the division is making good
progress towards meeting the Group’s 2030
target of more than 60% of new products
having a positive impact on sustainability.
Many of Functionai Solutions’ newly
developad products replaca solvent with
water, contribute to energy savings for
the customer, reduce the use of materials
of concern or have a positive impact

on recyclability. ‘

Highlights of our perfermance

£139.2m

ERITDA

+49.8%

in constant currency



Constant
2021 2020 % CU"B":’
Safety (RCR) 0.37 0.39 {5)
Volumes {kies) 655.9 591.2 10.9
Revenue (Em) 800.3 G46.7 39.2 439
EBITDA (Em) 139.2 95.6 45.6 49.8
Operating profit - Underlying performance (€m) 114 689.1 60.8 65.6
69.8 311 124.4

Operating profit = IFRS (€m)

Our extensiva portfolio of
innovative and sustanable

products are used in diverse
applications by our
customers around the world.

Though consumers will rarely see
Synthomer’s name on consumer products,
Functionat Solutions' wide range of products
play a vital role in pecple’s lives, and with our
leadership positions in sustainable, water-
based dispersions and our broad customer
base, we have a clear platform for growth.
Our commitrment to innovation, capacity
expansion and operational excelencs ensures
we stay ahead and remain onse of the leaders
in speciality dispsrsions, and this year helped
drive an outstanding 49.8% growth in
EBITDA, Both top- and bottom-line growth
were delivered despite a succession of
disruptions to raw material supplies, including
COVID-19-related supplier closures in Asia,
the Texas freeze in February 2021, and force
majeures in Eurcpe.

Harnessing innovation and sustainability
1o drive growth

With more than B0% of our products
consisting of water-based dispersions which
eliminate the VOCs associated with solvents,
Functional Solutions plays a key part in
Synthomer's Vision 2030 ambitions.

Demand from our mare than 3,000 customers
across the world for sustainable polymer
solutiens is growing, drivan in many regions
by regulation as well as customers’ own
sustainability objectives. At the samie time,
our innovation teams are working with
customers to develop products that push
the possibilities further — meeting needs for
formaldehyde-free, biocids-free or lower-vVOC
applications, and developing biodegradabla,
bio-based or industry-compostable products
to support circular economy approaches

to sustainability. Our 11 technology and

innovalior centres are state-of-the-art
facilities for all our main technology functions:
polymer synthesis, materials charactarisation,
applications technology, technical service
and production scale-up.

Synthomer people dedicated 10 meeting
needs of customers in diverse markets

" An essential element in the division's success

this year has been the commitment of
Synthomer people to meeting customer
needs. This takes many forms - kesping

our plants running through the CCVID-19
pandemic, overcoming the disruptions in
global supply chains, maintaining clese
partnerships with customers when it comes
to innovation and delivery. There is no doubt
that our strong performance is owed in large
part to our people and teams, and to the
focus we have placed on both commercial
and manufacturing excellence programmes
in recent years.

This was especially important in the context
of recovearing and rising demand. The year
saw a notable improvement in demand in the
Coatings, Adhesives, Sealants and Elastomers
(CASE), and Qil & Gas segments, and
products that found their end-application

in consumers’ houses performed very well,
as so many paople turned their hand to DIY
in the pandemic. Investment in capacity over
the past few years served us well here, as
our Worms plant ran at increased capacity
and allowed us to deliver differentiated
products across our European natwork,

part of an overall increase in capacity in our
plant networks in Europe and North America
in particular.

Divisional
shapshot
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Functional Solutions continued

‘This was a record year
for the division, and

we achieved EBITDA of
£139.2m. This compares
to divisional EBITDA of

£95.6m in FY20. Aided by
strong cost control and
synergy realisation, all
regions contributed to

a 46% growth in EBITDA.

Synthomer plc
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Delivering on the banefits o1 CMNOVA
integration

Last year we completed the integration of
OMNOVA, helping to increase the scale and
geographic diversity of our division. As well
as dslivaring cost synergies, the successful
integration of the Functional Solutions’
sales team with that of the former OMNOVA
business has opened up significant new sales
opportunities, many of which ware realised
during 2021,

The imtegration significantly broadened our
global reach as a division, with around a third
of revenue now coming from aur Americas
and APAC markets.

It has also expanded our technological
capability — so we can continue to innovate
and meet the needs of our diverse
customer base.

There is still work to do to ensure that SHE
performance is consistently high across
the division including the heritage
OMNQOVA sites.

Performance review

Safety

Functional Solutions achieved a recordable
injury case rate of 0.37 in FY21, and a process
safety rate of 0.28.

Both metrics are higher than 2020, reflecting
the integration of former OMNOVA sites

for a full year. Our strong focus on safety
transformation initiatives at key sites is already
beginning to show success, with all-injury
rates at an all-time low for the division,

For 2022, we will focus on completing
transformation initiatives at all Functional
Solutions' sites as we push for world-class
safety rates across our whote site network.

Volumes

Functionat Solutions achieved overall
volumes of 655.9ktes in FY21, an increase
on 591.2ktes in FY20, and substantially
greater than our FY19 performance

of 487 4ktes.

\
This strong overall performance reflects
robust demand in all our main markets as
well as the fact that we have grown as a
division, including through the successful
integration of OMNOWVA, which has created
new saies opportunities as well as increased
our capacity. .

In addition to an extra quarter of volumes
frorn OMNOVA, the division benefited from
growth in our CASE businesses in Europe
and USA, ofiset in part by the impact of
prolonged GOVID-19 effects in South East
Asta. Demand was particularly strang in
construction and textiles. The Qil & Gas
business also saw healthy growth, drivan by
increased driling activity and higher oil prices.

Revenue

Tha Functional Solutions division achieved
revenues of £900.3 million in FY21, a growth
of 39.2% on FY20. The extra volumeas noted
above, both from the OMNOVA integration
and organic growth, contributed to this
increase, along with an improvemant

in unit margins in certain segments.
Another driver for the increase was the
pass-through to customers of substantial
increases in unit raw material costs.



EBITDA

This was a record vear for the division,
and we achieved EBITDA of £139.2 million.
This compares to divisional EBITDA

of £85.6 million in Fy20, Aided by strong cost

control and synergy realisation, all regions
contributad to a 45.6% growth in EBITDA.

This excellent result was achieved despite
significant prolonged US disruption from
the 'Texas freeze’ and mulliple force
majeures affecting our key raw material
suppliers in Europe. Functional Solutions
delivered record margin growth, with all
our global businesses contributing.
Volume increases, strong margin
rmanagement in the face of steeply

rising monomer prices, cross-seling

of our speciality product porttolio

and the ongoing shift towards 2 more
differentiated and sustainable product
portfolio all contributed to this improved
margin profila.

Priorities for FY22

To build on 1he strong performance
of FY2i.in FY22 we aim 1o

+ Complete safety transiormation
pregramimes for major divisional sites
particularly focusing on our heritage
OMNOVA sites, 10 deliver further
improvements in safety perfarmance

* Achieve top-line growth from new
product launches, globalising our
product porttalio and delivering on
furiher revenue synergy opporiunities

« Continue strong margin management
wiih 2 locus on commercial excellence

+ Pursue arganic and inorganic
opporivnities ta expand our cap

——meet rising démand A olr §
markets

* Deliver a vanety of nnovation and capgital
projects to meet the rising demands
ol consumers anct aur cuslomers lor
sustainable offerings and in sugport of
Group targets on energy consumption
and enussion réguclions.

cily te -

LITEX™ Shield technology - helping builders keep
the weather out, more sustainably

Enargy-efficient housing is the future for
builders and homeowners — and it is an
important focus for our sustainable
innovation programmes.

QOur LITEX™ Shield XSBR tachnalagy
supports builders by improving the technical
textilgs they need in products such as glass
fibre and roofing felt, materials they use to
protect builkding interiors from the outside
temperature and rain. These materials nead
10 hiave mechanical stability, chemical
rasistance and water-proofing propertias -
afl of which the LITEX™ Shield provides.

But LITEX™ Shield goes much further

than competitor products. Thanks 1o

the work of gur innavation teams in Marl,
Germany, LITEX™ Shiald technalagy is free
from formaldehyde - a critical competitive
advantages in a market where regulations
are demanding ever-higher standards — and
has low Volatile Organic Compound (VOC)
content. Fast-drying, it helps our customers

increase their productivity and reduce their
energy consumgtion. And by helping people
insulate their buildings better, it contributes
to a lower energy consumption and carbon
footprint for consumers, too.

Regular sales of LITEX™ Shield began

in 2020 in Europe — and by 2021, following
our launch in North America, global sales
reached €17 milfion in revenue.

And in anothor oxamplc of our approach

10 commercialising successiul innovations,
we have applied the formaldehyde-free XSBR
technology that underpins LITEX™ Shield
10 new products. REVACRYL™ Design
creates low-emission acrylics that are used

in household applications such as decorative
laminatas for furniture and glaoo fibrc
wallcoverings, Sales bagan in 2020, and by
2021 had expanded to €2 milion in revenue.
Both REVACRYL™ Design and LITEX™ Shield
won categories in our annual Innovation
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Industrial
Specialities

Driven by innovation,
delivering excellence

and growth.

Synthomer plc
Annual Neport 2021
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‘The successful
integration of OMNOVA
and excellent operating
performance across our
highly-specialised

product range has
delivered strong business
growth.’

Ana Perroni Laloe
Presiden!. Industrial Specialties

Main markets

Polymer Additives
Laminates & Fims
Coated Fabrics  «

Main businesses

* Laminates & Films

* Coated Fabrics

* Vinyl Polymers

« Polybutadiene Lithene

* William Blythe (speciality chemical
products)

* Speciality Additives

* Powder Caatings

1,192 people in 8 plants in Europe, the USA,
the Middle East, and South East Asia.

Our contribution to sustainabllity

The division is assessing a number of
sustainability initiatives, including develoging
a pilot site for water metering at our
Speciality Vinyl Polymers plant in Harlow
(UK) and raviewing options for improved
technology to heip reduce wasle at our
Speciality Additives plant in Ghent, Belgium.
In addition, there are a number of active
R&D projects across the division with
sustainability as a core driver.

Highlights of our performance

A7.0m

EBITDA

+18.9%

in constant currency



Constant
currency
2021 2020 % %
Safety (RCR)' 040 . 036 11
Volumes (kies} 1155 91.1 26.8
Revenue (Em) 382.5 2649 44.4 489
EBITDA {£m) 476 41.2 15.5 189
Operating profit - Underlying performance {Em) 339 23.0 16.9 20.3

IS andd AM are combined for operational reasons

Commercial and scientific
innovation is at the heart of
our business. What does the
end-consumer want? How
can we help cur customers
meet that demand in the
many markets they serve?

Can we innovate to create
new and better products
—and how do we make our
operations even safer, more
efficient and more
sustamable, so we can
create further value?

This year's growth in sales, volurmes and
EBITDA show that we are succeeding in
finding answers to these queastions. The seven
businesses in our division supply specialised
products for niche markets around the wortd
from their manufacturing sites in Europe, the
US and South East Asia. They have
succeeded in meeting the divarse and
specialist requirements of our global customer
base, in the context of a year in which we
have had to address the twin chaflenges of
COVID-19 and disrupted raw material supply
chaing. That is tribute to the commitment and
talent of our 1,192 people - and shows that
we have solid foundations for future growth.

Outstanding customer service and
consistent, safe production

Disruption across tha industry has meant that
this year, more than ever, customers wanted -
to know that when they picked up the
telephone to their supplier, there would be
someone there going the extra mile to help
tharmn. Cur customer sarvice, purchasing and
logistics teams have done exactly that.

But ot course, they could not meet custormer
demand without the dedication of the people
in our operations who have kept our sites

running throughout the pandemic — and who

have done s0 while delivering our division's
best-ever process safety performance.
Their commitment to safety, backed up by
our-gonsistent investment in manufacturing
excellence, has seen a 16% raduction in the
recorded case rate since 2018, it means that
we can peint to examples such as our
powder coating business in ltaly, which has
now gone five years without a recordable
incident, to drive further improvements
across the division.

Manufacturing excellence brings other
bengfits too: our ‘Value Gap’ programme
continues to deliver debottlenacking, cycle
time improvements and additional capacity.
It has improved productivity, increased
utilisation, and helped identify cpportunities
to minimise cur erwironmental profile and
reduce emissions.

Responding to strong consumer and
customer demand across all end
markets

Sales volumes across the division grew

by 26.8% as demand grew in all our main
markets, and particularly in the automotive
and consumer-facing industrial sectors.

Laminates & Fims, and Vinyl Polymers have
continued to grow significantly, as consumers
seek out high-performing products for the
furniture and floors of their kitchens and
bathreoms, and where our teams are
succeeding through a winning blend of
material performance and aesthetic design,
Our relationships with major retai customers
are critical here — and anficipating their needs
and delivering with fast, effective service is
spurring our growth,

The recovaery in automotive demand has
benefited our Polybutadiene Lithene and
Powder Coatings businesses, which also
serve the constriiction, rubber modification
and adhesivas sectors,

Wa continue to see opportunities for all
our businesses, and we have set out further
investment for growth,

Divisional
snapshot

Priorities for FY22
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued
Industrial Specialities continued

Leading innovation, and strengthened
reach and scale

The integration of OMNOVA has given our
division further diversification, both interms
of the end markets we serve, and our
geographical reach. We have really seen
the benefits this year, with cosl synergies
being realised and significant new sales
apportunities, particulasly in the US.

i has also expanded our innovation
capabilities, which remain a key focus
in our ability to meet eng consumer and
customer neads,

Performance review

Safety

Industrigl Specialities achisved a recordable
case rate of 0.40in Fy21, and a process
injury safety rate of 0.04.

Across our chemicals plants, we have
continued our sustained focus on strengthening
practices and processes, particularly on parmit
to work and management of change system
improvements. The recordable injury case rate
across the chemicals plants in FY21 was 0.27,
which is slightly above FY20 but comparable
fo top quartile perfermance in the industry.

The focus for our surfaces plants (Laminates
& Films, and Coaled Fabrics) has been on
improving occupatiohal health and safety
perfermance by simplitying and embedding
fundamental SHE practices, with thres of
four surfaces sites graduating from SHE
‘supported site’ status in FY21, and the
remaining site expectad to graduate in the
first quarter of FY22. |n FY21, the surfaces
sites racorded their lowest-ever recordable
injury case rate of 0.53, atthough we
recognise there is much more still to

do and are committed to ensuring safety
remains at the heart of everything we

do for all employees.

Volumes

Industrial Specialities achieved overall
volumes of 115.8ktes in FY21, an increase
on our volumes of 91,1ktes in FY20, and
substantially greater than our FY18
performance of B7.3ktes,

Robust demand in all gur main markets
drave the strong volumes, while we have also
grown as a division through the successful
integration of OMNOVA, Qur reliability
programme at Harlow, as well as smaller
de-bottlsnecking projacts across other
plants, have also helped us increase capacity.

Synthomar pic
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uphoilstery stain-free

‘Pinking’ is a real preblem for boat builders
and ownars. It appears as a red or pink
stain on vinyl marine upholstery caused
by a specific strain of bactaria that thrives
in marine environments. There is usually
no alternative but to replace the
upholstery completely.

Thanks to innovation by our Coated Fabrics
technical teams in Columbus, US, and
Rayong, Thailand, we have developed a
new, patent-protected barrier technology

Tidal Wave™ - new technology keeping marine

that stops the bactetia’s pink dye from
spreading to the surface of the upholstery.

Our new Tidal Wave™ marine vinyl
upholstery, sold in our Nautolex® range,
means boat owners can keegp their cushians
white — and creates savings and competitive
advantage fcr our boat-building customers.
Launched in 2018, Tidal Wave™ had its
best-ever year of sales [n 2021, and was
recognised in our annual Innovation

Awards this year,

S

Revenue

The division achieved revenuss of £382.5 mition
in FY21, a significant increase on FY20.

The increase in revenue was attributable

to increased volumes, consistent focus

on product pricing and margin management,
and the impact of the OMNOVA integration.

EBITDA

We achieved EBITDA of £47.6 million for
Industrial Specialities in FY21, compared to
divisional EBITDA of £41.2 million in FY20.

Laminates & Films, integrated from OMNOVA,
continued to grow revenue in FY21 through
strong volumes and further market share
gains, following a very strong year in FY20.
The business continues o grow ahead of the
market through substitution of the superior
performance and lower cost of laminates and
fiims compared to traditional wood and stone
materials. The business is well placed to
deliver another year of growth in Fy22.

The Coated Fabrics business also integrated
since the acquisition of OMNOVA, benefitad
from growth in the Asian automotive and
motorcycle markets. The business experienced
strong volumes during FY21, and delivered
very strong year-on-year growth.

The Vinyl Polymers business had a resifient
year, delivering strong volumes, but was
adversely affected by weaker unit margins
following unprecedented raw material price
increases and a weaker US dollar. With the
recovary of unit margins during the second
half of the year following sales price
increases, this business is in a good
position to deliver growth in FY22.

The Polybutadiene Lithene business delivered
year-on-year growth through strong volumes,
partly helped by the recovery in the
autemotive sector.

William Blythe detiveréd excellent year-on-
year growth with strong underlying volumes
from existing and new product salas.

Qur Speciality Additives business, which
supplies speciality coatings, delivered an
exceptional performance with record volurnes
and strong unit margins. The business also
bensfited from the cost improvemnent plan
delivered during FY21.

The Powder Coating business deliverad
strong volumes and unit margins, and
delivered a record EBITDA year.



Acrylate

Monomers

Constant
2021 2020 % R
Safety (RCRY 0.40 0.36 1
Volumes (ktes) 55.9 59.9 6.7)
Revenue (£my) 95.2 523 82.0 B1.8
EBITDA {€m) 35.3 (2.4}
Operating profit — Underlying pserformance {Em) M5 (5.6)
Oparating profit — IFRS (Em) 29.3 (26.3)

*IS and AM are combined for operational reasons

Our Acrylate Monomers
division operates from our
production plant at Sckolov
(Czceh Republicy, which we
share with the Functional
Sclutions dispersion

business. We manufacture
and supply monomaer
prcducts to Functicnat
Solutions, as well as being a
medium-sized supplier to the
an Acrylates market.

Set up as a division in early 2021, Acrylate
Monomers has mads significant progress
on its long-term transforrmation programme,
which set out to return the division to
profitability and establish a strong,
sustainable foundation for fulure growth.
Qur ability to maka good progress with the
programme in 2021 reflects the commitment
of our people at Sokolov, who have driven
it through while maintaining operations,
all in the face of the disruptions caused
by COVID-1S. Whilst the exceptional
performance in 2021 is principally driven
by strong unit margins brought about

by disruption in the monomers market,
the transtormation project has undoubtedly
benelited the site and has placed it on

a more resilient and sustainable footing.

Ending coal use in Synthomer

A key element of our transformation
pragramme at Sokolov, was beginning

the closure of the site’s coal-fired power
station. This will mark the end of coal use
in Synthomer, centributing to our target 1o
reduce GHG emissions by 40% by the end
of 2030 (compared to 2018}, and reinforcing
our strong commitment 1o raducing our
carbon footprint. Our investment at the site
will also reduce our site water requirements
by 23%.

Continuing focus on safety
Improving safety pertormance is another
central component of the transformation
of the Sokelov site. We have focused on
strengthening practice and processes
including permit to work, management
of change, and local involvement and
accountability for driving SHE culture
across the site,

We will continue to invest in improved safety
as part of our Group-wide commitrnent to
SHE as a core Synthomer value, and of aur
Vision 2030 sustainability roadmap.

Performance review

Safety

Acrylate Monomers achieved a recordable
case rate of 0.2 in FY21. This represents

a significant decrease in the recordable injury
case rate from FY20, when it was 0.42.

The division demonstrated significant
improverment in a number of SHE focus areas
as part of our transformation pragramme at
the Sokolov site. Tha division also graduated
from SHE ‘supported site’ status at the end
of FY21. No process safety events were
recorded in F¥21, an improvement on the
FY20 process safety rate of 0.10.

Volumes

Acrytate Monomers achieved overall volumes
of 58.9kies in FY21, compared to volumes
of 59.9ktes in FY20, This decrease is partly
attributable to a change in product mix,
supplying greater volumes to our Functional
Solutions dispersions business as well

as the challenging operational and raw
‘material envirarment.

Revenue

The division achieved revenues of

£95.2 million in FY21, a significant increase
on FY20. This increase reflects a substantial
rise in sales prices due to strong demand,
and the temporary tightening of supply in
both European and global markets in Fy21.
Among the events which had an impact

on supply were a number of acrylic monomer
supplier force majeures within Europe, the
US winter storm and the blockage of the

Divisional
snapshot

Suez Canal, which began in March 2021,
This ternporary tightening of supply is
expected to normalise ovar the course

of FY22 as competitors restore levels of
preduction and shipping constraints ease.

EBITDA

The division delivered EBITDA of £35.3 million
in FY21, compared to a small loss of £2.4 million
in F¥20. This return to profit was primarity driven
by a substantial increase in unit margins, as

a resuft of the period of strong demand and
tempaorary tightening of supply in our markets,
described above.

tn addition, Acrylate Monomers has deliverad
a number of cost savings in FY21 as part of
our transformation programme, the full-yaar
benefits of which will be realised during FY22.

Priorities for FY22

© Having restored the Acrylate Mo
division to profitability in FY21 in part
through del rg the site siormation

et uur key prioftios for FY22 incluae:
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Review of the year
Innovation

Innovation:
creating value

for customers,
driving our growth

Highlights in 2021

= Integrated irnovation centres from
OMMNOVA into our three global divisions
target of 50% of ne {

Impact Assessments
Launched our innovalion
Framework

Synthomer pic
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‘Our global innovation
network is at the heart of
serving customer needs,
meeting our sustainability
objectives and driving

our growth’.

Marshall Mcore
Chief Technoiogy Cliice

Why we innovate, what we
innovate - and how we do it
Everyone working in innovation at Synthomer
should have two words on their mind, every
day: "specialisation’, and “sustainability’.
Whatever we are doing — investigating

new tachnology platforms, designing new
products, researching new applications

—we must focus on what will drive growth

for the business. That comes from customers
choosing our products - and more and maore,
specialisation and sustainability are the
criteria they use to make that choice.

QOur strategic priorities reflect this. We have
introduced a target that 60% of new products
shauld have a defined sustainability benefit
by 2030, and we are aiming to ensure that
new and protected progducts make up at least
20% of our sales volume (the NPP metric).
These are chaillenging goals - but | am
convinced we have the right innovation
process, the right people, and the right

spiril to achieve them.,

Where we focus our

innovation efforts

Innovating to support sustainable growth
for Synthomer means adding distinctive,
differentiated valus for cur customers, while
rmaking our own business maore efficient
and effective,

New product innovation within our customer-
facing innovation teams means taitoring
solutions based on our current technologies to
meet new customer needs, or in anticipation of
consumar and market trends. 7o enable more
game-changing innovations in the future we
have established a new Technology Platiorm
Innovation team focused on investigating new
chemistries designed to meet the changing
needs of the market.

The three pillars of our
Technology Platform’s
innovation approach

®

Sustainability
Supporting Synthomer’s Vision 2030 roadmap
through technologies and products that:

= Are based on mere sustainable raw
rnaterials, including bio-based materials

= Have lower environmental impacts when
in use

¢ Have lower anvironmental impacts at the
end of their lives.

®

Enhanced performance

Expanding and diversifying Synthomaer's
portiolio by investigating new monomer and
polymer systems that perform better at:

» Binding, bonding and coating
* Improving adnesion, repellency,
or aesthelics
= Material and formulation efficiency.

©,

Formulation and process efficiency
Developing efficirnt technical approaches
and methodologies that:

* Make us more efficient

* Get our products to market quicker

* Enhance our product knowledge

* Give us a better return on investment.

Across these pillars, we have developed a
new Innovation Excellencs Framework to help
kesp everyone in our teams focused on our
ubjsutives, The franewotk Ylves us dii sIx
‘ways of working' — the principles that guide
how we work every day.



Global coverage — with direct
links to manufacturing sites
Worldwide, we have 16 innovation sites.
Qur four centres of excellence in the UK,
Germany, Mataysia, and the United States’
provide leading ressarch and development,
and capabilities to support product and
process innovation across all our divisions.

The other 12 are technical centres and pilot .

lines located close to our manufacturing
sites that respond to market-specific
customer needs.

Putting innovation to work in
every aspect of our business
‘Each business unit within Pgrformance
Elastomers, Functional Solutions and
Industrial Specialities has its own dedicated
innovation team. Our Global Technology and
Innovation function oversees our worldwide
innovaticn network, conducts research on
new technology platforms and provides
centralised support for safety management,
material characterisation, process
devalopmant, intallectual property

and regulatory compliance. |

Innovation
shapshot

Our market-specific
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Our new. Innovation
Excellence Framework gives
us six ‘ways of working’

1. Clearly aligning innovation resources
to the business strateqy

2. Fostering creativity within our team
and through collaborations

3. Incorporating process safety and
sustainability into product design

4. Investing in people, working in teams

5. Delivering excellence in project and
portfolio management

6. Focusing on delivering results.

technologies thal create profitable and

sustainable new products

Implement additional elements of our
Innovation Excellence Framewark {o
improve innovation yield, accelerate
commercialisaticn, and develop our
inngvation 1alent

Attract, develop and retain innovative,
collaboralive scientisis and engingers.

Synthomer plc
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Qur contros of
excellence: technology centres:
Akron, USA USA: Aubum, Chester, o
Marlow, UK Jeannerte, Monroe, g
M, Garmany Roebugk and Stattord g
R AIC (Kulal), Malaysia Rayong, Thalland H
_ Sant'Albano, Haty @
Shanghal, China
Sinra, Portugal
Villejust, Franca
Accrington, UK
Global Technology and Innovation g
h=]
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_SHE Product Stewardship and
Overseas occupational safety in our Regulatory Compliance
innovation centres and labs, and our Ensures that the products we sell are
Responsible Care Management System. safe and compliant, and guides safe
oduct design. L
Intellectual Property and Knowledge product desig
Management Platform Technolegy and External
Protects our proprietary knowledge Innovations g
and maximises the value of inventions Innovates new technology platforms that B
through patents. help us make differantiated products at 2
mand.
Material Characterisation scale to mest customer demand g
Builds understanding of materials at Sustainability 5
a molecular level to enable smarter Oversees our sustainability governance y
-product design. frarmework and sets goals to guide how ]
R j rate, S
Advanced Process Innovation we innovate and operate H
Industrialises new innovations and engineers
safer, more effective and efficient ways to
manufacture our products.
Priorities for 2022
Implement global SHE standards
Work towards 0% of new products g
wilh sustainabilily benefits e
Maintain pace of new product g’f
commercialisalion {0 ensura » P0% NPP 2
Build ditferentiated. valug-adding g



Review of the year

Innovation continued

Investing in innovation
in Asia to meet
customer needs

Our Asia Innovation Centre (AIC) in Malaysia
became fully operational in April 2021.
The AIC is leading the way ¢n research and
devalopment to support our Performance
Elastorners and functional Solutions
business units.

Wae invested RM35 million in the 6,000m?
facility in the iPark near Senai Airport, Johor
Bahru, as part of our commitment to meat
growing demand from customers for
product development and applications
support. The AIC has accelerated innovation
in kay markets such as Healthcare and
Protection {nitrile gloves) through state-of-
the-art R&D reactor capabilities and
investment in new Application Technology
including a robotic glove-dipping labaratory.

“Qur new flagship facility
leads our innovation in

novel nitriles and ensures
Synthomer stays at the
forefront of nitrile latex
product development and
applications. It will also create
the right environment to )
attract and retain the best
talent in the industry.”

Gan Boon Teck

Vice President and General Manager of
Performance Efastomers division in Asia ,
“This is the first phase

of what we expect to be

an cngoing investment in
innovation in Asia, supporting
all divisions of the company.
As well as expanding our pilot
lab reactor capacity, we are
also investing in a new
robotic dipping arm to

more effectively mimic

our customers’ processes
and accurately predict the
behaviour of our polymers.”

Dr Zhenli Wei
Vice President of Innovation for

Performance Elastomars division j

Innovating sustainably

We see sustainabllity as ona of the main
drivers of innovation = and product and
process innovation as an essential enabler for
making our business both more sustainable,
and more competitive. Developing more
sustainable products and processes is a
critical way we can add value for customers
= which is why we've set a target of 60%

of new products with defined sustainability
benefits, including:

= Etiminating ingrediants of concarn

* Reducing energy consumption and
carbon emissions

* Reducing water consumption

* Reducing waste gensration

* Reducing or eliminating hazards in
our products

* improving product end-of-life management

* Enabling sustainability benefits in
downstream use.
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We've created new benchmarks to assess
the impact of our innovation projects against
the goals of Synthomer's Vision 2030
roadmap. We conduct Sustainability Impact
Assassments on all of our product inngvation
projects, and we're developing the capability
to conduct life cycle assessments on
candidate products during the innovation
process. We've developad new capabilities
to enable the design of bicdegradable
products, and we're exploring how we can
Increase our use of bio-basad raw materials.
We already use them in several of our
products and they could play a big part

in our lower-carbon future.

At the same time, by optimising or
redesigning our manufacturing processes,
we can help make our plants safer and more
efficient while reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. For more on our contribution,
see the Sustainability section of this report,
pages 42-68.

Our innovations are
all around you...

-.and you will find examples
througheout this report.

SyNovus'™Pius — sustainable
innovation in action

SyMNovus™ Plus is our new nitrile product
that provides the same high-
performance barrier proleciion as
conventional Nitrile latex while being
recyclable and reducing GHG emissions
- see page 12.

Lipolan™TERRA - making latex
foam more sustainable

Lipolan'™ TERRA is helping to reduce the
carbon footprint associated with making
and transporting latex foam - see page 23.

Imnovating our processes to deliver
SyNovus™products

Cur Asia tnnovation Centre has launched
a process innovation programme
designed to further improve the way we
make NBR nitrile grades - ses page 29.

LITEX" Shield XSBR technology -
supporting construction

Our LITEX™ Shiela XS8R tcchnology

supports builae y Mg he
hnical iextiles they need in products

Tidal Wave'™ = helping marine
upholsterers combat 'pinking’




Synthomer
spacialist potymers in
liquid or dry form provide
binding or bonding properties in a
broad range of industriat and

consumer conatruction applications.

From mortar modification to fiquid-
applied waterproofing membranes,
ceramic tite adhesives to flooring
adhesives, our SBR and acrylic
dispersions deliver excelient
performance across the various
technologies in use in the
construction market.

Business

foundations
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability

A sustainable
agenda for a
growing business

This has been an important
year for Synthomer and our
sustainability agenda.

https://www.synthomer.com/company/
corporate-responsibility/
sustainability/?region=EUROPE

42 Synthomer plc
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‘As a speciality.chemicals -
company we recognise
that we have a role to

play in meeting society’s

-expectations for a more -

sustainable future. The

iaunch of our new Vision
2030 roadmap in 2021 is

an important step. It will
help guide our actions
over the next decade as

we work towards cur net
zero ambitions.’

Tim Hughes

President, Coiparate Development

For many years, our speciality water-based
polymers have heiped replace solvent-based
products that contain harmful volatile crganic
compounds. However, if last year's COP26
event proved anything, it is that society’s
expectations of businesses |ike ours continue
to grow.

As a speciality chemicals company, we
recognise the role we must play, which is why in
2020 we announced our commitment to reach
net zerd by 2050. We've since launched our
Vision 2030 roadmap as our starting point for
raalising that commitment. This roadmap sets
out a series of sustainability targets, aligned with
the UN"s Sustainable Devetopment Goals, and
reflects the issues we know matter most to
our stakeholders. Many of these targets are
underpinned by short-term objectives, so

that we can track and report progress over
the coming dacade.

Taking action - and making progress
Targsts must be backed by action, and

I'm pleased to say we've put a lot of wheeis
in motion this year. For example, we've
established a new sustainability governance
structure, introduced new sustainability
champions across key operations and
functions, and launched new scorecards

to assess all new product development

and large-scale capital projects against
sustainability criteria. And so that stakeholders
can better understand our financial and
nen-financial performance side-by-side,
we've integrated our sustainability reporting
into our Annual Report. To coincide with the
publication of this Annual Report, we will also
publish a data pack on our website, giving ouwr
stakeholders easier, faster, more transparent
access to our sustainability data.

Meanwhile, we've also hit our interim
renewable electricity objective ahead of
schedule, published externally assessed
Scope 3 emissions for the first time, and
established a new diversity and inclusion
stearing committee, led by our Chair, Caroline
Johnstone. | am also particulanly pledsaed
that our commitment to sustainable products
and services was externally racognised with
an LSE Green Economy mark in July 2021.
This is awarded to companies who earn
more than 50% of their revenue from
envirpnmental solutions,



0153

tonnes of COze Scope 1 and 2 GHG
emissions per sales production tonne

1%
reduction

vs 2019 baseling

Putting safety first - and responding

to COVID-1%

Of course, as a chemical manufacturing
business, safety must always be our first
priarity and sits at the centra of our core
values (see page 55). We're proud of our
long-term recerd and know we must maintain
our focus as we grow. We anticipate some
short-term fluctuation in our safety, health
and environment {(SHE) performance when
integrating new businesses like DMNOVA,
We allow three years from the daie of a new
acquisition to help our new businesses to
mast our SHE standards and align with our
sustainability goals. We are now almost two
years into that process with OMNOVA and
are starting to see their efforts show in our
results. This is thanks to the excellent

work our SHE leams have done to help

our new cclleagues introduce our tools

and processes.

It’s impossibie to talk about health and
safety and not mention the ongoing COVID-19
pandernic. Demand for our products has
remainad high and | would fike to thank
everyone for continuing to protect one
another while keeping our sites running
safely. | believe the dedication and care
they've shown are clear exprassions of

all our core values in action.

We have continued to adapt to local regulations
throughout the pandemic, including having
fewer people on site and closing labs when
needed. Our customers have faced similar
challenges. This is likely to have a short-term
impact on our innovation pipeline - but we've
made progress nonegtheless. In 2021, we
launched 19 new products, of which 43%
include a defined sustainability benafit.

‘We also introduced new innovation awards,
which include a sustainability category.

Going further on diversity and inclusion
‘We also continued to embed our people
agenda, with a growing focus on key areas
such as diversity and inclusion, career
devalopment and employee engagament.

Wa're particularly pleased that we met our
2021 objective of 20% of women in senior
leadership roles. in February 2022, Ana
Perroni Laloe was appointed President,
Industrial Spacialities, joining our Executive
Committee. The appointment of Lily Liu

as gur Chief Financial Officer will further
accelerate our progress, Once Lily is
officially on board, women will make up
44% of our Board.

We have & good gender and ethnic split at

a graduate level. And the global Engender
women's network had a busy first year.

We also reviewed our recruitment processes
to keep improving representation an our
candidatas lists.

Of course, diversity must be backed by

a sense of belonging. | think the speed with
which we completed the OMMNOVA integration
is an exampte of our commitment to this, with
many OMNOVA leaders taking up senior
positions in Synthomer.

But we have a lot more to do, and my
Executive Committee collsagues and | are
personally cornmitted to encouraging greater
diversity across Synthomer and to creating an
environment where people see opportunities
to grow their career with us.

Driving down emissions

Woe've done a lot of work over the past

few years to address our Scope 1 and 2
ernissions. In 2021, we took a big step
forward when we installed new gas boilers
to allow closure of our only coal-fired

power station, and ensured that 90%

of the electricity we use at our sites came
from certified renewable sources. These ars
fantastic achievaments, but our teams remain
busy finding furthar ways to improve our
energy efficisncy, source long-term
renewable electricity and manage

our water and waste levels,

Meanwhile, we started work this year to
report in line with $he recommendations of
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD). This work focused

on our governance, assessing ouwr climate

risks and devetoping one scenaric analysis.
During 2022, we will davelop further scenario
analyses in our key operations and supply
chains to develop our undaerstanding of our
climate opportunities and risks.

We're now building on our TCFD work to
determine science-based targets, due for
completion in the coming year. See page 77
for our TCFD report.

Starting the next decade from

a strong platform

Our teams have achievad a great deal

this year, including ongoing work to
integrate OMNOVA in the face of COVID-19
travel bans and operational restrictions.
Once our proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adhesive Resins is complete, and we create
our new Adhesive Technologies division,
we'll realign our basetine sustainability
metrics. This will ke a big task, but it's also
an opportunity to embed our sustainability
agenda into our new division from day one.

Working in partnership to build a more
sustalnable worid

This next decade will be crucial for the world's
ability to limit temperature rises and meet the
commitments set cut under COP28, And,
integrations aside, we will have ocur own
challenges to address, Many of our chemical
processes require heat, which we typically
generate with natural gas. And most of our
raw materials are made from fossil fuels.
Indead, more than $0% of our Scope 3
emissions come from our supply chain,

S0, while wa continue to invest in our own
sites and processes, we know that we can‘t
solva all these challenges on our own, We'rg
going to nead to forge new partnerships to
change the way we use energy and find more
sustainable ways to selsct our raw materials.

We're already working with our customers

to create inngvative new products with better
sustainability cradentials. Now, we want to
increase the number of suppliers we work
with who can provide the most sustainable
products and services, so that we can help
drive down emissions a¢ross the whole
supply chain.

Through our speciality chemicals, we can and
do make a meaningful contribution to society.
Qur growing stature gives us the chance to
play an even greater role in helping tha world
tread a more sustainable, fairer path. We've
done a tot of work over the past couple of
years to put strong foundations in place.
There will be challenges as we move

through this next decade, but there are

also opportunities. | know thal our people

will rise to both,

Synthomer plc
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Our approach to

sustainability

We want to embed
sustainability into every
aspect of our business, to
help us play a greater role
in creating a fairer, more

Vision 2030: our roadmap to a more
sustainable future

We have daveloped our Vision 2030 roadmap to halp guide our decisions aver the next
decade and set us on the path to net zero. It contains a series of targets across our thrae

~

. key areas:
sustainable future and respond
to the climate emergency.
Our commitment to net zero

1. Products
Wa made a public commitment in 2020 to :

raach net zero by 2050, in ling with the Paris
Agreement. To achieve this, we are:

= Using our innovation skills to develop new
products made with lower-carbon raw
materials and more efficient manufacturing

We will continue to increase the number of preducts we make that
have sustainability benefits, and source more raw materials with
suppliers who have a sustainahbility rating and who share our ethical
standards:

« At least 60% of new products with enhanced sustainability benefits
» B0% procurement spend with suppliers with a sustainability rating.

processes

= Ending coal use at our operations (see pagse
56 in our Operations section for more .
information on how we achievad this
in 2021)

= Starting work to define new science-
based targets

+ Using new sustainability scorecards to
assess our innovation programmes and
capital expenditure

» Establishing internal life cycle assessments
to assess the viability and resource needs
of our products

* Establishing partnerships with suppliers
to drive down emissions across our

2. Operations

While aiming for zero harm, we will achieve top quartile performance
for personal and process safety. We will also drive down emissions
and minimise our broader environmental impact:

* Recordable injury case rate of no more than 0.20 per 100,000
hours for employees and contractors

» Process safety event rate of no more than 0.10 per 100,000 hours

« 40% reduction in Scops 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions
intensity (vs 2019) .

» 10% reduction in Scope 3 emissions intansity (vs 2019)

« 80% of our electricity from renewable sources, plus improving
energy efficiency In all our operations

* Manage and minimise water consumption, and introduce water
management plans in water-stressed areas and at the sites where
wa use most water.

supply chain

* Addressing end-oi-lHe product
managemeant across our markets

s Working to incorporats a carbon price into
our capital planning.

3. People

And, as we grow and acquire new
businesses, this approach is part of how
wae look to integrate them into Synthomer.
Wa introduce our tools and processes into
new acquisitions to halp them meet our
sustainability objectives, which we expeact
tham to do within threse years of acquisition.

We will become a more diverse and inclusive company, tind new
ways to listen to our employees, and increase our support
for local communities:

* 50% gender diversity in lasadership, management and professional
new hires

= 70% participation in our smployee engagement surveys at global
and country levels

* Provide volunteer support and financial contributions in excess
of £1 million a year for local education, public health, diversity and
erwironmental projects.

In considering our approach, we concentrate
on the issues whare wa can have the most
impact and that are most material to our
stakeholders. This year, we reorganised our
priorities, moving from our six pillars to three
kay areas:

1. Products
2. Operations
3. People

The UN's SDGs most relevant to our Vision 2030 goals

Our targets are underpinned by a series of short-term objectives and
are aligned with the UN's Sustainable Development Goats (SDGs) that
are most material to our business, We outline these objectives and
describe our approach to each of our material issues across pages
48 to 68, Over time, and where appropriate, we will look to update
and add new short-term objectives as we move towards 2030.

J/
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Membership of Indust;'-y associations

Governing our sustainability approach We work closety with the main sector groups in §
our industry, including the Chemical Industries 2
How we oversee progress : Association (ClA) in the UK, the Eurocpean 5
Qver the past three years, we have evolved our governanca structure 1o ensure Polymer Dispersion and Latex Association 2
sustainability is discussed at the highest levels of the company, and to hefp further embed (EPDLA) in the EU. the Amarican Chemistry S
sustainability into every aspect of our business. Council {ACC} in the USA, and the Malaysian

Rubber Glove Manufacturers Association -
(MARGMA) and Malaysian Rubber Products

Board of Directors Manufacturars Association (MRPMA) o
in Malaysia. In many cases, this work includes 5
Responsibilities taking a seaf on the sustainability committaes g
Qversaes gur Group-level sustainability agenda. and actively participating in sustainability @
Actlons workshops within these groups.
Reviews sustainability topics at Board meatings, with particular
foc teriat i S, .
us on our most material issue: ‘Our commitment to
\L sustainability can be seen o
X ) s —— ' at all levels of Synthomer H
Executive Committee Steering Group - from engagement with z
. . £,
Our CEO | . f""z“'l‘?"’"_’““ +ainabil 4 our Board and Executive B
ur is responsible for delivering our sustainability agenGa . . &
and meeting poficy commitments on bshalf of the Board, and leads Committee, to our frontline i
the Exacutive Gommittee Steering Group. employees. Finding ways 2
Approvas all sustainability-related stratagic planning, including on climate-related issues. to help our business and
Actions the products we make
i inabili i thi rterly. « .
Reviews sustainability topics monthly/quarterly. creates a posmve impac t

on the worid around us.

— Jl ) ) And our team of dedicated
Sustainability Steering Committee sustainability epecialists .

‘ Respansibilitios is growing across our o
This cross-functional group of senior leaders defines our sustainability targets and rcadmap. - : - ’ 8
Coordinates sustainability activities across the business. gIObaI busmess’ too. H]
fReports diractly to the Executive Committes Steering Group. Susana Carvalho 2
Actions Group Susiainability Cirector g
Qur Sustainability Director hosts quarterly meetings of the committee to monitor prograss B
across our business. _ g
— 3
2
7 :
Sustainability Delivery Board
Responsiblities
This Board consists of our Group-wide network of sustainability champions who manage
eross-functional sustainability projects and programmes.
Actions —
Our Sustainability Director hosts monthly meetings with this Board to discuss
project progress. o
3
=
5
3
~ B
z
=
i
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued
Approach to sustainability continued

Y

Our materiality assessment

We assess our matérial issues every two
years to ensure we report on those that
matter most to our stakeholders.

We carried out our latest assessment in April
2021, speaking to a range of stakeholders,
including customers, employees, sharsholders
and legislators. During this process we:

* [ncorporated ‘Quality’ into ‘Customer
salislaclion and engagement” and added
three new topics

* Focused on ‘Communication and training’,
to ensure clear understanding of our
procedures, 1argets and achievements
during our integration with OMNOVA

» Introduced 'Digitalisation’ to reflect new
opportunities to use digital technology
to reduce our carbon footprint

= [ncorporated product lite cycle
into a new 'Circular economy’ topic.

Wa sent an online sustainability survey

ta 400 people from our main stakeholder
graups. We raceived feedback from 37%,
which confirmed that these topics remain
material. Cur Sustainability Steering
Committes reviewed concerns and
suggestions raised by the survey to identify
potential areas for action. While we have
made no significant changes, we will give
greater attention to "Community engagement’
and ‘Circular economy’.

Understanding our climate-related risks
and opportunities

Climate-related risks have always been
embedded in the principal risks of our Group
risk framework. During the last quarter of 2021,
we expanded the framework to consider

a broader scope of climate-related risks as a
result of the work carried out to report against
TCFD. This helps us better understand what
impact the climate emergency might have on
our business and ensure wa remain resiliant
to climate change. See our Risk report on
pages 69 to 76.

In 2021, we met our objective, set out in our
Sustainability Report 2020, to begin reporting
against TCFD. This will help us assess any
futura impact on cur busingss arising from
technology changes and ths financial impact
of carbon pricing. See pages 77 to 80 for our
TCFD report.

4 Synthomer plc
6 Annual Repert 2021

Materiality assessment

Products
1 _Sustainable procurement page 51
2 Technotogy and innovation page 48
3 Manufacturing excellence page 54
4 Product safety page 50
5 Customer satisfaction and engagement page 50
6 Circular economy page 48
Operations
7 Occupational health and safety pages 54 and 55
8 Process safety page 56
9 Energy management and reduction page 59
10 Water stewardship page 60
11 Greenhouse gas emissions reduction page 60
12 Waste generation and minimisation page 61
People
13 Ethics and integrity pagse 66
14 Communication and training pages 65 and 66
15 Employae conditions page 63
16 Diversity and inclusion pages 63 and 64
17 Talent development page 65
18 Community engagement pages 67 and 68
Strategy and governance
19 Sustainable growth pages 26 to 40
20 Risk management pages 69 to 76
21 Digitalisation page 66
22 Respensible and involved management from pages 83 to 129
23 Stakseholder involvernent and engagement pages 96 and 97

24 Complignce S

pages 83 1o 129




External benchmarking and accreditation

We obtain independent assurance of our sustainability practices and performance —

and benchmark ourselves against our peers so we can better understand our progress and
opportunities for improvement. We do this through voluntary participation in several external
programmes (such as CDP) and by reviewing our ratings on several recognised indices
such as IS8 ESG.

Wa engage with, and are assessed by, key sustainability ratings crganisations:

Wa have reported our climate change performance to COP since
2013 and water management performance since 2015. In 2021,
wae retained our B- score in both categories.

CDP - D to A (maximum)

We submit annual data to the EcoVadis platform and use its
assassment 1o identify ways to improve. In 2021, we improved
our score from 58 to 63 and retained our silver status. We also
use the platform to understand the sustainability rating of existing
and future suppliers.

EcoVadis - scale 0-100, medals, bronze to platinum

We have been a member of this organisation since 2004. In 2021,
our overall score was 3.6. We remain committed to our membership
and aim to improve our overali rating as we grow.

FTSE4Good ~ scaleQto 5

1S3 Corporate Solutions uses a data-driven scoring system and
screening analysis to evaluate our sustainability agenda. Our 2021
overall score was C-, This is the same as our 2020 score and
continues to piace us well above average in our peer group.

1SS - D- to 8- {maximum for our industry sector)

MSCI measures our resilience to long-term, financially relevant
sustainability risks. in 2021, we scored an 'A". This reflects our growing
commitrnent to continuously improve our sustainability practices.

MSCi - CCC to AAA {(maximum)

We were recognised with a London Stock Exchange Green Economy
mark in July 2021, This is awarded to companies who earn more
than 50% of their revenue from environmaental solutions. It is
designed to recognise both green technology companies and
businesses across all industrigs that arg making a significant
contribvtion to the transition to a more sustainable,

low-carbon economy.

Our approach
to reporting and
assurance

In past years, we have published a
separate Sustainability Report - the
most recent being that for the fiscal year
2020, published in July 2021. Given the
importance of sustainability issues, and
their relevance to our overall business
performance, this year we dacided to
incorporate our Sustainability Report
into the Annual Report, with supporting
technical infarmation published as data
downloads on our website.

This Annual Report, together with those
downigads, meet the requirements of the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). We have
prepared them to comply with GRI's ‘core’
option, and the topics we cover are those
we and our stakeholders have identified as
the most material. The details of specific
GRI disclosures can be found in the annex
on pages 184 and 185.

Synthamar plc 47
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Businass foundations

-Synthomer and sustainability continued

Products

Delivering products that meet
the ever-changing needs of
our customers and the markets
they serve is essential for

the success of our business.
It has always been our goal
to make them using efficient
manufacturing processes
and in ways that ensure

they are safe for people

and the environment.

Now more than ever we strive to design
products and processes that'are less snergy
intensive, generata fewer carbon emisgsions,
use fewer resources, eliminate substances
of concern, and support a more circular
economy. And we want to source the raw
materials that we use to make those products
from more sustainable sources. It is what
our customers are asking for, and our

other stakeholders expect, Increasingly,
sustainability will become the benchmark

by which we assess every aspect of our
product pipeline and supply chain.

‘We made good progress
in our innovation pipeline
in 2021, despite ongoing
challenges related to
COVID-19 and glcbal
supply chain problems.
For example, we're

making new products to
replace additives that
contain volatile organic
~-compounds.’— -———

Marshall Moore
Chief Tachnology Ofticer

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021

48

Innovating
sustainable
products

As a leading supplier of water-based
polymers, we have always been praud

of our ability to make praducts that have
sustainability benefits built into them.

Our speciality chermical products provide
essential building blocks to support modern
lite. For decades, we have made most

of them in a way that uses waiter rather than

- solvents in their manufacturing and in their

end-use, This helps keep harmful volatile
organic compounds (VOCs) out of the
atmosphere, It is testament to the talent in our
innovation team that we continue to find ways
to adapt our existing portfolio while designing
new products with even greater benefits.

Product sustainability performance in 2021
tn July 2021, we recaived the London Stock
Exchange’'s Green Economy Mark, which
acknowledges the fact that more than 50%
of our revenues come from environmental
solutions. We are proud of this recognition, but
wa know there Is plenty more to do. It is our aim
1o deliver an evar-more sustainable portfolio,
s0 we have set a product sustainability target
as part of our Vision 2030 roadmap,

We made good progress in our innovation
pipeling in 2021, launching 19 new products,
of which 43% included a defined sustainability
benefit. We also introduced new innovation
awards, including a sustainability category.
See page 33 for morg information on our Shield

XS8R tachrolegy, which won this award in 2021
by reducing exposure to substances of concern,

Qur ¢entral innovation team also intreduced
a sustainability scorecard to assess new
product ideas, and is developing in-house
capabilities to condugt life cycle assessments
oh existing and new products. This will help
us improva the way we report on the profile
of our pfoduéts and allow us to develop new
products with reduced carbon emissicns.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

Our short-term objectives
2022

* Technology plationm 1o deveion
o] icts that contain @ minimum of 20%
raw materials that come fram low-
carbon sources.

Setting a new baseline to track

our progress

Innovation is ong of our five core values and
Is an essential part of our plana to achieve
owr 2030 targets. To track our progress over
the next decade, we need to understand our
baseling. S0 wa used our naw sustainability
scorecard to assess all our existing products
and our development pipeline.

This exercise showed that across our
business, 57% of all the new products in

our pipeline today will deliver a net positive
sustainability benefit. Of those, 50% will
improve carbon emissions or have a positive
impact on the anvironment, 35% will reduce
the use of hazardeus ingredients, and 15%
will help create a more circular economy.
Many of these products will offer more

than one sustainability benefit.



We know wa will need to move at

rapid pace to meet our 2030 target.
Ongoing COVID-19 restrictions and global
supply chain problems affected scheduling
of the scale-up of new products in our plants
and the ability of our customers to evaluate
them during 2021, resulting in a slower pace
of commercialisation that will carry into 2022,

But these delays have not halted progress
altogether. We have a shuny Lase urn wlich
to build, and our integration with OMNOVA
has increased our capacity to design new
products by 50%.

Innovative products for a more
sustainable future

We continued to progress our innovation
pipeline in 2021, designing and making
products that replace ingredients of concern,
have a lower carbon footprint, and help
support a more cirgular economy.

_For example, we continued developing new
products for water-based paints that remove
the need for certain additives. While these
additives help paint spread across a surface,
they typically produce VOCs. Replacing those
additives therefora means we can pravent even
more VOCs from entering the atmaosphare.

We are also making products that help
support a more cir¢ular econgmy, such as
our new SyNovus™ Plus product ling, which
is helping to recycle rubber gloves into new
appiications, including soles for safety shoes.
See page 12 for a case study.

In addition, our central innovation group
carried out initial research in 2021 1o evaluate
a broad range of low-carbon-impact raw
materials. This led to a shortlist ol raw
material candidates with potential for further
development. Cur divisional innovation teams
ara now exploring tachnically and
commercially viabla opportunitiss.

Introducing our new product
sustainability scorecard

In 2021, we rolled out a new sustainability
scorecard to assess our innovation pipeline
against nine sustainability criteria (see box).
The scorecard Is designed to give us a qualitative
indication of the net impact that a product may
have on our overall sustainability performance.
Products are scored on a scale from -5 10 +5
{with +5 indicating a highly positive impact} in
aach area. Projects that have a negative
sustainability impact score are re-assessed
to identify approaches to improve the score.

As wall as helping us set the baseline for our
2030 targset, wa are now using the scorecard
to identify opportunities to improve the
sustainability credentials of existing and new
products, compare them against alternatives,
and share their banefits with our customers,
Woe have aiso introduced a similar scorecard to
help our sites assess the potential environmental
impact of large-scale capital projects (see page
42 for more information on this scorecard).
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Our sustainability scorecard criteria -
We now assess all the produf:ts in our innovation pipsline under four key areas:
Raw materials Eliminating 'ingrediants of concern’ {listed as high hazard or of
regulatory concern}
Using raw matarials from lower-carbon sources e
Manutacturing Ability to reduce energy consumption §
processes — - E
Ability to reduce water consumption 2
=1
Ability to reduce waste in our manufacturing processas §
&
Product safety and Product hazard classification (whether a product contains regulated ﬁ
support for circular  hazardous ingredients) §
aconomy - - - 2
End-of-lile management (g.g. longer product life cycle, better recycling ”
or biodegradable propertias)
Benefit to supply Custormaers able to elirminate ingredients of concern or lower their
chain and product hazard classification
customers " —
Helping customers uss less energy or water, [ower carbon emissions
or wasie, support the circular economy, or otherwise meet their ]
sustainability goals.
o
' £
Developing in-house life cycle assessment | out a cradle-to-grave life cycle assessment 5
We run our major preduct lines and strategic an our SyNovus™ Plus products. %
ts th h external lif | B
new products through exteral life cycle These external assessments are useful, §’

assassment to help us understand their
sustainability benefits and identify areas
for improvement. In 2020, for example, the
European Polymer Dispersion and Latex
Association's cradle-io-grave life cycle
assessment showed that our key emulsion
polymers {typically used to make a wide
range of products, including coatings,
adhesives, construction and non-wovens)
parform better than the benchmark in all
categories. Bureau Veritas has also carried

but the cost and time needed make them
impractical for evaluating each product of
interest. Wa have begun a project to develop
new in-house life cycle assessmaents, starting
with a handful of our biggest-selling products.
These assessments will improve our own
understanding so we can report against

our products’ sustainability credentials on

an ongoing basis and continue to develop
new products with even greater benefits.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Products continued

Product safety

The majority of our products are not classified
as hazardous, in accordance with the Globally
Harmonised Systemn of Classification and
Labelling, as they do not have any cornpongnls
or additives that require labelling at the
concentration in which we use them. However,
a small proportion of what we sell contains
hazardous materials, including acrylic
monomers, We provide customers with
up-to-date, legally compliant safety data
sheats for all products in all the markets
where we operate, In 2021, we had no
reported incidents of non-compliance
regarding our product safety information,
{abelling or marketing. -

Less than 2% of our products contain
substances of high concern at a cancentration
higher than 0.1%. Wherever possible, we look
for ways to avoid using themn at all. For example,
in 2021, we completed the reformulation of our
sustainable coated fabric product line typically
used in healthcare, office and hospitality
furniture, to eliminate ingredients that we know
regulators are increasingly concernad about.
To maintain our focus in this area, eliminating
ingredients of concern is one of the nine
criteria in our product innovation
sustainability scorecard.

Qur statement on substances of very high concern
can be found at www.synthomer.com

Following the UK's transition out of

the European Union, Synthomer UK has
completed the grandfathering of its existing EU
REACH registrations into the UK programme.
We submitted more than 500 downstream user
import notifications to the UK Health and Safety
Executive hefore its 28 October 2021 deadline.
The products that we make and/cr import into
the UK now comply with UK REACH.

We also conducted a due diligence axercise
to ensure the products wea make in the UK
comply with EU REACH. This process
confirmed that all the ingredients in these
products are either sourced directly

from the European Economic Area

or are registered by Synthomer's

Only Reprasentative. ’

All legal requirements regarding provision of
safety nfarmation have been complied with,
and we hava had no reported incidents of
non-compliance regarding product safoty
infermation, laballing or marketing.

Customer satisfaction -
Cur innovation and manufacturing technology
teamns and sales teams work closely with our
customers to undarstand the technical and
sustainability challenges they face in their own
manufacturing processes. This helps us keep
improving tha products we make for them.
For example, we worked with a USA labsl

" manufacturer to develop grades far clear
filmic labals for usa in the USA. We also
helped them expand their business into
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“Qur Suncryi® HP 114 water-based polymer
contains more than 56% bio-based raw
materials, making it a fantastic example of
how we can replace chemicals made from
{ossil fuels with lower-carbon options.
Suncryl® HP 114 is used in water-based
release coatings on paper or plastic
packaging tape {to create a non-adhesive
surface that means the tape can be easily
pulled free) and replaces traditional
solvent-based release coatings. In cther
applications, it can be used to replace
release coatings that traditionally contain
silicone. This makes the final product,
such as a seli-wound adhesive label,

Bio-based and circular: Suncryi® HP-114

more recyclable. in certain applications like
paper tape, it can even be re-pulped and
reused in new paper products. So, it has
real potential to help support a more circular
aconomy, We're s0 excited about that
potential that we're now exploring its use in
other applications, like variable information
print labels, which can be customised

on dernand for fast food orders or
warehouse shipments.”

Dr Carla McBain
Vice Prasident of Innovation
for Functional Solutions

J

Europs, evaluating a new coating line and
transterring our technology from the USA,
to our Sokolov site in the Czech Republic,

Wae track customer complaints as a

measure of our reputation and success

in the market. In 2021, we detined a new
‘customer complaint rate’ bassline, to include
our legacy OMNOVA sites within our Graup
and divisional performance metrics.

Whilg the COVID-19 pandemic and

global supply chain difficulties continued

to challenge our manufacturing teams, we
significantly improved our customar complaint
performance (number of complaints per
1,000 geliveries). We achieved this thanks

to several improvement programmes, including
adopting new hygiene best practice guidance
and performing specific process confirmations
for critical-to-quality steps at some of our sites.
As a result, our global complaint rate in 2021
was 4.1. This is more than 30% lower when
compared to 2020.

We also assess our manufacturing
effectiveness via a ‘right-first-time’ rate

and scored 97.4% in 2021, This represents
the percentage of products that are made to
their correct specification in the first instance.
Here, too, we set new baselines in 2021 to
include our legacy OMNOVA sites in our
performance metrics.

We introduced several measures to

improve performance at some of our sites.

For exampla, we rolled out our ‘problem grade
methedolegy' to all our new sitas. This helps
sites fix the root causes of recurrent product
or process quality issues.,

We also established a 'site-supported’

maodel for sites that need specific hetp.

This increased support from cur cantral
functions that helps sites understand the root
causes of specific issues and provides more
frequent monitoring of site performance and
progress against agreed corrective actions.
This madel has helped improve one site’s
right-first-time percentage by 10%, and an
overall Group-level improvernent of 0.4%.



Sustainable
procurement

We are part of a global, highly
complex supply chain, We rely
on our suppliers to provide
high-quality raw materials,
goods and services, such

as petrochemical monomers
(including styrene, butadiene,
butyl acrylate and acrylonitrile),
additives, packaging,
machinery parts, gas and
electricity to run our plants
and ensure our products
meet the standards our
customers expect.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

procureme
tamnablily

end wiih

Our short-term objectives
2022

! ive key suppliers' sites
ure that all gur highest risk sugpliers

mprovement plan

Our specialist procurement teams around the
world work with thousands of suppliers, and
in 2021 we spant approximately £1.5 biltion
with third parties.

In order to move these supplies, as well

as our products, around the world, we have
to buy a range of logistics services across

all forms of transport, includirg shipping,

rail and road. As well as the large, bulk
shipments, we also buy and sell many raw
materials and products at different quantities,
including what is known as intermadiate bulk,
or in drums and small packaging.

Qur factories rely on machinery 1o operate
safely and we need spare parts and site
services to keep tham in good working order.
As a large, multinational business we also
need to buy corporate services such as
travel, IT, financial and, where necessary,

we appoinl specialist partners to help us.

Qur progress in 2021

This year, we have achieved our commitment
to buy renewable electricity through a
combination of having renewable sources

in new supply contracts, on-site or off-site
power purchase agreements (PPAs),

and ihrough the purchase of certificates.

As a result, 90% of all the electricity our
manufacturing sites and offices usa comes
from renewable sources, marking a significant
step forward in driving down our cperational
graenhouse gas emissions (GHG).

See page 59 in Operations for more
information on why we expect to see some
fluctuation in dur renewable electricity
statistics over tha next decads.

Wae also set important new siistainahble
procurement targets and short-term objectives
as part of our Vision 2030 roadmap.

For the purposes of disclosure and reporting,
we gather our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions
data together in our Operations section

on page 60. We provide more detailed
information on the work our procurement
team did in 2021 to achieve 90% of our

sites being supplied by renewable electricity
on page 60.

Tracking supplier sustainability ratings
with new tools

In tha past two years, we have taken steps to
strengthen our focus on sustainability within
our procurement processes, including our
sustainable procurement policy, launched
in 2020, and our conflict minerals policy.

This year, wa investad in a sustainability rating
pratform to help us identity sustainability risk in
our supply chain and wa have started to frack
and report how much of our procurement
spend is covered by a sustainability rating.

We have also revised our supplier risk
assessment processes to include sustalnahility
risk 80 that we can use the platfarm in the most
effective way. We began using the platiorm in

2021, and now have 26% of our spend covered
by a rating — some way ahead of our 2022
objective. This is the first time we have

been able to assess our spend in this way,

The platform also gives us an important
new iool to assess potential suppliers
during a competitive tender process and
review our existing suppliers against extermally
recognised sustainability criteria.

I future, we plan to use the sustainability ratings
platform to help influence and encourage our
important suppliers to identify areas to improve
their parformance and sustainability rating.

It will also help us identify suppliers who do
not meet our minimum requirements.

In the same way, our customers are using
gimilar ratings platforms to assess us and we
are currently looking for opportunities to keep
improving our business.

Addressing the carbon footprint

of our raw materials

One of the most significant ways in which
wae can address the climate change impact
of our products is through the raw matenials
that we use to make them. But this is also
one of our toughest challenges, since many
of these are derived frormn ¢il and natural gas.
As a result, more than 20% of all our GHG
emissions come from our upstream supply
chain, However, we are looking for ways

to identify and source more sustainable
raw materials.

For example, our innovation and procurement
teams are working together to identify and
source alternative raw materials that have a
lowen ez Lon Tootprint, These could be madie
from ranewable sources, euch ac wood
waste, be manufactured in a more energy
efficlent way, be sourced closer to our
factories or contain recycled content.

We can introduce some of these raw
materials without significant investmeant.

One of the first steps we can take is to track
the amount of raw materials with a lower
impagct in our supply chain using accounting
principles and external avditing. For example,
if we buy 10% of a raw material with a lower
carbon footprint, we can state that 10%
content in our products. This is often referred
tc as a ‘mass balance' approach.

This is becoming an araa of increasing
innovation, with growing interest from our
customers and society in general, and it is
something that our teams are working on
closely with our suppliers and customers.

QOne example of using this mass balance
approach is tha opportunity tn bty a certain
amount of butadisne made from recycted
or bio-based sources, instead of virgin,
fossil-fuel-based sources, We plan to use
this hitadiane to manufacture our HSSBR
polymers, to make foam for bedding.

Synthomer plc
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Products continued

This process is monitored and certified

by the Intemational Sustainability and Carbon
Coertification for Biomass and Bioenergy,
under its ISCC PLUS programms. 7

Once in full praduction, our customers will be
able to declare a lower carbon footprint for
their own products, using the same ar similar
certification programme.

It will taker some years for altarnative lower-
carbon raw materials to becorme available

at the reduired scale and cost 1o transform our
supply chains. And it is likaly that governments
will introduce further legislation, taxation and
incentives to drive future innovation and
growth, for example carbon pricing.

Updating our policies to set clear
expectations

We will only work with suppliers who act

in accordance with our new Supplier Code
of Conduct or who have their cwn codes
and policies with equivalent standards.
Qur suppliers must afso make sure that
their subsidiaries and sub-contractors

do the sarme.

Our Suppfier Code of Conduct sets out aur
minimum acceptable standards on issues
such as conflicts of interest, bribery and
doing business in sanctioned countries.

We recognise that our position in our supply
chains means that we have the opportunity
and responsibility to work in partnership with
suppliers, peers and customers to create a
more sustainable supply chain. And as we
continue to grow, we will use our global scale
and increased influence to make an even
greater impact and reduce risk further,

As wall as our Supplier Code of Conduct, we
have also published a sustainable procurament
policy, which we developed after completing
our last materiality assessmeant. The policy
brings togethsr our expectations and targets in
important sustainability areas that are directly
relevant to our suppliers, such as safaty, health
and environmental management, diversity
and inclusion, and quality management.

It also sets out a series of objectives, such

as communicating the policy 1o our
procurament team and stakeholders,

which we have achieved.

Synthomer plc
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In October 2021, our procurement leadsrship
team tock part in a dedicated sustainable
procurement workshop to reassess the policy
and set new performance measures that wilf
help us realise our Vision 2030 targets.

Read our full sustainable procuremant policy online
at https://www.synthomer.com/fileadmin/

files/company/group_policles/English/
Synthomer_Procurement_Strategy.pdf

Understanding the risks and
opportunities in our supply chain

As Synthomer continues to grow in a
dynamic environment, we need to stay

alert to changes in the risks and opportunities
in our supply chain. Every year, we carry
out due diligence to rmanage the risks related
to bribery and cerruption when working with
third parties.

In 2020, we asked external advisers 1o camry
out an independent assessment of our most
material sustainability risks. The assessment
igentified carbon emissions and anergy

use, waste generation, and logistics (e.g.
road transport, rail and shipping) as our top
three material sustainability risks. Our existing
measures and tools systematically identily,
controfl and mitigate these risks. For example,
we have processes in place to ensure wa
have alternative suppliers or substitute
materials should we face any issues with
existing orders. When a supply risk occurs
we identify it as an incident and manage our
responses appropriately. We then apply any
lessons learned from the incident to help
reduce the risk of it occurring again. We have
integrated the assessment’s findings into
our existing risk governance processes by
incorporating our largest waste and logistics
suppliers into our sustainability ratings.

We also started using a sustainability
risk-scanning tool in 2021 that helps us
identify existing supply chain risks using
criteria such as geography and industry type.
This tool helps us spot broader sustainability
risks in our supply chain, such as exposure to
bribery and corruption and human rights risk.

Wa want to continue to improve our risk
assessment process and are exploring

ways to create stronger connections between
our Group and jocal site risk assessments.
This will allow us to better understand the
supply chain risks we face at a local level, and
our cantral procurement team is now working
closely with our sites on this issue.

Taking a lead on sustainability issues

in our supply chain creates competitive
advantage. Like us, our customers are
looking for suppliers who are commilted

to sustainability. That is why our innovation,
manufacturing and procurement teams are
focusing on aréas whera we can increase
cur product sustainability and energy
efficiency, and tawer our carbon footprint.
The improvements we are making in the way
we collect and analyse our sustainability data
and use that inforration to make decisions
will help us demonstrate progress and build
our reputation.

Upholding human rights in our

supply chain

We believe everyona has the right to be treatad
with dignity and we respect and recognise
human rights for all as outlined in the
International Bill of Hurnan Rights. We are also
committed to acting in a way that meets the UN
Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights. Owr Group-wide diversity, human rights
and equal opporiunity policy is aligned with
the UN's Sustainable Development Goal 8.

Wae work in parts of the world where the

risk of human rights abuses is higher than
others. These risks are also higher in certain
sectors, such as road transport logistics,
construction and temporary site work.



We do not tolerate modern slavery

and human trafficking in any part of our
business or supply chain, as outlined in our
2021 Modern Slavery statement. We expesct
our suppliers to comply with all domestic
employment fegislation. They should also
follow the International Labour Organization
{ILO} conventions and protocots and the
United Nations' Universal Declaration of
Human Rights that are relevant to their
activities. These inglude:

* Not using forced or slave labour, or
any other form of invcluntary labour

» Complying with all child labour laws,
and beyond that, not employing anyone
under the aga of 15

+ Not allowing any activity that restricts
free movement.

In 2020, we rolled out an updated due
diigence process to a small number of our
suppliers in Ghina. In future, all new suppliers
in China wilt have to complete this due
diligence in order to work with us.

As pan of our ongoing work, to standardise
the way we qualify new suppliers, wa moved
our North America processas onto our global
qualification platform in 2021, This platform
contains a standard set of qualification and
due diligence questions pius supporting
evidence that the procurement tearm can
use to review and qualify suppliers. In all,

31 sites now use the platform, and we have
plans for the remaining seven to join within
the next two years.

HAaad our Modern Stavery statement online at

hitps://veww.synthomer.com/fileadmin/filas/
company/group_palicies/English/Modern%20

Slavery%20Statement%202020.pdf

_The.steps-we are —-——
taking will make
sustainability part of
everything we do in the
procurement function.
This is transforming
the way we do business

and will help to lower

the carbon impact

of our supply chain
_on.the.planet.! -

_Dr Steve Blackburn

Vice President, Group Procuremeant

Our commitment to avoid using

contlict minerals

Our conflict minerals policy commits us

to avoiding the use of conflict minerals in

all our activities. This is relevant for goid,

tin, tantalum and tungsten, known as 3TG
minerals, which can be mined in parts of the
world where armed conflict and human rights
abuses are known to take place.

We continually assess ouwr 3TG minerals.
This inclugdes tin, which we use in oneg of
our manufacturing processes and is also
present in other materials that we use,
such as catalysts.

Our policy also outlines our expectations of
our suppliers, which includes conducting their
own due difigence to verify the origin of their
materials and provide certification under
recognised initiatives.

Read our full conlict minerafs policy online at:
hitps:/www.synthomer.com/fileadmin/filos/
company/group_paolicies/English/Conflict%:20
Minerals%20Policy%205tatement%20
Dec%202019.pdf
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Business foundations

Synthome? and sustainability continued

Operations

We strive to make our
products in ways that keep
our employees, contractors
and communities safe.

Qur ultimate goal is to have
Zero accidents and no adverse
impact on the health of cur
employees or the people
who live near our sites. It is
also our goal to minimise the
environmental burden of our
activities and to reduce the
consumption of resources.

As the world responds to the climate
emergency, it is more urgent than ever
that we play our part and address the
environmental impact of our operations.
So, while we continue to use our innovation
skills to make ever more sustainable
products, we are also optimising our
manufacturing processes to lower our
carbon, water and waste footprint.

Wa took an important step in 2020 when wa
announced our commitment to reach net zero
by 2050, in line with the Paris Agreement.
Now, our Vision 2030 roadmap, launched in
2021, sets out the path we will take to turn
that commitment into a reality. The rcadmap
"is made of a series of targets and short-term
objectives, and our SHE-specific targets can
be found in their relevant sections.

Embedding SHE at every level

of the business

At Synthomer, evaryone is responsible for
SHE and we want everyone who works with
us to feal able to speak up if they see unsafe
or harmful bebaviour. All our sites must align
their processes and policies with our
Group-wide Safety, Health and Environment
Management System (SHEMS).

Qur Prasidant, Oparations s responsible for
internal SHE performance and managsment
at an executive committee level. He is
supported by a Global SHE Director and

a small global tearn, as weil as a SHE
network that includes heads for each
division: This network also supports site
leadlers and local SHE teams.
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Working with suppliers to meet operational )
SHE standards

We expect our suppliers to work In a way that complies with our Group SHE policy and
requirements, as set out in our sustainable procurement palicy. This includes making sure
suppliers have effective health, safety and environment managament systems in place that
are appropriate to the nature and scale of their business. We are also starting to gather data
that will help us-consider the carbon footprint of suppliers’ products and processes when
making our procurement decisions.

Read our full sustainable procurement policy online at Mtps:ﬂwww.symhomer.co'm.fﬂlaadmInlﬁlesf
company/group_palicies/English/Synthomer_Procuremant_Stratagy.pdf

See page 51 for more information on working with suppliers.

/

Our SHE management systems )

Wae certify cur managament systems against several externally recognised standards
and initiatives:

+ 1SO 14001: today, all our operating sites are either covered by the Group's ISO 14001
certification or have site-specific certificates in place.

* ISO 50001 Energy Management System: our UK, German, Czech and Le Havre,
France sites are accredited to this standard. We continue to apply the lessons we have
learned from this structured approach to other sites around the world.

* ISC 45001: two of our sites in taly and one in the Czech Republic comply with this
standard to meet legal requirements. A

= 150 9001: 93% of our sites are covered by the Group's 1ISO 8001 certification.

Our SHE management systems, including those aspects linked to 1SO 9001 and SO 14001,
cover common areas found within 1ISO 45001, Given that our internal audit processes look
at all aspects of SHE management and the confidence we have in these processes, wa do
not intend ta certify the Group to the ISO 45001 standard.

We align our management systems with the global chemical industry's voluntary
Responsible Care® programme to drive continuous improvement in safe chemicals
management. In addition, seven sites in the US are coniorming to the requirements of
the American Chemistry Council's RCMS®. We ars also a long-term signatory of the UK
Chemical Industries Association’s (CIA) sustainable development guiding principles. /




Health and
safety

Keeping our pecple and contractors safe is
our highest priority. it is enshrined in our core
SHE value that states ‘we always have time
to work safely’. And it is the most mature
aspect of all our sustainability activities:

our giobat employee survey tells us that
employees understand our safety messages
and their responsibilities (see page 65 for
more on employee engagement). We have
incorporated occupational heafth and
process safety targets within our

Vision 2030 roadmap.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

Recordable accident case rate
! 3060 hours for employses
S

Process safety event rate (PSER}
—(zer 100.000 houw s “or ermployces ~

anct contracic s}

Qur short-term cbhjectives

e njuiy Case
lety cvent rate of 0.14

Continuing to support our employees
through COVID-19

Throughout 2021 we adapted 10 living with
COVID-19, managing occupational health
by continiting t0 operate in line with local
guidelines. In countries where employees
could return to our offices, we put in
additional measures, such as ons-way
systems at our sites, temperature screening,
{imits on the number of people in common
areas and more frequent claaning of common
contact points, such as door handles.

At our operational sites, we continued to
carry out GOVID-19 risk assessments and
routina testing.

This was particularly important in Malaysia,
whera infection rates rose quickly across
the country and at our sites. We introduced
waeskly PCR testing at all our sites and
distributed face masks to all employses
every Friday for use outside work,

We also provided extra disinfection

and hygiene progucts on site, and every
two weeks handed out products to take
home. As a result, our COVID-19 infection
numbers in Malaysia fell steadily throughout
the vear,

Later in the year, we participated in

the government's national vaccination
programme, and 100% of our Malaysia
amployees were fully immunised. This allowed
us to increase employee capacity at our sites,
in line with ongoing national rules.

Qccupational safety

We want aur employaes to go homa safely at
the end of every day. While we have reduced
the number and severity of injuries over

recent yeare, we must continue to improve
te reach our ultimats aim of 'zers'.

In 2021, our recordable injury case rate (RCR)
fell o 0.31. This is largely due to improved
performance at our former OMNOVA sites,
which saw RCR fall from 0.64 in 2020 to 0.47.
In all, we recorded 34 injuries in 2021, versus
37 in 2020.

During the year, we reported no cases

of disease caused by occupational factors
and there were no accidents rasulting in
fatafity or permanent disability.

Qur occupational safety performance
Recordable accident case rate
Accidents per 100,000 hours

Wa track nur recordable accident case rate
{RCR) for injuries that need more than first aid

treatment. Our figurco inolude empioyeas and

centractors working at our sites, as well as
short-stay visitors, such as truck drivers and

cleaners. While our metrics are in ling with the

UISA OSHA standard, we report our RCR per
100,000 working hours, instead of the OSHA
standard of 200,000. This is for historical
reasons linked to UK HSE reporting metrics.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability contlnued

Operations continued

“Integrating a new business under normal
circumstances involves a lot of time and
care. it's not just about imtroducing new
policies and processes, although that is an
important part of the process. We also want
to help our new colleagues understand why
our standards are so important to us so that
we can create a drumbeat of safety and a
consistent culture across our sites, so that
everyone is working towards our 2030
target for top-quartile performance.

This work has been even more challanging
during our integration with OMNOVA, since
it has taken place in the middle of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Crdinarily, our teams

Integrating a new business during a.pandémic

would be working on site with our new
colleagues to help embed our SHE culture.
Throughout the year, the corporate team
deliverad hundreds of hours of virtual
training and support to sites globally, and in
November we held a global ‘virtual’ SHE
conference with well over 150 attendees to
share good practice and improvement goals
for 2022, It has been a challenge for
everyone, but | think we've achieved a huge
amount under very difficult circurnstances.”

Phil Wrigley
President, Operations and SHE

S/

Process safety

It is essential that we keep our equipment and
plants in good warking order to help prevent
process safety related incidents. We also
strive to prevent the unexpected release of
dangerous chemicals in our manufacturing
processes. To that end, we carry out routine
inspections and maintenance at all our sites
that halp us spot warning signs so we can
address problems before they occur.

Our process safety event rate (PSER)

rose to 0.16 in 2021 (versus 0.10 in 202Q).

In our legacy Synthomer businesses, our
PSER rose to 0.13 (2020: 0.11) and at our
former OMNOVA sites we saw a rate of 0.23.

All of our reportable PSEs this year were
releases which we cantained on site. None of
them caused injury, damage or environmantat
harm. QOne-third of our PSEs occurred at ong
site in the USA. In 2022, we will introcduce a
transformation project to help the site rapidly
improve its performance.
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Synthomer monitors, reports and investigates
all spilis, ranking any loss against the
associated hazard of the materia! involved,

as well as quantity spilled, where the spilt
occwrs and its actual impact.

Preventing and managing the foss of any
material (hazardous or otherwise} is an
important part of our SHE approach, which
is why we includa it in our key performance
indicators. We analyse the root causes, such
as human factors or types of mechanical
failure, to identify appropriate site, businass
or Group-level actions to reduce the potertial
for recurrance.

In 2021, we recorded 23 spills in our top
two tiers {covering reportable PSEs, high-
scoring loss of containment and reportable
environmental losses). None of these
spills had an impact on the environment.

Throughout 2021, we used our process safety
confirmation routines to help assure ourselvas
that employess who carry out critical
operations have the correct knowledge and
understanding of what they should ba doing
and how to respond to abnormal situations.
We ran Group procaess safety training courses
at our legacy OMNOVA sites in the USA and
Portugal, to explain the fundamentals of our
process safety standard, principles and
golden rules. Wae also worked with site teams
to identify the barriers they have in place to
prevent, control and mitigats identified
potential major accident scenarios.

We also carried out a review of our data
relating to lammable losses of containment
and tracked what are known as ‘weak signaf’
PSEs, including reports of mischarge, high
pressure, loss of cooling and failed reactions.
These signals indicate weaknesses in our
barriers that could lead to a significant PSE.

After analysing mischarge events in 2021
within one business division, we developed

a self-assessment questionnaire tool.

This is now being used by all our sites to
identify possible waaknesses in engineering,
organisational or procedural controls that
increase the risk of mischarge and action plans
are being developed to close these gaps.

Our 2021 process safety performance
Procass salety evant rate
Events per 100,000 hours

Wa record, rate and track our PSEs using a four-tier
seoring system. Tiers 1 and 2 (with tier 1 being more
savare) meet the Internationat Council of Chemical

Associations’ ICCA) definition of a 'reportable PSE.

Tracking and auditing SHE performance
Wa collect, analyse and report on industry-
recognised leading and lagging indicators,
such as recordable injuries, reportable
process safety events and near misses.

We record all incidents in our Group-wide
accident and incident management system
database. And we track our near misses on
a monthly basis. Thig is a standard measure
in our industry and one we use to identify
occupational and process safety issues
before they become significant evants

so that we can continue to improve our
processes and barriers.

While COVID-18 made it difficult to carry out
in-person site audits, we were able to carry
out remote auditing at eight sites, using digital
collaboration tools to work with sites and
review their systams and documentation.
Towards the end of 2621, we reintroduced
face-to-face audits at three of our sites.



Sharing lessons learned across
Synthomer

QOur 2021 global employee survey continued
to demonstrate that our safety messages
are well understood across the business.
[See page 65 in our People section for
more on our 2021 Your Voice survey).

Sharing knowledge, tools and processas

is an essential part of how we make sure

we continuously improve in safety. That includes
creating an open culture in which our employees
feel able to discuss data and progress.

In 2021, we introduced new measures to help
our leaders and operational teams learn from
one ancther. We introduced new regional
process safety networks which meaet on a
monthly basis to discuss performance and
exchange good practices. Additionally, we
have rolled out our 'Yellow Book' of common
injuries across all our sites and continue to
share root causaes of high-profile incidents
internally, as well as lessons leamed from
maijor industry incidents.

Other regular knowledge-sharing activities
include ‘code red’ cails for site leadership
teams which take place after any significant
incident or series of related events, and our
annual global health and sataty conferencs.

We also look for opportunities to share good
practice with our incustry psers. For example,
we shared some of the tocls we have developed
to manage the COVID-19 pandsmic, such as
on-site lateral flow testing programmes, with =
Chemical Industry Assoclation members via
their weekly COVID-19 operational calls.

Maintaining our focus as we grow

As we grow and integrate new businesses,
wa want o ensure that we continue to embed
consistent, high-quality safety standards and
processes across the Company. But this
takes tima, and we axpect our metrics to
flustuate over the naxt few years as we carry
out this work., While our Vision 2030 targets
represant top-quartits industry performancs,
they also reflect this expectation.

Wa have seen this most recently during

the OMNOVA integration. While our 2021 SHE
incident rates are higher than expectations,
wa have reduced the gap, thanks to our SHE
experts and legacy OMNOVA colleagues.
Together, they have fast-tracked gap analysis
and action plans and introduced a new
dashboard, which.wa will complate in 2022,
to track progress against nine core safety
elements, including competenca, legal
compliance, employea engagement and
process safety. We also carried aut site
leadership competency assurance for
two-thirds of our new leaders o ensure they
have the knowledge and understanding of the
major hazard risks and required controls to
keep our plants safe while we keep improving
our performance. We will assess the rest

of our new sita leaders during 2022.

systems and behaviours

us stay vigilant:

Action Our expectations

Managing health and safety with strong

Safe operations raly on clear processes and systems, and responsible behaviours.
Everyone at Synthomar is accountable for keeping themsalves and others safe — from

our leaders to our site operators — and anyone can lead by example, regardless of seniority.
The combination of our SHEMS, safety leadership training and employes engagemeant help

What we didin 2021

1. A strong SHEMS
policies against SHEMS.

ron-conformancs.

Every site must align their standards and

We conduct Group SHEMS audits over
a three-year cycle and expect sites to
self-assess agalnst changes and report

Carriad out 11 Group
SHE audits, 8 remotely
due to travel restrictions
and 3 in person. Two
SHE audits were carried
out on our behalf in
China by a third party.

2. Great leaders
who are
accountable for
people,
squipment angd
the environment

open to change.

Our leaders must commit to our targets,
demonstrate key safety behaviours and be

To increase our focus on
safety we carried out
competence assurance
for two-thirds of our new
site leaders,

adopt kay behavigurs.

3. Employes Everyone is accountable for safety at
engagement Synthomer and we expect our employees to
and training identify and address specific risks and

Employees must follow our 10 SHE
principles and our golden rules.

Site leaders must host quarterly safety
committes meetings with employses to
discuss locat safety issues.

We introduced two new
shopfloor engagement
tools at our sites:

Workplace engagement
checklist ta identify and
address specific on-site
occupational health
hazards,

Embedded process
safaty confirmation
routines to provide
assurance that
precedural and
arganisational barriers
against major accident
hazards remained robust.

We are particularly pleased with progress at one
of our sites in Portugal, which had the worst
occupational safety performance anywhere

in Synthomer, with eight recordable injuries

in 2020 alone. As well as the dashboard and
training, we established a dedicated SHE
transformation team, deploying on-site
resources to help develop and introduce 90-day
targeted improvement plans. These plans cover
all aspects of occupational and process safety,
and included implementing new systems for
permit to work and management of change,
carrying out process hazard assessments
and reviewing risk assessments. The team
also strengthened axisting workplace
engagement activities and intraduced

new ones, As a result, the site experienced
one recordable injury in 2021,

We are now using the lessons we have
learned from Portugal and our broader
integration work to create a more structured
safety programeme to help new and existing
sites that raquire specialist support. This will
be important in the coming months as we
integrate the Eastman's Adhasive Resins
acquisition and begin the process of
embedding all our SHE standards and
processes into our newest sites.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Operations continued

Environment

2021 environment
highlights

* Installed new gas boilers to allow
closure of the coal-fired power station

* 90% of total slectricity used at our sites
Is now renewable

» Total CO; equivalent emissions
decraased by 34% vs 2019
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Our progress
against 2030 targets

40% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 GHG
emissions intensity {vs 2019)

10% reduction in Scope 3
emissions intensity {vs 2019}
Externally assessed Scope 3
emissions data for 2021 was not
available at time of publication, but
our data pack can be downloaded via
our website. For baseline Scope 3
emissions data, please ses our 2020
Sustainability Report, which can also
be accessed on our website.

Our short-term objectives 2022 .

f- > ¢ i and 2 intensity by 20%

of cur four main
cium- and long-termn
redu ope 1 and 2

Qur water-based polymers help keep harmful
volatile organic compounds (VOCs) cut of the
atmosphers. However, the raw materials and
manufacturing processes we use fo make
them can have a negative impact on the
environment ~ with mora than 30% of all

our emissions coming from our supply chain.

We raly on monomers to make our products.
These modecules are traditionally made from
fossil fuels, which requires a significant amount
of energy in the conversion process. As the

- energy still mainly comes from non-renewable

sources, our monomers carry associated
carbon emissions along the value chain.

Woe also use a lot of water in our products

and processés and require nergy to transport
our products around the world.

We must find ways to address all these areas
il we are to realise our net zero ambitions.

I is also good business: our customers are
increasingly interested in the sustainability
benefits of our products.

More information on how we are improving
the sustainable henefits of our products can
be found on pages 48-53.

Defining our ambitions

This year, we set new environmental targets in
areas whars we can make the biggest impact,
which includes water as well as carbon.
These targets are part of our Vision 2030
roadmap and are supported by short-term
objectives to help us track our progress
{details can be found in the relevant sections).
In 2022, we will also complete the work to
determine new science-based targets in line
with the objectives we set ourselves in our
2020 Sustainability Report.

We laid a lot of groundwark in 2021 to
improve how we track and report our
environmental data, as well as confinuing
to develop projects that help tackle our
environmental footprint. For example we:

» Met our ohjective to introduce a new
sustainability scorecard to halp sites
assess the potential environmentatl
impact of targe-scale capital projects

* Launched a new environmental dashboard
to provide more accurate, frequent
environmental data at Group, divisional
and site levels

* Began assessing options to develop our
own Internal product life cycle assessment
{LCA) programme,



Introducing our project

sustainability scorecard

Following on from the successful roll out of our
product sustainability scorecard (see page 49),
we have introduced a similar scorecard to
assess capital projects. We will now review new
projects against six criteria, including energy,
emissions and water, scoring each criteria -5 o
+5 {+5 representing the biggast positive impact).
Projects with higher scores will be considered
maore favourably during our screening and
approval processes. In 2022, we will also look
at incorporating a carbon price into this
process to help align our projects with cur
Vision 2030 targets and net 2zere ambition.

Updating our reported environmental data
This vear, we are reporting metered electricity
instead of primary electricity. ~

We have amended our 2019 bassline values

to reflect changes in our Company. In the first
quarter of 2021, we sold one site, stopped
production at a second and closad an office.
We have removad associated data from our
calculations to provide a more accurate
comparison, We have also made socme minor
medifications due to reporting mistakes during
2019 and 2020. The impact is limited {Hetweaen
1-3% depending an the KPI),

Our energy use and carbon footprint
Our absolute and specific energy
consumption rose this year by 4.7% and
24% respectively versus our 2020 numbers.
While our energy performance is not yet
where we would like to be, we have, however,
made excellent progress in reduging our
GHG emissions. At the end of the year,

we completed the installation of new highly
efficient gas boilers at our plant in Sokolov,
Czech Republic. Commissioning bagan

in December 2021 with full operation

in February 2022, allowing us 1o close )
our coal-fired power station. This eliminates
coal as an energy source from all our global
operatians and wili significantly reduce

our Scope 1 emissions in 2022,

Qur second mitestonse saw a dramatic fall
in our Scope 2 emissions — testament to
the work from our procurement teams to
buy certified renewable electricity. We now
have 90% of renewable electricity usage

in our sites. This is well ahead of our
short-term 2022 target to reach 50%.

The increase in both absolute and specific
anergy consumption compared with the
previous year is relatad in part to changes

in product mix, with increased production
of some higher-energy-intensive products.
Sevaral of thess products have downstream
sustainability benefits for our custormnars.
Meanwhile, our laminates and films sites
saw increased demand, which led 1o higher
energy consumption, and on the Group-wide .
intensity metric, a poorer performance.

Other factors also affected our 2021
perforrmance, including higher than average
demand for our products in some countries.
Kesping our plants full can typically lead to
greater eneargy efficiency. However, the nesd
to maximisa production at one of our sites
meant we had to introduce more intensive
cooling, and, therefore, higher relative energy
use, to reduce cycle times in our reactors.
Meanwhile, our operations were affected
by ongoing COVID-19 restrictions in countries
such as Malaysia and Vietnam and the
Texas power crisis in February 2021,

which led to supply chain difficulties

and stop/start operations.

As well as our project to install new gas
boilers at our plant in Sokolov, we expect
several other projects to help reducs our
energy use by at least 3% during 2022,

\We are also planning to carry out detailed
energy diagnostic work and develop site-level
decarbonisation roadmaps, both of which
will help us idantify further opportunities

for improvement,

In future, we will expect our suppliers to
provide us with carbon metrics associated
with their products so that we can report
on the carbon footprint we are passing on
1o our customers,

See pages 51-53 in our Products section
for more information on the work our
procurement teams are doing to help us
address Scope 3 emissions and support
a more sustainable supply chain,

While we no longer include VOCs in our GHG
calculations, we do continue to monitor them.
We aggragate our number on a Group basis
and convert them to a carbon dioxide
equivatent (CO;e), using a factor of 11 —a
figure used by UK GIA member companies
since 2005. CO»e emissions associated with
VOCs in 2021 were 6,548 tonnes (18%
increase vs 2020).

We collect data on the retease of refrigerant
gases and aggragate thase to create a Group
total. We convert each reported release into
a CO.e value using the relevant DEFRA GHG
factor for the refrigerant in question. These
are included as Scope 1 emissions. In 2021,
they accounted for 1,805 tonnss, a 7%
increase versus 2020 and 30% reduction
versus our 2018 bassline.

Total metered energy use
Gigajoules {GJ) per sales production tonne

‘This year has been about
setting ourselves new
environmental targets
and laying important
foundations. Now we
must get to work to
achieve those targets.’

Guy Scudder

arager. Group Oozrations

See annex on pages 182-183 for our
UK-specific enargy use data.

Metered energy use by division
Gl/tonne
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Operations continued

~

Scope 1 and 2 emissions (hybrid approach)
Tonnes CO: equivalent released per sales
production tonne (includes GOz from energy
generation and use), and refrigerant losses.

*

Scope 1 and 2 emissions by division
tonnes COze/per sales production tonne

Scope 1 and 2 - location-based and market-
based - GHG amissions have been verifisd
by a third party.

See page 183 for informatian on our reporting
methodology.

Scope 3 emissions

In 2021, we worked with a third-party
specialist to establish our Scope 3 emissions
for the whele Group. This involved analysing 15
catagories that contribute to these emissions.
Given the diversity in application and end
rmarkets for our products, we do not have
sufficient visibility of the emissions associated
with processing our products and their
end-of-life treatmant.

Preliminary data from this assessment
inclicatas that, overall, in 2021, our Scope 3
emissions were up to 10%" lower versus our
2019 baseline. This is largely due to reduced
carbon infensity in the mix of menorners we
used during the year.

Scope 3 emissions account for more than 90%
of Synthomer's total emissions and of those,
more than 90% come from the goods and
services we buy, Which means that upstream
categories are most relevant to our business.
Our innovation and procurement teams are
actively looking for alternatives that could help
rapidly reduce our Scope 3 emissions.

Read our full Scope 3 emissions report in our
onling data pack.

* The actual percentage will be subject to changa
whan presented in the data pack.

Changing our approach to energy

to address future emissions

Renewable anergy attribute certificates
(EACS) are traded on the open market and
help companies like ours prove that our
elactricity is made from renewable sources.
While buying certificates in this way is a
well-established process, it is just ong of the
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ways in which we are increasing the amount
of renewabla electricity at our sites. We have
also set up new supply contracts and on- ang
ofi-site power purchase agreements {PPAsg),
with solar panels installed at several of our
sites around the world and a long-standing
PPA at our site in Stallingborough, UK.

EACs are a significant part of our short-to
medivm-term enargy plans but, as a traded
commodity, their price may rise and it may
becorne more difficult to buy them in future
as more companias anter the market.
Fluctuations in the EAC market mean that
while we hit our 2030 target this year, we
anticipate sesing this figure rise and fall
between now and 2030. That is why, in the
longer term, PPAs will become Increasingly
important to our enargy managemsnt
approach. But thay wil take time to set up. -

Replacing natural gas is harder, since we
need it to generate the heat required to
power some of our chemical processes.
We do have an advantage, since our
processas run at relatively modest
temperatures. Hers, too, we have the
option in future to switch to renewable
electricity. Some cptions, such as electric
boilers, could involve significant capital
investment, however.

In the meantime, we are exploring possible
options that could help us capture and use
more of the excess heat that is a by-product in

‘our exothermic reaction processes, and setting

up projects to improve our anergy efficiency.
For example, at our largest site in Malaysia,
projects are underway to optimise the way
we use our chillers through improved data
monitoring and process control, with the aim
of making them 5-10% more energy efficient.

We also have an opportunity to become
much more energy efficient as we grow.
integration allows us to improve production
proceasses or upgrade equipment at naw sites,
while introducing our standard tools, policies
and processas to embed Synthomer's culture
of manufacturing excellence. All our existing
sites in the USA have signed up to the
Cepartment of Energy's ‘Better Climate’
pledge to reduce emissions and improve
energy efficiency by 25% over the next

10 years.

Water

We need a significant amount of water to make,

our polymers, which help avoid more harmiul
solvents entering the atmosphere. We also use
a lot of water in aur manufactuting processes,
such as cooling and stearn generation,

Given our considerable reliance on water,

we have a particular responsibility to use

this natural resource carefully. -

Our progress
against 2030 targets

+ Manage and minimise water
consumption at all locations.
Introduce water management plans m
water-stressed areas and highest
consumplion sites.

Our short-term objectives

2022

* Maintain water consumption at 2019
tevels

« Carry out gap analysis of water and
effluent monitoring atilities at key sites.

Ws agreed a new Group-wide water
policy with our Sustainability Committee,
which was approved by our Board

in December 2021.

Our water policy can be found onfine at

https:/iwww. synthomer.com/campany/
corporate-responsibliity/group-policias/

To address present and future challenges, we
carried out third-party-assisted assessments
at two of our soven sites located in water-
stressed areas, These assessments explored
the potential to introduce mora extensive
water and automated metering and
infrastructure monitoring, as well as

options to assess the sites against the
Alliance for Water Stewardship framework.

We will continue this work throughout 2022,
exploring options at some of our other key sites, .
as well as devetoping upgrade proposals and
assessing water balances and opportunities
to reduce and reuse water.

Our water performance in 2021

Overall, we saw an 8.6% increase

in total water withdrawal at our sites.

Overall production rose 2.2%, which led

to a 6.2% increase in specific water use

in 2021 versus 2020, and 8.6% versus our
2019 basaeling. Our water withdrawal statistics
rose in 2021, with aur most significant
increases occurring because of spacific
events at some of our Synthomer sites.

For exampie, in France and the UK, we saw
rises at two of our sites due to the impact
of low rainfall on our réserves and the need
to ensure we had water available for water
treatmsnt and effluent dilution. We saw

our most significant increass at one of our
German sites, which is currently using river
water for ‘once-through’ cooling. A 13% rise
in production combinad with relatively warm
ternperatures meant the site had to increase
its water withdrawal by 25% to meet its
cooling needs. The site has now set up a
project to assess alternative, more efficiant
options for cooling.



At our legacy OMNOCVA sites, a combination
of higher production {compared with 2020)
meant that our absolute volume increased.
However, some sites saw a double-digit
improvement in their specific water use. As a
whole, thase sites saw a 4.9% improvement
in water withdrawal compared to 2020.

We estimate that leaks in our water lines
accounted for 10-15% of our net additional
water withdrawal this yoar. As part of our
commitment to our new water policy, we
are looking to improve the'way we monitor
sites and astablish more effective leak
management programmes. Together, this
should help reduce tha risk of lsaks as wall
as minimising their impact in future. )

Total water withdrawal
m?* per sales production tonne

Water withdrawal and consumption
by division
m? pér salas production tonne

Waste

Qur sites look for ways to reduce waste at
source. For example, our site in Le Havre,
France, reduced material out of specification

by mare than 350 tonnes compared to 2020.

Sites also look for opportunities to support
a mare circular economy, by recycling and
recovering waste where possible or finding
potential buyers for waste streams. We are
also develuping several projects to identify
ways in which we might reduce and treat
the three most significant hazardous waste
streams within our industrial Speciaiities
division, which account for more than
one-third of our Group total.

Qur waste performance in 2021

Wa made changes to our 2019 baselifie and
our 2020 numbers to remove waste figures
from sites that have been closed and sold in
the first quarter of 2021. This resultad in a
reduction of about 1.1%. Our 2018 baselina
and 2020 data also reflect corrections to
reported data. This includes one significant
waste stream in China, which we previously
reported as waste but was, in fact, recycled
at our site. This racluced our waste figure

by a further 1.7%.

Qur total waste in 2021 was higher than 2020,
due, in part, to a 2.2% increase in production
across the Group. We saw a particular rise in
total hazardous waste because of two one-off
events — the disposal of old contaminatad sail
and raw materials, and the disposal of used
solvent from ona of our sites after we ware
unable to identify a secondary buyer, We also
saw an increase at one of our sites in the USA
after we identifiedt gaps in our historical waste
tracking amounting to 850 tonnes total waste
and 500 tonnes of additional landfill wasts.

With more robust measurement, tracking and
analysis of our data now in place, we do not
expect to identify errors of this kind in future.

Qverall, the outlock against our 2019 baseline
ramains positive, with total waste around 15%
Iower on an absolute and per tonne intensity
basis. Meanwhile, waste to landfill is down
17% per tonne ahead of our 2022 chjective
of 12%. This overall trend reflects product
quality improvements at a number of sites,

as well as greater re-use of by-products that
we would previously have disposed, and
projects to reduce solid waste generated

by our wastewater treatment plants.

Total waste
Kg per sales production tonne

Qur short-term
objective to reduce
waste:

2022
duction ¢
procuced tonne

Waste disposal to landfill
Kg waste per sales production tonne

Total waste and waste 1o landfill by
division
Kg per sales produced tonng
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People

Our success relies on

our talented employees.

We will need plenty more

of their skills and experience
as we continue 1o grow,
integrating new businesses
like OMNOVA and Eastman’s
Adhesive Resins.

These acquisitions are changing Synthomer's’
scope and scale. Indeed, once the transaction
with Eastman is complete, 25% of all our sales
will be based in the USA and our global
waorkiorce will be three times larger than

it was just six years ago.

If we are to take full advantage of our new
scopa and scale, we nead to ensure we have
& consistent culture across the Company -

People at a glance

4,037

employees

1.21%

turnover

13.2%

naw hires

o7 %

under collective bargaining agreements

number of years the Synthomer Foundation
has supported local communities
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one with a clear set of shared values; where
avery employes feels angaged, ampowered
and valued, and sees opportunities to
develop their carser. We are focused on
building a diverse talent pipeline, developing
leadership skills, creating efficient and
effective organisationa! structures and
processes, and creating a winning culture.
This will take time, and to support our work
we have incorporated two of our employee
targets into our Vision. 2030 roadmap.

At the same time, we want to take a

more stralegic approach to our community
engagemant, applying lessons learned from
our Synthomer Foundation to the way in
which we provide funding and support for
local community activities. Hers, 100, we
have set a community-based target as part
of Vision 2030.

‘Our goal is to establish
an inclusive culture where
our people feel valued,
engaged, empowered and
able to use their strengths
to help Synthomer to
thrive. Our core values are

our guiding compass: they
describe what we aspire

to as a company and what
is expected of each of us/’

Matt Freeland

Group HE Dreclor

Our values

Safety, health and environment
— we always have time to work safely

In 2020, we launched our five core values, designed to support aur purpose

Integrity
—we act with integrity and show respect

Inngvation
- wa welcome change and new ideas

Accountability
— we deliver on our promises

Teamwork
~ we are stronger as one team

To help teams get to know the core values, we have rolied out a structured workshop and
discussion guide across Synthomer. And our values are now embedded in our annual
performance cycla, with all employees expected to assess their work against them.




Our
employees

This was another busy year for our
employaes. Demand for our products was
high, especially in healthcare. And once
again, our teams worked tirelessly to protect
themsetves and each other, and keap our
sites running safely throughout the COVIDA9 .
pandemic (see page 55 for more on our
COVID-19 safety and heaith measures).

Nevertheless, we continued to make progress
against our longer-term employee agenda,
including the ongoing roll-out of our diversity
and inclusion vision and action plan, and the
launch of our second Your Voice global
employee survey.

We also introduced new tools and processes
to create a more structured approach to
career development - focusing particularly
on early careers, functional career paths, and
leadarship skills to halp develop our leaders
of the future, And to ensure we have robust
succession plans in pface at all fevels of the
business, we continued to develop our global
talant toolkit and review pracess.

Supporting employee welibeing

during the pandemic

COVID-19 has challenged everyone's physical
and mental health over the past two years.
Whether working from home or on site at one
of our plants, our employees have had to
juggle everything from famity care fo health
worries to feelings of isolation. We are
aware that all these issues can have
repercussions on individual performance.

To continue supporting our employees’ mental
health in 2021, we set up a number of country-
specific programmes, including a new N
well-being hub for UK employees located

on our Syntranet. The hub provides
information on Company-led programmes and
resources, including our Empioyee Assistance
Programme, as well as advice on issues

like resilience, healthy shift working

and asking for help.

Also in the UK, we ran a well-being calendar
of monthly activities to highlight issues such
as fighting fatigue, personal fitness and
hydration. In Malaysia, we marked mental
heatth month with a saries of talks ta help
employees identify ways to deal with stress,
anxiety and burnout in the warkplace.
Almost 100 employees attended the
sessions. We also oHered employees who
came into contact with the virus access to
counselling to talk to professionals about
the challenges they faced, and get medical
advice and emotional support.

Our core employee objectives

1. Build a sustainable, diverse talent pipeline

Continuously improve our development programmes and ensure we have the right people
with the right skills in the right job at the right time.

2. Strengthen leadership capability at all levels

Help our leaders become role models, coach and develop their teams and lead the way
in successfully driving our business strategy.

3, Drive organisational effectiveness

Strengthan our ability to manage businass transformation in an agile way.

to help Synthomer thrive.

4. Establish a winning workplace culture
Where our paopis feet valued, engaged and empowaered to use their strengths

We have learned a great deal throughout

the past two years and are now developing

a long-term supportive workplace programme
1o take us beyond the pandemic. This includes
assessing employee data and employee
fesdback on their needs and expectations,
examining our current resources and
identifying gaps, and banchmarking

our approach against cur competitors.

Building a diverse, inclusive workplace
Building a more diverse and inclusive business
is key to qur growth ambitions and our ability
to attract and retain the best people. In 2020,
we launched cur divarsity and inclusion vision,
and this year incorporated our gender target
as part of our Vision 2030 roadmap. This yaar
has been about raising awareneass to help
smployees understand why it matters and
the role they have 1o play,

We had an early opportunity to do this in
March 2021 with a series of events around
the world to mark International Women'’s Day.
In Juna, we celebrated Pride month and have
since set up a new LGBT employes group.
And in December, we marked International
Day of FPersons with Disability, publishing
new guidance on our Syntranet to he!p
employees support their disabled colleagues,
and sharing two new videos from managers
living with disabilities.

In November, our executive sponsor for
diversity and inclusion, Reb Tupker, and
Group HR Director, Matt Freeland. launched
a new global awareness campaign, hosting
a series of calls with our top 100 leaders to
discuss their role in supporting our vision,

Our progress
against 2030 targets

Iregs
rmanagemeant and
professional roles

-Our.short-term objectives:
2022

* 25% lemaie senior leaders

2025
senior leaders
nior leaders Irom ethnically
backgrounds
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Business foundatiocns

Synthomer and sustainability continued
People continued

sassions, too.

Ana Perroni Laloe

Engender: our first
employee group

“I'm proud to be part of Synthomar's first
employee group. We set up ENGENDER
- our wormen's network - to create a safe
environmaent for discussion on issues that
women face in the workplace and to help
support one another through our careers.
We're delighted with the support received
in organising a number of events on topics
such as imposter syndrome, and voice
and power for women in business. Wa are
equally happy to have some men join our

Presidant, Industrial Specialities

Qur first year was very busy, with regional
groups starting activities in the US and
Asia, catering for local discussions and
face-to-face networking opportunities.

One of aur highlights was having Caroline
and Holly, Synthomer’s Chair and one of
our female Non-Executives respectively,
attend one of cur pane! sessions. It was
a fantastic opportunity for our network

to hear about their career stories first
hand. We hope more people will sign

up and help us spread the word.”

)

successful business.

Our diversity and inclusion vision
We valus the difference averyons brings
to work and are committed 1o creating a
diverse and inclusive workplace, where
people are supported to make their bast
contribution in creating a vibrant and

3
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‘We know that diverse
thinking and inclusive
cultures create
tremendous business
value. It powers innovation
and performance and

it will drive Synthomer’s
success in the future!

Caroline Johnstone
Chair of Synthomer's Diversity and
Inclusion Steering Committee

As part of the campaign we also shared
additional tools and materials on topics such
as unconscious bias and sef-awareness via

a Syntranet hub to help leaders support their
work to share our diversity and inclusion vision.

Meanwhile, we have started using a new
diversity and inclusion dashboard to track
progress, spot gaps and improve succassion
planning. And we have established a new
diversity and inclusion governance structure
to ensure we stay on course and embed
accountability for diversity and inclusion
across all levels of the business. The structure
includes a steering committes comprising
Synthomer's Chair cof the Board, diversity
and inclusion Executive Committee sponsor
and Group HR Directar, as well as a regional
network of diversity and inclusion champions,

Looking ahead, our plans for 2022 include
new interviewing skills and inclusive
recrultrmant training for hiring managers,
inclusive leadership training and a naw
ambassador programme designed to create
opportunities for employees to share their
personal divarsity and inclusion stories.
Qur Beard and Executive Committee will be
involved and will regularly review progress.

Our diversity and inclusion
performance in 2021

We are pleased that we met our 2021 ~
objective of 20% of women in sanior
leadership roles, finishing the year at 20.4%.
In ail, we saw a 5% rise in the nuember of
women in senior leadership versus 2020,
Wa also appointed Lily Liu as our new Chief
Financial Officer who will join Synthomer no
later than 1 July 2022, Once Lily is officially
on board, women will make up 44% of our
Board. In February 2022, we also appointed
Ana Perroni Laloe as President, Industrial
Spacialities and she has now joined our
Executive Committee. We also met the
expectations laid out in the Parker Report,
by having at least one Board member from
an ethnically diverse background.

k3

Gender diversity

Female 976
Male 3,656
Total 4,632
Gendsr diversity

Female 3
Male 8
Total h°
Gender diversity

Femalg 10
Male 39
Total 49



Employse engagement

Listening to our employees helps us
undearstand what is working wall and tells
us where we have more to do. But we need
to hear from everyone, so, as part of our
Vigion 2030 roadmap, we set a 70% target
for participation in our global Your Voice
survey. We introduced our first survey in 2019.
With 63% taking part, it revealed areas of
strength, such as our commitment to safety,
and areas for improvement, such as
communication and knowledge sharing.

Good communication has become even

more important over the past two years

with the pandemic keeping many people

at home, and restricting our numbers on site.

To help people feel connected and ensure
they understand our priorities, we launched
new quarterly (virtual) global townhalls

during 2021 hosted by senior leaders.

Around 1,000 employees attended each
townhall. We ensured employees could ask
questions before and during the calls and
submit those questions ancnymously if

they wished. Employees were keen to hear
more on a number of issues, including our
sustainability agenda, diversity and inclusion
plans, and flexible working. While our leaders
answered questions during the calls, we also
intend 10 feed some of these topics into future
comrmunications to continue raising awareness.

We also relaunched our internal Syntranet
site, creating one global site for all our
employees. It containg news and key
information on tmportant areas such as
our strategy, Code of Conduct and policies
to help ensure everyone has access to a
consistent set of messages and guidelines.

What we heard from employees in 2021
Cur second Your Voice survey ran in
December 2021. We were very plaassd

that we exceeded our 2030 targel at a global
{evel, with an overall response rate of 73%
from our employees, This was achieved by
an extensive multi-channel communication
campaign delivered across the busingss,
which included managar brigfings, messaging
via our Syntranet and poster campaigns.
Not all countries achieved a 70% response
rate and that will remain a focus for fulure
survays. The survey included some new
questions on topics such as our core
values, to help us leam how weli employees
understand them.

We saw a rise in positive responses

in many areas, including diversity and
inclusion, {12%), career progression (9%}
and communication {7%). We also continued
to see strong results in health and safety,
ethics, and values. All these results reflect the
work we have done in the past few years to
raise awareness on these important issuas.

Our employees told us that they want to hear
mare about the Your Voice results and what
we plan to do in rasponse to thelr feedback.
To this end, we are working with leaders in
our divisions and functions to provide relevant
data so that they can share and discuss
spacific topics with thair teéams.

As part of our Board employee voice
activities, one of cur Non-Executive Directors,
Alexander Catto, met groups of employees
personally in the UK and by video conference
in Germany and the USA throughout the year.
Discussions and feedback coverad a range of
topics such as Company strategy, leadership,
COVID-19, flexible working, diversity and
communication issues.

We look for other opportunities to hear from
our employees, For example, we ran a survay
in March and December 2021 asking our UK
employees what they thought of our support
for them during the pandemic. Most feedback
was positive: 65% said they had attended one
of our resilience workshops, and mare than
half said they would do something different
basad on what they had learned. Howaever, a
minority told us that they want us to do more
on flexible working. This is something we are
assessing as part of our supportive
workplace programme.

Career development and training

We have a good record of attracting new
talent. Fairness in prograssion and promotion
is essential, so at a corporate level we are
introducing new digital tools and processes,
including a new global HR information
system, We also continued our global talent
review in 2021. As part of that review, we
introduced a new ‘talent toolkit’ to help our
leaders and managers assess gapsand ¢
opportunities in areas such as succession
planning and personal development plans.
We want to do more to help retain a larger
percentage of our graduates and address
Your Voice feedback, which fells us
employses want to see mare opportunities

in caresr planning and development. We are
currently focusing on three key areas to halp
our people make progress: early careers,
functicnal excellénce and leadership.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

Early careers: helping graduates flourish
at Synthomer

Since 2018 we have expanded and improved
our graduate recruitmant programma, looking
at everything from when wa recruit to how
we make an offer. In that time, we have hired
around 50 new graduates, largely in Europe
and Asia, with a 50:50 gender split and

a variety of ethnic backgrounds.

We have also created a blanded development
plan, providing graduates with a combination
of mentoring programmes, and on-the-job
and warkshop-style training in areas such

as networking, managing others and
business acumen. .

Functional excellence: consistent
pathways for all

Qur Group HA team is also warking with

our functicns to develop new ‘excellence’
frameworks that set out clear career
pathways through each of the functions

and the standard of skills we expect. A new
Functional Excellence Stesring Committee is
coordinating this work across the Company.
Qur manufacturing and commercial functions
ware the first to launch their frameworks in
2021. Qur commercial function appointed a
dedicated excellence director and ran its first
training sessions on contract management
via a new academy.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People continued

Leadership: training the leaders

of tomorrow

Because we are growing so quickly and
integrating new acquisitions, differant
leadership styles, approaches, and even
language, can become part of daily business
life. This can make it difficult for newer leaders
to know what is expected of them. To address
this, in 2019 wa introduced six leadership
attributes, including inspiring vision and
purpose, setting standards and dealing

with ambiguity, to provide a common
language and consistent behaviours for

all leaders at every level of our business.
Alongside our core values, we are also

using our leadership attributes as a way

of assessing potential new recruits.

Embracing digital
resources to
support leadership
development

"We believe in continuous conversations
as a key driver for employee engagement.
In that spirit, we expect our lkeaders to
bacome coaches for ongoing staft
development, providing regular feedback
opportunities to their teams. We have
launched a new leadership development
portal, which contains a weahth of useful
resources and 1ools. The next generation
of Synthomer leaders will particularly
benefit from our ‘first-time leader’
roadmap, which provides practical
guidance on coaching others.

Owr iearning and developrnent tearn
held a series of global brigfing calls to help
leaders at all levels start using the portal.”

Christoph Bartels
Director Talent Development
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Ethics and compliance

We published our current Code of Conduct
in 2018, |t is available in 14 languages, both
online and in print. We plan to review and
refresh the Code later in 2022 and launch
an updated version in 2023,

Qur 2021 Your Voice survey showed that 87%
of employees understand how the Code
applies {o their job, while 81% know how to
report suspected unethical and/or unlawful
business practices.

We promote our Ethics Helpling across

the business, including through our Code.

In 2021, we launched a new ‘protaction from
retaliation’ policy to continue encouraging

an open and transparent culture within
Synthomer, We also updated the investigation
process that supports our helpline to ensure
clear lines of responsibility and that reports
are followed up in an appropriate manner.

Continuing to provide

compliance training

During 2021, we continued to develop our
e-learning offer, which included the launch
of refreshed modules on anti-bribery and
corruption and anti-competitive practices.
Our Leaming Management System helps
us track training completion and escalate
instances when required training is not
completed in a timely manner. In 2022,

we plan to introduce new e-learning modules
for our Code of Conduct and GDPR/data
protection, which will replace our existing
face-to-face and online training.

Our short-term ethics
_and compliance
objectives:

aunch

Cur anti-bribery, corruption and competition |
law policies are important parts of our Code
and the scenario-based workshops and
e-learning that we run as part of our Coda

of Conduct training. We will cantinue to
support employses who are more exposed
to competition law risk with additional,
specific e-learning modules and
face-to-face/online workshops.

In 2021, we launched a short campaign to
remind employees of our policy on gifts and
hospitality as set out in our Code. As part of
this, we rolled out revised standard-form gifts
and hospitality registers.

Woe also published new internal guidance

on how to respond to, and manage,
unannounced inspections from regulators
{so-called 'dawn raids’), which will be supportad
by a phased roll-out of fraining, starting in 2022,
And we ran our first campaign on the United
Nations Anti-Corruption Day, which included
an article on our Syntranet and on social media.

Making changes to support our
compliance programme

We appointed a Global Compliance
Manager in 2021 to help us navigate the
changing regufatory landscape as we

grow. The manager will lead our Group

legal and compliance team’s compliance
work. Thetr initial focus in 2022 wil be to
enhance our risk assessmant and third-party
due diligence processes.

In Decembar 2021, wa established a new
compliance brand called 'Syntegrity’, which’
aligns with our value of integrity. We are now
using the brand to support our compliance
Initlatives. This includes a new quartetly
compliance blog for all senior leaders that
will aim to communicate new compliance
initiatives, remind employees about existing
policies and requirements and share lessons
lsarmad from racent reported cases. The blog
will also provide compliance topics for
discussion at team meetings.

See page 51-53 for more information on how
we work with our suppliers to ensure high
ethical standards, including respecting human
rights.



Our
communities

We want the local communities who live
near our sites to see us as a goed neighbour.
Whita we have always looked for ways to
support local projects, our acquisition of
OMNOVA has given us the opportunity

to reassess our approach to

community engagement.

Since 1961, the Synthomer Foundation
fformerty the OMNCOVA Foundation) has acted
as an independent endowment, providing
essential funding for iocal community
projects, primarily in Ohio, USA. Over the
years, the Foundation has broadened its
remit to support projects across the USA,

"Our progress™
against 2030 targets

ducahcn public
and environmenta

1 [ aat
contniution to be at least £850.000.

In the 60 years since it was first created, the
Foundation has changed hands — and name
- sevaral times, but its mission remains the
same: to support non-profit organisations
who provide programmes and services that
enhance the quality of life for those in need.
At least 50% of annual funding is dedicated
to education initiatives, with the rest
supporting arts, civic, health and human
service crganisations.

Since acquiring OMNOVA, the Foundation has
sparked a lot of interest from our employges in -
other parts of the world who want to be more
involved in their kocal communities. With more
than 40 sites and sales offices across the
globe today — and more to come as we
continue to grow = Synthomer has an
opportunity, therefore, to draw on the
Foundation’s experience to expand our
community engagernent,

And we want to take a more strategic
approach to reflect our growth ambitions.
So, we have set a community targst as part
of our Vision 2030 roadmap.

Suppoerting communities — growing our
network in 2021

To help us take a more strategic approach,
we used the Foundation's governance
structure to set up a new Synthomer-wide
global volunteering network in February 2021,
That network includes a community
champion at each site, as well as three -
regional coordinators whe maet quarterty
to discuss project proposals. Funding is
approved by our executive sponsor after

a proposal fram our Sustainability Director.
In this first year, the coordination group
identified site-lovel champinns and alignerl
activities around our priority themes,
developing the tools to support the network
of volunteers and capture their aclivities with
neighbouring communities.

In 2022, the network will pricritise local projects
that support education. For example, in Vietnam
wa are collaborating with several partners,
including the Ministry of Labour and Vietnam
Bank for Sccial Prlicias, to help poor and
disabled children continue their education.

In Portugal, some of our employees are running
‘lessons’ at local s¢chools 1o help children learn
mora about our businass. And in the UK, we
took part in British Science Week, hosting
workshops for schoolchildren to help inspire
an intarast in chemistry from an early age,
Synthomer Foundation will continue

to support more than 10 universities and
colleges such as the University of Akron

and the University of Wisconsin.

Synthomer Foundation support in 2021
Of the £930,000 that the Synthomer
Foundation gave in 2021, 56% of the funds
went to aducation programmes. The rest was
split between projects that support arls

and cutture, civic activities, and health

and human services,

‘Sixty years is an amazing,
notable achievement;
and we lock forward

to continuing this great
legacy of supporting

our communities for
many years to come.’

Theresa Carter
Syathomer Foundaticn President

One of the Foundatior’s largest single
donations want to the American Institute
of Chemical Engineers, which will receive
around £70,000 over the next four years.
This money will help two students attend a
Historically Black College or University and
participate in a leadership development
programme.

Our annual highlight: Synthomer
Cares week

This year, we ran our first Synthomer
Cares week in May 2021, based ona
concept first developed by our OMNOVA
colleagues. During the week, employses
around the world get involved in activities
to raise funds, support local communities
and feel connected to one another.

In the USA, for example, employees in

Ohig helped sort donated clothes and pick
up litter for a homeless shelter, while in South
Carnlina, amployaas donated persenal care
iterns to a women's shelter. And employees
in Pennsylvania donated just under 230kg

of food 1o a local food bank.

In Malaysia, 43 employees took part in

a charily run during Synthomer Cares

weok to raise money for COVID-19 care kits
for 20 less fortunate families. Suppert for the
runners was SO positive that in the end they
raised enough to buy kits for 30 familics.
The top five runners were also given

a donation to share with the charity

of their ¢chaice.

Employaes in ltaly and Portugal maintained
that sense of connection later in the year,
during a two-week exercise challenge.
Individuals recorded the time they spent
running, walking or cycling via an app which
Synthomer then converted into donations,
Participating employees could then choose
which social organisation would receive the
funds. The winning team was given a 25%
bonus to donate to their organisation. In all,
the two teams completad 1,093 hours of
exercise and travelled a total of five milion
steps, raising £1,560 in the process.
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Buginass foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People continued

assential funds.

A snapshot of community activities at our sites

White the COVID-19 pandemic meant we were unable to run community activities in some countries, such as Vietnam and China, many of
our community teams around the world have continued 1o support local projects and organisations, while our employees have helped raise

Location Activity
UK In Decembar 2021, the operational team donated Christmas presents to a local school.
Germany - Marl In November 2021, our site team provided volunteer support to help cleaning and rebuilding

houses following devastating floods across Garmany earlier in the year.

Czech Republic = Sokolov

Members of the operational team participated in Open Doors Days 10 help students understand
more about our work at Sokolov. This included an on-site session for careers counsellors and
chemistry teachers.

France

Three sites each donated €1,000 to Fondation de France te help tamilies and schoolchildren
particularly affected by the pandemic.

Portugal y

Wa continued to play a role on the board of Grace, a non-profit association that promotes
social responsibility and sustainability within companies. We also participated in working
groups for the Portuguese Charter for Diversity and Inclusion, including helping to develop
a social responsioility good practice guide.

Malaysia — Pasir Gudang

Employees auctioned their skills, such as baking and painting, to their colleagues to raise
money for Calvary Homas, an organisation that helps people who have been abused and
abandoned by their familias or faca serlous disadvantages. Together with matched funding
from Synthomer, thay raised £1,000.

Malaysia - Kuala Lumpur

Our community team ran activities ta raise awareness about food waste and to support The
Lost Food Project. As well as a talk from the organisation’s chief executive, employees took
partin a challenge to reduce their own food wasta. With matched funding from Synthormer,
they also helped raise just over £1,000 for the project.

USA - Akron and Mogadore

38% of the employees from these two sites have joined the initiative “Candy gram fundraiser’,
raising more than $300 and providing 266 meals to people in need around the sita.

USA - Auburn

Qur colieagues in Auburn held an internal ‘corn hole’ throwing tourhament to raise funds for
Haven Heroes, a local organisation that supports educational success in primary schoaolchildren.

USA - Beachwood

A colleague through the Employee Community Leadership Award raised funds for Pink Ribbon
Girls who provide a range of support for breast and gynaecological cancer patients and their
{amilies. n fotal we donated $500.

Building our volunteer )

network in Asia

“In 2021, we took our first steps

o making our communities network
prosence in Asla more prominent.
There is still 50 much to do, but we
have put some strong foundations
in place to continua on our journey
of giving and contributing to the
communities who live near our sites.

“~ Qu position as a rmarket leader in Asia
allows us to be closely engaged with
the communities, especially at tha sites
in Malaysia. | am grateful 10 evaryone
who has helped us get this far, but this
is only the beginning and we will aim
to go further in futurel*

Emidiyana Ahmad
Talent Development Executive and Asia
CSR coordinator
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Business foundations

Risk management

Risk report
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of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
How we manage risk o
We use leading risk management techniques ' g
which help us make good decisions about b4
business opportunities while protecting §
our sites, systems, employees and other &
key stakeholders. &
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Business foundations

Risk management continued
Risk report continued

Top-down

Frincipal risks

\/
/\

Risk assessment
Divisional and functional

Risk management framework

Board of Directors

Sets the risk culture and risk appetite. Has overall responsibility for
raviswing and approving the principal rigks.

Audit Committes

Suppoerts the Board in menitoring risk exposure. Reviews principal
and emerging risks and the effectiveness of risk managemsnt and
internal control processes. Provides challenge to Executive
Management where appropriate.

Executive Committee

Reports on principal and emerging risks to the Audit Committee
and Board. Conducts top-down risk identification and review.
Ensures risk managament policy is implemented and embedded in
the business, and appropriate responsas are taken to manage risks,

Division and functional risk owners

Responsible for risk identification, management and controls within
their division and function. Identify and assess risks, determine and
maonitor risk responses and ensure operating effectiveness of key
contrgls and progress of actions to manage risk.

Risk and Assurance

» Establishes the risk
management framawork

* Provides guidance and
challenge to divisional and
tunctional risk owners

* Aggregates risk information
and assists management in
identifying principal risks

Risk governance and oversight
Synthomer plc Board

The Board has overall responsibility for
ensuring that risk is effectively managed
across the Group and for creating the
Tramewaork for the Group's risk management
1o operate effectively, The Board continues
to set the risk culture and the risk appetite it
is prepared 1o accept to achieve the Group’s
objectives, and the wider risk tolerance within
which it empowers the Exacutive Committes
to manage the business. In 2021, the Board
completed a review and refresh of its appetite
by mapping its principal risks against a sliding
scale from ‘risk-averse’ to ‘risk-neutral’, to
'rigk-taking". This is now embedded in our risk
management framework.

Audit Committee

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee
reviews and assesses the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and intérnal control
procasses and monitors the Group's risk
exposure. In 2021, the Audit Committee
continued its programme of deep dives

into our risk management process, giving
management the opportunity to explain
directly to the Audit Committes the

assessed risks, associated controls in

place, and any further planned mitigating
actions, The Audit Committes carried

out deep dive risk reviews for each of the
Group's divisions. Specialist functional risk

Synthomar ple
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reviews were also undertaken, these included
1T & Cyber Security, Innovation & Intellectual
Property, Plant Control Systems, Business
Continuity Planning, and Pensions. The Audit
Committes also reviews summaries of the
work undertaken by the Intarnal Audit team,
which operates a risk-based audit plan.

The risk management systam, Audit
Committee deep dives, and associated
assurance work are designed to ensure
that risk is managed within Synthomer’s
risk appetite, rather than to eliminate risk
completely, and the Audit Committee and
other assurance reviews provide reasonable
assurance in line with good practice.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is responsible for the
identification and management of our strategic,
operational, compliance and finangial risks
using the risk management framewoerk, and
for ensuring risk management policy is
implermentad and embedded in the business.

Division and functional risk owners
We have a structured rigsk management
framework operated at division and
Group functional level. We use a standard
methodology to guantify risk, with a risk
assessment matrix to ansure risks are
assessed consistently.

Risk management methodology

Assess
and
evaluate

Identify

Monitor
and
report

Determine
response




Qur risk management methodology was
reviewed and refreshad this year. The risk matrix
previously considered two risk dimeansions:
the likelihood of the rigsk materialising, and its
potential impact. In 2021, we updated the
matrix to include a third dimension: risk velocity.
Risk velocity considers the time betwseen the
risk crystallising and the impact being feft.

Divisions and functional departmants conduct
their own bottorm-up assessment of risks and
record them in a risk register using the
Group’s standard risk management
methodology. They assess risks at both an
inherent (gross) level and a residual (net) fevel,
taking into account the mitigating controls in
place. Risk owners also identify any additional
activities that could further mitigate the risk in
line with our risk appetite, accepting that
soma level of risk-taking is necessary.

Three lines of defence — assurance
Synthomer operates a ‘thres lines of defence’
assurance model. As our first line of defence,
our operational management and employees
have a responsibility 16 manage day-to-day .
risk in their own areas, guided by Group policies,
procedures and control frameworks. Our second
ling of delence includes our Group Risk function;
who develop and manage the risk management
framework and engage with managementto
identify, agree and update risk information,

t also includes other compliance and assurance
functions, for example Group Safety, Health
and Environment (SHE), Regulatory Affairs
and IS0 audits, who review the effectiveness
of mitigating actions and controls.

Qur Internal Audit team provides our third line
of defence, providing independant assurance
on internal controls and risk management
processes. External assurance is provided
by our statutory auditors, in respect of the
financial statements, and also by an external
specialist in respect of ISO standards.

Assessment of principal risks
Risks affect us in many ways. Across our
business, we idantify the likelihood, potential
impact and velocity of risks through our farmal
twica-yearly risk assessment submissions by
divisions and Group functions. Management is
also empowered and actively manages and
roacts to risks as part of normal day-to-day
decision making. We use the Group's risk
methodology to assess the risks in all significant
projects,-including change programmes and
the integration of acquisitions, These reviews,
tagether with our three lines of defance model,
enable us to establish effective controls to
.manage these uncertainties.

Qur key risks

We categorise our risks, taking into account
the effectiveness of mitigating actions and
controls, in the following areas:

» Strateqic risks that could prevent us
from achieving our strategic objectives.

* Operational risks which, if not successfully
managed, would threaten qur viability.
These relate to our ability to operate
a sustainable and safe business.

= Compliance risks where a breach of
reguiations or laws could lead to fines from
regulators, and reputational risk that may
affect our standing in the investor and widar
community in a disproportionate manner to
the size of the event leading to such damage.

* Financial risks relating to the funding and
fiscal security of the Group.

During 2021, the Executive Comrnitiee and
the Board carried out a robust assessment of
Synthomer's principal risks and unceriainties.
Following this review, we can confirm there
are no changes proposed to our principal
risks.

The table on pages 72 to 76 provides more
detail on our principal risks identified at the end
of 2021, Qur Board and management consider
that these pose the greatest threats to our
business and they score highast on our risk
assessment matrix. They fall into categories
that relate closely to our business model,

Not all risks facing Synthomer are listed and
the risks are not listed in any order of priority.

The nature of risk changes over time with
new risks emerging and the impact of

others changing. Our risk management

and assurance pregramme can only provigle
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that key
risks are managed to an acceptable level, and
therefore cannot provide absolute assurance

~ against misstatement or loss.

Emerging risks

In addition to known risks, we identify

and analyse emerging risks and the need

for mitigation as part of our existing risk
management processes. Emerging risks are
svents that present uncertainty. They may
potentially affect us in the longer term, but we
do not currently have sufficient information to
understand and assess the likelihood, impact
or velocity of the risk, or to define an
appropriate risk response. We continue to
ambed emarging risks in our risk programme
to ensure they are appropriately considered
and monitored. In somes cases, emerging
risks aré superseded by others or ceass to be
relevant as the environment in which we
operate evalves and changes. We continue

to review and identify new emerging risk
trends to evaluate the impact and effect

they would have, including any changes

to our principal risks.

Climale change

upoly of 1
and sen

hich a
to 80 F

ds
Psalelalit
COMIn e o evalu

be considered a

COVID-19

At the time of writing, the COVID-19 pandemic
continues o impact the global economic,
social and political landscape. We will
continue to rernain agile in managing the
risks that this presents.

1
Wa have raviewed the impact of the pandamic
on our pringipal risks to identify new
opportunities or material changes to existing
principaf risks. As with our assessment
of climate risks, our review concluded that
COVID-18 would be more appropriately
managed by including its impact within existing
principal risks rather than defining a separate
COVID-19 risk. We also tock this approach
in 2020. We will keap this risk under reviaw.
Synthomer plc
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Business foundations
Risk management continued
Risk report continued

Strategic risks

Principal risks and uncertainties
This table shows the most significant risks
that affect our business. There are other,
lower-level risks that can have an impact

on the Group's performance: these are

also actively managed through our risk
management framawnrk

Volatility and competition in chemicais
and polymers market,

The markets we operata in are inherantly
volatile due to global macroaconomic and
political uncertainty, and we expect this
volatility to continue in 2022. Such volatility
may affect our raw material costs, volumes
and margins, potantially adversely affecting
the results of the Group. The introduction of
a carbon tax could further affect margins.

The Group could lose market share to other
producers of spegiality chamicals if we fail
to remain competitive.

tnnovation and intellectual property-
The Group could lose market share to other
producers of speciality chemicals if we fail
to innovate new products that meet market
needs and stakeholder expectations with
respect to differentiated performance

or sustainability. Sharehclder value is

also dependent on our ability to identify

and protect our own intellectual property
and ensure we do not breach third parties’
intellectual property rights, which could lead
to reputational damage and additional costs.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Chanée in risk No change

Change in risk Nd change

2021 response

2021 response

» The Group continued to maintain a largely
ditferentiated portfolic of products serving a
wide range of diverse global end markets,
The successiul integration of OMNOVA
significantly increased our presence in key
North American and China markets.

+ Segment performance at business unit level
is closely monitored and we take corrective
actions as necessary to mitigate the risk as
far as reasonably practicable.

* We continued to review costs in our key
sites to ensure we can price our products
competitively. -

* We enhanced our entrepreneurial,
customer-focused approach to innovation
by implementing a Group-wide portfolio
management process focused on
alignment to business strategy, value
delivery, and sustainability goals.

The global pandemic and supply chain
disruptions posed a chaflengs to the launch of
new products. In the face of this challenge, our
teamns leamed new ways of working remctely
and in hybrid work environments which has
strangthened collaboration betweaen our
innovation centres around the world.

A new central team was formed with the
charter 1o investigate new product chemistries
focused on climate change, sustainability,
stap-changs performance enhancement, and
inharently safer and more efficient processes.
We implemented new policies and enhanced
procedures to ensure new innovations and
trade-secret knowledge is pratected and
readily accessible for future inncvation.

2022 plans

2022 plans

* Naw product davelopmaent and our

acquisition strategy will continue to

further diversify the Group’s risk, including:

— The completion of the acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business,
which will further add to our differentiated
portfolio of products and global
end markets

- The roll out of SyNovus™ Pius will
anhance our competitive advantage
in the NBR market.

7 2 Synthomer plc
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* We willimplement new elements of our
Innovation Excellence Framework which
astablishes best practices for opportunity
identification, employee development,
intellectual property and knowledge
management, teamwork, product
stawardship and labgratory safety.

We will increase our focus on new
processes with the formation of an
Advanced Process Innovation team
which will investigate step changes

in process efficiency and sustainability.
Through these initiatives, we aim to
increase the success rate of innovation
programmaes, accelerate the time ta
market, and deliver new levels of product
parformance alongside sustainability
improvements in both products

and processes.



Strategic risks

Mergers and acquisitions (M&A)

The Group's strategic plan continues to
include significant M&A to further grow,
differentiate and diversify our business,
There 15 a risk that we fail to identify and
secura any targets or identify the wrong
targets, pay too high a prico, fail to integrate
acquired assets and drive planned synergies,
or enceunter performance, funding, cash
flow, or climate-related and environmental
issues and potentially unknown liabilities.

Change programmes
Poor execution of change programmes,
including capacity expansion projects,

‘the delivery of strearmlined and efficient

standardised processes through our Pathway
pragramme, the rollout of our shared service
centies, and vur ESG programmes, coutd
affect our ability to deliver our strategy.

Pecple and talent retention

Paople are a key asset for Synthomer

in driving our Company strategy to grow
and enabling us to operate in our diverse
markets while complying with regulations
and corporate responsiility. H we are unable
to attract, retain and build our people
resources, this could adversely affect the
delivery of the Group's strategic priorities.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk No chahge

Change in risk No change

Change in risk No change

2021 response

2021 response

2021 response

* We successiully completed the central
integraticn activities related to the OMNOVA
transaction in Q3 2021, delivering synergies
ahead of plan and properly incorporating
‘the Synthomer Way' into processes

and culture.

In October 2021, wa announced the
proposed acquisition of Eastman’s
Adhesives Resing business and have begun
working through the carveout separation

to facilitate a close in Q1 2022. Integration
planning for this acquisition is underway.

» Continued commitment to our Project
Excellence methodology and robust capital
appraisal process have delivered a well-
controlled portfolio of capital investments.

* Wa have bagun tha migration of local entity
tranzactional finance activities into
centralised shared services and are
developing our business partnering
talent to mee! business needs.,

* We have successiully deploysd our
Pathway global termplate processaes and
systemns at our wave 1 sites in 2021.

* We have developed a méchanism to
monitor progress against our ESG agenda
and goals.

* We deployed a standardised global talent
management process, and held talant and
succession reviews at division, function,
Executive Committes and Board level.

We implemented Workday as a new

global HR Information System including
recruitment, learning, and talent
management modules with enhanced
employee data reporting and analysis
capability,

We rolled out our Your Voice employee survey.
We launched an internal communication
improvement plan and recognition scheme
to drive increased employee engagement,
Qur long-term incentive plan was extended
to former OMNOVA employeas.

A single global Linkedin contract was
implemented with enhanced careser pags,
functionality and recruitment tools, and a
globalised talent acquisition process.

*

*

*

2022 ptans

2022 plans

2022 plans

= The Group’s M&A activity and the
completion of the Eastman’s Adhsasives
Resins acquisition and subsequent
integration will continus to be closaly
scrutinised by the Board.

= External advice will cantinue 10 be used to
help identify targets, prepare bids, conduct
due diligence, and assess progress against
integration plans and synergies.

+ We will complete our NBR capacity
increase expansion in Q1 2022 in Malaysia
and continue to develop our plans for
further NBR expansion in South East Asia
and other territories.

We will complete the migration of all local
entity transactional finance activities to
centralised shared services.

We will roll cut our Pathway solution to
further sltes according to our deployment
strategy.

As part of our ESG agenda, we will develop
science-based targets and track delivery
against published goals.

= Wa will launch a standardised global
performance management process to improve
the consistency and qualty of performance
management, coaching and development.

» Work will continue on functional excellence
with a specific ongoing focus on
comimercial excellence.

* Wa will deploy the 2022 Diversity
and Inclusion {D&l} global action plan
with a range of initiatives and workstreams
designed t¢ increase D&l and therefore
our ability to attract and retain talent.

* Wa will use the results of the 2021 Your
Voice survey to develop and deliver an
action plan.
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Business foundations

Risk management continued

Risk report continued

Operational risks

Loss or failure of a Synthomer site

Risk evants, including natural disasters (physical
chronic or acute climate change or
environmental factors), pandemics (including
COVID-19), safety incidents, failure of key
suppliers or the supply chain, sabotage and
cyber-attack, would have an adverse impact on
operations and business unit profitabiity.

Thera is a risk that our response does not
ensure the site is able to return to its operational
capacity inthe planned time frame and that we
suffer lossas and reputational damage.

IT security

An [T security breach that has an adverse
impact on our systems, including Enterprise
Rescurce Planning (ERP), SHE databases,
communications and industrial control
systems, may affect our ongoing operations
and result in a loss of intellectual property
or regulatory fines which might undermine
our competitive position and cause
reputational damage.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk No change

Change in risk No change

2021 response

2021 response

* We have continued to use our crisis
management proceduras and COVID-19
rasponse protocols to operate consistantly
across our 37 manufacturing sites
throughout 2021, despite the ongoing
pandemic.

* Wa have continued to enhance our IT
security defences, including:

- End of Life/unsupparted hardware
replacemant

- Mutti-factor authentication with increased
security standards

~ USB mass storage device controls
embedded to prevent data loss \

- Upgraded password standards

= Anti phishing/fraud awareness campaign
enhancing user awareness and response
to phishing and social engineering attacks

- Enhanced back-up and recovery
standards across the Group

- SAP disaster recavery tasting programme
exacuted

- Firewall roli-out programme compieted

- Integration and standardisation of IT
security across the enlarged Group.

2022 plans

2022 plans

* Wa expect 1o cantinue our COVID-19
protocols into 2022. i

= Crisis management procedures are
maintained throughout our operating
network and we will implament them on day
one of our Eastman’s Adhesive Resins
acquisition.

» Continua 10 enhance busingss cortinuity
plans.
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* We will continue to enhance our sacurity
defences through further security
investment and the ongoing implementation
of the Group security risk reduction plan.
Planined activities include:

— Further enhancements to privileged
account managemant (PAM)

— Training programme to increase
awareness of upgraded Group
Acceptable Use Policy

- Enhanced reporting against IT security
key risk indicators

— Additional crisis response plan scenario
simulation and testing

- Rolling out cur DMARC anti-fraud email
tool to authenticate email traffic.




Operational risks

Safety, Health and Environment {SHE)
Our industry is inherently dangarous, involving
the transport, storage and mamdacture of
hazardous chemicals. There is a risk that a
significant accident or environmental incident
leads to injury to staff or local communities,
reputational damage, fines e luss of
permissions to operate

Security of supply of raw materials
poods and services .
A disruption in the supply of key raw materials
or services to a manufacturing site could
potentially affect our ability to make and deliver
products to customers, leading to interruption
in supply, lost revenus and damaga to our
reputation as a reliable supply partner.
Potential factors which could contribute to
such an impact include market shortagss,
short-term and/or long-term physical
climate-related disruption of upstream supply
chains, or disruption due to global events.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk No change

Change in risk Increase

2021 response

2021 response

* Wa have continued to develop a central
safety audit function dedicated to SHE
issues and provided support, advice and
maonitoring of all glabal sites.

Three additional specialist resources have
been recruited into the central team to
support the organisation’s growth,

* We have completed nine SHE audits in
2021 using a mixed model of site visits and
ramote review due to COVID-19 rastrictions.

+ The OMNOVA site integration has
progressed throughout the year with the
majority completing the integration process
and moving towards normal operation.

» SHE improvement plans have been completed
with all 280 major actions completed,

» The Group has continued to improve its
SHE performance with a 11% reduction
in injuries.

2022 plans

+ Wa hava specific 2022 SHE improvement
plans for the Group, for each business, and
for all sites and labs.

* Ag part of an updatad SHE strategy, we will

implement a further detailed approach to

operational safety with increased focus
and transparency of major risk controls

at key sites.

We will launch an annual Site Health Check

process to assess key SHE perfarmance

and processes at each site. This will be
linked to a new Group Site Recognition

Award to encourage world-class

achievernent.

We will deliver a SHE integration of our ngw

Adhesives Technologies division, with

planned actions to deliver a top guartile

SHE performance within three years.

* Our programme to diversify our supply base
and reduce supply ¢hain risk has enabled
us to respond to the challenges presented
by vary high demand for many of our key
raw materials and supply chain disruption,
ang meant we could frequently approve
and access alternative sources when
required. An active risk-based approach to
diversifying our supply base remains a
strategic priority for our procurement team.
Woe have standardised and strengthened
our supply risk tools for our important raw
materials, prioritised based on EBIT impact
at site level. In addition, we have integrated
the findings of a sustainability materiality
assassment, to ensure that we now include
impacts such as climate change, and
adopted the use of a full supply base
scanning tool for sustainability risk.

We completed awareness training on our
sustainable procuremant paolicy and
strategy within the procurement team.

We have started to use a sustainability
ratings tool to assess our high sustainability
risk suppliers.

2022 plans

* We will use our risk assessmant tools to
continue the programms to diversify our
supply base and raduce supply chain risk.
We will increase our focus on, and approval
of, alternative sources of raw matsnals.

* Continuous review and Improvement of the
risk assessment process and adoption of
the sustainability risk ratings tool.

« Develop a strategy for supplier audit and
assessment, and consider the adoption of
any industry programmes and best practices.

» Focus on Vision 2030 goal of ensuring 80%
of procurement has a sustainabiliy rating.
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Business foundations
Risk management continued
Risk report continued

Ethics and regulatory compliance risks

Financial risks

Ethics and regulatory compliance

A failure to pravent anti-compaetitive practices, personal data braaches, bribery, tax evasion,
product regulatary violations, other regulatory breaches or unethical behaviaur could isad to
substantial penalties, withdrawal of operating licences and reputational damage that could
adversely afiect the Group's ability to pursue its strategy.

A failure to proactively address EGG goals, mandates and regulations may result in future
penalties, loss of competitiveness and reduced shareholder value.

Financial risks

As a UK-reqistered Group with a diverse
presence across the world, we continue to
be exposed to financial volatility from foreign
exchange risks, credit markets, and also
funding risks relating to our defined benetit
pension plans. These tisks could significantly
affect the results of the Group. They have
beean heightenad by global economic
uncertainty resulting from COVID-19 and
may be further affected by the potential
introduction of a carbon tax.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk No change

cﬁange in risk No change

2021 response

2021 response

* We have continued to enhance our ethics and regulatory compliance through:

- Starting to imptermnent the action plan agreed in response to the 2021 internal audit of
Synthomer's compliance framewark, including the appointment of a Globa! Compliance
manager.

— Further publicising our Ethics Helpline, refreshing the procedure for conducting corporate
investigations and updating the process to reflect EU Whistlablowing Directive changas.

— Publishing a new Protection from Retaliation Policy.

= Completing the integration of OMNOVA into the Synthomer compliance framework.

- Corporate support for UN Anti-Corruption Day = including a naws article on our infranet
and social media activity.

— Devaloping our compliance key risk indicators. .

— Launching our new compliance a-learning contant and face-to-face training, and our
ascalation policy for managing non-completion.

- The craation and communication of our new Dawn Raid Policy on how to respond
to an unannounced inspection from a regulator.

- Continued development of our approach to modern slavery compliance.

- The creation of new gift and hospitality registers, and communicating these to our
business areas.

- Enhancing our globa! capability in product stewardship and regulatory compliance by
integrating a global team with stronger regional presence which includes new dedicated
resourcas on regulatory intelligence, frade compliance and toxicology.

- Establishing an ESG Governance framework, setting our Vision 2030 goals and 2022
targets, increasing external communications on our achievements, and implementing
a project sustainability assessment tool to guide priorities.

2022 plans

+ The Group hedges significant fareign
exchange exposure, borrewing a proportion
of its funding in overseas currancies to
hedge net assets held in those currencies.

= Tha Group swapped the proceeds of the
£203m share placing into US dollars on the
day of the placing in anticipation of the
acquisition of the Eastman’s Adhasive
Resing business in Q1 2022.

» The implementation of global and regional
Pansion and Benefits Governance
Committess to enhance pension risk
oversight and management.

2022 plans

* Deliver a compliance plan, including continued implamentation of the 2021 audit
recommendations.

* Davalop a compliance brand to support continuous communications and awareness of
comgpliance areas.

* Implemant our compliance integration plan for newly acquired businesses.

» Enhance our rigk assessment processss, incorporating third-party due diligence.

s Migrate our compliance training to a new learning management systam, and create new
compliance training offerings including GDPR and Code of Conduct training.

« Commencae the review and refresh of our Code of Conduct.

* Report against TCFD in 2021 and develop science-based targets.

+ Incraase our focus on product and process innovations that deliver sustainability benefits.

» Further strengthen product regulatory governance through quantitative performance
management of regulatory work processes.
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= Currency risks will continug 10 be hedged in
ling with Group policy.

* QOur global pensions team will continue to
monitor pension risks through active
scheme management, including the
implementation of invastmaent strategies
in lina with the maturity of each of our
pansion schemas.

* The Group's funding arrangaments wilt
continue to be reviewad in light of market
conditions and tenure of existing financing
facilities,



TCFD report

Climate change, with its many associated
environmental impacts, is one of the
biggest and most urgent challenges
facing the world today. It poses risks for
all of us, and Synthomer is no different in

that respect.

But where we are ditterent is in the
opportunities it presents us as a speciality
chemicals company, a producer of water-
based polymers, whose benchmark for
new products is their sustainability

[see pages 48).

The new raquirement to report against

the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) this year has been a
catalyst for further action. It made us think

in a more collective, joined-up and holistic
way about what ¢limate change and

the transition to a low-carbon world may
bring for Synthomer, and to accelerate

the development of a Group-wide approach

to integrating climate thinking into our
business at every level in the short, medium
and long term, To this end, in April 2021,

we engaged a specialist adviser to analyse
our current position against the requirements
of TCFE and to work with us to develop

and implement a plan, including qualitative
and quantitative scenarios, that would ensure
we are taking climate change properly into
account in our planning and operations.

With this being our first report against
TCFD, wa felt it wauld be most useful for
stakeholders to include it as a standalone
section within our Annual Report. To avoid
unnecessary repetition, however, we have
summarised our approach and prograss
under each of the four categories of
TCFD here = governance, strategy, risk
management, and metrics and targets -
with cross-references to more details
alsewhere In the report as appropriate.

In summary

Qverall, we are pleased with the work we
have done, and how it has contributed

to our understanding of climate risk and
opportunities, and that it has enabled us

to report our compliance against all 11
requirernents of TCOFD. The enhancements
to governance and risk management we
have made give us confidence that we are in
a good pasition to embed an understanding
of climate chiange in our decision making,
bioth at Group level and across the business.

The qualitative and quantitative scenario
analysis we have carried out 5o far, modelled
on one of our product lines from one of our
European Functional Solutions sitas, has
given us useful insights into the potential
impacts ~ both positive and negative — we
may see from the transition to a low-carbon
economy, and the reality of living in a warmer
world. However, we have more to do, by
modelling further product lings in cther
geographies, o ensure the scenario analysis
is thorough and robust enough to be
representative of Synthomer as a whole.

On metrics and targets, we are already in a
good position with our existing envirenmaental
reporting, and with our 2030 environmental
targets (including applying for their verification
as stience-based, due in 2022). We are also
looking at possibilities for building on these
targets to help us manage climate risk and
opportunity as the world evolves,

In the coming year, we have four priorities
for developing our understanding of climate
risk and opportunity which we will report
onin 2022: -

* Review our 2030 GHG targets and apply
for them to be confirmed as science-based;

= Extend our quantitative scenario analysis
beyond Europe to include products from
sites in Asia and the USA,

* Develop our climate-related metrics and
targets, including setting an intemal carbon
price {o stress test the resilience of key
product lines and investment projects;

* Deavelop dacarbonisation plans for our
key sites and longer-term renewable
energy arrangements to reduce our
climate-related risks.

What really matters, though, is what all this
means in praclice for developing the products
the world needs for a low-carbon, circular
economy — and, indeed, creating the
environment that will enable such an
economy to evoive. Thera is no immediate
technological solution that will switch the
world over from a fossil fual economy.

Moving to renewable energy through the
supply chain is one of the big transitions

that must occur. Decarbonising industrial
pracesses and products is another challengse.
And these can only be achieved by working
in a collaboralive way with consumers,
customers and suppliers, with technical
partriers, with the wider industry, and with
policy makers. This partnership approach will
be the real focus for us in the coming ysars,
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Business foundations

TCFD report continued

Governance

~ Principle 1: Describe
the Board's oversight
of climate-related risks
and opportunities -

— Principle 2: Describe
management’s role in
assessing and managing
climate-related risks
and opportunities

Climate change has been a key focus for the
Board, which has been actively involved in
considering the business approach to
climate-related opportunities and roles during
the year. Nonetheless, the 2021 raview
revealed opportunities forimproving
governance at executive level, so during the
year we determined that the CEQ would be
responsible for climate change on behalf of
the Board. We also established an Executive
Sustainability Stesring Committes, chaired by
the CEO, which now meets quarterly {as of
January 2022} and is attended by the full
Executive Committee and the Group
Sustainability Director. Each of our Vision 2030
sustainability goals is owned and sponsored
by an executive member whoe is responsible
for ensuring we have the right ptans in place
to deliver within the timeframe. Overall, the
Committee will enable the CEQ to cairy out his
responsibility on behalf of the Board by:

» Ensuring that our plans for cimate change
are aligned across the Group, and are
properly resourced and coordinated.

= Ensuring that our climate-related metrlcs
and targets are managed effectively.

For more on governance, see aur
Governance report, pages 84-129,

Including climate-related targets

in remuneration

Wa have reflected the importance of making
prograss on climate-related targets in our
Executive Committae'’s remuneration. As of
2020, 10% of exscutives' annual Performance
Share Plan award has bsen based on the
reduction of Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon
dioxide equivafent emissions.

For more on remunaration, $eo our
Remuneration report, pages 112-126. >

Next steps

To improve our governance still further, we are
looking at developing new roles throughout the
business dadicated to assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities.
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Strategy

- Principle 3: Describe
the climate-related risks
and opportunities the
organisation has identified
over the short, medium
and long term

— Principle 4: Describe the
impact of climate-related
risks and opportunities
on the Company’s
businesses, strategy,
and financial planning

— Principle 5: Describe
the resilience of the
Company’s strategy, taking
into consideration different
climate-related scenarios,
including a 2°C or lower
scenario ‘

Qur strategy for a robust, resilient growth
business has been built on how we can
differentiate our products through their impact
on the environment. Over the years, through
our water-based polymers, we have helped
customers avoid the use of considerabile
amounts of carbon and soivents, and our
2030 targets inciude that at least 60% of new
products launched each yaar must have
enhanced sustainability benefits, and that
80% of procurement spend must have a
sustainability rating. During that time, we
have also focused on manufacturing and
operational efficiency, namely minimising
resources for maxirnum output.

In the past year, the world has become
increasingly aware of the risks posed by
climate change, with more frequent severa
weather events affecting more parts of the
world. And, in the run-up to COP26 in
November 2021, we have seen greater
urgency to address those risks. This also
prasents us with opportunities, becauss
peopls are increasingly looking for products
that will help to mitigate the negative impacts
of climate change - namely those like ours with
lower carbon emissions that eliminata the use
of sotvents and encourage a circular economy.

For more on our business strategy,
see page 15.

Determining our climate-related risks
and opportunities under 1.5°C, 2°C

and 3°C scenarios

Reporting against TCFD has given us the
impatus to quantify the opportunities and risks
prasented by climate change, such that we
can use real data to help us focus our strategy.

To undarstand the potential opportunities
and impacts of physical climate risks and
the transition t¢ a low-carbon economy,

our specialist adviser carried out qualitative
and guantitative analyses for three different
climate scenarios: a rise in temperature of
1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C over short- (to 2025),
medium- (to 2035} and fong-term {to 2050}
horizons, In determining financial materiality,
we used the same approach as we do for all
financial risks - the likelihood of the hazard
occurring and the nature and magnitude of its
impact on the business.

To perform their analysis, our adviser looked
at the impact of these scenarios on one
product line - styrene acryiic water-based
emuision, a Functional Solutions product
made in our Worms, Germany plant.

We chose this product with the aim of
covaring &s many variables as possible.

The product usas two of out top raw
materials, styrene and butyl acrylate; it is
used in many applications from coatings to
industrial textiles to construction; and it travels
by water and by road.

We recognise that the results from this single
product are not sufficient to enabla us to
extrapolate the financial impact of the various
climate scenarios on the Group as a whole.
Indeed, doing s0 would no doubt be
mislgading. We will therefore be expanding
the scenarios beyoend Europe to include a
wider range of products from the USA and
Asia. Nonetheless, tha results from this year's
work are a useful indication of the risks and
opportunities we should consider.

Potential physical and transition risks
Thea physical risks identified by the study were
determined as being more frequent extreme
weather events such as floods or droughts
which could atfect our plants” ability to
oparate efficiently, and which could increase
costs from our supply chain. The transition
risks were determined as being the potential
of global or regional carbon taxes, and market
and environmental policy changes.

Both types of risk were present in all
temperature scenarios and under all
timeframes, but their relative severity and
impact on our business, and our resilience,
is likely to vary between timeframes, as
discussed below.



Potential opportunities

The opportunitias for Synthomer, under all
lemperature scenarios and timeframes, were
determined as:

* Growth in demand for products and services
that will service a low-carbon ar circular
economy in various markets and regions

* Cost savings and market growth through the
early adoption of low-carbon technologies,
for example Using renewable energy or
switching to renewable raw materials

* Our network of sites across the world
makes us a more reliable supplier: it is seen
as a competitive advantage, meaning we
ara more resilisnt to physical operational
risks, since we can service customers from
a variety of plants.

The potential impact of these apportunities on
the strategy and performance of the business
is discussed below.

Results by temperature scenario

To summarise: in both the 1.5°C and 2°C
futures, the biggest risks come from the
transition to a low-carbon, circutar economy,
but this transition also presents significant
opportunities for Synthomer. Under a 3°C
future, while the opportunities remain, the
physical risks are much more severe,
primarily the irnpacts on our sites of

drought and flooding.

* lf we see globally coordinated carban pricing,
we may achieve a 1.5°C future: in this
scenario, Synthomer could face higher prices
frorn transition costs. However, demand for
fow-carbon and ‘circular’ products could
increase, leading to new, low-carbon market
opportunities, while government purchasing
agreements could put pressure on consumers
in our end markets to decarbonise, leading
1o greater demand for our products.
Without globally coordinated carbon pricing,
a 1.5°C future becomes far less likely, and,
under a 2°C future, Synthomer could face
different operating costs in different markets,
for example, high ¢arbon costs in the EU,
and a patchwark cf regulations across USA
states. This kind of lack of coordination
drives market volatility, so it could also result
in erratic changes in costs in the supply

. chain, All of Synthomer's operaticnal sites
would be more vulnerahbla to the physical
risks of climate change under this than
under the 1.5°C scenario.

Should a 3+°C future become a reality, dug
to the greater physical risks, our rivar-based
sites could flood regularly, white our coastal
locations in Asia and North America could
be affected by storm surges, and it could
bae difficult to find atternatives given that

a significant number of sites would be
affected simultaneously. Overall, markets
could become severaly unstable given the
likelihood of social and economic upheaval
resulting from widespread, severe weather

events, with a corresponding impact on our
customers, our supply chain and our costs.

Business resilience: considering the
Impact of ¢limate-related risks and
opportunities over all timeframes

In tha short to medium term (to 2025 and
2035}, transition risks, particularly global or
regional carbon taxes, are most likely to affect
us. The physical risks of climate change, while
already starting to occur n the torm of more
frequent extrame weather in more parts of the
world, are likely to Increase and thereiore
become more costly over the medium to

long term (2035 and 2050).

More specifically, in the short term (to 2025),
under a 1.5°C temperature rise scenario, from
owr analysis we estimate that around 75%

of the impact of the risks from ¢limate change
will come from transitioning to a low-carbon,
circular economy (notably higher costs),

with just 25% coming from physical risks
{more extreme weather events atfecting our
operations). In that context however, in the
event that there is global coordination of
carbon pricing and environmental taxes then
it is lIkely that we would be able to pass most
climate-related cost through to our customers,
At the sams time, with increasing awareness
of climate-related issues, we expect to see
growing demand from our customers and their
consumers for products like ours which offer
lower carbon or circularity benefits, Both of
these give a considerable measure of
resilience to our business.

It ig difficult to look beyond 2025 with any
degree of certainty, because much depends
on the political will to act now in accordance
with the conclusions reached at COP26, to
bring in the measures such as coordinated
carben taxation and environmental regulation
that would enable the world to constrain the
temperature increase. Should these measures
occur, in the short term Synthomer would
face higher carbon pricing as noted above,
but should be able to pass the costs on;
howaver such measures should mean a
1.5°C temperature rise remains possible

and therefore the physical risks to Synthomer
in the medium to long term would decrease.

Should these measures not oceur, or occur
too slowly, then a 2°C or evan 3+°C
temperature rise becomes increasingly likely,
and with it an increase in physical risks over
the medium to longer term. We are, however,
in a ralatively strong position to withstand the
impact of these risks, because our natwork of
manufacturing sites across the world is wider,
meaning we can supply customers from an
alternative site if one is affected by extrarma
weather. Moraover, our strategy is to broaden
our footprint in speciafity chemicals through
organic and acquisitive growth, which means
that in the future, our network is likely to be
wider still, thus rendering us more rasilient

to climate change.

Next steps
To embed climate thinking meore deeply in our
business strategy, in the coming ygar we wilk

» Develop a plan for how scenario analysis
will feed into our annual stratagy-setting
process

» Extend our quantitative scenario anatysis
to include products from sites in Asia and
the USA.

Risk management

- Principle 6: Describe the
Company’s processes for
identifying and assessing
climate-related risks

— Principle 7: Describe the
Company’s processes
for managing climate-
related risks

— Principle 8: Describe how
processes for identifying,
assessing, and managing
climate-related risks
are integrated into
the Company’s overall
risk management

Our philosephy, approach and processes
relating to risk management are set out
in our Risk report on pages §9-76.

Givan the wida-ranging potential impacts of
climate change, during 2021 we considared
all our principal risks in that context, and
revised them where necessary to take into
account the physical and transition risks of
clirmate change. We also established in our
analysis the timeframe over which we expect
these risks to occur. The principal risks that
now include the impact of climate change are
as foliows — for more detalls see pages 72-76:

» Volatility and competition in chemicals and
polymers market

» Innovation and intellectual property

* Mergers and acquisitions

* Change programmes

* Loss or failure of Synthomer site

+ Security of supply of raw materials goods
and services

¢ Ethics and regulatory compliance

+ Financial.

From 2022, we will review the risks associated
with climate change every six months as part
of our regular risk management process.

Next steps

In the coming year, we will continue to
develop our understanding of climate-retated
risks and their potential impact on our
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Business foundations

TCFD report continued

financial performance. Aside from the further
scenario analysis described above under
Strategy. we will develop our understanding
of potential financial impact of the physical
- and transition risks and opportunities of
climate change.
Metrics and targets
— Principle 9: Disclose
the metrics used by
the Company to assess
climate-related risks
and opportunities in line
with its strategy and risk
management processes

— Principle 10: Disclose
Scope 1, Scope 2, and,
if appropriate, Scope 3,
greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions, and the
related risks

— Principle 11: Describe
the targets used by the
Company to manage
climate-related risks
and opportunities and
performance against targets

The metrics we use to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities are:

« The proportion of new products we
make that have sustainability benefits
(see page 48}

* Proportion of raw material procurement
spend covered by a sustainability rating and
improvement plan (see page 51)

* Energy consumption and usage of
renewable energy (see page 58)

* (GHG emissions, including Scopes 1 and 2
and related risks {see page 58); for Scope 3
emissions, {see page 58)

= \Water usage {see page 61)
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Qur Vision 2030 sustainability metrics and
targets, which we aim to have certified as
science-based during 2022, have a strong
focus on climate. We have published our
ambition to reach net zero by 2050, and
our 2030 targets towards this aim include:

«, At lgast BO% of new products with
anhanced sustainability benefits
(see page 48)

* 80% procurement spend with suppliers
with a sustainability rating (see page 51)

» 40% reduction in Scopes 1 and 2 GHG
emissions intensity, vs 2019 (see page 58)

= 1% reduction in Scope 3 GHG emissions
intensity, vs 2019 {sea page 58)

* 80% of slectricity from renewable sources,
plus improving energy efficiency in all our
operations (see page 58)

« Managé and minimise water consumption,
and introduce water management plans in
water-stressed areas and at the sites where
we use most watgr {ses page 60).

Achieving our Scope 1 and 2 emission
targets is factored into Executive Committee
annual Parformance Share Plan awards, as
described in the remuneration section above.
For more on our sustainabllity metrics and

targets, including performarice, see the
Sustainabliity section on pages 42-68.

Next steps

We are looking into defining further
metrics and targets, aligned with TCFD's
recommendations of October 2021, that
would help us better measure climate risk
and our resilience to it. This will include
setting an intarnal carbon price to stress
test the resilience of key product lines.




Viability statement

‘- In accordance with the reguirements of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (‘the Coda"), the
Directors have assessed the viability of the
Group over a five-year period to Decemnber
2026, being the period coverad by the Group's
approved strategic plan. This plan is updated
annually, in a process led by the Exacutive
Committee with input from the respective

. businesses and functions. It includes anaiysis
of product and profit performance, cash
flow, investrment programmes and returns
1o shareholdars. The plan Is presented to
the Board each year as a part of its annual
strategic review.

The Diractors consider five years 1o be an
appropriate time horizon for the strategic plan,
being the period over which the Group actively
focuses on its long-term product development
and capital expenditure investments. A period
above five years is considered by the Directors
to be too long, given the uncertainties that
exist beyond this time frame.

tn making their assessment, the Directors
have considered the diversa activities and
product offaring of the Group in terms of =
geographies, chemistry and end markets.
The Directors have also considered the
Group's current strong financial position,
including the existing and future committed
financing facilities, which have been assumed
to be refinanced at maturity.

A sensitivity analysis has been undertaken,
focusing on the impact of the principal risks
(detailed above on pages 72-76) ovar the
five-year period and the availability and likely
effactiveness of mitigating actions. The risks
have been assessed for their potential impact
on the Group’s business model, future trading
and funding structure.

The sensitivity analysis has considered a
number of severe but plausible scenarios,
linked to the risks considerad to have the
maost significant financial impact. In all cases,
the Impact was considered on both liquidity
and the borrowing covenant.

The scenarios included:

» Trading downturns as a result of increased
competition or lack of demand

» Dalays in project dslivery

*» Failure 1o successfully commercialise
new products

* The temporary loss of a major
manufacturing site

* Significant foreign exchange rate
appreciation against sterling.

None of these scenarios individually, or

when combined, threaten the Group, and

the combined impact of these scenarios

has been evabiated as the most severa stress
scenario. No mitigating actions have been
included for any of the scenarios and, should
it nead 1o, the Group could take action quickly
to significantly reduce costs and cash outtiows
as demonstrated during the courss of the
COVID-19 pandemic in 2020.

While this sensitivity analysis did not consider all
of the risks that the Group may face, ihe Directers
consider that it is reasonable in the circumstances
of the inherent uncertainty involved.,

Based on the analysis, tha Directors have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will
be abie to continue in operation and mast its
liabilities as they fall due over the five-year
period of their assessment.
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Business foundations

Non-financial disclosures and section 172 statement

Non-financial information statement
The table below summarises where key elements of cur governance reporting {including non-financial matters as reguired by the Non-Financial
Reporting Directive} can be found, some of which are integrated into other sections of our Annual Report.

Where to read more in this report

Feporing requiremant

Ralovant policles and standards that govern our approach

Environmental matters

Code of Conduct

Risk assessment page 63 to 71

¢ Group SHE Policy Health and safety page 55
= Sustainable Procurement Policy and Strategy Sustainable procurement page 51
s Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (FCFD) TCFD report pages 77-80

Employees

Qur values
Code of Conduct
Group SHE Policy

-
-
*
-
L4
-
L d
L]

Qur values page 62
Gender pay gap page 113
Section 172 page 87
Health and safety page 55

Social matters

Responsible Care Principles

s Synthemer Cares

Section 172 page 97
Our communities page 67

Hespect for Human Rights

Code of Conduct

Modarn Slavery Act Statement

Conflict Minerals Policy Statement
Sustainable Procurement Policy and Strategy

* Upholding human rights page 52
* Ethics and compliance page 66

Sustainable procurement page 51

Anti-corruption and
anti-bribery

Code of Conduct
Ethics Helpline
Core values

» Ethics and cornpliance page 66
» Qur values page B2

Our business model

How it links to strategy and delivers value to stakeholders

Qur busingss model page 15

Prineipal risks and
uncertainties

Risk assessmant

Managing risk page 69 to 76

Non-financial KPls

Relevant key performance indicators

Key performance indicators page 17

Section 172(1) statement and

stakeholder engagement

We value our engagement with all ouwr
stakeholdars, including our key stakeholders:

customars, employees, communities,

suppliers, shareholders, and governments and
authorities, Our section 172(1) statement is on
pages 96-97. It describes how the Directors
have had regard to stakeholders’ interests and
other matters when discharging Directors’
duties set out in section 172 of the Companies
Act 2008. ltincludes examples of how
stakeholders’ interasts were considered during
principal decisions taken during the year.
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The Strategic Report was approved by
order of the Board.

. R Atkinson

Company Secretary
3 March 2022



overnance

Synthomer offers an
extansive range of binders
spacifically developed 1o mest the
performance and regulatory
requirernents of tha architectural and
industrial coatings market, Our acrylic and
vinylic copolymer dispersions are low
VOC, low odour and APEQ free to mest
the incraasingly demanding
environmertal standards without
compromising application
properties or durabitity.
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Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors

Caroline A Johnstone
Chair

(N] D]

Nationality: British

Michael Willome
Chief Executive Cfficer

©

Nationality: Swiss

Stephen G Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

[E]

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointment

Chair of the Board and the Nomination and
Disclosure Committees. Caroline joined the
Board in March 2015 and was appointed Chair
in Decembar 2020 having previously been Chair
of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

Key appointments

Caroline is 2 Non-Executive Diractor and chair
of the employes engagemant committes of
Spirax-Sarco Engineering plc, and a Norn-
Executive Director and chair of the audit
committee of Shepherd Buikding Group
Limited, a privata company which owns
Portakabin Limited. She has an heonorary role
on the board of the University of Manchaster.

Skitls and experience

Caroline has nearly 40 years’ experience

of working with large global organisations

in the chemicals sector and other industries.
Her experience includes delivering value from
M&AS, turnaround, cufture change and cost
optimisation. She was a partner in and sat
on the board of the Assurance practice of
PricewaterhousaCoopers (PwC} with
responsibility for all people matters.
Caroline is a chartered accountant

and a member of the Institute ot

Chartered Accountants of Scotland.
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Position and date of appointment
Chief Executive Officer since November 2021;
member of the Disclosure Committee.

Key appointments

Michael is a Non-Executive Director of
Glaston Oyj (Nasdaq Helsinki} and sits on
subsidiary boards of the Indutrade Group.

Skills and experience

Michael is an established public market CEQ
with a track record of driving performance
through strong operational management and
strategic actions, including M&A. He was
previously CEQ of Conzzeta AG, Zurich,
{now Bystronic AG), a global industrial
company listed on the SIX Swiss exchange.
Priar to Conzzeta, Michael spent 18 years
with Clariant, leading its global Industrial &
Consumer Specialities division from 2010

to 2015. This followed 13 years in leadership
roles in Asia Pacific, based in Hong Kong,
Canada and Turkey.

Position and date of appointment
Chief Financial Officer since May 2015;
member of the Disclosure Committee.

Key appointments
No external appointments.

Skills and experience

Stephen was previously at INEOS where he
had been chief financiat officer at Petroineos
Refining since 2006. Stephen was also CFO
of INEQS Upstream Limited, a start-up oil
and gas exploration business, and of INEOS
Olefins and Polymers South and INEQCS
Fhenot. He joined Coopers & Lybrand in
1986 and is a qualified chartered accountant.
He was at Full Circla Industries pic as
company secretary and group controller
before moving to PricewaterhouseCoopers
{PwC) in 1997 as a Director in

transaction services,



Board committee key

Audit Committes
Remuneration Committeg

IE Nomination Committee

@ Disclosure Committee

B Committee Chair

The Hon. Alexander G Catto
Non-Executive Director

Nl

Nationality: British

Brendan WD Connolly
Senior Independent Director

BERMND

Nationality: British

Cynthia S Dubin
Independent Non-Execttive Director

(A R

Nationality: American and Bripsh

Position and date of appointment
Non-Executive Director since 1981.
Member of Nomination Committee and
designated Non-Executive Director to lead
workforge engagement.

Key appointments

Alexander is managing director of CairnSea
Investments Limited, a private investment
company, and a Non-Executive Director of
several early stage companies that have been
backed by CairnSea.

Skills and experience

Prior to the establishment of CairnSea,
Alexander was a Director of Morgan Grenfell
& Co and then Lazard Brothers & Co.

Position and date of appointment
Independent Nan-Executive Diractor since
January 2014; Chair of the Remuneration
Committes; mernber of the Audit, Disclosure
and Nomination Committees, Senior
Independent Director since April 2015.

Key appointments

Brendan is a Non-Executive Director of
Victrax PLC, Papco Group NV and Applus,
and two private equity backed companies,
one of which he chairs.

Skills and experience

Brendan has over 30 years' experience in the
oil and gas industry. Until June 2013 Brendan
was a senior executive at Intertek Group ple
and had praviously been chief executive
officer of Moody International (which was
acquired by Intertek in 2011). Prior to Moody,
he was managing director of Atos Origin UK,
and spent more than 25 years of his career
with Schlumberger in senior international
roles over three continents. Brendan has
previous experience as chairman

of the remuneration committee

of a UK-listed company.

Position and date of appointment .
independent Non-Executive Director since
July 2020; Chair of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination and
Rermuneration Committeas.

Key appointments

Cynthia is a Non-Executive Director of the
Competition and Markets Authority, where
she is chair of the audit, risk and assurance
committee, an independent Non-Executive
Director and member of the audit committee
of Hurco Companies Inc, an independent
Non-Executive Director, and member of the
audit and risk committee of ICE Futures
Europe, a subsidiary of Intercontinental
Exchangs, and an independant Non-
Executive Director, chair of the audit
committee and a member of the .
compensation committee of Franchise
Group, Inc.

Skills and experience

Cynthia has served in senigr tinance and
business roles in the power, oll, gas and
broader clean energy technology sector,
having started her career in the banking
industry in New York specialising in advising
and lending 1o farge energy nrojrcts hefore
relocating to London in 1992,
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Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors continued

.

Roberto Gualdoni
Independent Non-Executive Director

AIRN

Nationality: German and [talian

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian
Non-Executive Director

Nationality: Malaysian

Holly A Van Deursen
Independent Non-Executive Director

[a][R]{N]

Nationality: American

Position and date of appointment
Independent Non-Executive Director since
July 2021; member of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Key appointments

Roberto is chair of CABB Group and
a member of the board of directors of
Aerogel Corporation.

Skills and experience

Roberto has over 25 years' chemical sector
experience at BASF where he held senior
oparational roles covering international sales,
marketing, procurement and M&A and served
on a number of joint venture boards. His final
role at BASF was as president of its Styrenics
business, which was carvad out as part

of a joint veniture as Styrolution, and which
Roberto led as chief executive for three years
until 2014. Roberto has previcus board-level
experience in Saudi Arabia, Finland

and Belgium.
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Position and date of appointment
Non-Executive Director since 2002, first
joined the Board in 1993 and stood down
in 2000 1o become an Alternate Director.
Member of Nomination Commitiee.

Key appointments

Hau Hian is a2 Director of Kuala Lumpur
Kepong Bhd and is the president of the Perak
Chinese Maternity Association. He atso
serves as a Director of Yayasan De La Salle.

Skills and experience

Hau Hian is the Managing Director of Batu
Kawan Bhd, a listed Malaysian investments
helding company, with interests in plantations
and chemicals manufacturing. He has
experience in organisational transformations,
acquisitions, chemical and manufacturing
operations and sustainability issues.

Posgition and date of appointment
Independent Non-Executive Director since
September 2018; member of the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

Key appointments

Holly is a Non-Executive Director of Kimball
Electronics Inc, where she chairs the
Compensation & Govarnance Committes.
She serves as a Non-Executive Director of
Albermaie Corporation and as a membaer of
the Executive Compensation and Capitat
Investment Committees.

Skills and experience

Until 2005, Holly was group vice president,
Petrochemicals, at BP. She has worked in the
global chemical industry for over 25 years and
hetd senior positions across North America,
Europe and Asla. In additicn, Holly has since
20086 held Non-Executive Director roles for
global companies headquartered in the USA
and spent 12 years on the board of a
Norwegian-listed company.



Board committee key
Audit Committee

|E] Remunaeration Committea
Nl Nomination Committee
[@ cisclosure Committee

M Committee Chair

Richard Atkinson
Chief Counsel and Company Secretary

Position and date of appointment
Company Secretary since 1998; Group Chief
Counsel.

Key appointments
No external appeintments.

Other Executive responsibilities
Member of the Executive Committee
Sustainability Steering Group; deputy chair
of the boards of the Group’s Middle Eastern
joint venture companies; trustee of the UK
pension schema.

Skills and experience

Richard qualified as a solicitor in 1388 and
worked in private practice as a corporate and
banking fawyer before moving into industry as
an in-house lawyer working in the USA and
UK. He has extensive M&A exparience and
led on the legal aspects of all the Group’s
acquisitions over the last 20 years. He has a
law degres from the University of Birmingham,

Hodes afieeng

Our two non-Independent Board members
The Board recagnises the unusual nature of having two non-Independent members.
This is a valuntary arrangement that has been in place for 40 years.

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian is the Board’s representative for our largest shareholder, Kuala Lumpur
Kepong Bhd {21.3%) which provided financial support for our recent acquisitions, via share
placing and a rights issue with his extensive leadership experience in chemical
manufacturing. He offers the Board and Executive Committes invaluable insights when
making business decisions as well as a perspective on the Malaysian and southeast Asian
business landscapse.

The Hon. Alexander Catto is a membaer of Synthorner's founding family. Today, the Catto
family owns a 5% shareholding. Some of our investors continue to vote against Alexander’s
Board mambership, but we belicve he provides deep knowledge of Synthomer's past and a
unigue long-term shareholder perspective. His background in invastment banking and time
on other boards also give him extensive business, finance, investor engagement and
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Corporate Governance

Our Executive Committee

Biographles for Michael Willome,
Stephen Bennett and Richard Atkinson
can be found on pages 84 and 87.

Rob Tupker
President,
Functional Solutions and Europe

Nationality: Dutch

Neil Whitley
President,
Periormance Elastomers Asia

Nationality: British

Ana Perroni Laloe
President,
Industrial Specialities

Nationality: Brazilian

Position and date of appointment
President, Functional Solutions and Europe
since September 2018.

Other Executive responsibilities
Executive sponsor of Divarsity and Inclusion
Leadership Committee, Membaer of Executive
Committee Sustainability Steering Group, and
Pathway programme Steering Commitiee.

Skilis and experience

Rob was previously with Honeywell, where
he_held a variety of senior business leadership
positions in the performance materials and
home and building technologies divisions,
Prior to Honeyweil, he worked with Sd-
Chemie (now Clariant) and Unilever's/ICl's
{now Givaudan's) flavour and fragrance
division. Rob worked and lived for seven
years in Asia Pacific, five years in the USA
and 20 years across Europe. He has a
chemical engineering degree from Eindhoven
Technical University, an MSc from MIT and
an MBA from INSEAD,

Synthomer plc
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Position and date of appointment
Prasident, Performance Elastomers Asia
since January 2021, President, Global HR
since 2015.

Other Executive responsibilities

HR, mamber of the Executive Committee
Sustainability Steering Group and the
Pathway programme Steering Committee.

Skills and experience

Since joining Synthomer in 2015, Neil has

had responsibility for the Industrial Specialities
and Acrylate Monomers divisions and led

the integration of the OMNOVA acquisition.
Negil was previously with Johnson Matthey
where he was a member of their executive
managament committee and division director
of the process technologies catalyst and
chemicals refining divisions. Prior to Johnson
Matthey, Neil worked in business, finance and
HR roles at ICI. He is an economics graduate
from Leeds University and an alumnus of
INSEAD's Advanced Leadership Programme.

Position and date of appointment
President, Industrial Specialities since
February 2022,

Other Executive responsibilities
Ana is the driving force in the team that
founded and have been leading our
ENGENDER woman's network.

Skills and experience

Ana joined Synthomer in March 2018 as
Global Business Development Manager in
our IS Division, She holds a BS¢ in Chemical
Engineering from IMT in Sao Paulo.

She started her career at Giba Spacialty
Chemicals in Brazil, followed by commercial
roles in the UK, Brazil again and Switzerland.
She then took a career break and founded
and ran a small business as she started

a family befare joining Synthomer. :



Board committee key

(&) Audit Committee

[Bl Remnuneration Committee

[N Nomination Committes
Diactosure Committee

8 committee Chair

Marshall Moore
Chigf Technology Cfficer and President,
Americas

Nationality: American

Philip Wrigley
Prasident,
QOperations and SHE.

Nationality: British

Tim Hughes
Prasident,
Corporate Development

Natignality: British

" Position and date of appointment
Chief Technology Officer and President,
Americas since April 2020,

Other Executive responsibilities
Chairman of the Synthomer Foundation
Board of Trustees and a member of the
Executive Committes Sustainability Steering
Group. ’

Skills and experience

Marshall was previously chief technology
officer and senior vice president of operations
with OMNQOVA Solutions. He has 35 years
of experience in polymers and speciality
chemicals, working with Borden Chemicats,
GE Plastics and Chemtura, prior to joining
OMNOVA in 2015. Assignments have
included leadership positions in technology
and innovation, quality assurance and process
excellence, operations, government atfairs
and advocacy, marketing, and information
technology. He holds a degree in chemistry
and is a certified Six Sigma Black Belt.

Position and date of appointment
President Operations and SHE since
May 2021.

Other Executive responsibilities
Member of the Executive Committee
Sustainability Steering Group.

Skills and experience -

Phil joined Synthomer in March 2019 and
was previously Vice President, Operations
for Functional Solutions. Prior to Synthomer,
Phil worked in the chemical industry for
miore than 30 years across speciality and
commodity sectors for Venator, Huntsman,
Rio Tinto Alcan, RBohm and Haas, Hickson
and Welch and IC). He has significant
experience of global operational and

SHE improvement programmes. He is the
operational lead for due diligence, integration
and synergy delivery for several large
acquisitions at Synthomer. Phil is also a
chartered enginger and member of .Mech.E.

Position and date of appointment
Prasident, Corporate Development since
2018. Tim joined Synthomer in June 2009
and became a member of the Executive
Committee in 2013.

Other Executive responsibilities
Member of the Executive Committee
Sustainability Steering Group.

Skills and experience

Tim was previously group managing director,
Urethane Technologies, Chamtura Inc having
previously led the Urethane Spaciality
Chemicals joint venture betweaen Chemtura
and Croda plc since 1998. Prior to Chemtura,
Tim spent 14 years with Gourtaulds plc in
business leadership and marketing roles in
the speciality chemicals and fibres divisions.
During his career at Synthomar he has bsen
responsible for the Industrial Specialities
division and the Americas, Middle East

and Africa region.
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Corporats Governance

Introduction to corporate governance

Introduction from the Chair

Overseeing ambition,
supporting growth

The Executive changes saw us welcoming
Michael Willome as our néw Group Chief
Exacutive Officer and Lily Liu, who wilk jein

us by July 2022, as our new Chief Finance
Officer. We describe the search pracesses
that led to their recruitment ~ along with that
of our new Independant Non-Exacutive
Director, Roberta Gualdoni —on page 107.
Here, | would like to repeat the Board's warm
welcome to them, and to say how pleased we
ara to have found people whose skills,
mindsets and personalities will add huge
value and diversity to Synthomer.

Scrutinising decisions

and monitoring progress

As well as guiding strategic racruitment,

in 2021 the Board oversaw two significant
decisions that will shape the future of our
business for years ta coma. The first, in the
Board priority area of environment, society
and governance {ESG), was the devalopment
and launch of Synthomer's Vision 2030
sustainability roadmap. The Board engaged

Even for a business as dynamic as in detailed discussions of the appropriate
targets for Vislon 2030, taking a long-terr_n

Synthomer, 2021 was notable asa year view of tha interests of the business and its

in which the Board oversaw Executive Dioasect 10 approve th el vrsion which

and Board appointments, major strategic | & o i onme ororew
activity and monitored significant progress | SynthomersESG targets and challenge

the Executive team to ensure they remain

against our key priorities. as stretching as possible. For more detail

on Vision 2030, see page 18,

The second significant decision concerned
our proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adhesive Resins business. This very
significant transaction - the largest in our
history — was the subject of detailed Board
ovarsight, planning and discussion over
much of 2021,

90 Synthomer plc
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As well as discussions with Synthomer teams,
wa sought expert inputs on market dynamics,
prospects and pricing, the acquisition procass,
and the likely transition. We considered the
impact of the acquisition on our full range of
staksholders through a detaited section 172
process, concluding that the transaction
served all their interests — and strengthened
our ability to offer a broader portfolio of
praducts with sustainability benefits.

We also continued to ensure that Synthomer's
approach to risk evolved with the changing
circumstances we face. As part of this effort,
led by our Group Internal Audit and Risk
Director and following discussion with
external consultants, we made important
adaptations to our risk management
framawork. We re-assessed our Board
appetita for our significant business and
strategic risks. In addition, the Board will

now consider the speed at which a risk might
oceur, as well as its probability and impact.
For more details, see our Audit Cormnmities
report on page 98.

In a year of growth and high performance,

" the Board was also closely involved in a wide
range of major projects, receiving regular
updates on ongoing programmes such as
Synthomer's capacity expansion in nitriles,
the OMNOVA integration, the new Asian
Innovation Centre in Mailaysia, and the
business process and system transformation
Pathway programme.

Continuous improvement for the Board
We continued to act on, and benefit from,
the learnings of our external 2020 Board
evaluation, As the Board continues to evalve
to serve tha business, wa focused on our
priorities in the crucial areas of succession
planning and diversity and inclusion,

Having compared our skills with those

of other leading companies in 2020, we
concluded that we have a strong blend

of skills and experience, but wanted to add
to our industry, innovation and European
experience — and this guided us in our NED
recruitment in 2021, Recently, we undertook
a deeper raview of skills and experience of
the Board moving into 2022 and this guided
our succession planning. We have very strong
international representation, for instance, and
will lock to deepen our UK public company
experience in future recruitment.

We also made progress in our drive to have

a more diverse and inclusive leadership team;
setting a goal of 50% gender diversity in new
hires to senior roles by 2030. We got off to

a good start by reaching our first milestone

- 20% of women in such positions - by the
end of 2021. More details on our succession
planning are on page 106.

| am also developing the Board agenda with
the help of rmy Board colleagues. We have
included thematic deep dives for tha Board
to strengthen focus on strategic priorities.
We had sustainability as a Board meeting
standing itern in 2021, to drive our prograss
in this area. During the year, we expanded the
opportunities for strategic discussion, debate
and expert input at Board meetings — for
example, by hearing from external specialists
an our ESG priorities while we considerad
Vision 2030. This is something we want to

do more of. We also intend to increase our
engagement with stakeholders, now that
COVID-19 restrictions are lifting. | am
particularly keen to heighten our engagement
with employees at former OMNOVA sites,
which have been difficult to visit during

the pandemic.

Following our 2020 axternal evaluation of
the Board and Committees, this year we
conducted an internal review. The feedback
suggests that we have made good progress
on all our 2021 priorities.

Having had two closed Annual General
Mestings due to COVID-19, | am particularly
looking forward to mesting more shareholders
than | was able to during 2021 at our coming
AGM. We aspire towards making our AGMs
maore inclusive by adopting virtual attendance
mechanisms. Howaver, for the time being,
we will monitor how market practice develops
and this coming meeting will be solsly
physical. We will continue to invite questions
to be submitted in advance of the mesting.

Caroline Johnstone
Chair of the Board

3 March 2022 *

Changes to our

governance reporting

We have changed the way in which we
report on governance this year to make
tha inforrmation more accessible. The main
body of the report {see ‘The Board's year’)
sets out key activities that our Board
members have undertaken during 2021.

We have also developed a new, separate
compliance section, set out on pages
109-110, which describes how we have
complied with UK Corporate Governance
Code {2018 version), with emphasis on
how we have applied its principles.

| hope that | wifl meet shareholders at the
AGM and | am always happy to hear from
and speak with sharegholders at any time.

Synthomer plc
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Corporate Governance

Introduction to corporate governance continued

Our governance structure ]
The governance structure is designed to ensure that the Board focus is on strategy, monitoring performance and ensuring appropriate risk

appetite, risk managemant and controls.

Board
* Responsible for Synthomaer's long-term success and setting the Group's purpose, values and cuiture, and strategic direction
» Quersees Group strategy and risk assessment
* Responsible for corporate govarnance and overall financial performance

The Company Secretary provides advice to the Board and its Committees and supports the Chair In all governance matters.

2

Audit Nomination Remuneration Disclosure
Committee Committee Committee Committee
« Monitors integrity of financial  » Reviews size, skills, diversity,  « Sets, reviews and * Monitors compliance with
statements experience and Board recommends remuneration disclosure controls and
* Qversees internal controls composition policy for the Chair, procadures for material
and risk management » Leads process to appoint Exscutive Diractors, and information
process rnew Directors and senior Exacutivea Committes * Rasponsible for identifying
* Manages relationship with management succession * Ensures the Remuneration inside information
external auditor, in¢luding planning Policy is properly
recommendations to Board * QOversees developrment implamented
and shareholders on of a Board and * Reviews the design and
appointment and senior management approves targets of
reappointment succession pipeline periormance-related
+ Keeps non-executive and pay schemes
executive leadership needs » Reviews workforce -
under review remuneration and
* Qversees the Board related polices

evaluation processes

Read more on page 98 Read maors on page 106 Read more on page 112

A

Executive Committee
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Company Prasident, President, President, Prasident, President, Chief
Financial Secretary Performance Functional Industrial Corporate Operations Technology
Officer and Chief Elastomers/ Solutions/ Specialities Development Officer/
Counsel President President, . President,
Asia and Eurcpe Americas
Global HR

In 2018, Synthomer formed a cross-functional Sustainability Committee comprising representatives from all the key functions and businesses,
as well as divisional presidents. The Committee meets quarterly and is chaired by the Group Sustainability Director who reports direclly to the
Executive Committes. This ensuraes Synthomer's sustainability agenda is aligned with Group strategy and helps to embed sustainability issues
within our businesses.

See paga 42 for more information on our approach to sustainability including sustainability governance.
See page 111, Compliance with the Code, for more information on the division of responsibilities.
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Board and Committee meeting attendance
The table below cutlines all Board and Committae maeting attendance. When a Director is unable to attend, their views are sought in advance

and incorporated into discussions.

Non-Executive Directors must disclose to the Board other significant commitments before their appeintment. Any proposed new significant
commitments require Board approval befare they are accepted.

yode: oifieens

Board Nominatton Audit Remunaration Disclosure _—

Total number of scheduled meetings 20 10 [ 5 5 o
=]

Members Attended Attended Attended Attended Attended §
[-1]

Caroline Johnstone 20 10 B 5 2

Calum MaclLean - stepped down in November 2021 18 {186) 414)

Michael Willome - joined Synthomer in November 2021 2(2) 1N

Stephen Bennatt 19 5 ®
)

Brandan Connolly 19 10 6 5 5 €

- 3

Lee Hau Hian — joined the Nomination Committes in , é

March 2021 19 88 2
&

Alexander Catto - joined the Nomination Committee in E

March 2021 20 89 g

Holly Van Deursen — joined the Nomination Committee

in March 2021 20 8(8) 3] S

Cynthia Dubin 18 10 6 5

Roberto Gualdoni - joined Synthomer in July 2021 7 (N 33 33 33

Just Jansz - joined the Nomination Committee in

March 2021, stepped down in September 2021 13 (13} 7(7) 303 4{4)
o

For Directors who only served for part of the year, the numbers in brackets indicate how many meatings they ware eligible to attend. 8
B
2
=
=
3
o,
W
@
B
3
2
e
3
5-.
g
3
B
5
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Corporate Governance

The Board’s year

This has been an exceptional year for Synthomer with a heavier
than usual workload for the Board. Due to CCOVID-19, the majority
of its 20 meetings were held online. In December 2021, the
Board held its first full face-to-face meeting, with only one Non-
Executive Director attending virtually due to illness. In light of
changing work practices, the Board will now hold two of its
scheduled meetings virtually from 2022,

As well as the major areas highlighted below, we established
longer-term succession planning for key roles and were therefore
well prepared when our Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Stephen
Bennett, announced his decision to step down in August 2021,
The Board also approved ongoing site transformation projects,
including closing our only coal-fired power station at our site in
Sokolav, Czech Republic (see page 59 in our Sustainability report
for more information). It also approved the financial plan to
transfer production from our Marl 3 site in Germany, which we
are closing, to our location in Austria.

Transition to a new management team
This year, we carried out an extensive
recruitmeant process to hire a new Chief
Executive Officer (CEQ), a new Chief Financial
Officer (CFO) and a new Independent
Naon-Executive Direcior (NED).

“The induction process
was very thorough and
comprehensive and

helped me to get under
the skin of the business.”
Michael Willome, CEQ

Wa appointed recruitment spacialists Egon
Zehnder to help us search for our CEQ and
NED, Meanwhile, we hired Spencer Stuart

to help us recruit a new CFO, Both agencies
helped us create clear role and candidate
spacifications. They wera asked to consider
diversity in Its widest sense when developing
long- and shortlists of candidates for all roles.

As stated in our Annual Report 2020,

Egon Zehnder led our Board skills review
and an external evaluation of Synthomer's
Board and Committees in 2020. This work
aside, the Company and.its Directors do not
have any connection with Egon Zehndesr nor
Spencer Stuart,

CEO: comprehensive seleclion pracess
and induction

We selected Michasl Willome as our new
CEO following a comprehensive search

. across rmore than 100 companies in a range
of sectors, including speciality chemicals
and other industrial businesses.

Michael! joined Synthomer in November

2021 and brings established public market
expeariance and a strong parformance track
record, including in M&A. He also has a deep
understanding of spaciality chemicals and our
end markets.

Synthamer plc
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Wa created a comprehensive induction
programme for Michael, which is set out in
our Nomination Committee report on page
108. Details of Michael's reward package
are set out on page 112 of our Remuneration
C:ommittee report.

CFOQ: selecting a candidate with a strong
record in growth

To help us identify cur néw CFO, we carried
out a thorough search across several key
candidate groups, including sitting CFOs in
other FTSE 250 companies. We announced
Lily Liu's appointment in November 2021,

and she will join the Company no later than
July 2022, For more information on Lily's
appeintment, see page 107 in our Nomination
Committee report and pages 112 to 113 in our
Remuneration Commitiee report.

NED: bringing wide experience of the
chemical sector and board membership
Wea appointed Roberto Gualdoni as a ngw
Non-Executive Director o replace Just Jansz,
who retired in 2021 having completed his
nina-year tenure. Roberto has extensive
knowledge of the international chemical
industry and a wealth of board-level
experience. (nformation about Roberte's
induction ¢an be found in our Narination
Committee report on page 108.

Eastman’s Adhesive Resins acquisition
We met regularly throughout 2021 to

discuss progress, due diligence and our own
business core assessment of tha proposed
acquisition. The Beoard worked with both
Catum and Michael to ensure we considered
all opportunities and risks of the transaction
and that everyone was afigned. We carefully
considered the timing of the proposed
acquisition alongside the senior management
transaction ~ the whols of the exscutive team
joined the Board discussions and showed,
with their experience, suppont and planning
for the integration of the acquisition.

Knowing that our new CEQ was in place and
supportive, and given the compeling business
case, we concluded that his acquisition was
in the interests of all stakeholders.

Training and development

We are committed to providing relevant,
ongoing training for our Board members

to help them strengthen their understanding
of key govemance issues. Every yaar, our
Remunaeration Committee asks an extarnal
specialist to provide updates on market
practice, remuneration trends and corporate
governance developments at its August
mesting. That meeting is attended by

the whole Board. In 2021, the Beard

also undertook workshops and training

on reporting requirernents under the TCFD
and the UK's Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy {(BEIS) white
paper Restoring Trust in Audit and Corporate
Governance. See our Audit Committee report



on page 102 for more information on the
actions we have taken as a result of the
white paper. The Board also received
refrasher training on Directors' duties and
responsibilities as part of our Eastman's
Adhesive Resing acquisition work.,

Qutcomes of our 2021 internal

Board review '

Wae hold external evaluations of the Board
every threa years, with internal reviews in the
intervening years. In 2021, we held an intemal
avaluation, with the main points for follow vp
relating to enhancing our strategy process;
maintaining our cukture of learning lessons from
past experiences; and further development of
our stakeholder engagement and succassion
pans. We have a clear action plan for 2022. *

Making progress against our 2020
Board evaluation ’

We implemented actions from our latest
external Board and Committee evaluation in
2020 {facititated by Egon Zehnder) reviewing
key areas such as Board processes and
composition, succession planning,
stakeholder relationships and quality

of discussion.

Key recommendations from

our 2020 gvaluation Actions we took in 2021

Strengthen focus on A series of spacial
Board agenda topics and deep
priorities dives were agreed as

part of the Board
annual planner.

Wa increased the
number of externally
supported
workshops and
training sessions that
the Board receives.

Enhance fearning
opportunities

We increased the
regularity of our
Chair's one-to-one
discussions with our
Non-Executive
Directors and
Executive Directors.

Further develop
Board dynamics

We added
sustainability as a
standing itemn at
each Board meeting.

Drive progress in
sustainability

‘Board engagement: strengthening
stakeholder connections

Understanding the needs and expectations
of our stakeholders is an important part of
ensuring Synthomer's success. The Board
has & role to play in this and members
make themselves available to stakeholders
throughout the year. Our Executive Directors
play an important role in engaging with our
shareholders and report back to the Board
after results prasentations. Qur brokers
provided insights and feedback from
shareholdars throughout the year and

as we announced our acquisition of
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business.

Our employess are one of our most important
stakeholder groups. n 2021, the Board
assessed its employee engagement -
approach against FRC guidance.

This demonstrated that we have important
strangths, such as a clearly designated
Non-Executive Director who acts as the
Board's ‘employee voice'; and a flexible
structure that allows employees to raise
Issues. It also showad wa have more work
to do in some areas, such as in letting
amployees know how the Board has

used their feedback to make decisions.

Ways that we take the pulse of our culture
Employee engagement is one of the key

ways the Board fulfils its responsibilities to
set Synthomer's cultural tone and assess and
monitor adherance to our values. The Board
is particularly aware that it needs to increases
its engagement with employees at former
OMNOVA sites — which has proved difficult |
during the pandemic - and has plans to

do s0 in 2022, The Board will also engage
with employees transferring from the
Eastman's Adhesive Resins acquisition

once it has completed.

Puring the year, aithough COVID-19
restrictions hampered plans for face-to-face
contact, Alexander Catto, our designated
Non-Exacutive Director for workforce
angagement, was able to meet employees
at our site in Harlow, in the UK. Holly Van
Deursen, one of our Independent Non-
Executive Directors, is now supporting
Alexander in his engagement role. During the
year, they joined employees in Germany and
the USA in virtual meetings. Their findings
were discussed by the Board at our
December mesting.

Board members also tocok part in cther
employee activitigs. For example, Caroline
Johnstone and Holly Van Deursen engaged
with Synthomer's new Engender women's
network. Brendan Connally also hosted

two employee sessions on executive
compensation. The Board continued tc assess
amployae opinions by drawing on such inputs
as employee survey data, the usa of our ethics
helpfine, progress against environmental
targets, and health and safety data.

Ses page 97 for more information on Board
engagement, in our section 172 statement.

Strengthening our focus

on sustainability

In 2021, Synthomer introduced its new
Vision 2030 roadmap, outlining a series
of sustainability targets in three key areas:
products, operational health, safety and
environmant, and people.

The Board held numercus discussions

with the Executive Committee to agree
these targets, which are supported by

a series of short-term objectives to guide
the Company through the next decade.
Those conversations ensured that our new
commitments provide Synthomer with a
clear direction for the next decade while
recognising that there wilt be more to

do along the way. We appointed Deloitte

1o help us prepare to report on TCFD
requirsments. As part of that work, the firm
interviewed all our Non-Executive Directors
to get their views on the subject. Delaitte also
provided prograss reports on this work at
several Board mestings throughout the year.
Meanwhile, the Board continues to receiva
reports on Synthomer's occupational heaith
and safety, and process safety performance
for discussion at every Board meeting.

See pages 42-68 in the Strategic report for
more information on owr sustainability aganda
and targets.

Rizk management and internal control
The Board of Directors has ultimate
responsibility for the Group's systemns of risk
management and internal control and for
reviewing their effectiveness and sets
appropriate policies to ensure that the Code
requirements are met. The Group's internal
controls over the financial raporting and
consolidation procasses are designed under
the supservision of the Chief Financial Officer
to provide reascnable assurance regarding
the reliabiity of financial reporting and the
preparation and fair presentation of the
Group's published financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance
with IFRS.

The Group risk management framework is set
out on pages 70-71. Risks associated with
safety, health and the envirornment are, by the
nature of the Group’s business, always of the
utmost concern and the sustainahility report
on pages 55-57 reviews the Group's current
year performance.

The Board confirms that a robusl asSessment
of the emerging and principal risks facing the
Group has been carried out and that it has
monitorad and reviewed the sffectivenass of
the Group's risk management and internal
control systems in 2021,
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Corporate Governance

Stakeholder engagement (s.172 compliance)

Understanding the issues that are
important to our stakeholders is essential
to the way in which we develop and
execute our business strategy. It is also
critical to our long-term success.

Our approach to section 172

Our section 172 statement describes the
ways in which the Board has carried out its
responsibility to promote the success of the
Company, recognising that the key decisions
it makes today will affect long-term
performance. The statement considers
paragraphs A to F of the Companies Act
2006 and includes details on how the
Board has considered and engaged

with stakeholders.

When making decisions, the Board considers
the needs of cur different stakeholder groups
as wall as the likely consequences that any
action taken might have on Synthomer's
reputation. To help, the Board receives papers
that include a table setting out section 172
intormation., it uses this information to inform
strategic discussions, including implications for
the rasilisnce of our business and the potential
imgact ont our cemmunity and envircnment.

It is the Chair's responsibility to ensure that
the Board considers section 172 when
making its decisions.

When making decisions, the Board and

its Committees consider the interests

of our employees, We primarily engage
with employees via Alexander Catto,

our designated Non-Executive Director

for workforce engagement. However, other
Board members met with employess during
2021 to discuss exacutive pay and diversity
and inclusion. More information about how
we engage with employeas can be found in
our sustainability report on pages 62-68.

Board members make themselves available
to investors. In 2021, however, most direct
engagement was carried out by our CEQ
and CFO and reported back to the Board.

Ve recognise that it is not always pnssihle
10 provide a positive outcome for most
stakeholders and that sometimes the Board
has to make decisions basad on competing
priorities. The Board regularly assesses the
outcomes of its decisions and is available
to talk to stakeholders when needed.

This engagement helps the Board better
understand what matters most to our

96

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021

stakeholders, as well supporting discussion
on relevant issues. It also helps the Board
choose the course of action that best leads
to high standards of business conduct and
success for S8ynthomar in the long term.

Stakehaolder engagement in 2021

There wera no changes to the Board's
identified key stakeholders, as listed in the
table opposite. In carrying out its duties, the
Board continued to ensure it understands,
and considers, the issues that matter most
to these stakeholder groups, particularly
when making material decisions.

The pandsmic continued to have an impact on
the Board's engagement with stakeholders in
2021. For example, the fult Board was unable o

“carry out site visits and physical meetings with

employees. Instead, members received regular
updates on how employees across the Group
ware coping and how Synthomer helped them
manage the ongoing operational, physical and
mental demands associated with running our
plants and businesses under COVID-19-related
constraints. Management provided feedback
on how teams met strong demand from our
customers, particularly those involved in the
manutacture of nitrile latex glovas, We wera,
however, able to go ahead with our twice-yearly
materiality assessment, when we appraise what
sustainability issues matter most to our
stakeholders. During the April 2021
assessment, wa spoke o a range

of stakeholders, including customers,
employees, shareholders and legislators.

Thair feadback led us to make a number of
ravisions to our approach. For more details,

see page 46 of the strategic report.

For the second year running, it was necessary
to hold our AGM as a closed mesting, due to
the UK Government's COVID-19 regulations
which prevented sharsholders from attending
a physical meeting. We did, however,

put measures in place that allowed
shargholders to submit questions

in advance of the meeting.

Principal decisions in 2021

This was a particularly busy year for the Board,
with several changes in Synthomer’s Executive
Committes, our proposed acquisition of
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business and the
launch of the Company’s new Vision 2030
sustainabllity roadmap and targets. Below.wve
sat out two examples of the Board's principal
decisions in 2021 and how it considered
section 172 matters in the process.

Acquiring Eastman’s Adhesive

Resins business

To carry out our acquisition of Eastman’s
Adhasive Resins business, we had to raise
additicnal finance. We canvassed opinion
from key sharghalders to ensure we had
their support and determined that it was

in the best interests of the business and
our investors to raise both our borrowing
rastriction from £1.5 billion to £2 bilion and
additional equity through a £200 million
equity placing. That placing was heavily
oversubscribed. The Board also considered
the acquired business’s impact on the
environment, requesting appropriate
information from Eastman's management.
The acquisition aligns with our sustainability
roadmap, with many of its products being
used in the making sustainable adhesives.

For our employees the Board was of the
view'that the acquisition would bring a
number of career and training advanrages
and opportunities.

In December 2021, we put the borrowing
restriction to a vote at an Extraordinary General
Meeting and received 99.80% approval.

We also put the proposed acquisition to a vote
at the same meeting and received 99.98%
approval. Wa are very pleased with by the
level of support from investors, including
Kuata Lumpur Kepong Bhd,

Vision 2030

The Board spent several months engaged

in detailed discussions with the Executive
Committee to set appropriate targets as part
of the Vision 2030 roadmap. (See page 18 for
more details)) During these discussions, the
Board interrogated and challenged the planned
targets and considered the views and
expectations of a range of stakeholders,
including our employees, shareholders,
custormers and suppliers. It also took a
long-term view of the business and its ability to
deliver on our purpose. The Board reviewed the
short-term chiectives which were put forward
by the Executive Committee to underpin the
delivery of the 2030 targets. They considered
their alignment with matters of most concern
to our stakeholders and most material to our
business ~ carbon and ¢limate change, diversity
and inclusion, and supply chain assurance.



Stakeholder groups

How the Board engaged in 2021

Customers

We work with more than 6,000 customers
worldwids, providing the products they ,
need to address technical and sustainability
challenges in their own manufacturing
processes.

Employees

Our success relies on the tatent of our
employees. We want them to feel part of a
culture that values diversity and inclusion,
fairness and transparency.

Communities
We want the communities who live near our
sites to see us as a good neighbaour.

Suppliers
Our suppliers deliver the raw materials and
services we need to make our products.

suppliers o create a more sustainable
supply chain.

Shareholders

As a public company listed on the London
Siock Exchange and inciuded in the FTSE
250 index, we have a rasponsibility to defiver
value for our shareholders.

Governments and authorities
As a member of the chamical industry and
scientific community, it is important we
engage on issues such as policy,
compliance and collaboration.

We look for ways to work in partnership with,.

* The Executive Committes attended all
scheduled Board mestings with divisional
Presidents providing additional customer
related context when needed.

The Board discussed the exceptional demand
from our nitrite glove customers, including
managing supply and pricing and

considaring the next phase of our

nitrile capacity expansion.

The Board received three presentations on
employee engagament in 2021, inchuding a
proposat for a second Your Voice survey and
initial survey findings later in the year.

The Board received a full report on the survey
resutts and follow-up action plans in Q1 2022,
The Board continued to monitor the Impact of
COVID-19 at every Board meeting, receiving
statistics on employee infection rates, testing
regimes, number of employees Isolating and
working from home and the subsequent
impact on operations. :

L

In September, the Board approved a proposal
to adapt the Synthomer Foundation's
govarnance mods) to create a naw glabal
volunitearing netwark. See page 67 of our
sustainability report for more information.

In January and March, the CEQ reported to
1he Board on the impact that the end of the
Braxit transition period had on our aparations,
inchiding on freight and logistics.

Qur Vice President of Procurement and the
Director of Procurement Excellence presented
their work 10 create a more sustainable supply
chain, including a new global procuremsnt
excellence network and sustainable
procurement policy.

The GEQ and CFO provide updates on their
mastings with investors, and cur President
of Corporata Development shares investor
refations developments at every Board
maeting.

QOur Chalr of the Board correspondead with the
Finantial Reporting Council (FRC) to answer
questions about closing our Sokofov
coal-fired plant following the FRC's thematic
reviow of IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’.

+ Since all areas of the business have seen
vary strong demand, the Board has stayed
abreast of operational issues, such as plant
capacity and shift planning to mest the
additional demeand.

Historically, the Board receives ad hoc
reports on praduct quality. However, it has
asked for a more formal procass of regular,
pericdic reporting from 2022,

The Board reviewed plans for 2021
Employes Voice engagement in April,
although these had to be amended because
of the pangemic. Nonetheless, Alexander
Catto visited employees at our Harlow, UK,
site in Q2 and held two virtual meetings with
Holly Van Deursen for employaes in
Germany and the USA [n Q4. The Board
received feedback on these meetings

in December 2021,

In future, the Board will receive regular
reports from the Exacutive Committes on
progress against our Vision 2030 targets.

In June, the Vice President of Procuremant
and the Procurement Diractor for Strategic
Raw Materials presented to the Board on
supply challenges over the past 18 months
caused by exceptional supply and demand
volatility and extramely high dernand for cur
products. The presentation demonstrated
how the procurament team had overcome
thase challenges, using the Group's
expertise and relationships with its
suppliers. See page 51 of our sustainabllity
report for more information on how wa work
with suppliers.

Each Board pack includes anatysts’
forgcasts and consensus for financial
performance, as well as a summary of tho
axtemally preparad shareholder analysis
report. This shows our top 20 shareholders
and thelr movements alongside top buyers
and sellers. Analysts’ reports and notes are
shared with the Board as they are issued.

The Board indirectly engaged with the
FRC's waiver of the non-audit fee ¢ap via
our auditar, PwC.
The Board received reports on the changing
regulatory landscape, ingluding the BEIS
consultation, TCFD reporting and corporate
governance. :
The Board receives a raport thres timaes a
year on lagal compliance with operational
laws and regulations at our cito:
During the year, Synthomar's pravious CEQ
. chaired a commitiee of the Chemical
Industrias Asseciation which engaged with
the Gobinet Office on post-Brexlt issues
affecting the UK chemical industry.
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Corporate Governance

Audit Committee report

Audit Committee: an
introduction from the Chair

My first full year as Chair of Synthomer’s
Audit Committee has been a busy one, with
new arrivals, a major acquisition and
developments in the way we track and
manage our risks.

9 8 Synthomer ple
Annual Agport 2021

As a Board member, | have a fundamental
duty to help rgcruit new members of the
management team. And, as Audit Committee
Chair, | was particularly keen to ensure

we recruited a new chief executive who
understands that, done well, risk
management and audit are essential tools

1o help a business make better decisions.

't am pleased we have found that person

in Michael.

A year of progress

| was also personally very pleased that
Synthomer bagan rolling out the new Pathway
business transformation programme to our
first sites in 2021, This has bgen a big
capital-intensive project that will help
standardise and digitalise the way we manage
core business processes, such as inventory
managamaent, invoicing and procurament.

During the year, the Audit Committee focused
on several key areas, including testing the
financial robustness of our new acquisition from
Eastrnan, strengthening our risk management
framework and reviewing our internal Audit
function and environmentat reporting
methodology. We also considered more routine,
but important, areas such as responding to
regulatory changes and adjusting our approach
to Committee meetings to make best use of
averybody's time.

Qversight of our proposed acqulisition
The announcement of Synthomer's plans to
acquire Eastrman’s Adhasive Resins business
in October 2021 marked a big step forwards
in our growth ambitions. | am pleased with
how well we have worked with our auditor,
PwC, this year. The level of diligence
exercised on the reporting accountant

work for the Eastman deal, for example,

was exceptional and | am particularty grateful
to owr new lead audit partner, David Beer,
and his team for their hard work,

The proposed acquisition required PwC 1o
request the Financial Reporting Council (FRC}
for a second waiver to allow them to breach
their cap on fees to auditors for non-audit-
related services. While the FRC approved
our request, they made it clear they would
not approve a further waiver request for at
least two years. | am, howevar, satisfied that
we did everything possible to avold making
the request and, on page 105, we explain our
reasoning and the steps wa're taking to avoid
a recurrence.



Improving our risk and audit processes
External consultants worked with us on
important changes to our risk management
framework, In particular, they helped the
Board and management team understand
good practice when defining risk appatite.
As part of that work we have added a third
dimension 1o qur risk framework: we now
consider the spead at which a risk might .
occur as well as its probability and impact.

Qur Group Internal Audit and Risk Directeor,
Ginette Grant, has made great progress

in her first full year at Synthomer. As well
as reviewing our risk management strategy,
procasses and team structure, Ginette

has been very proactive with the Board,
interviewing individual members to
undlerstand their audit priorities for 2022,

Supporting Synthomer's

sustainability agenda to meet
stakeholders’ expectations

To reflect the growing significance of
sustainability and the need to track prograss
against our Vision 2030 targets, our Internal
Audit team will begin reviewing aspects

of Synthomer's environmental reporting
methodology. We, as a Board, are now
reviewing all our capital allocation plans
with sustainability in mind.

Responding to regulatory

developments and reviews

Addressing sustainability is just one way

we can meet society’s expectations of us

as a responsible business. We must rernain
proactive in other key areas, such as public
trust, which reguiators are looking at very
closaly. In 2021 the UK's Departmant for
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
(BEIS) held a consultation on this subject and,
while final recormnmendations ara due in 2022,
with companies expected o implemant them
in the coming years, the direction of travet is
clear: businesses like ours must be prepared
for the introduction of some new Sarbanes-
Oxley-tike regulation. We have begun building
a roadmagp that will put us in a good position
whatever the outcomes. Synthomer has

a distinct advantage since our acquired
OMNOVA business, being originally an
American company, has an internal control
environment and processes which were
compliant with Sarbanes-Oxlay.

The FRC's May thematic review on interim
reporting was another of this year's reguiatory
developments. We moved quickly, mapping
our 2021 half-year results work against the
review and applying the lessons learned to
this Annual Report. -

| started this intreduction by saying that
this has been a busy year - it's also been
a rewarding one. As a cammittee we've
continuad to work well, albeit virtually, and
| am pleased with how we adapted some
ofour meetings to enable thematic deep
dive sessions with more time for questions
and answers,

It's besn a pleasura to work with
colleagues across Synthomer who bring
divarse thinking, respect and aven passian
for risk management and audit to the
table. | would like to thank everyone for
their dedication in such a busy year. | look
forward to continuing that work in 2022
and beyond.

Cynthia Dubin
Chair

3 March 2022

Synthomer ple
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Corporate Governance

Audit Committee: How the committee operates

Audit Committee role

We assist the Board's oversight of our
financial systems and reporting, and the
adequacy and effectiveness of our internal
controls and risk managsment. We also lsad
the oversight of both externat and intsrnal
audit. Qur full terms of reference, reviewed
and vpdated during the year, are available
at www.synthomer.com.

Committee members

The Committee comprised four members
until July 2021 when Roberto Gualdoni joined
the Committee (and the Board) bringing it up
to five members. The Committee reverted

to four members on the resignation of

Just Jansz in September 2021, Roberto
undertook a rigorous induction on his
appointment, meeting with members of the
Executive Committes, senior members of the
finance team, Group Internal Audit and Risk
Director, and the lead external audit partner.

The Board considers that each mamber is
indapeandent within the definition of the Code.
Our Committee Chair, Cynthia, has recent
and relevant financial experience in line with
Provision 24 of the Code. She has had a long
career in finance, including having been CFO
of a premium-listed LSE company and a
" mernber and chair of audit committees at
both Nasdag- and NYSE-listed companies.
Together, Committee members have a wide
ranga of financial, operational and commercial
experience across the chemicals and
enginesering sectors.

The skills and experience of Committee
members are set out on pages 84-87.

-1 OO | Synthomer ple
Annual Report 2021

Committee meetings and operation
Other Board members have a standing
invitation to attend our maetings, unless
notitied otherwise. We are very pleased that
our CECQ and CFO attend our Committee
meetings, oftan with the rest of the Board.
Our programme of risk reviews and updates
has also allowed us to invite high-potential
and diverse members of the management
team to attend. These include senior Group
finance team members, the Group Internal
Audit and Risk Director, and PwC, led by
audit partner David Beer.

The Committee meets regularly with PwC
and with the Group Internal Audit and Risk
Director without management present.

The Chair also lialses with Brendan Connolly,
tha Senior Independent Non-Executive
Diractor and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, to discuss matters such

as setting Executive Director

compensation targets.

Qutside formal meetings, the Chair meets
regularly on a one-to-one baslis with the CEQ,
the CFO, Group finance team members, the
Group Internal Audit and Risk Director and
PwC, 16 develop the Committaa’s programme
of work and to review progress in actions we
have agreed. This enables us to explore and

‘understand key issues as they arise and

to ensure we have appropriate information
prepared for, and sufficient time to address,
key issues in Committee meetings.

Correspondence with the FRC

In December 2020 the FRC advised us

that Synthomear had been selected for

the thematic review into IAS 37 ‘Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’
in the Annual Report and Accounts for the
year endad 31 December 2020.

Subsequently, in Cctober 2021 the FRC
asked us to explain whether we were obliged
to dacommission our coat-firad utility plant

in the Czech Republic and to confirm the
amount was included in provisions for the
expected outflows. We clarified that the
restructuring charge and provision included
the estimated cost to meet the legal obligation
to decommission the plant. We explained

that the amount was not material to the Group
but acknowledged, with hindsight, that the
disclosure would have been improved

ifit had stated that the restructuring

charge and provision included the
decommissioning costs.



Activities during the year
To address our core remit in 2021, we:

Integrity of corporate » Reviewed and approved the Group's annual and interim financial statements, including preliminary results

and financial

announcement

reporting, significant * Raviewed and approved significant accounting policies, estimates and judgements and reported alternative

judgements and
estimates

performance measures
+ Reviewed and challenged the assumptions and sensitivitias in the scenarios modelled to support the preparation

of the accounts on a going concern basis and in assessing the longer-term viability of the Group
* Reviewed the FRC guidance for 2021 covering interim raporting, annual accounts and corporate govemance
reporiing, along with a summary of the management's approach to implementation
Assessed the processes for assuring the Board that the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts, when taken together,
is fair, balanced and understandable
Regularly reviewed the Group's material litigation and concluded, in the February 2022 Committee meeting, that the
provisions are appropriate
Reviewed the UK payment practices report, discussed the underlying data and challenged management on certain
aspects of the raport

External audit

Approved the external avdit plan for 2021; discussed the exparience and expertise of the key members of the
engagement team, in the light of a mainly remote audit; and approved the audit fee

Carried out a review of the auditor's reports, including PwC views on significant accounting judgements, estimates
and the internal control anvironment

Reviewed compliance with the FRC's Ethical Standard for auditors and the restrictions on auditors in providing
non-audit services. Approved the provision of certain permissible non-audit services by PwC (for detail, see page 105)
Considered and confirmed PwC’s independence (ses page 104). Monitored PwC's work as reporting accountants

on the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business and the subsequent year-end audit, to ensure there was
nc impact on their independance /

Reviswed and assessed the performance of PwC and our lead audit partrer

Considered the need to put the external audit out to tender. After discussion and challenge, we recommeanded PwC's
reappointment

internal audit, risk
management and
internal controls

Reviewed risk processes across the business to identify and mitigate risks

Implemented changes to our risk management framework, adding an additional dimension of the speed at which
the risk might accur to probability and impact '

Continued our programme of deep dive reviews on the risk management of our global businesses and functions.
Alongside our reviews of Performance Elastomers, Functional Solutions, Industrial Specialites and Acrylate
Monomers, we also considered pensions, tax, Group-wide cyber security, the security and reliability of our industrial
automation and control systems, and strategic sourcing operations

Drafted a detailed delivery plan to build the content of the Audit and Assurance Policy and developed a high-level
assuwrance map

Received updates at sach meeting on ongoing and completed internal audits and actions arising

Considerad the results of the 2021 controls assurance internal audits and IT audits, tha seli-assessment process
and the adeguacy and speed of management's response to matters raised

Reviewed and approved the 2022 internal audit plan and ensured there is sufficient resource to deliver it

Goverhance

Reviewed the corporate governance reporting and whether, as part of the Annual Report, it was fair, balanced

and understandable

Raviewad the affectivenass of the Group's anti-bribery and anti-fraud proceduras

— Discussed the effectiveness of the Group's Code of Conduct and Ethics Helpline

- Received reports on the independent investigations conducted in response to concerns ralsed undsr the
whistleblowing policy and reported to the Board that we were satisfied with the outcomes

- Met with Group Internal Audit and Risk Director and the external auditor without management on several occasions

- Undeartook a Committee affectivaness review, assessed the rasults and concluded that the Committee was
operating effectively

- Reviewed the Committee's terms of reference to ensure our role and responsibilities are aligned with the Code.
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Caorporate Governance

Audit Committee: How the committee operates continued

BEIS consultation paper

The Board received a presentation from
external consultants at its June meeting,
outlining the key topics raised in the BEIS
consultation paper, Restoring Trust in Audit
and Corporate Governance, and rating each
topic on the impact on the Group and

its urgency,

Executive management assessed how the
Group could bast respond to sach topic and
prasented its findings to the Committee in
August. A number of projects ware initiated,
in fine with the likely outcomes of the
consultation, each with a project lead/owner,
Woe receive updates on project progress at
each Committee meeting. -

Tha largest project relates to internal
controls. This aims to ensure that our control
environment is sufficiently robust to be
audit-ready, for any new regulation;, and for
Diractors to be able continue to attast 1o its
effectiveness. Our acquisition of OMNQOVA
brought us a business which was Sarbanes-
Oxigy {SOX} compliant and had never
reported a material deficiency. The former
Chief Accounting Officer and his deputy, who
have remained with us, have experience of
SOX implementation and of maintaining and
reporting on a SOX environment, They will
lead this project.

1 02 | Synthomaer plc
Annual Report 2021

Going concern and viability statemants
To enable the Board and Cormmittes

to assess going concern and viability,
managemant sets outits assumptions

and the potential risks to the business and
possible mitigations, together with economic
and business scenarios. During the year,
there was a particular focus on tha impact
of the proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adnesive Resins business and the expected
reduction in Performance Elastomers’ 2022
profitability. The process - conducted

by management, and reviewed by the
Committee to support the Board's

- statement - included:

« Raviewing the Group's sources of funding
andg, in particular, testing the leverage
covanant in our financing arrangements
and assessing available headroom

* Reviewing the short-, medium- and
long-term cash flow forecasts in various
sevara but plausible scenarios, as well as
revarse stress testing forecasts.

* Agsessing the Group's current and forecast
activities and factors likely to affect its
future performance and financial position,

Tha Committee discussed the going

concern and viability statements at the Fabruary
2022 Committee meeting and recommended
that the Board provide the statement set out on
page 128 and page 81, respectively.

Fair, balanced and understandable
The work undertaken by managemsant
{and reviewed by the Comrmities) to
support the Board's staternent on our
Annual Report being ‘fair, balanced and
understandable’ includes:

* Establishing a working group of
appropriately qualified Group people to
oversee the drafting of the Annual Report
and Accounts. This group met regularty to
ensure that disclosures were appropriate
for all stakeholders and that drafting was
progressing well

Engaging a corporate communications
and reporting adviser, to assist

in drafting, editing and proof-reading

the Annual Report

Ensuring that the FRC's October 2021
guidance, along with other relevant

~ guidange, were taken into account

The CEO and CFO confirming that, in
their opinion, the Annual Report was fair,
balanced and understandable
Raquesting that certain key contributors,
for example, Presidents and Finance
Directors of our global divisions, sign

a declaration confirming the accuracy

of their information

Arranging for our remuneration
consultants to review the Directors'
Remuneration report

An audit trail being completed by the
VP, Group Finance for material data
underpinning non-financial information
in the Annual Report

Circulating drafts of the Annual Report
1o PwC, the Committee and the Board
for review

* Discussing material disclosures at their
February 2022 Committee meeting

The Committes discussed the tair, balanced
and understandable statement at their
February 2022 Committee meeting and,

in light of the above, recommended that

the Board provide the statement as set out
on page 129,



Significant areas of judgement and estimate

The Committee’s review, challenge and conclusion

Taxation

The Group holds total tax provisions of £23.7 mitlion relating

to matters raised by tax authorities in sevaral jurisdictions.
Significant judgement has to be exercised by management,

willr advive from tax advisers, 1o determins tax provisions, as the
final tax outcome is uncertain and may not be known for several
years. The scale of the Group's uncertain tax provisions has
reduced significantly over recent years as various long outstanding
tax matters have been settled, both for and against the Group.

The Group Tax Director presented to the Board and the Committee
during the year. In assessing the year-end judgements for 2021, she
reported on the basis for calculating the effective tax rate of 22.5% and
the reconciliation to the statutory tax rates of the Group. She provided
regular updates on interactions with tax authorities that regulate the
jurisdictions in which we operate, setting cut management's detailsd
rationale and judgement for each current tax liability. The Commitiee
challenged management’s judgements to ensure that they were
aligned with our Group tax strategy. The Committee concluded that the
estimates and disclosures were appropriate. PwC presented its findings
on management's judgernents, using tax specialists as required, and
provided the Committes with its assessmeant of their appropriateness.

Pensions

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes
{predominantly in the UK, USA and Germany) which have significant
liabilities, as outlined in note 26 to the Groug financial statements.
Although the UK and USA schermes are closed to new entrants

and to future accrual, the assessment of liabitities of each of the
schemes is sensitive to changes in actuarial assumptions.

Cur Group Pensions and Benefits Director regularly attended the
Committea in 2021 to provide updates on our pension arrangements.
The Group continues to review our pension schame investment
advisers and investment strategies to ensure we have a lower risk,
liability-driven investment approach, as welf as undertaking a review
of major scheme documentation to ensure it is up to date.

We received a report from mahagement satting out the key assumptions
and rationale in valuing the liabilities of the main plans in the UK, USA and
Germany. The Group uses appropriately qualified extarnal actuarial
advisers ta help establish the assumptions used in the valuation of
the Group’s pension liabilities. PwC evaluated the assumptions and
methodologies used by our actuarial advisers and management and
assessed whether their assumptions were appropriate and not materially
different from external benchrnarks for similar schemes.

The Commitiee reviewed the assumptions and methodology used
by management, including comparisons to thase of other companies,
and concurred with the conclusions.

PwC reported that they were satisfied with the assumptions used and
the way the schemes had been accounted for.
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Other areas of judgement

Alternative performance measures — Special ltems

Tha Group discloses Special ltarms separately, to provide a
clearer indication of underlying performance. Spacial ltems arg
either irregular, and therefore their inclusion in the assessment
of a segrment’s pgﬁormance would distort trends, or are technical
adjustments which ensure the Group's financial statements are
in compliance with IFRS, but do not reflect the year's operating
performance; or both. An example of the latter is the amortisation
of acquired intangibles, which principally relates to acquired
customer relationships. The Group incurs costs, recognised

as an expense in the incorne statement, in maintaining these
customer relationships. The Group considers that the
exclusion of the amortisation charge on acquired intangibles

from Underlying performance avoids the potential double-
counting of such costs and therefore excludes it as a Special
ltem from Underlying performance,

The Committes regularly challenges management on what is
considered Special tems, It reviews in detall every such item which
is excluded or separated from reported Underlying profit and takes
into consideration guidance from the FRC and the external auditors.
The Committee is satistied that it is helpful to & reader of the financial
statements to report Underlying profit, togsther with IFRS profit,
without Special ltems and that all Special ltems raported met with
the Group's definition of such items.

European Commission investigation

During 2018, the Eurapsan Commission (the Commission) initiated
an investigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by companies, including Synthomer, operating in the
Europsan Economic Area. Tha Company has and will continue

to fully cooperate with the Cormmission during its investigation.

In prior years given the ongeing investigation and the inherant
uncertaintios associated with it, it was not possible to determine
whether or not a liability existed. Similarly, given the many variables
in the Commission's fining frarmework and accordingly the range of
possible cutcomes, the Directors were not able to reliably estimate
any potential possible liability. Therefore a contingent liability was
disclosed in each set of financial statemants. Now based on the
information available and tha resulting assessment of the expected
outcome of the invastigation a provision of £57.2 million has been
madeg in relation to this case.

During the course of this ongeing investigation the Committee
received from managemant regular updates on the facts and
circumstances in relation to this investigation along with the
associated accounting analysis. PwC reported that they were
salisfied with the judgements and related disclosures made by
management. The Committee discussed the matter and concurred
with the conclusions made.

Synthomaer plc I -1 03
Arnnual Report 2021

sjuaweres jenueuy Aueduwon

UORRWION JBLED



Corporate Governance

Audit Committee: How the committee operates continued

Risk management and internal

control environment

Each year, the Board is required to conduct
a review of the effectiveness of the Group's
systemns of risk management and internal
control. The Board's statement relating to this
review is set cut on page 95. At its February
2022 meeting, the Committee reviewed
management's assessment of the key
elements of these systemns and ¢onfirmed
their overall effectiveness. Their conclusion
draw on the following: ‘

* The internal audit programma ¢ompleted
during 2021 and progress in implementing*
resulting actions

Qur programme of risk reviews and
discussions with senior managers and other
statf across the Group throughout the year
Ongoing managernent assurance (via
Committes papers, Board and Committes
prasentations and discussions) to raview
the Group's key financial controls to ensure
they support our continued growth

The key cantrols quastionnaire, which is
completed and signed by each Group
operating unit each quarter
Representations to the CFQ from the
divisions' financial and commercial
management that the financial information
reported to the Group has been prepared
in accordance with our accounting policies
and that all relevartt information has been
provided for the preparation of the

Group's Annual Report and Accounts.
These representations are madse twice
each year in line with our external

reporting timetable.

December 2021

Internal audit and risk

management function

The Group Intarmal Audit and Risk Director has
a direct reporting fine to the Audit Committes
Chair and provides an independent assessment
of our internal control and risk managemant
processes’ effectiveness; highlights key issues;
makes recommendations; and monitors
implementation of mitigations and
recommendations. We have a dedicated
in-house Internal Audit function, which draws
on specialist resources as requived. At each
meeting, the Committee reviewad progress
against the Internal Audit annual plan and
explored areas identified tor action. We also
reviewed completed audit raports, focusing on
recurring themes, which might require Group
actions, and areas where there was divergence
from self-assessments. Developments in our
intarnal audit arrangements are set out in my
introduction on pages 98 to 99.

External audit

We raappeinted PwC as our external auditor
in 20186, following a full re-tender process.
The firm has been the Group's auditor

since 2012, :

The Committes discussed the 2021 audit
procass at its Decemnber 2021 and February
2022 mestings. During the year, the
Committee Chair was in regular discussion
with PwC’s tead audit partner to discuss the
progress of the audit. The Committee met
PwC without management being present
after tha February 2022 Committee maeting.
Nao sigrificant issues were raised.

QOutcome/action taken by the Committee

Auditor independence and
objectivity and auditor-provided
non-audit services

The Committee has a clear policy on the
provision of non-audit services by the
external auditor and has defined the very
limited non-audit services they can provids.
Sarvices can only be provided if approved by
the Committee and they are subjact to a cap
of 70% of the average of audit fees for the
preceding thres years. All engagements for
non-audit servicas with an external audit firm
must be pre-approved by the Committes to
ensure that as many firms as possible would
be independant in an audit tender. Details of
audit and non-audit fees paid to the auditor
in 2021 are set cut in note 7'on page 149.

PwC producad a raport setting out how
they assessed thermselves as independent.

‘ This referred to reporting accountant work

undertaken as part of the acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive Resins businass.
PwC confirmed that they remained
independent in respect of the 2021 audit.

The Committee concluded that PwC's
independence and objectivity were not
compromised by providing these services
and that, due fo their knowledge of the
Group and its financial statements, it was
in Synthomer's interests to engage PwC.
Having considered the steps taken by
PwC to preserve their independence and
the approach tc non-audit services set out
above, the Committee concluded that PwC
continuas to demonstrate appropriate
independence and objectivity.

PwC's audit risk assessment ~ set out on
pages 131 to 132

PwC undertook 2 detailad risk assessment, setting out their view of the significance of key risks
and the potential risk of material mis-staternent. Following discussion, the Committee agraed
with PwC that climate change, whilst not an area at significant risk, should be considered in the

overal context of thelr audit opinion,

Materiality level for the audit (page 133}

PwC proposed an audit materiality level of £11.6 million, based on 5% of Underlying profit
before tax of the average Underlying profit before tax for the last three years, rather than just for
the year ended 31 Dacember 2021. It did so on the basis that current year profits were above a
‘normal’ recurring level. After dabating this with PwC and Executive Management, the
Committae felt it was an appropriate methadology for 2021.

PwC’s audit plan

We reviewed the audit coverage and agreed scope (set out on page 131 to 134) in detail and
agreed they were appropriate. We asked PwC to perform work on the cut-over procedures
used in implementing the Pathway programme and to perform on-site fraud assessment work
in some smaller entities where they are not the statutory auditor. The Committee noted and

approved the continued high level of coverage.

PwC's resources

Wa reviewed and discussed PwC's resourcas with the firm, particularly the experience and
tenure of their audit partners in our key oversaeas territories. The Ghair and Executive
Management interviewed the proposed audit partner for Malaysia, where the existing partner

had complatad their tenure.

Audit fee and terms of engagement

The Committea reviewed PwC's fee proposal in light of the risks identified and proposed scope
and approved the proposed fee of £1.6 million, compared to £1.8 million in 2020.

Synthomer plc
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February 2022 Qutcome/action taken by the Committee
Confirmation of PwC’s audit plan Pw(C confirmed no material changes to the agreed plan.
Audit findings, These were discussed with PwC and management — the work of the Committaa is set out on

significant issues and other accounting
judgements {pages 132 to 133)

the previous pages.

Management representation letter

The Committee reviewad and approvad this.

PwC's independence and objectivity and
quality conirol procedures

The Committee evaluated and confirmed PwC's independence, objectivity and quality control
procodures. :

Audit quality — how we reviewed Pw's performance

Guring the yoar, the Committes evaluated the performance and effectiveness of the external auditor, PwC and our audit partner, David Beer in

the following ways:

External evidence

The Commitiee reviewed the FRC's 20620 Audit Quality Inspection Repart covering its
conclusions from a review of a selection of PwC audits which showed an improvement
year on year, David Beer shared details of actions taken by PwC in response to this report.

Management evidence

At our request, management sought feedback from people across the business who were
involved in working on the year end with PwC teams. The feedback was positive to alt
questions asked and indicated that PwC had performed their audit well with particularly
high ratings were for planning and quality of people and service.

Audit Committee evidence

David Beer attended all Committee meetings during the year and was involved as the Group
undertook the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive Resing business acting in the capacity of
Reporting Accountant. He has demonstrated in Committee meetings how he has challenged
management in relation to significant accounting judgements and estimates and also worked
with management to ensure that the relevant guidance from the FRC issued in the year was
incorporated into both the Interim and Annual Reports.

Reasoning

The Group was in a bilateral negotiation with
Eastman in relation to its Adhesive Resins
business, in an exceptionally bucyant ME&A
market and the timetable set by the seller
was short. As PwC performed simllar work
for the Gompany in respect of the OMNOVA
acquisition int 2019, and in respect of

the issue of a' S144a bond In June 2020,
they have a strong understanding of our
processes, systems and people. However,
we proactively soughtto engage another
audit firm to undertake this work. Other large
and challenger firms were approached but
waere conflicted due to other work they carry
out for the Group, or did not have the skills
or resources available to meet cur timetabls.

Use of PwC as reporting accountants for the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business

How we assured independence

The Commitiee challenged judgements
made by managemant and asked PwC

to confirm that they complied with their
commitment to the FRT by having the work
on the 2021 audit reviewed by an internal
tachnical panel. The Committee also
confirmed with management and PwC that
ali fees relating to the reporting accountant
work werg paid before the audit opinion an
the 2021 financial staternents was signed.

Steps to avoid a recurrence

As part of the planning for a Group audit
tender in 2025 we are monitoring all non-audit
work given to the large and challenger audit
firms. We will seek, as far as is practicable, to
concentrate all work that would impact these
firrms' ability to bid for the audit, or provide
other independent assurance services, into
as few firms as possible to ensure we have
the biggest selection available from which to
choose. We will selact a firm as a potantial
partner for future reporting accounting work
that includes those areas of work subject to
the Ethical Standards fea cap and invest

in making the chosen firm familiar with

the Group to allow them to operate

as our reporting accountant on any

future acquisition.
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Corparate Governance

Nomination Committee report

Nomination Committee:
introduction from the Chair

This has been a significant year

for Synthomer - and the Nomination
Committee — with a new CEO starting
on 1 November, a new CFO being
appointed shorily afterwards, and

a new Non-Executive member joining
the Board in July.

The Committee — which expanded this year to include all our
Non-Executive Directors — was closely invelved with each of
these appoeintments and in planning inductions for our new
Directors. Committee members have also been involved in
discussions around Synthomer's gender target and in further
strengthening our succession planning.

106 | amnsarrepeon 201

Succession planning for continued growth
Ensuring that wa have future leaders with

the right skills, experience and mindsst is

as important as having the right peopla in
place today. Succession planning continued
1o be a strong focus throughout the year for
the Nomination Committee and the wider
Board, as we worked to embed the ongoing
development of a strong talent pipeline into
the way we operate.

In late 2021, we built on the previous year's
independent skills review - which assessed
our Board's capabilities against other plc
companias to help identify and address gaps
— by looking &t the functional skills the Board
will need o stay competitive in the future.
The crucial skills identified included
marketing, digitalisation and sustainability.
As part of this process, all Board members
assessed themselves against thase skills.
We wili feed the intelligence gained, and those
from our Board evaluation, into short-term
recruitment and longer-term succession
planning for the Board, as wal as emergency
succession planning for the CEC and CFO.

Qur succession planning draws not only

on necessary skills but also on our strategy
and direction, which we discussed at length
In January 2021 in setting the scene for the
2021 CEO and NED searches, in alliance
with Egon Zehnder, Cur ability to move fast
10 recruit a new CFO in November 2021,
when Stephen Bennett announced his attention
to step down in August, reflected the
proactive work we were already doing in
long-term executive succession planning
with search experts Spencer Stuart,

The Board and Nomination Committee's
succassion planning focus extends to
Executive Committee members. Qur new CEQ
started reviewing the skills and scope of the
Executive team soon after he joined. We ars
supparting him as he develops a biueprint to
strengthen and support the current team and
will develop longer-term succession plans for
each of the Executive roles.

Setting the tone on diversity

and inclusion fram the top

Diversity is as fundamental as skill and
experience in a strong Ieadership team.
Reflecting the society in which we operate
is both the right thing 1o do and - research
shows — the best thing for business.
Diversity of thought and inclusive cultures
drive innevation and lead 1o better business
outcomes. For all these reasons, in 2021 we
strove to ensura that our current and future
leaders are truly divarse.



The process for appointing our new CEO and NED.

CEO

CFO

NED

Setting role
requirements

Following Calum’s decision to step
down, the Nomination Committee
and the Board worked closely with
the Senior Independent Director,
HR President and Group HR
Director, and recruitment specialists
Egon Zehnder to davelop a clear
role and person specification

for our new CEQ.

We implemented succession
planning for key roles, including the
CFQ, early in 2021 and that allowed
us to accelerate our recruitment
process, working on this occasion
with search company Spencer
Stuart. We wanted someone with
an impressive track record and
experience of working in a complex,
international business.

Following the retirement of Just
Jansz in 2021, with the completion of
his nine-year tenure, the Nomination
Gommittes, the Board, our Senior
Independant Director, HR President
and Group HR Director worked with
Egon Zehnder to develop a clear role
and person specification far our new
Non-Executive Director.

Identifying
candidates

In January 2021, the Board
confirmed its strategy of organic
and inorganic growth and that set

a backdrop to the CEO recruitment.
Egon Zehnder then interviewed all
members of the Board, and the
Nomination Committee debated
and agreed a detailed candidate
specification, with clear skills,
experience and attributes against
which o assess potential candidates.

Early in 2021, we appointed Spencer
Stuart to develop our succession
planning for key roles, including

the CFQ. They developed a role
specification, with input from all
members of the Board.

Egon Zehnder doveloped long and
shortlists lists of NED candidates.
In doing so, they considered the
broadest definition of diversity.

Process

A significant number of internal and
external candidates were initially
assessed by Egon Zehnder against
the agreed criteria, They presented
the most suitable candidates through
a process of interview, discussion
and assessments. Five candidates
met with all members of the Board
and, after detailed debate and further
discussions with the final two
candidates, the Nomination
Commiittee unanimously agreed

to recormmend Michael Willome.

Spencer Stuart considered over
300 candidates and reduced this

e a shortlist of seven internal and
external candidates who were
assessed by Spencer Stuart against
the required criteria, and than
interviewed by the Chair and
incoming CEO. Three candidates
where taken forward for further
assessment by members of the
Nominations Committee and two
final candidates were interviewed
by all members of the Board.

The Nominations Commitiee
reflected and dabated the fesdback
and unanimously agreed to
recommend Lily Liu.

Egon Zehnder interviewed and
assessed some 20 candidates and
the Chair met with seven potential
candidates. The most suitable
candidates were then presented

to the Senior Independent Director
and then alt other members of the
Board. Having reviewed the process
and evaluated the candidates,

the Neminations Committee
unanimously agreed to
recommand Roberto Gualdoni,

Recruitment

After an extensive search process,
we announced Michael Willome's
appeintment in July 2021.

In November, we announced that Lily
Liu would be our new CFO, joining us
no later than July 2022.

Roberto Gualdoni joined the Board
in July 2021 and is a member

of our Audit, Remuneration and
Noménation Committees.

wode. sifeeng

aQueuidacn

SIUBLUGIEIS [EIOUBUY CNOID

sjusweels [ejoueuy Ausdwen

UONE LG B0

Synthomer plc | 1 07
Annual Report 2021



Corporate Governance

Nomination Committee report continued

Board diversity
and tenure at
a glance
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Setting a new 2030 gender target

In 2021, Synthorner took an important step
by setting a target of 50% gender diversity
in new hires in leadership, management and
professional roles as part of our Vision 2030
roadmap. Agreeing our Visinn 2030 targets
involved a great deal of discussion between
the Executive Committee and Board during
tha first half of 2021. Diversity is particulardy
important for Nomination Committes
discussions around succession planning,
and we pushed the Executive Commities

to set the bar high. It's important to get the
right balance between challenge and delivery
and | think we achieved that. (See page 44
in the Strategic report for more information
on the Vision 2030 roadmap.)

Qur target is underpinned by several short-term
objectives, including 20% of women in senior
roles by the end of 2021. | am pleased to see
that we met this objective, tinishing the year at
20.4%. In all, we saw a 5% rise in the numbaer
of women in senior leadership versus 2020.
One-third of Board members are now women
and one member is from an ethnically diverse
background, in line with the Hampton-
Alexander and Parker raviews respectively.

Encouraging greater diversity

beyond gender

Nevertheless, Synthomer needs to do

a lot more to address diversily across the
business, including making more prograss
cn ethnic diversity. Here, too, we have set

a short-term objective to have 20% of senior
leaders from ethnically diverse backgrounds
by 2025.

New governance (o track our progress on
diversity and inclusion

As Chair of Synthomer's new Diversity and
Inclusion Steering Committee, it was also my
pleasure to host panel sessions, alongside
Holly Van Deursen, organisad by Synthomer’s
Engender women's network,

For more information on the progress
Synthomer has made and our plans to
continue focusing on diversity and inclusion,
see pages 62-66 of the Strategic report.

We have the vision, processes and tools in
place. We must now embed diversity ang
inclusion into our everyday thinking.

A comprehensive induction programme

An induction programme is an essential part
of a new Director's first weeks and months at
Synthomer. It is a structured way of ensuring
they receive tha information and support they
need to take on their new role guickly and
contidently. | know from my own experience
of joining Synthomer and then steppingup  »
as Chair of the Board how helpful this '
procass is.

The Committee designed a tailored induction
for Michael that included:

» Working with Calumn, the Committee
designed a two-week programme of
introductions to help Michael get up to
speed quickly on our most important
activities

+ Meetings with the Executive Committee for
briefings on their businesses and functions

* Meetings with external advisers and our top
institutional shareholders to hear their
views on Synthomer

+ A workshop hosted by a partner from both
KPMG and Herbent Smith Freehills on
Directors’ duties and the UK listing regime.
Roberto also attendead this workshop

+ First sita visits to meet employees in the
UK, Germany and the USA.

While Roberto hasn't yet been able to
make any site visits, he plans to do so
in 2022,

Qur priorities for 2022

Qur priorities for the coming financial

year include identifying a suitable successor
for Brendan Connolly when he steps down
as our Senior Independent Director and
Remuneration Committee Chair at our 2023
Annual General Meeting. Wa will also be
developing emergency succession plans

for our new CEC and CFO and embedding
long-term succassion planning for their roles
for the future. As Michael develops his team,
we will also be reviewing the skills, balance
and experience of the Executive Committee.
Another important priority will be establishing
a comprehensive, bespokea induction

_programme for Lily, and continuing

to support Michael's immersion
in the business.

A yoar of progress

| am pleased with the progress we've mada
as a Committee this year. We have continued
to work well despite ongoing COVID-19
restrictions. We've had some challenging
conversations along the way, but challenge
is how we help the Company make progress.
I look forward to working alongside our new
Directors as well as my fellow Committae
members to support Synthomer as it grows
in siza and ambition.

Carvoline Johnstone
Chair of the Nomination Committee

3 Mar¢h 2022



Corporate Governance

Compliance with the Code

For the year ended 31 December 2021, we are pleased 10 report that we have applied the principles and complied with the provisions of the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code {the Code). The full Code is available on the FRC's website, www.irc.org.uk.

A. Board's role

]

B. Purpose and culture

~

C. Resources and controls

D. Stakeholder engagement

E. Workforce engagement

2. Divisfon of responsibilities

F. Role of the Chair

G. Composition of the Board

1. Board leadership and Company purpose

The Board sets the Company’s purpose, values and standards, astablishes ovaerall policies and
iong-term objectives and approves strategic aims and goals. It is responsibte for the Company's
long-term success, and for how opportunities and risks are assassed in relation to this. The Board
establishas, communicates and reviews the corporate governance framework under which the
Company operates. There is a formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board which is reviewed
annually to ensure an appropriate delegation of duties to the CEQ is maintained. An annual Board

“planner is prepared at the start of sach year to ensure important and relevant topics are discussed

at Board meetings throughout the year.
For mora details about 2021 activity see The Board's year section on page 94.

The Board adopted the Company's statement of its purpose in 2020 and worked with management
during 2021 to devalop and Jaunch our Vision 2030 roadmap, which will underpin the delivery of our
purpose over the coming decade.

Management have rolled out a programme to embed our new Core Values since their launch in 2020,
with alignment with our culture being monitored and assessed by the Board using the tools described
on page 62. The Board was mindful of maintaining the Company's strategic direction in the
appointment process for our new CEO.

Strategic projects and priorities are considered and monitored at each Board meeting with, as part of
that process, members receiving and considering reports on developments and progress against
plans and resourcing. Financial and operational perforrance against budget and KPis is reported at
esach Board mesting.

The Board has designated Synthomer's CEQ responsible for developing and preparing the Group
strategy, business plan and annual budget for recommendation to the Board. The CEQ is also
responsible for all aspects of day-lo-day operational control and for exacuting Group stralegy.

The CEQ Is chair of the Executive Committee (which includes the CFO, the Chief Counsel and
Company Secretary, and operational and functional Group presidents), and meets once a month.
The CFO shares a monthly management report with all Cirectors, containing business, financial, and
health, safety and environmental reviews.

The Board fully consider shareholders” and wider stakeholders’ views when making strategic
dacisions. Further information can be found on pages 96 and 97.

Alexander Catto, Non-Executive Direclar, is the Board’s designated employee voice. In this role, he is
supported by Holly Van Deursen, one of our other NEDs. Other workforce engagement is undertaken
directly by the Board, such as via cur new Engsander women's network.

The Chair's responsibilities include:

+ Leading an effective Board

* Promoting a culture of openness and debate

+ Coordinating performance evaluation of the CEQ and individual Non-Executive Directors

» Holding meetings with and without Executive Directors present

* Leading on all aspects of corporate governance

« Setting the agenda and managing meeting timetabies and encouraging cpen and constructive
dialogue and challenge.

The composition of the Board is set out in Our Board of Directors section on page 84. Half of the
Board, excluding the Chair, are independent NEDs, with that independence being assessed annually.
This ensures no one person or group of interests can dominate Board decision making or debates.

We document the roles of the Board, Board Committees, Chair and CEQ in the Intreduction to
corporate governance on page 92. We have a clear division of responsibiiities betwean tha Board and

Exsecutive leadership, with a list of matters resserved for the Board.
[
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Corporate Governance

Compliance with the Code continued

2. Division of responsibilities continued

H. Role of the non-executive
directors

I. Role of the Company
Secretary

~

The main responsibilities of our NEDs are to provide constructive challenge and scrutiny; to hold
management and individual Executive Directors to account against agreed performance objectives,
and to oversee employee engagement.

In addition, our Senior Independent Director acts as a sounding board to the Chair; is an alternative
contact for the other Directors and shareholders; leads an annual meeting process to evaluate and

feed back on the Chair's performance, and providas constructive challenge, strategic guidance and
specialist advice.

Wa assess on appointment whether a candidate has sufficient time 1o be a NED, with any proposed
significant external appointment raquiring the Board's agreement.

Cur Company Secretary’s main remit is to advise the Board on all governance matters and an
important legai and regulatory issues and to ensure it has the necessary policies, processes,
information, time and resources to function effectively and efficiently.

3. Composition, succession and evaluation

J. Appointments to the
Board and succession
planning

K. Skills, experience and
knowledge of the Board

L. Board evaluation

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for assessing the composition of the Board, making
recommendations for new appointments, and succession planning. In making recommendations for
appointments to the Board, the Commitiee considers the balance of skills, experience and knowledge
needed to enhance the Board and support the Company in the exacution of our strategy. For more
details, see our Nomination Committee report on page 106.

The Nomination Committee ensures the Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experiance and
knowledge, with due regard for the benefits of all types of diversity. This year we buitt on our 2020
skills review — which assessed our Board's capabilities against other plc companies to help identify
and acdidress gaps — by looking at the functional skills we will need to stay compaetitive. All Board
members assessed themselves against the crucial skills, which included marketing, digitalisation and
sustainability. We will feed tha intelligence gained, and those from our Board evaluation, into short-term
recruitment and longer-term succession planning for the Board, aleng with emergency succession
planning for the CEO and CFO.

Our last external Board evaluation, facilitated by Egon Zehnder, was undertaken during 2020.
An internal review, focusing on recommendations stermming from the 2020 evaluation, was carried
out in 2021. See page 91 for actions taken.

4. Audht, risk and internal control

M. internal and external
audit

N. Fair, balanced and
understandable

0. Risk management
and internal control
framework

5. Remuneration

P. Remuneration policies
and practices

Q. Executive remuneration

R. Remuneration outcomes
and independent judgement

The Audit Committea is responsible for reviewing the relationship and independence of the Group's
external auditor, PwC, and for overseeing the independence and effectivenass of internal audit.

In 2021, the Committee oversaw Synthomar's granted application o the FRC for a second waiver to
breach the cap on fees to auditors for non-audit related services, to progress our plans to buy
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business. For more details see page 98.

The Board considers this 2021 Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable and that it provides
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business model and
strategy. We enabled this by such means as having a dedicated working group overseeing drafting;
ensuring that FRC guidance was observed; requiring key contributors to confirm the accuracy of their
information; and circulating drafts to PwC, Committee chairs and the Soard for review.

The Board sets the company’s risk appetite and annually reviews the effectiveness of the company’s
risk management and internal control systems, A description of the principal risks facing the company
is set out on pages 69-76.

Synthomer aims to reward empioyees fairly. Our Remuneration Policy is designed to promote the
long-term success of the Company while aligning the interests of the Directors and shareholders,
The policy was last approved by investors at our 2020 AGM. A summary of the latest Executive
Director Remuneration Policy ¢an be found on page 114.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting the remuneration for all Executive Directors
and the Executive Committee. No Director is involved in deciding their own remuneration arrangements
or cutcomes.

Details of the wark of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Directors’ Rernuneration report
on pages 112 to 128.
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Division of responsibilities

The table balow provides a summary of the main responsibilities of our Board and CEO.

Position:

Responsibiitles includs:

Chair

* Leading an effective Board

» Promoting a culture of openness and debate

* Coordinating performance evaluation of the CEQ and individual Non-Executive Directors -
» Holding meetings with and without Executive Directors present

» Leading on all aspects of corporate governance

Chief Executive Officer

» Qperational management of the Group

» Developing, preparing and imptementing Group strategy, as approved by the Board

» Communicating Group culture and values

» Communicating Group financial perfermance to investors alongside the GFO

» Kgeping the Board infarmed on material issuss 5

Senlor Independent Director

» Being a sounding board to the Chair

 Alternative contact for tha other Directors and shareholders

 Leading an annual meeting process to evaluate and feed back on the Chair’s performanca
* Providing constructive challenge, strategic guidance and specialist advice

Non-Executive Directors

- Constructive challenge and scrutiny to hold management and individual Exacutive Directors to account
against agreed performance objectives
» Employee engagement *

Company Secretary and
Chief Legal Counsel

s Advising the Board on all governance and compliance matters

* Ensuring the Board has the necessary policies, processes, information, time and resources to function
efectively and effictently

* Advising the Board on important legal and regulatory matters

Synthomarplcl -I -I 1
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Corporate Governance
Directors’ remuneration report

Remuneration Committee:
introduction from the Chair

While 2021 was a busy year for the
Remuneration Committee, much of our
attention was focused on two key issues:
agreeing remuneration for our new CEO
and CFO and completing our work

to align Executive Directors’ pensions with
that of the UK workforce.

1 -I 2 | Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021 f

Agreeing the right packages for our new
CEQ and CFO

Designing a new Director's remuneration
package is one of this Committee’s more
impaortant tasks. It involves warking closely with
the Group HR Director to create an otfer that
rewards a new recruit’s skills and experience
while rermaining consistent with the terms of our
Directors’ Remuneration Policy. it must also
reflect the fact that Synthomer is growing, and
will continus to grow, in size and complexity.

CEO: higher base salary plus covering
relocation costs

The package we have designed for
Synthomar's new CEQ, Michaal Willome, takes
all of this into account. So while it is in line with
previous CEQ arrangements, it inctudes a 9%
higher base salary at £650,000. This figure is
lower than Michael's salary was at Bystronic AG
formerly Conzzeta AG3) and takes into account
the larger Group size following the acquisition
of Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business.
Michael will be eligible for a maximum annual
bonus of 150% of base salary and a PSP award
of 200% of salary per year. He will also be
required to build a shareholding equal to
220% of his annual basic salary.

Since Michael has moved from Switzerland
to the UK, Synthomer also agreed a monthly
refocation allowance for the next four years.

We paid Michael a one-off payment of
£100,000 for the ioss of pension-related
compensation he would have received

had he served out his full notice period at
Bystronic. This amount is no greater than

that he forfeited. He also received a pro-rated
Performance Share Plan {PSP) award far 2021,
Given that he joined towards the end of the
financial year, Michael did not receive a bonus
in 2021.

In my introduction to last year's report, | said
we intended to align our new CEQ’s pension
with the workforce rate of 7%. And wa have
dona exactly that with Michael's pension.

Wea will do the same in 2022 for Lily Liu as our
incoming CFQ. -~

CFQ: higher salary to reflect growing
ambitions

While Lily does not officially join us until
the 2022 financial year, we announced her
appointment and remuneration package at
the end of November 2021. As such, Lity
will receive a base salary of £440,000.
This is 16% higher than the previous CFO
salary, in fing with Synthomer's policy and
growing stature, taking into account the



future additional size and complexity of the
organisation and the increasing regulatory
environment. Lily will be eligible for a
maximum annual bonus of 150% of base
salary and a PSP award of 150% of salary
per year, Lily will participate in bath plans,
in line with our policy. She will be required
to build a shareholding that is equal to 200%
of her annuat basic salary, This exceeds the
guideline for the gurrent CFO of 175% of
salary. For more detalls see page 122,

Arrangements for Synthomer’s

departing CEC

Of course, new arrivals mean the Commitiee
also has a role in agresing terms with departing
directors. While Calum stepped down as CEQ
at the start of November 2021, as he provided
a full handover to Michael, he did not formally
leave Synthomer until January 2022. This meant
he was entitled to an annual bonus for 2021.
Wae also treated him as a 'good leaver' for

the purpose of his remaining share awards.
These awards will vest at the normal time

and will be pro-rated to 31 December 2021.
Though not subject to post-employment
shareholding, as he resigned prior to the
implemeantation of the policy Catum will still
hold shares due to past and current bonus
and PSP plans, For more details, see page 123.

Fee increase for Synthomer's Chair

to reflect a more complex landscape
As of 1 January 2022, we increased
Caroline Johnstone's fee to £235,000

a year to reflect the greater time the role
requires, and the fact that both Synthomer
and the external governance landscape are
becoming more complex. We also found
that Caroline’s fee was below the lower
market quartile. In future, she will be eligible
for increases in line with our employses.

Near-maximum bonuses paid in 2021 but
a mixed LYIP outcome

Both the CEQ and CFO achieved 95% of
maximurm bonus outcomas in 2021 as did the
wider organisation, in an extracrdinary year
with exceptional results on the back of the
Covid-related lift in Nitrile latex (Performance
Elastomers) sarving the meadical gloves industry.
Even without this uplift to performange, and
normabising the results, the full financial goal
(Adjusted PBT) would have been achieved.
The Commitiee therefore considerad that this
payout level was appropriate. The only shortfall
against targets set was the SHE process safety
metric which was missed by 0.03 while the
recordable injury case rate (RCR) metric was
met, as were the strategic goals. No discretion
has baen exercised in relation to incentive
outcomes. For the 2018 PSP, Relative TSR was
at the median level, reflacting the end of year
sharg price votatility, but EPS growth was fully
achieved. As with the PBT, on a normalised
basis the EPS would have been fully

met irrespective of the Nitrile latex uplift.

The strategic measures wera broadly met.

The overall vesting was therefore 64% of the
maximum. The Committee considered that this
outcome was a fair reflection of parformance
and the shareholder experience and therafore
no discretion has been exarcised.

The Committes discussed the £57.2 mitlion
provision recognised in respect of the
European Commission Styrene investigation,
The Committee will consider the implications
of the outcome of the investigation once it has
been concluded.

Performance measures for variable
elements of executive pay in 2022

The Committee aims to ensure that executive
remuneration matches Synthomer's underlying
performance. Wa set annual bonuses using
three measures - Underlying profit bafore tax
{BC%). safety, health and environment targets
{10%), and strategic personal targets {10%)}.
Qur 2022 measures will reflact the above and
those for 2021,

For the 2022 PSP awards, the measures will
be split as follows:

¢ 30% ~ relativa total shareholder return

¢ 30% - earnings per share (EPS) growth

¢ 20% — cost efficiencies as a result of the
Eastman’s Adhasive Resins acquisition

* 20% - strategic, of which half willbe a
sustainability measure.

EPS is an important part of our PSP, since

it acts as a performance incentive far our
executives and the 80 or so participants In the
PSP. It remains a usefud tool for retaining senior
talent in a currently very competitive market.
In 2021, Synthomer dslivered a record EPS
of 75.2p, due to an exceptional increase in
margins in its Nitrile latex businass servicing
the medical gloves industry. Holding senicr
executives to that level in 2022 would make the
2022-24 PSP unachievable. For the purpose
of setting targets for the 2022 PSP award the
Committes therefore considered that it was
appropriate to re-base EPS performance for
2021 to remove the impact of the exceptional
margins experienced during the year,

The target growth ranges applied to this
rebased EPS ramain unchanged, with 4.5%
per annum growth required for threshold
vasting and 10% per annum growth required
for maximum vesting.

Apolying these growth rates to the re-based EPS
for 2021 of 40.9p gives an EPS target for 2024
of 46.7p for thrashold performance and 54.4p
for maximum parfarmance. The Committee
considers that these targets are stretching for
a normalised price environmant. Tha intention is
that this rebasing will apply for one year only and
we will retum to our normal methodology in 2023,

As | reported last year, we added a new
sustainability measure to the PSP in March
2021, which is a 25% reduction in CO..
Thig will continue to be a faature of our PSP
going forward, with a 40% reduction target
for the 2022 PSR,

r

Discussing executive pay

with employees

While there is considerable interest in
ramuneration, it is, in my exparience, a
misundarstood subject, particularly around
executive liabilities and responsibifities.

S0, in December 2021, we held two virtual
employes events, open to everyons, to
explain how it works and to ask for people’s
opinions. | was pleased to note that many of
the employees who joined the sessions are
aware that executive pay is publicly available
information and we received no suggestions
on how to do things differently.

Staying on top of key stakeholder issues
To help the Gommittee stay informed on

the remuneration issues that matter to our
stakeholders, 1 ask our remuneration adviser
to provide the Committee with training evary
August. This year, we focused on the policias
and approaches disliked by institutional
investors, and to consider any new guidance
from investors, the lnvestment Association
and proxy agencies.

Continuing to address our gender pay gap
We were pleasad to show a reduction in both
aur mean and median pay gaps in our 2021
UK gender pay gap report, with our median
pay gap having consistently improved over
the last three years. We recognise that our
continuing gender pay gaps are primarily
related to the lower number of women than
men in our senlor leadership population and
we set out how we are addressing this in the
sustainability section of the stratagic raport.

Extra Committee meetings and adjusting
to a post-pandemic world

Given the amount of work involved in
arranging pay for two incoming Directors,

the Committee held two extra saessions

in 2021, Meetings remained mainly virtual in
2021 due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

Preparing for changes in 2023

My tenure as Senior Independent Director
and, therefore, Chair of this Committee, will -
end at the 2023 AGM when | will retire from
the Board. | am now working with Caroline

to identify my replacement and ensure we have
a smooth handover plan in place. And, of
course, we will need to update and share our
naw Remuneration Policy In time to put it to

a shareholder vote at the 2023 AGM. | look
forward to sharing more details on both issues
in what will be my final report next year.

My sincere thanks to all involved in the
Remuneration Committes in 2021. It has
indeed been a busy year. ¢

Brendan Connally
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

3 March 2022
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Corporate Governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

At a glance

Policy for Executive Directors

The table below summaries the palicy
approved by the shareholders at the AGM on
29 Aprit 2020, This is valid untit a new policy is
approved at the 2023 AGM.

Synthomer's full remuneration policy can be
found online - htips:/www.synthomer.com/
fileadmin/files/ir/governance/Synthomer_plc_
Remunetation_Policy_2018.pdf

This includes reference to our joiners and
leavars policy, which has been particularly
relevant this year due to Executive Director
changes.

In setting Executive Director remuneration the
Committee takes account of pay and
conditions throughout the Group to ensure
that arrangements are appropriate in the
context of internal pay ratios.

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Basa aalary

Generally reviewed annually. Following the appointment of the new CEO and CFO for 2022,
Executive Director salaries are as follows:

CEO £650,000 . Incoming CFO £440,000

{no increase in 2022 on 2021 salary of pro-rated {no increase as joining the
£650,000) Company during 2022).

Benefits

Includes private health insurance, life insurance, car allowance and costs related to business
moves (relocation) or international assignments. The CEQ will also receive a housing
allowance for a four-year pariod.

Penslon

Cash allowance of 7% of base salary for new CEO and incoming CFO, which is aligned with
that of the UK worklorce.

Annual bonus

Maximum up te 150% of base salary. At least 70% assessed against Underlying profit
befora tax (B0% in 2022), with up to 30% assessed against strategic and operational
measures (20% in 2022). Awards in relation 16 financial performance of:

0% 50% 100%
of maximum for of maximum for target of maximum for out
threshold performance performance.

A proportion of the bonus earmed is deferred for two years. For current Executive Directors
this is one third of any bonus.

Porformance Shara Plan (PSP)

Shares awarded may not exceed 200% of salary, for 2022 annual maximum awards are
200% of base salary for the CEQ and 150% for the CFO,

Vesting based ’on performance of three years, with at least 80% based on financial
measures and up to 20% on performance measures linked to the delivery of the business
strategy. No single measure will constitute more than 50% of an annual award. There is a
two-year post-vesting holding period requirement.

For 2022 awards, performance measures will be:

30% 30% 20% 20%

relative TSR EPS cost efficiencies related to strategic, of which halfis a
the Eastman’s Adhesive  sustainability measure
Resins business

Maximusm of 25% for each element will vest for threshold performance.
Shareholding requirements.

CEQ 220% and incoming CFO 200% of base salary.

Requirements to be built up over five years,




2021 performance

Annyal bonus

wodes oibeiens

Aclual performance against the three elements of the annual bonus are set out below. As noted in the Chair's introduction, Michael Willome
was hot awarded a bonus during 2021 as he did not start until the beginning of November 2021.

o
o
<
o
3
o
=
153
Q

Weighting Throshold Target Maximum Actual
Underlying PET e R TERET  =:53.0m g
=)
SHE (racordable injuries) 10% 0.33 or loss 0.31 2
- o
2
SHE (process safety) 10% 0.33 or less 0.16 g
Indiviclual strategic and operationat goals 10% See page 117 10% g
Total outcome 100% : 95% %
Performance share plan (PSP) - 2019 award

Actual performance against the three alements of the annual bonus are set out below. Michagl Willome did not receive a 2019 award as he
did not start until the beginning of November 2021, )
) Waighting Throshotd Target Actual g
Relative TSR 40% Bedan gquariile Unper guartile 80th percentila g
o
EPS growth 40% CEN T} ;.20 &
Strategic measures 20% See page 18 14.0% §r
Total outcome 100% 64.0% %
Q
g
5
2
g
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Corporate Governance

Annual rep_ort on
remuneration

Single figure of remuneration for Executive Directors (audited)

Base Tolal fixed Annual Long-térm Total variable
salary Benellts Pension rernuneration bonus Inceniivag4 remuneration Total
Year £ o Y £ £ L £ £

Executive Directors

M Willome' 2021 108,333 31,692 107,583 247 608 - - - 247,608
2020 - - R - - - - -
CG Mactean? 2021 495,627 11,000 114,908 621,536 706,268 703,638 1,409,906 2,031,442
2020 558,735 13,200 137,891 708,826 838,103 257,518 1,095,621 1,805,447
SG Bennett 2021 378,062 13,349 75,610 467,011 538,724 381,851 920,575 1,387,586
2020 355,158 13,530 71,032 439,720 532,737 128,711 661,448 1,101,168

Notes:

1. M Willome joined Synthomer as CEQ on 1 November 2021, He received a ona-off payment of £100,000 in compensation for the loss of pension-related pay from
his previous employer which is no greater than the amount he would have recsived had ha servad out his full notice period. M Willome also recelved £52,500 for
sarvices prior to his appointment as a Director,

2. CG MaclLean stepped down as a Director on 1 November 2021, His remuneration disclosed here has bean pro-rated to reflect this pariod.

3. For 2021 the values relate to awards granted under the 2071 PSP in 2019 which vest on 11 March 2022, Funther information about the level of vesting is provided
in this report, As these awards have not yet vested they have been valred based on the average share price for the period 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021
ol 466.3p, elong with accryed dividends from the date of grant. There was no share price appreciation thal affected the value of the award and so Remuneration
Committee did not exercise discretion in respect of the share price changes. -~

4. 2018 PSP awards vested on 8 March 2021. For the purpase of the 2020 single figure these awards were valued based on the average share price for the pericd
1 October 2020 to 31 Decembar 2020 of 403.8p. These awards have been re-valued based on the share price an the date of vesting of 459.6p. The values
disclosed in the 2020 single figure were: CG MacLean, £241,326 and SG Bennett, £120.617, The share price used 10 value the awards on the date of grant of
8 March 2018 was 488.4p. The share price used to value the PSP for single figure purposes of 459.6p represents a decrease of 28.8p per share. The proportion
of the PSP value disclosed in the single figure attributable to share price movement was thereiore a reduction of 5.9%. The Remuneration Cormmittes did not
exarcise discretion in respeact of the share prica changes.

Additional information for single figure remuneration

Benegfits Cor expenses/
benaf Oiherg Tatal
€ £ - N
M Willome® 2,200 20,492 31,692
CG Mactean i 11,000 - 11,000
SG Bennatt 12,500 849 13,349
Note:

1. Since M Willoma has moved from Switzerland to the UK, he will receive a manthly refocation allowance for the next four years. This allowance will be £7,800 per
month for the first year then £5,000 per maonth for the fallowing threse years, and will be grossed up for tax.

Annual bonus
2021 award
For 2021 the Company operated a cash bonus plan for the Executive Directors related to the achievement of Undertying profit before tax targsts,

SHE targets and individual strategic and operational goals.

The achievement of the Underlying profit before tax target represented up to 80% of the maximum bonus opportunity achievable of 150% of
annual basic salary for CG MacLean and SG Bennett.

The SHE targets ware given a 10% weighting of the maximum achievable, with the balance of 10% relating to individual strategic and operational
goals. :

Bonus for the year ended 31 December 2021
Maximum bonus  Total bonus as a Total borus
Executlve Directors B8 & % of salary % of maximum £
€G MacLean 150 95 706,268
SG Bennett 180 a5 538,724

2021 saw parformance that was ahead of financial targets and meaningful progress and achievermants against individual stratagic and
operational goals. Tha recordable injury portion of the SHE target was met but the process safety portion was missed.

This 2021 bonus cutcome of 85% of maximum is reflected across the wider organisation. 2021 was an extraordinary year, partly due to the
Covid-related lift in nitrites margins. Even without this uplift to performance, the full PBT target would have been achieved. The Committee

therefore considerad that this payout lavet was appropriate.

1 .16 Synthomer ple
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Further information on tha thrae elemants of the bonus is as follows:

1. Underlying profit before tax {80%)
The Underlying profit before tax targets set and achievement are set out below:

Thrashold Target Maximum Achiaved?
Level of award (% of elemant) 0% 50% 100% 261%
Underlying profil belorg lax £165.0m £173.7m £191.1m £453.0m
Naotes:
1. Targets are set by reference Lo the Board-approved intemal budget for the Group and measured on a constant cumency basis.
2. For the purposes of calculating achieved Underlying profit before tax, adjustments were made for curency.
2. SHE {10%}
Targets with an aggregate weighting of 10% related to improvements in recordable injury and process salsty.
Process safety
Recordabla injury {measured g9 process
(magsured as Injury rate) safety gvent rate)
Target 0.33 or loss 0.13 or less

Level of award

0% for a rate greater than 0.33
5% for a rate less than 0.33

0% for a rate greater than 0.13
5% for a rate less than 0.13

Rate achieved
Award gutcome

0.16
0%

0.31
5%

[}

Further details of the definition and measurement of the recordable injury rate and the process safety event rate are given on page 55.

3. Individual strategic and operational goals (10%)

Individual goals and achigvements against them considered by the Remuneration Committee with an aggregate weighting of 10% included:

Chlet Executive Officar

Chief Financlel Officer

Target 1. Drive development of a five-year NBR invastment plan
2. Review profitability at site level and create an action plan

3. Develop and lead business-wide ESG strategy

1. Review and make recommendations in respect of the
control environment

2. Roli out planned implemeantation phases of the Pathway
programme

3. Oversee tax review of the OMNQOVA acquisition and NBR
investment plan

Level of award Up to 10%

Up to 10%

Chlet Exacutiva Qfficer

Chief Financlal Officer

Parformance
against targets

Drive development of a five-yaar NBR invastment plan

* The CEO led a team through 2021 which considered all aspects of
this potential Investment, including demand and supply, location
comparatives and options and timing. The team reported to the
Board regularly through 2021, which had detailed discussions
on various aspects of the potential investment and agreed further
work (0 be undertaken, The CEO guided the team and advised
tha board on the stratagic aspects and personally led some
speclfic aspects of the thinking as well as leading discussions
with potential partners and investors.

Review profitability at a site level and create an action plan

* In 2021, there were a number of projects whera the CEQ oversaw
substantlal progress in planning for transformation, including the
closure of Mad 3 {and transformation of the Marl site generally), the
L& Havre site transformation. the Sckolov site transforrmation (and
ckysure of the site’s coal-fired power station) and Oulu site closure.
A strong team was guided and led in addressing the various aspacts
and considerations — the complexity of product and site interactions
wasg panicularly important to address. The team prasented Lo the
Board on several occasions and addressed the Board's questions
and suggestions, leading to approval of the proposals.

Devealop and lead business-wide ESG strategy

* The business had undertaken a lot of work “under the radar” ahead
of 2021, and Calum led the tean in developing Vision 2030 and
debating and proposing key targets In tha main ESG priorities
far Synthomer. He empowered the team to develop the plan and
showed leadership in debating some quita new areas of focus for the
busingss. His investor communications instiled a level of confidence
In Synthomer’s sustainability position in water basad polymers.

Review and made recommendations in respect of the

control environment

« Tha CFO led his team in reflecting on tha changing environment,
the growth in the scals of the Group as well as the potential
changes which might arisa from tha 2021 audit and assurance
BEIS consultation. As well as Board training sessions in April
and June 2021, the CFO and the team engaged KPMG to advise
on implemanting an Audit and Assurance Policy and developing
a plan for putling in placa an Assurance Map. He also engaged
Delgitte to advise on climate change and TCFD reporting.
His taam then developed plans to raady the controls environment
for any Sarbanes Oxley type audit requirements laveraging the
skills of membars of the former OMNOVA Finance teamn. A clear
assessmant of impact and urgency of actions was produced.

Roll out ptanned implementation phasas of the

Pathway programme

* The Pathway programme was realigned in 2020, during the
pandemic and the CFQ has overseen the team as they worked
through to the successful go-live of the first sites in 2021,
The business is now moving forward with the next phass.

Oversee tax review of the OMNCVA acquisition and NBR

investment plan

* The CFO oversaw significant progréss was mada in tax matiers
and investment in tax resources during 2021. The Board received
regular updates on the potential tax implications of the proposed
NBR investment.

Award outcome 10%

10%
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Additional information for single figure remuneration (audited)

Long-term incentives - Performance share plan

The awards made on 11 March 2019 for CG MacLean and for $G Bennett under the PSP were subject to a relative total shareholder return (TSR)
performance condition, an absolute Underlying earnings per share parformance condition and a strategic measures condition, as follows:

Ralative TSR condition EPS condition®

Company relative TSR EPS for tha 2021 financial year Percentage of award that vests Performance achieved
performance against the FTSE

250 Index {excluding investment

trusts and financial services

companies) over a thrae-year

period ended

31 Dacember 2021

Upper quartile 41.0p or more 40% EPS of 75.2p gives full 40%
Betwesn madian and upper Between 35.2p and 41.0p On a straight-line basis between vesting of the award.

quartile ) 10% and 40% TSR parformance at the 50th
Median 35.2p N 10% percantile gives vesting of 10.0%
Below meadian Less than 35.2p 0% of award.

Nota:

1..The targets have been adjusted to take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713 for the rights issue in 2019 and additional OMNOVA eamnings from 1 April 2020,
A further 20% of the award was subject to three equally weighted strategic measures:
* Percentage of Group sales (by volurme) in the 2021 financial year derived from new products launched in the last five years and patented

preducts. .
Naw product percentage’ Percentage of eward that vests - Parcentage achleved
< 15% 0% 24% gives full vesting of 6.6% of award.
15% - 20% 1.65% - 6.6%
> 20% 5.6%
Note:

1. Excluding volume attributable to Monomars, where there is no scope for new product development.

» Cumulative Underlying profit before tax (PBT) added through acquisitions for the thres years ended 31 December 2021,

Cumylative PEIT agded through acquistions Percentage of award that vests Percantage achievad

< £30.0m 0% £39.4m gives vasting of 3.2% of award.
£30.0m - £60.0m 1.65% - 6.6%

> £86.5m 6.6%

* Return on Invested Capital {RQOIC) target tracks three growth projects commissioned in 2019 that were expected to impact the Group in the
2021 financial year. The three projscts selected were JOBS in Malaysia, Worms in Germany and Roebuck in the USA. An overall ROIC
thrashold was set at 18.3%, based on the weighted average of the three individual praject targets. Given the greater importance of the larger
projects, the ROIC part of the award was weighted at 50% for JOBS, 25% for Worms and 25% for Roebuck. The award started to vest for each
individual project at 80% of the anticipated ROIC, based on the original investment cases that were brought before the Beard at the time the
prajects were approved. The overall ROIC on these projects was 57.0% which exceed the threshold of 18.3%. Of the individual projects, JOBS
and Roebuck reached the vesting threshold attaining 523.3% and 85.9% of their targets. This led to 61.7% vesting of the ROIC portion and
therefore 4.2% of the overall award. '

In aggregate, 64.0% of the 2019 award vested, and the Committea did not exercise any discretion with the level of vasting.

The 2019 award will vest for CG MacLean and SG Bennett in March 2022 as follows:
Estimated value
No. of shares in No. of sharas No. of sharas of sharas that

originas sward' thal lapse? that vest vest
CG MaclLean 235,069 94,097 140,972 £703,638
SG Bennett ) 119,536 43,033 76,503 £381,851

Note:
1. Number of shares in eriginal award were adjusted to take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713 for the rights issua in July 2019.
2. CG MacLean left Synthomer on 13 January 2022 triggering a time-apportioned lapse of 14,800 shares.

Overall, the Committee considers that the Remuneration Palicy has oparated as it intended during 2021 and that the pay outcomes are aligned
with the experience of shareholders and other stakeholders,

1 -1 8 Synthomaer plc
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Pension entitlements {audited)

}

Both Executive Directors receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions as outlined above. No additional benefit is receivable in the

event of a Dirsctor retiring early.

Single figure of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors {audited)

Committes
membership Commitiee
Non-Exggutiva Directors Base fes 180 Ghalr fee Yotal
CA Johnstone 2021 189,500 - - 189,500
2020 46,367 15,000 4,783 66,150
The Hon. AG Catto 2021 43,500 - - 43,500
2020 41,571 - - 41,571
BWD Connolly! 2021 48,500 15,000 5,000 68,500
2020 45,731 15,000 5,000 65,731
Cynthia Dubin 2021 43,500 15,000 5,000 63,500
2020 18,965 6,935 217 26,117
RC Gualdoni? 2021 20,815 7,177 - 27.992
‘ 2020 - - - -
Dr JJC Jansz? 2021 32,625 11,250 - 43,875
‘ . 2020 40,742 15,000 - 55,742
Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 2021 43,500 - - 43,500
2020 41,849 - - 41,849
HA Van Deursen 2021 43,500 15,000 - 58,500
2020 40,742 15,000 - 55,742
Notes:
1. Base fee includes an amcunt of £5,000 per annum for role as Senior Independent Diractar.
2. Appointed 1o the Board on 8 July 2021.
3. Resigned on 29 September 2021.
Directors’ shareholding and share interests {(audited)
Vested unfattzor::
n lsed Interests in Unvasted Interests in
Company performance shareaand performance Share optlons Share shares at
shares related options vasted options related options exercised ownership 31 December
- 3D b Ao b 31 D b I ] during requirements 2021
Diractors. 2021 2021 2021 2027 2021 (% otsplary)* (% of salary}
M Willome - - - 198,295 - 220% 0%
" GG MacLean® 1,060,347 - 1,060,347 512,067 56,031 n/a n/a
SG Bennett 185817 - 195,817 426,467 26,660 175% 209%
The Hon. AG Catto 1,649,239
7,072,441
BWO Caonnolly 6,000
CS Dubin ‘ -
RC Gualdoni 20,000
Dato’ Les Hau Hian 148,453
CA Johnstona 24131
DrJ J C Jansz* . 12,500
HA Van Deursen 11,000 )

Notes:
* Non-beneficial interast,

. Unvested parformance relatad options comprise: (i} the awards mada under tha PSP in 2018, which were adjusted 10 take account of the bonus facter of 1.0713

for the rights issue in 2019 and (i) the awards made under the PSP in 2020 and 2021. Detalls of the perfermance conditions attaching 1o the 2019 awards are set

out on page 118; 2020 and 2021 awards are sat out below.

2. Until this requirement is met, no sales of shares that vest under long-term incentive plans are permitted other than to satisfy tax liabilities that arise on the axercise
of share awards under such plans. The Committea considars that unfettered unexercised vested nil-cost awards are economically equivalent 1o sharas and as
such that they should count (on a net of tax basis) toward compliance with the share ownership guidelings.

3. The figures for CG MacLean reflect his shareholding and tima pro-rated share interests on 1 November 2021, the date that he stepped down as a Director.

4. The figure for JJC Jansz reflect his shareholding on 28 September 2021, the date that he stepped down as & Niractar,

Therg have been no changes in the interests of the Directors in shares between 31 Dacember 2021 and 3 March 2022.
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

2020 award (audited)
The awards made on 12 March 2020 to CG Mackean and SG Bennett were as follows:

Parcertage
vosting at
Number of threshold Performance
Schame Basis o award sheres Face valua performance  period and date
CG MaclLean PSP - nil-cost options 150% of aalary 021,524 £827,348 25% 31/12/2022
SG Bennett PSP - nil-cost options 120% of salary 163,500 £420,718 25% 31/12/2022

The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 257.32p per share, the average share price on the five dealing days prior to
the date of grant.

Furthar awards werg made on 6 May 2020 to CG MacLean and SG Bennett, following the approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the
AGM held on 29 April 2020, as follows:

Percentage
vegling ot
Number of threshoio Pertormance
Scheme Bagks of award shares Face value performance period and date
CG Maclean PSP - nil-cost options 25% of salary 49,780 £137,891 25% 31/12/2022
SG Bennett PSP - nil-cost options 15% of salary 18,985 £52,588 25% 31/12/2022

The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 277p per shara, the average share prica on the five dealing days prior to the
date of grant, . >

Therafore, the total awards for Ca MacLean and SG Bennett in 2020 was:

Percentage
vasting at
Nurnbar of hreshold Performance
Scheme Bagis of award shares Face value performance period end dale
CGMacLean” PSP - nil-cost options 175% of salary 371,304 £965,237 25% 31/12/2022
SG Bennett PSP - nil-cost options 135% of salary 182,485 £473,306 25% 31/12/2022

1. CG MacLean left Synthomer on 13 January 2022 triggering a time-apportioned lapse of 150,005 shares leaving a balance of 221,280 shares.

The 2020 awards under the PSP are subject to the following performance conditions:
Relailve TSR condition EPS condition' Synergles dellvered irom tha OMNOVA acquisition
Company-relative TSR performance against

the FTSE 250 index {sxchiding Invesiment
trusts and linancial services companies) over

thrae-year period ending 31 Cacember 2022 EPS for 1he 2022 financlal year Synergy delvery run rate by 31/12/2022 Percentage of award that will vest
Upper quartile 33.8p or more $29.6m or more 30%

Betwesn 29.0p Between $25.0m  On a straight-line basis between
Between median and upper quartile and 33.8p and $29.6m 7.5% and 30%
Median 29.0p $25.0m 7.5%
Below median Lass than 29.0p Less than $25.0m 0%

1, The targets were adiusted 10 take account of the additional OMNOVA earnings from 1 April 2020,

A further 10% of the award is subject to a strategic measure relating to a 10% reduction of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions over the
performance period, excluding additional emissions from the acquired OMNOVA business.

]
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2021 awards {audited)

The awards made on 11 Mar¢h 2021 to CG MacLean and SG Bennett wera as follows: §
Parceniage §
wasiing ai 3
Number of threshokd  Performance 3
Schame Basis of award shares' Face value performance period end date §
CG Maclean PSP - nil-cost options - 200% of salary 261,038 £1,189,476 25% 3112/2023
SG Bennett PSP - nil-cost options 150% of salary 124,446  £567,063 25% 31/12/2023
1. CG MacLean left Synthomer on 13 January 2022 triggering a time-apportioned lapse of 190,540 shares leaving a balance of 70,499 shares.
The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 455.67p per share, tha average share price on the five dealing days prior to ‘3’
the date of grant. ' 3
[
The award made on 8 November 2021 to M Willome was as follows: 2
Percantage
vesting at
Number of threaheid Perlormance
Schams Basis of award shares Face valua performance _ period end date
M Willocme PSP - nil-cost options 200% of salary 198,295 £1,011,108 25% 31/12/2023
The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 508.9p per share, the average share price on the tive dealing days prior to the g
date of grant. This award was time-apportioned from M Willome's starting date. °
Relative TSR condition EP3 condltlon %
Company-relative TSR performance against  EPS for the 2023 financial year Percentage of award that will vest g
the FTSE 250 Index {excluding investrnant 3
trusts and financial services companias) aver g‘
three-year period ending 31 Decermber 2023
Upper quartile 38.5p or more 40%
Between median and upper quartile Between 33.0p and 38.5 pence On a straight-line basis between 10% and 40%
Median 33.0p . 10%
Below median ‘ Less than 33.0p 0%
A further 20% of the award is subject to strategic measures comprising: a 15% reduction of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions compared to
the 2019 baseline and greater than 15% of 2023 sales volume to comae from new products launched in the five years to Decembar 2023,
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Annual Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021
Operation of the Executive Director Remuneration Policy tor 2022
The current policy has been In force since 29 Aprit 2020. The specific remuneration arrangements for 2022 are described balow.

Base salary A salary increase was awarded with effect from 1 January 2022 of 3.0% for the current Chief Financial Officer in line

with that for the averags of the UK workforce, The Chief Executive Officer did not receive a salary increase for 2022,

2022 salaries are as follaws: )

* M Willome: £650,000

* SG Bennett: £389,394

* L Liw: £440,000
Pension and Pension contributions for new directors are aligned with that of the UK workforce. Executives receive a cash allowance in
benefits lieu of pansion contributions, car allowance and private health insurance. Since M Willome has moved from Switzerland to

the UK, the Gompany also agreed a monthly relocation allowance for the next four years, This allowance will be £7,800 per
month for the first year than £5,000 per month for the following thres years, and will be grossed up for tax.

2022 cash allowances in lieu of pansion contributions are:

* M Willome: 7% of salary
* SG Boennett: 20% of salary
¢ L Liw: 7% of salary

Annual borus

For 2022, performance under the annual bonus will be measured on the following basis:

* BD% subject to performance against Undsrlying profit before tax targets

¢ 10% subject to performance measures against key SHE targsts

¢ 10% subject to performance against individual strategic and operational goals

* Targets and objectives for 2022 are, by their financial and commercial nature, considered by the Board to be unsuitable
for digclosure in advance. However, the Committer will provide information on targets and objectives retrospectively.

2022 maximum award opportunity:

*« M Willome: 150% of salary
s 3G Bennett: 150% of salary
* L Liu: 150% of salary

Performance For awards to be made in 2022, performance will be measurad as follows:
share plan * 30% based on relative TSR performance versus FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts and financial
servites companies):
— 25% of this element will vaat for median performance
- 1009% vesting for upper-quartite performance
- Vesting on a straight-fine basis between thase points
* 30% based on Underying EPS growth:
— 25% of this element will vest for EPS growth of 4.5% per annum
- 100% vesting for EPS growth of 10% per annum
- Vesting on a straight-tine basis batwsean these points
- This target range was set following consideration of the long-term strategy and the outiook for the markets in which
we pperate
- 2021 EPS has been rebased for target setting purposes, to take account of the exceptional margins in Nitrile latex.
Sea page 115.
* 20% based on cost efficiencies as a result of the Eastman's Adhesive Resins business
* 20% based on strategic targets, of which half will be a sustainability measure linked to a reduction in CO; emissions
of up to 40% frorn the 2019 baseline and half will be linked to the introduction of new and protected products.
2022 maximum award opportunity:
* M Willome: 200% of salary .
* SG Bennett: 150% of salary
» | Liw: 150% of salary
Shareholding The Chief Executive Officer and the current Chief Financial Officer are expectad to build interests in shares of at least 220%
guidelines during  and 175% of salary respectively. L Liu will be expacted to build interests in shares of at least 200% of salary.
employment
Chair and Non- The fees to ba paid in 2022 to the Chair and the Nen-Executive Directors were reviewed in December 2021 and as a result:
Executive Directors

s The Chair's fee was increased from £189,500 to £235,000 per annum with effect from 1 January 2022 to reflect the
greater time commitimant that the role requires and its increased complexity.

» The feas for Non-Executive Directors were increased in line with the average pay increase for the Group’s UK workforce
with affect from 1 January 2022

1 2 2 | Synthomer pic
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Payments to past directors (audited)

While CG MacLean steppad down as CEQ at the start of November 2021, his agreed formal leaving date was 13 January 2022, meaning he
was entilled to an annual bonus for 2021, The benus payment will ba paid entirely in cash on the normal bonus payment date and will be subject
1o the Remuneration Committee’s right under the Rules to apply malus and clawback provisions. He will not be eligible to receive any bonus in
respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2022.

The Remuneration Committee determined that, taking into account the circumstances of the departure, the transition between the leadership
of the Company and CG MacLean's contribution to the business during his tenure, he would be treated as 2 ‘good leaver’ for the purpose of his
unvested awards under the Performance share plan. In line with the approved policy, the awards will be reduced on a time-apportioned basis,
which will be calculated to 31 December 2021, Awards will be subject to the relevant performance conditions which will be measured at the
normal time. '

Pro-rated maximum number of shares

Award date Number ¢! shares subleci to award which could vasi Vesing date

2019 235,069 220,269 11 March 2022
2020 . 371,304 221,299 12 March 2023
2021 ) 261,039 70,499 11 March 2024

Any dividend equivalents accrued In respect of these awards would be paid in cash following vesting and will be pro-rated in line with the level
of vesting of the relevant PSP award. Any shares acquired on the'exercise of the awards will be subject to the Remuneration Committee’s right
under the PSP to apply clawback provisions.

Details of the vesting of the award made to CG Maclean in 2019 together with alt other remuneration paid to CG MacLean in 2021 are contained’
in this report.

The Synthomer post-employment shareholding guidelinas which came into etfect in April 2021 have not been applied as CG MacLean gave
notice of termination before they ware introduced. He is, however, contractually bound to hold Synthomer's shares post-employment as follows:

Shares Eartlest clata shares can be sald
6,311 shares deferred from 2019 bonus paid in March 2020 26 March 2022

17,316 shares from vesting of 2017 PSP award in May 2020 4 May 2022

31,979 sharas deferred from 2020 bonus paid in March 2021 26 March 2023

56,031 shares from vesting of 2018 PSP award in March 2021 8 March 2023

Payments for loss of office {audited)
No payments for loss of office were made during the year.
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Performance graph and table
The graph and table below allow comparison of the TSR of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer remuneration outcomes over the last
10 years.

TSR chart
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- Synthomer plc == FTSE 250 (axcluding Investment trusts)

The graph abova compares the TSR performance of the Company with that of the FTSE 260 {(excluding investment trusts). This is considered to
be the most appropriate index against which to make a comparisen and was chosen because it represants a broad equity market index of which
the Company is a constituent.

2012 2013 2044 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2020 2021
Chief Executive
Officer total single
figure of remuneration
{£'000} 1,487 923 967 1,246 1,218 2,516 1,807 893 1,805 2,279
Bonus (% of
maximum awarded) 27.0 0.0 57.3 96.7 100.0 100.0 76.5 200 100.0 95.0
PSP (% of maximum
vasting) 100.0 50.0 0.0 n‘a n/a 96.3 86.2 10.0 31.8 64.0

The Chief Exacutive Officer total single figure of remuneration includes salary, benefits and pension contributions paid in the year, together with
bonuses and long-term incentive awards which vested based on performance in the year.

The 2021 single figure comprises the figure for CG Macl.ean, which covers the period to 31 October and the figure for M Willome, which covers
the period from 1 November to 31 December 2021.

Chief Executive Officer to all employee pay ratio
The following table pravides pay ratio data in respect of the Chief Executive Officer’s total remuneration compared to the 25th, median and 75th

percentiie employes.

25th percentlle 75th percentile
Financlal year Mathod pay rallo  Median pay ratlo pay ratlo
2021 Option 8 . 54:1 44:1 31:1
2020 Option B 37:1 281 22:1
2019 . Option B 281 23:1 16:1

The employees used for the purposes of compiling the table above were identified on a full-time equivalent basis at the pay period during which
5 April 2021 fell. Option B, which involves identifying the emplayess at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile from our gender pay gap report, was
chosen as the calculation methodology.

Onption B is considered to be the most simple and accurate way of identifying the relevant employses. Using this methodology we were able to
identify specific employees to make the required comparisons.

The ratio has increased for 2021 chiefly due to the increase in the PSP cutcome.
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The definition of pay used included the following: )

* Annual salary

s Car allowances

= All pther cash allowances
+ All bonuses and incentive scheme payments for services delivered in the year
* Private medical insurance value

AN

The following table provides salary and total remuneration information in respact of the employees at each quartile.
25th percentile 75th percentile
Flnancial year Elemant of pay employes Median employes employes
2021 Satary 36,394 43,425 57,756
Total rernuneration 42,277 52,342 72,622

Our Chiet Executive Officer pay is made up of a higher proportion of incentive pay than that of the majority of our employees. This s likely to
introduce more variability in the Chief Executive Officer total compeansation.

The Board have confirmed that the ratios are consistent with the Company's wider policies on employee pay, reward and prograssion.

Percentage change in remuneration of the Directors

The table below sets out the increase in salary, benefits and annual bonus of the Directors compared with a setected group of employses.

The parent company, Synthomer plc, does not have any direct employees so a comparator group of employeas of the Group’s main UK trading
subsidiary has been used, comprising 463 employees. The Directors consider that this employee population is the most relevant for comparison
purposes, taking into account geographical location and remuneration structure.

2021 ) 2020

wodal aibeeng

Banefits % Banofiis %
Salary and fee % Increase’ Annualbonus % Salary and fea % incraase/ Annual bonus %
increase (aecraase) Inctease Incraase {decreass) increass
M Willome! n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
CG Mactlean 2.5 - 1.4 1.3 - 507.8
SG Bennett ) 25 1.3 1.1 13 (24.1) 560.7
CA Johnstona 25 n/a n/a n/a n/a
The Hon. AG Catto 5.6 n/a n/a 03 n/a n‘a
8WD Connolly 5.4 n/a n/a 1.1 nfa na
C Dubin 3.1 n/a n/a n/a n/a wa
RC Gualdoni! n/a n/a na n‘a n‘a n/a
Dr JJC Jansz 3.6 na n/a 1.3 n/a n/a
Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 28 n/a n/a 16 na n/a
HA Van Deyrsen 36 na n/a 1.3 n/a n/a
Average change for employeas 2.6 3.2 36.5 1.4 {4.4) 622.7

MNote:
1. M Willome and R Guatdoni were appointed to the Board in 2021,

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the relative importance of the Group's all employee remuneration expense compared with returns to shareholders by way
of dividends.

2021 2020

£m £m % change .
Dividends paid 73.5 12.8 474.2
Total employee remuneration 243.7 211.3 153

Dividends are the dividends paid in the year, The final 2019 dividend was cancelled at the onset of COVID-18 in March 2020. Total employmant
remuneration is the consolidated salary and bonus cost for all Group employees.
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

/

External appointments

Executive Directors are permitted to accept external appointments with the prior approval of the Board, provided that there is no adverse impact
on their role and duties to the Company. Any fees arising from such appointments may be retained by the Exacutive Directors where the
appointment is unrelated to the Group's busingss.

M Willome has been a non-exacutive director of Glaston Oyj {Nasdaqg Helsinki) since May 2020 and received a Board membership fee of EUR
38.000in 2021. M Willome has sat on European subsidiary boards of indutrade AB since 2013 and received a board membership fee of CHF
30,000 in 2621,

SG Bennett does not currenily hold any external appointments.

Remuneration Committec

Remuneration Committee membership since 1 January 2021:
Brendan Connolly (Chair)

Cynithia Dubin

Roberto Gualdoni (from 8 July 2021)

Just Jansz {to 29 September 2021)

Hally A Van Deursen

Attendance at Committee meetings is set out on page 93.

Key duties of the Committee

During 2021 the Committee was responsible for determining, in agreement with the Board, the Company's policy on exgcutive rermuneration
and the specific remuneration for the Chair and each of the Executive Directors, including pension rights, within the terms of the agreed policy.
The Committee was also responsible for the specific remuneration of the Executive Committee and for reviewing remuneration elsewhers

in the Group.

Advisers - ,
The Chief Exacutiva Qfficer, Company Secrétary and Group HR Director ara invited to attend Committee meetings to contribute to the
Committee in its deliberations. However, no individual is involved in discussions, or is part of any decisions, relating to their own rermuneration.

The Cammittae raceived independant advice fram Delgitte LLP (Deloitte} which was appainted as the Committee's independant remuneration
adviser in April 2013.

During the year, Deloitte provided advice on governance and market trends and other remuneration matters that materially assisted the
Committes. The fees paid to Deloitte in respect of this work were charged on a time and expenses basis and totalled £13,000 for advice in 2021,
The Committee is comfortable that the Deloitte engagement team that provides remuneration advice to the Comrmittee do not have connections
with the Company or its Directors that may impalr their independence. Ths Committee reviewed the potential for conflicts of interest and judged that
there were appropriate safeguards against such conflicts. Deloitte also provided tax services to part of the Group and advice on implementation
of TCFD to the Board in the year. The Commitiee was satisfied that this did not compromise the independence of the advice received.

Deloitte is a founding member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to its Coda of Conduct. Deloitte was appointed directly by
the Committes, and tha Committee is satisfied that the advice received was objéctive and independent.

Statement of voting at the AGM
The table below sets out the results of the votas on the Directors' remuneration at the 2021 AGM {Annual Repeort on Remuneration) and the 2020

AGM {Directors’ Remuneration Policy).

Votas for Votes 898INSt  yoses withheld

Number % of vote Number % of vote Number

2021 Annual Repoert on Remuneration 341,442,799 96.53 12,278,209 3.47 26,045
2020 Directors’ Remuneration Policy 322,152,827 91.98 28,080,122 8.02 28,501

By order of the Board

R Atkinson
N

Company Secretary J; »

03 March 2022 3
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Corporate Governance

Directors’ report

The Directors submit their Annual Report and
the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 Dacember 2021. None
of the matters required to be disclosed by
Listing Rule 8.8.4R apply to the Company,
axcept for the following:

+ The amount of capitalised interest -
ses Financial staternents note 2

+ Details of long-term incentive programmes
- sea Directors’ Remuneration report on
pages 112-126

» Shareholder waiver of dividends -
see Financial staterments note 31.

The Directors’ report Is covered on pages
126-128 as well as in the following sections of
the Annual Report:

Location in Anrual
hem Repon

Statement of Directors’ Page 129
responsibilities
Financial risk management Financial
statements —
note 22
Present Board Pages 84-87
membership
Corporate Governance Pages 90-97
report
Strategic report {incfuding Inside
principal activitias) front cover
’ 1o page 82
Management of risk ana Pages 69-81
viability statement
Employee angagement Pages 62-66

Directors’ rernuneration Pages 112-126

raport
Share capital Financial
statements —
note 27
Greenhouse gas emissions Pages 182-183
Sustainability report Pages 42-68

Results and dividends

The profit attributable to shareholders for

the year was £208.7 million. An interim
dividend of 8.7 pence per share was paid

on 4 November 2021. The total dividend paid
for the year was £73.5 miillion. The Directars
recornmend a final ordinary dividend of 21.3
pence per share payable on 5 July 2022 to
those shareholdars registerad at the close

of business on 6 June 2022. A dividend
reinvestmant plan 1s available to shareholders
and this alternative will continue to be offered
until further notice.

Acquisitions and disposals

On 7 April 2021 the Company completed the
sale of Synthamer Thailand Limited to Rimrise
FZE. On 28 October 2021 the Company agreed
to acquire Eastman’'s Adhesive Resins business
for $1 billion.

Directors
All the Directors will retire and seek election
or re-glection at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors seeking re-election

has a service contract except Michael
Willome and Stephen Bennett, who both have
a service contract that contains a 12-month
notice period. Stephen Bennett gave notice of
termination on 4 August 2021 and has agreed
a termination date with the Company of

4 November 2022,

Director indemnity provisions

Under the Company's Articles of Association,
the Directors of the Company have the benefit
of a qualifying third-party indemnity provision.
This means the Company indemnifies them
against certain liabilities, as permitted by
Sections 232 and 234 of the Companies Act
2006, and against costs incurred by them in
relation to any liability for which they are
indemnified. The Company has purchased
and maintains insurance against Directors'
and officers' liabilitres in relation

the Company.

Share capital and control

On 28 Qctober 2021 the Company
completed a placing of 42,485,080

new ordinary shares of 10 pence each.
This representad approximately 10% of the
Company's issuved share capital immediately
before the placing and was connected to
the financing of the acquisition of Eastman’s
Adhesive Resins business, which was
announced that day. During 2021 no shares
were purchased. A total of 99,927 shares
were purchased on the open market on
behalf of the shareholders who elected 1o
participate in the dividend reinvestment plan.

The Company's Articles of Association set
out the rights and obligations attached to
the Company's ordinary shares, being the
only class of issued share capital, alongside

-the powers of the Company's Directors.

Copies can be obtained from Companias
House or downloaded from the Company’s
website: www._synthomer.com. There ars
no restrictions on the voting rights attached
to the Company's ordinary shares or on
the transfer of securities in the Company.
No person holds securities in the Company
that canry special rights with regard to the
control of the Company. The Company is not
aware of any agreements betwaen holders
of securities that may result in restrictions on
the transfer of securities or on voting rights.
Unless expressly specified to the contrary
in the Company’s Articles of Association,
those Articles of Association may be
amended by special resolution of the
Company's shareholders.

Other than in relation to its borrowings,
which become repayable on a takeover
unless certain conditions are satistied,

the Company is not party to any significant
agreements that would come into effect,
alter or terminate upon a change of control
prompted by a takeover bid. The Company
does not have agreements with any
Director or employee that would provide
compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting fram a takeover.

All of the Company’s share programmas
contain provisions relating to a change of
control. Qutstanding options and awards
would normally vest and become exercisable
on a change of control, subjact to the
satisfaction of any performance conditions
at that time.
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Corporate Governance

Directors’ report continued

Major sharehoidings

r

Other than the shareheldings disclosed as Directors’ interasts in the Directors’ remuneration
report as at 18 February 2022, the Company had been notifiad under Section 5 of the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authority of the fallowing significant

holdings of voting rights in its ordinary shares:

Percentage of
Ordinary sharas  ordinary shares In
{number} issua Nature of hoiding
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Bhd 99745012 21.34 Direct interest
Jupiter Fund Management ple 24,965,862 534 Indirect intarast
Ameriprise Financial Inc 21,103,757 4.562 Direct and indirect interest
Aegon Asset Management UK PLC 12,425,941 2.66 Direct and indirect interest
Employment policies and employee Subsidiaries

involvement

The Group gives every Consigeration

to job applications from disabled people.
Employees who become disabled are
given every opportunity to continue working
for Synthomer under normal terms and
conditions with appropriate training, carasr
development and promotion wharaver
possible. The Group seeks to achieve
equal opportunitias in ermployment

through recruitment and training policies.

The Group encourages employee invalvement
in its affairs. The Company regularly engages
with employees to make them aware of the
financial and economic factors affecting
Group performance. Performance-related
bonus programmes are in cparation
throughout the Group. Alexander Catto

is the designated Non-Executive Director
responsible for gathering the views of the
worklorca. Further information on'the Board's
workforce engagement methods can be
found on pages 95 to 97. The Group's
approach to diversity and inclusion is
explained on pages 42 and 63-565.

Authority to purchase own shares

The Company has a general authority to
make market purchases of not more than
42,485,096 of the Company's ordinary
shares, in accordance with the terms of the
special resolution passed at the 2021 AGM.
. This expires at the conclusion of the 2022
AGM. A resolution will be tabled at the 2022
AGM to renew this authority for an amount
representing approximately 10% of the

" Company's issued share capital as at

2 March 2022.

Political donations
No political donations were made in the year.

UK pensicn funds

The trustees have reviewed the independent
investmant management ol the assets ot
the Company's UK pension schemes and
assured themselves of the security and
controls in place. In particular, it is the
trustees’ policy not o invast in Synthomer ple
shares nor lend money to the Company.

Synthomer plc
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All the Group's subsidiaries, joint ventures
and related undertakings are listed on pages
179-180.

Statement as to disclosure of

-information to auditor

Each Director of the Company confinms
that, to the best of their knowledge, the
Company’s auditor is aware of all relevant
audit information. Each Dirgctor aiso confirms
that he or she has taken all necessary steps
as a Director to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish
that the information has been shared with
the Company's auditor. For these purposes,

-relevant audit information means information

needed by the Company's auditor in
‘connection with preparing its report on
pages 131-136. This confirmation is given
and should be interpreted in accordance
with section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Qoing concern

The Directors have acknowledged the latest
guidance on geing concern and in reaching
their gonclusions have taken into account
factors that include:

» A $280 million term loan and a €460 million
revalving credit facility with five-year terms
ending on 3 July 2024

* A €520 million bond due 2025

+ The new committed $300 mitlion term
loan facitity entered into on 28 October
2021 in connection with the financing
of the acquisilion of Eastman’s Adhesive
Resins business.

After making enquiries and taking account
of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, the Directors are satisfied
that, at the time of approving the financial
statemaents, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements of both the Group
and the Company.

Cautionary statement

The purpose of this report is to provide
information to the members of the Company.
1t contains certain forward-looking statements
with respect to the operations, performance
and financial condition of the Group. By their
nature, these statements involve uncertainty,
since future events and circumstances

can cause results and developments to
differ materially from those anticipated.

The forward-looking statements reflect
knowladge and information available at

the date of preparation of this report and

the Company is under no abligation to
update these forward-lcoking statements,
Nothing in this report should be construed
as a profit forecast,

Independent auditors
A resolution to appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the

- Company's auditor will be proposed at the

next AGM,

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held at the offices of the
Company at 45 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5JG
on 28 April 2022 at 11.00 am.
By order gf the Board
he £ S
Richard Atkinson
Company Secratary

3 March 2022



Corporate Governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are respensible for preparing
the Annual Report and the financlal
statarnants in accorgance with applicable
law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financial statements in accordance
with UK-adopted intarnational accounting
standards and the Company financiat
statements in accordance with UK Generally
Acceptad Accounting Practice (UK Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework, and applicable law).
The Group has also prepared the financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs adopted
pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002

as it applies in the European Union.

Under company law the Directors must

not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and Company and of the profit or loss of
the Group and Company for that period.

In preparing the financial statements,

the Directors are required to:

= Select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently
* State whether applicable UK-adopted
iFRSs and IFRSs adopted pursuant to
Regulation (EC) No 1806/2002 as it appfies
in the European Union have been followed
for the Group financial statements and UK
accounting standards, cornprising FRS 101
have been followed for the Company
financial statements, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements
Maka judgements and accounting estimates
that are reasonable and prudent and
Prepare the tinancial statements on the
going concern basis unless itis
inappropriate to presume that the Group
and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Dirgctors are also responsible for kesping
adequate accounting records that are -
sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensura that the financial
statements and the Directors’ remuneration
report comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

The Directors consider that the Annual
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group and
Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

Each of the Diractors, whose names and
functions are listed in the Directars' report
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

» the Group financial statemants, which
have been prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting
standards IFRSs as adopted pursuant to
Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies
in tha Eurgpean Union;
the Company financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with
UK accounting standards, comprising
FRS 101 give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities and financial position
of the Company; and
the Directors' report includes a fair review
of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the Group
and Company, together with a description
. of the principal risks and uncertainties that
it faces.

By order of the Board

M Willome
Chief Executive Officer

506G Bennett
Chief Financial Officer
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Group
: * financial
statements

. Our specialist high
- solid SBR and SA and SBR
compounded products provide
high performance binders for the
backing of carpet and artificial turf and
as gel foam elastomers for floor
coverings, footwear and mattresses.
In all types of carpet {from wovens fo
automotive) and artificial turf we provide
compounded products with technical
service and support to optimise
the performance of the
floor covering.
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report

to the members of Synthomer pic

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion: !

Synthomer Ple’s Group financial statements and Company financial
statements (the "financial statements"™) give a true and fair view

of the state of the Group's and of the Company's affairs as at

31 December 2021 and of lhe Group's profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have besn properly prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards;
» the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirernents of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the

Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated balance sheet
and Company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
the Censolidated incorme statemant, the Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the Consolidated cash fiow statement, the
Consolidated and Company statements of changés in equity, and
Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement
in net debt for the year then ended; and tha notes to the financial
statemeénts, which include a description of the significant

accounting policies. ,

Cur opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

Woe conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards
on Auditing (UK) {"1SAs {UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK} are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial staterments
in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable
to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowiedge and belief, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided.
In August 2021, we applied to the FRC for a one-year waiver in respect
of the UK non-audit services fee cap for our audit of Synthomer Pic's
financlal period ending 31 Decembear 2021. The waiver was in respect
of fees relating to private reporting in relation to the Eastran’s
Adhesive Resins business acquisition and followed a similar waiver
request in 2020. The application was approved as the exceptional
circumstances test was met, with mitigations put in place by us and
the Company to manage the risks to auditor independence.

Other than those disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the Company
in the paricd under audit. . !

Qur audit approach

Context

In planning and executing our audit we have considered the Group's
climate risk assessment process (as described in the Sustainability
report and TCFD report). This, together with discussions with our own
climate change specialists, provided us with a good understanding
of the potential impact of climate change on the financial statements.
Management consider that the impact of climate change does not give
rise to & matarial financial statement impact. We used our knowledge
of the Group to evaluate management's assessment. The Group is
targebing net zero carbon emissions by 2050, and with Vision 2030
they are working on their pathway towards this. The Group has started
to quantity some of the Impacts that may arise on this pathway and
we have discussed wilh management and the Audit Committee that
the estimated financial impacts of climate change will need to be
frequently reassessed and our expectation that climate change
disclosures will continug to evolve as greater understanding of the
actual and potential impacts on the Group's futura aperations are
obtained. We considered how climate change risks would impact the
assumptions made in the forecasts prepared by management used in
their impairment analyses and going concern, We also considered the
consistency of the disclosures in relation to climate change made in
the other information within the Annual Report with the flnanmal
statements and cur knowledge from our audit.

Overview

Audit scope

* Audit procedures provide coverage of 84% of revenue and 93% of
undertying operating profit.

* Audit scope covers 8 countries, performing procedures over 14
components.

* Financially significant components in the USA, Germany and
Malaysia.

Key audit matters

* Uncertain Tax Provigions {Group)

* Valuation of defined benefit pension liabilitiss and level 3 assets
(Group)

» Presentation and quantum of Special ltems (Group)

* Recoverability of investment in, and amounts owed by, Group
undertakings {Company)

Materiality

» Owerall Group materiality: £11,605,000 (2020: £7,900,000) based
on approximately 5% of three-year average of underlying profit
before taxation {2020: underlying profit before taxation).

» Overall Company materiality; £10,444,500 (2020: £18,660,000)
based on 1% of total assets capped at 90% of Group materiality.

* Perfarmance materiality: £8,703,000 (2020: £5,925,000} {(Group}
and £7,830,000 {2020: £2,250,000) {Company).

The scope of our audit -

As part of designing cur audit, we determinad materiality and assessed

the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.

Synthomer plc
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Group financial statements

independent auditors’ report continued

to the members of Synthomer pic

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional
judgemsnt, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due 1o fraud)
idantified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit;
and directing the etforts of the engagement team. Thase mattars, and
any comments we make on the results of our proceduras thereon,
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion therecn, and we do not provide

Prasentation of spacial items is a new key audit matter this year.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and OMNOVA acquisition
accounting, which were key audit matters last year, are no longer
included because of the ability of the Group to continue to generate
profits and operate despite disruption retated to the CCVID-19
pandamic, and tha accounting related to the OMNOVA acquisition
being finalised in the prior year. Otherwise, the key audit matters below
are consistent with last year.

a suparaie opinion on these matters.

This is not a cemplete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter

How our sudit addregsed the kay audit matter

Uncertain Tax Provisions (Group)

The Group has a wide geographical footprint
and is subject to a range of taxlaws in a
number of different tax jurisdictions. As set
out in Note 10, the Group has a number

of uncertain tax provisions totalling £23.7m
{2020: £45.9m) as at 31 December 2021.

By nature, uncertain tax positions require a
significart element of judgement to determine
an appropriate provision. As such, we have
asseassed that a significant risk exists in relation
to vatuation and presentation and disclosure
assertions to ensura that provisions made

are appropriate.

In order to assess the valuation and appropriateness of presentation and disclosure we:

= Engaged our tax specialists (including transfer pricing specialists) to assess the level

of provision held against varipus tax exposures was materially appropriate. In our
assessment we had regard to the nature of individual exposures, including their origin,
and any developments in the year to assess the rationale for their continued validity

at the current year end.

Inspectad correspondence with tax authorities and the Group’s tax ad\nsors to evaluate
valuation and completeness of provisions.

Challenged judgements made by management by assessing individual provisions against
our expectations of potential exposures, having regard to the facts of each case.
Considered the adequacy of disclosure in the annual report.

No significant issues arose from this work to suggest that the iudgements made. amounts
provided or disclosures were inappropriate.

Valuation of defined benefit pension liabilities
and level 3 assets (Group)

As set out in note 26, the Group had £122.4m
{2020: £221.4m} net liabilities as at

31 Dagernber 2021 in relation to defined
benefit pension schemes. These primarily
represent the Yule Catto Group retiremant
benefits schemne in the UK, the OMNOVA
Sotutions Consolidated Pension Plan in the US
and an unfunded scheme in Germany, which
account for £4.6m, £27.7m, and £74.7m
respectively of the net pension deficit.

The Group uses third party actuaries to
calcutate the pension liabilities. The valuation of
these liabilities is based on a number of
assumplions and the calculation is highly
sensitive to small changes in the assumptions.
For instance, changes in intlation, mortality
tables and discount rate can have a significant
impact on the valuation of the liability recorded.

The pension asset also contains level 3 and
other complex assets (complex PIVs where
assets are not traded on Recognised
Investment Exchanges (RIE)) totaliing £268m
as at 31 December 2021 {31 December

2020: £320m), which are complex in naturs to
value and therefore we deem there 1o be a risk
with respact to the valuation of these assets.

In order to assess the identified risks we:

Woe reviewed external actuarial reports of the UK and German schemes which set out
the calculations and assumptions underpinning the year end pension scheme liabilities
valyation and our US component team reviewed an external actuarial report for the

US scheme .

We {and PwC US) held discussions with the external actuaries and were satisfied that the
scope of their work was such that we could use this work to provlde evidence for the
purpose of our audit.

We assessed the competency and objactivity of the external actuariss commissioned by
the Group to perform the year end calculations by considering thair technical expertise
and independence from the Group.

We used our own specialist actuarial team to evaluate the key assumptions used in each
of the three schemes by comparing these assumptions to our expectations for similar
schemas as at the year end.

With respect to the leval 3 and other more complex assats, we tested values through a
combination of the following procedures: reviewed audited accounts of pooled investment
vehicles; reviewed internal controls reports of the service provider rasponsible for the
valuation of the fund, including obtaining bridging letiers where thé control report doas
not cover the current financial period of Synthomer ple; obtained fund transactions close
to the year end (where available), and obtained third party confirmation from the
investment managers.

Wa also considered the appropriateness of the disclo§ures within the financial statements

we found management’s assumptions to ba within an acceptable range. We identified no
concerns over their competancy or abjactivity.
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Koy audit matter

How our audit eddreased the key audit matior

Presentation and quantum of Special items
(Group}

The Group presents two measures of
performancae in the income statement;
statutory and underlying, the latter after
adjusting for certain items of income or
expenses as managament belleves these
measures provide additional useful information
on the underlying trends, performance and
position of the Group.

The determination of which items of income
or expense are classified as Special iterns
is subject to judgement and therefore

users of the financial statements could be
misled if amounts are not classified or
calculated appropriately.

Description of the amounts presented as
Special itemns are included in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Wae considered the appropriatenass of amounts classified as Special items. To do this
we considered:

* The Group’s accounting policy on special items; and Pronouncements by the Financial
Reporting Council on this matter,

« Wa challenged management on the appropriateness of the classification of such Special
iterns, being mindful that classification should be even-handed between gains and losses,
the basis the classification should be clearly disclosed and a clear reconciliation to
statutory measures provided and applied consistently one year to the next.

* Wa chalianged management on the quantum of the elements of the Special items, and
the estimates underpinning some of them, including discussions with the Group's legal
advisors where appropriate.

Our work highlighted certain items that management had classified as special items which
were judgemental. Having considerad the nature and quantum of thase items, overall wa are
satisfied that the presentation of special items in the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 is appropriate.

Recoverabitity of investment in, and amounts
owed by, Group undertakings (Company)

As disclosed in Note 3 of the Parent Company
financial statements, the Company held an
investment in subsidiaries of £536.7m .
{2020: £370.5) and amounts owed by Group
undertakings of £1,275m (2020: £1443.4m)

at 31 December 2021.

The assessment of the recoverability of these
assets required the application of management
judgemaent, particularly in determining whether
any impairment indicators have arisen that
trigger the need for a formal impairment
assessment and in assessing whether the
carrying value of each investment and amounts
owed by Group undertakings are recoverable.

As changes to these judgements and estimates
could have a material impact on the Company
financial statements, we consider this 1o be

a key audit matter.

Our procedures included the following:

» Evaluating management’s assessment of whether any indicators of impairment existed.

+ Assessing the recoverable value by reference to the net assets of the underlying
subsidiaries and amounts owed by Group undertakings with reference to the Director's
intentions for the settlement of Group-wide intercompany balances.

* Varifying that the recoverable values of the investmant was consistent with the recoverable
value of the CGU tested for goodwill impairment purposes, leveraging the audit work
undertaken as part of the Group audit.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no material issuas from our work.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed

Where work was performed by component auditors, we determined
the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those

enough work 1o be able to give an opinicn on the financial statements
as a whole, taking intc account the siructure of the Group and the
Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry
in which they operate.

As set out in note 5 ‘Segmental analysis’, the Group reports its results
as four segments: ‘Performance Elastomers’, 'Functional Solutions',
'Industrial Specialities’ and ‘Acrylate Monomers’. The Group financial
staterments are a consolidation of reporting units, being holding
companies, intermediate holding companies and operating
companies, across 24 countries. Three countries, being the USA,

Germany and Malaysia, account for tha majority of the Group's results.

We accordingly focused our work on three of the reporting units in
these eountries, which wera sublect to audits of their complgte
financial information. In addition, to increase our coverage of the
Group's revanue and underlying profit before tax we performed full
scope audit procedures at an additional eleven reporting units located
in the UK, ltaly, Germany, Malaysia, the Czech Republic, Austria and
France. Thase components accounted for 84% of the Group’s
revanue, 93% of the Group's underlying operating profit.

reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate
audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the
Group financial statemeants as a whole. During the audit, senior
members of the Group team held a number of meetings with the audit
teams from key reporting units in the UK, Germany, Malaysia and the
USA, and reviewed the work performed by these teams over those
areas of higher audit rigk.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality.
We set certain quantitative threshalds for materiality. These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us determine the scope of our
audit and the naturs, timing and extent of cur audit procedurgs on
individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in
evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in
aggregate on the financial staterents as a whole.
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued

to the members of Synthomer ple

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financial statements - Group

Financial statements - Company

Qverall materiality £11,605,000 (2020: £7,900,000).

£10,444,500 {2020: £18,660,000).

approximately 5% of three-year average of underying profit
How we determined it before taxation (2020: underlying profit before taxation).

Based on 1% of total assets capped at 90% of Group
materiality.

Rationale for
benchmark applied

performance.

Underlying profit before taxation, being profit before tax
adjusted for special items, is a key metric for investors and
is used by the Board in measuring the Group’s financial

Total assets is the primary measura used by the
shareholders in assessing the performance of the Company,
and is a generally acceptad benchmark. The valua is
capped at 20% of the Group overall materiality.

Far each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated

a materiafity that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range
of materiality allocated across components was between £1,300,000
to £10,706,500. Certain comgponents were audited to a local statutory
audit materiality that was also less than our overali Group materiality.

Woe use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low
level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use
pertormance materiality in determining the scope of our audit and
the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes
of transactions and disclosuras, for example in determining sample
sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2020: 75%j) of overall
materiality, amounting to £8,703,000 (2020: £5,925,000) for the
Group financial staterments and £7,830,000 {2020: £2,250,000) for
the Company financial staternents.

in determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of
factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation
risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount
at the upper end of our normal range was appropriate.

Woa agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to
them misstatements identified during our audit above £580,000
(Group audit) (2020: £395,000) and £522,000 (Company audit)
(2020: £395,000) as well as misstatements below those amounts
that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Qur evaluation of the members' assessment of the Group’s and the
Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

* We reviowed the Dirsctors' mode! supporting their going concarn

assumption. We discussed with management the assumptions

applied in the going concern review so we could understand and

challenge the rationale for those assumptions, using our knowladge

of the businass. We tested the model's mathematical accuracy

and considered the reasonablenass of the revenue and cost

assumptions made and the available headroom throughout

a period of at least twalve months from the date of approval

of the financial statements.

We reviewed managemeant's sensitivity s¢enarios including their

savera but ptausible downside. We considerad potential mitigating

actions available to the Group that are achievable and within

management’s control. Wa then assessed the availability of

fiquid resources under the different scenarios and the associated

covenant tests applicable; and '

* Wa also assessed additional downside sensitivities and considered
the impact on covenants and liquidity headroamn.

Basad an the work we have performed, we have not identified any
matarial uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the
Company's ability to continue as a going concemn for a period of at
least twelve manths frorm whan the financial statements are authorised
for issue.
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in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the
members' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
praparation of the financial staterents is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's and the Company's
abllity to continue as a going concern.

Ins relation to the marmbers' reporting on how they have applied the
UK Corporate Governance Gode, we have nothing material to add or
draw attention to in ralation to the members’ statement in the financial
staterments about whether the members considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern hasis of accounting.

QOur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the members with
raspect to going congern are described in the relevant sections
of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The members are responsible for the other information,
which includes reporting based on the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures {TCFD) recommendations. Qur opinion on

the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the
sxtant otherwiss explicitly stated in this report, any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an
apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
raquired to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a
material misstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work wa have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of this
other information, we are requirad to report that fact. We have nothing
to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ Report, we also
considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the
Companies Act 2006 raquires us afso to raport cartain opinions and
matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors’
Report for the year ended 31 Dacembar 2021 is consistent with
the financial statemants and has been prepared in accordance
with applicable legal requiraments.



In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their envircnment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any matarial misstatemenits in the Strategic report
and Directors' Report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Annual Report on Remuneration to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companias Act 20086,

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the members' statements in
relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
corporate govemance statement relating to the Company's compliance
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for
our raview. Our additional responsibiiities with respect to the corporate
governance stalement as other information are described in the
Reparting on other information section of this report.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have
concluded that each of the following slements of the corporate
governanca statement is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit, and we
have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

The members' confirmation that they have carried out a robust
assessiment of the emerging and principal risks;

The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those principal
risks, what procedures are in placs fo identify emerging risks and
an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

The members' statement in the financial staternents about whether
they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concerm basis of
accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any matarial
uncertainties to the Graup's and Company's ability to continue to do
so over a pericd of at least twalve months from the date of approval
of the financial statements;

The members’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group's
and Company's prospacts, the period this assessment covers and
why the period is appropriate; and

The members’ statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as thay fall due over the period of its
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention

to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Qur review of the directors’ statement regarding the longer-term
viability of the Group was substantially less in scope than an audit
and only consisted of making inguiries and considering the directors’
process supporting their statement; checking that the statement

is in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code; and considering whether the statement is
consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge and
understanding of the Group and Company and their envircnment
obtained in the course of the audit.

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of cur audit, we
have concludsd that each of the following elemants of the corporate
governance statemsnt is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowladge obtained during the audit:

The members' statement that they consider the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for the members o assess the
Group's and Company's position, performance, business model ¢
and strategy;

The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of
eHectiveness of risk management and internal control systems; and
The section of the Annyal Report describing the work of the

Audit Committee,

We have nothing to report in respact of our responsibility to report
when the members' statement retating to the Company's compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for review by
the auditors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the members for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Staterment of Directors' responsibilities,
the membars are responsible for the preparation of the financial -
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The members

are also responsible for such internal control as they determine

is necessary to enable the preparation of tinancial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the members are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated 10 going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
members aithar intend fo liquidate the Group or the Company or fo
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the

financial statements

Our objectives ara to obtain reasonabla agsurance about

whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whather dus to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is net a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or errer and are
considerad material if, individually or in the aggregats, they could
reascnably be expectaed to influsnce the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irreguilarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud,
is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that
the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related
to breaches of ervironmental, health and safety and competition
regulations, tax lagislation and equivalent local laws and regulations
applcable to significant component teams, and we congidered the extent
to which non-cormpliance might have a material effect on the financtal
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have
a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act
20086. We evaluated management’s incentives and cpportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk
of ovarride of contrals), and determined that the principal risks ware
related to posting inappropriate journaf entries to increase revenue and
management bias in accounting estimates. The Group engagement team
shared this risk assessment with the component auditors so that they
could include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks
in their work, Audiit procedures performed by the Group engagemenl
team and/or component auditors included:

« Discussions with management and internal audit, including
consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations and fraud;

+ Evaluation of management’s controls dasigned to prevent and
detect irregularities;
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Group financial statermnents

independent auditors’ report continued

to the members of Synthomer plc

Challenging assumgptions and judgements made by management
in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to
provisions for uncertain tax pesitions, the European Commission
provision and the valuation of defined benafit schemae liabilities.
Where wa considerad appropriata, we held discussions with the
Group's legal advisors.

Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal
entries posted with unusual account combinations (for example
credit to revenuse with a debit entry to an unexpected account) or
journals posted by senior management.

o
Thare ara inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above.
We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk
of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Qur audit testing might include testing complete populations of cartain
transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing technigques.

- However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of iterns

for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often
seek to target particular items for 1esting based on their size or risk
characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable
us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample
is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located on the FRC's wabsite at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’
report,

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for
the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any cther person to whom this report is shown or
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consant in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in
our opinion:

+ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we

require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches net visited by us; or

¢ certain disclosures of members’ rémuneration specified by law are
not made; or

the Company financial statements and the part of the Annuat Report
on Remuneration to be audited are not in agresment with the
agcounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment .

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committes, wa were
appeinted by the members on 12 July 2012 to audit the financlai
statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 and subseqguent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement

is 10 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2012 to

31 Dacember 2021.

Synthomer pl¢
Annual Report 2021
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Other matter

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rule 4,1,14R, these financial stalements form part of the
ESEF-prepared annual financial report filed on the National Storage
Meachanism of the Financial Condluct Authority in accordance with

the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTS'). This auditors’
report provides no assurance over whether the annual financial report
has been prepared using the single electronic format specified in the
ESEF RTS.

David Beer (Senior Statutory Auditar)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Watford

3 March 2022



Group financial statements

Consolidated income statement \
for the year ended 31 Decamber 2021

2021 2020 ®
Underlylng Spaciat Underying Speclal ;—a:
performance Items IFRS porformance fems IFRS a
Note £m £m m £m £m fm g
b
Revenue 5 12,3205 - 2,3295 1,644.2 - 1g442 | *
Company and subsidiaries operating profit before Special ltems 448.3 - 4483 188.4 - 188.4
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 4 - 7 (382 {36.2) - (30.9) @09 ——
Rastructuring and site closure costs 4 - {29.7) {29.7) - 42.5) 425 [
Acquisition costs and related gains 4 . - {11.9) {(11.9) - (14.B) (14.6) §
Sale of business 4 - 7.49) {7.4) - 6.6) (6.6) 3
Regulatory fine 4 - {57.2) (57.2) - - - %
Impairment charge 4 - - - - (36.6) (36.6)
Company and subsidianies 448.3 (142.4) 305.9 188.4 {131.2) 57.2
Share of joint vantures 18 2.6 - 26 1.2 - 1.2
Operating profit/{loss) 6 450.9 (142.4) 308.5 189.6 {131.2) 58.4
Interest payable g9 {27.9) - {27.9) {25.5) - (25.9) [
interest receivable g 1.0 - 10 12 - 1.2 £
Fair value gain/{loss) on unhedged interest rate derivatives 4 - 6.2 6.2 - 3.5) (3.6 B
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilities 4 - - - - 4.9) (4.9) §
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligations g (2.4) - (2.4) @E.7 - 3.7 %
Interest element of lease payments 9 {1.5) - {1.5) (1.6) - {1.6) &
Finance costs {30.8) 6.2 {24.6) (29.6) (8.5) (38.1) %
Profit/(loss) before taxation 420.1 {136.2) 2839 160.0 (139.7) 203 2
Taxation 10 (94.5) 20.6 (73.9) {37.4) 15.6 {21.8}
Profit/{loss) for the year 325.6 {115.6} 210.0 122.6 {124.1) {1.5)
Profit/{loss) attributable to non-controliing interests o4 0.9 1.3 {0.3) 4.3) (4.5)
Profit/{loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 325.2 {116.5) 208.7 1229 (119.8) 3.1
325.6 {115.6) 210.0 122.6 {124.1) (1.5}
Earnings per share
- Basic 13 75.2p {26.9)p 48.3p 28.9p {28.2)p 0.7p
- Diluted 13 74.9p {26.8)p 48.1p 28.8p (28.1)p 0.7p o
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Group financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2021

2024 2020
Equity Non- Equity Non-
holders of  controlling haolders of centroling
the parent intarests Total the parent interests Total
Note £m m £m £m £m £m
Profit/(loss) for the year 208.7 13 210.0 3.1 (4.6) (1.5)
Actuarial gains/{losses} 26 66.8 - €6.8 (7.6} - (7.6
Tax relating to componeants of other comprehensive income 10 {11.8) - {11.8) 35 - 35
Total tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 55.0 - 55.0 (4.1} - 4.1
Exchange differences on transiation of foreign operations 27 28 0.2) 28 (37.5) 0.3 37.8)
Exchange differences recycled on sala of husiness 27 0.3 - 0.3 - - -
Fair value gain/{loss) on hedgad interest derivatives 27 3.4 - 3.4 0.8) - 8
Gains on nat investmeant hedges taken to equity 27 3.3 - 3.3 15.9 - 15.9
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss 9.8 {0.2) 9.6 (22.4) 0.3} (22.7)
Other comprehensive income/{expense) for the year 64.8 {0.2) 64.6 (26.5) 0.3} (26.8)
Tolal comprehensive income/{expense) for the year 273.5 1.1 274.6 (23.4) (4.9) {28.3)
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021
Hedging
Capital and Teotal aquity Non-
Share Share redemption translation Retained hoidings of controlling Total
capltal premium raserve resarve earnings  the parent Interests equity
) Note £m £m £m £m £m fm £m £m
At 1 January 2021 42.5 421.1 0.9 {41.9) 192.4 615.0 13.1 628.1
Profit for the year . - - - - 208.7 208.7 1.3 2100
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 0.8 55.0 64.8 0.2) 64.6
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 2.8 263.7 2135 - 11 274.6
Dividends 12 - - - - (73.5) {73.5) {0.5) 74.0)
Issue of shares 27 4.2 198.9 - - - 203.1 - 2031
Share-based payments - - - - 1.2 1.2 - 1.2
At 31 December 2021 48.7 620.0 0.9 {32.1) 3838 1,019.3 13.7 1,033.0
Hedging
Capital ang Total equity None
Share Share ption lon Retgined  holdings of  controtiing Total
capltel pramium reserve resarve earnings the parent interests equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m m £m
At 1 January 2020 42.5 421.1 0.9 {19.5) 204 .4 649.4 211 8670.5
Profit/(toss) for the year - - - - 31 341 (4.6) - (1.5)
Other comprehensive expense for the year - - - {22.4} {4.1) {26.5) (0.3 {26.8)
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - (22.4) (1.0} 23.4) (4.9) {28.3)
Dividends 12 - - - - (12.8) (12.8) {3.1} {15.9)
Share-based paymernits - - - - 18 1.8 - 18
At 31 December 2020 42.5 421.1 0.8 {41.9) 182.4 615.0 13.1 628.1

138 | Mnuairepon 2z



Group financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 pacember 2021 :

BOUBLIBADE) | | uode) 3Belens

2021 2020

Nota £m Em
Non-current assets
Goodwilf 14 487.0 493.4
Acquired intangible assets. 15 2976 3410
Other intangible assets 16 46.4 36.6
Property, plant and equipmant 17 508.3 521.8
Deferred tax assets 1 29.2 23.8
Invastmant in joint ventures 18 7.4 6.6
Total non-current assets 1,375.9 1,423.2
Current assets
Inventorias 19 253.7 170.3
Trade and other receivables 20 3128 262.4
Cash and cash gquivalents 21 505.3 2018
Derivative financial instruments 22 3.2 1.4
Total current assets 1.075.0 6359
Total assets 2,450.9 2,059.1
Current liabilities
Borrowings 21 - (20.1)
Trade and other payables 24 {414.2 (334.1)
Lease liabilities 23 R 10.6)
Current tax liabilities 10 (45.2) {68.5)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 25 (85.2) (25.7)
Darivative financial instruments 22 {10.1) (19.4)
Total current liabilities (563.5) (468.4)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 {619.5) (643.9)
Trade and other payables 24 {2.3) (3.7
Leasa liabilities 23 {34.7) (44.4)
Deferred tax liabiiitiss 11 . (57.5) (43.3)
Retirament benefit obligations 26 (122.4) (221.4)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 25 (18.0) (5.9)
Total non-current liabilities (854.4) (962.6)
Total Habilities {1,417.9) {1,431.0)
Net assets 1,033.0 - 6281
Equity .
Share capital 27 46.7 42.5
Share premium 27 620.0 4211
Capital redemption resarve 0.9 0.9
Hedging and translation reserve 27 (32.1} {41.9)
Retained eamings 27 3838 192.4
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,019.3 615.0
Non-controlling interests 13.7 131
Total equity 1,033.0 528.1

The financial statements on pages 137 to 172 ware approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 3 March 2022. They are

signed on its behaltby:

M MAA

)
Willome S
Director Director

Synthomer plc

Annual Agport 2021
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Group financial statements

Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Note £m £m tm £m
Operating
Cash generated from operations 28 387.5 232.2
Interest received 1.0 12
Interest paid {22.1) (13.6)
Interest element of lease payments {1.5) (1.6)
Net interest paid {27.6) (14.0
UK corporation tax paid - ~
Quarseag corporate tax paid (86.4) (31.4)
Total tax paid {86.4) 31.4)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 2135 186.8
Investing
Dividends recsived from joint ventures 18 19 19
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment and intangible assets ' (82.2) (53.8)
Purchase of business - (314.0)
Proceeds from salg of business 1.7 0.1
Net cash outflow from investing activities (78.6) {365.8)
Financing
Dividends paid 12 (73.5) (12.8)
Dividends paid to non-controling interasts {0.5) 3.1
Procesds on issue of shares 27 203.1 -
Settlemant of equity-settied share-based paymants {0.9) 0.2
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities e @7
Repayment of borrowings - [718.3)
Repayment of barrowings on acquisition - (273.6)
Proceeds of borrowings - 1,280.9
Net cash inflow from financing activities 1185 273.2
Increase in cash, ¢ash equivalents and bank overdrafts during the year 3134 942
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafis at 1 January 21 191.3 103.6
Foreign exchange and other movements 21 0.6 {6.5)
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafis at 31 December 21 505.3 191.3
Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement
in net debt
for the year ended 31 December 2021
. 2021 2020
Note £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 273.5 186.8
Add back: dividends received from joint ventures 18 1.9 1.9
Less: net capital expentiture 82.2) {53.8)
Less: purchase of businass - (687.6)
Add back: proceeds from sale of business 1.7 0.1
194.9 (452.6)
Ordinary dividends paid 12 {73.5) (12.8)
Issue of shares 27 203.1 -
Dividends paid to non-gontrolling interests {0.5) 2.1
Settlement of equity-settied share-based payments (0.9) ©.2)
Repaymant for principal portion of lease liabifities o.n ©.7
Forsign exchange and other movements 21 34.6 {4.5)
Decreasef{increase} in net dabt 348.0 (482.9)
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 December 2021

1 General information

Synthomer plc (the ‘Company’') is a public limited company
incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act. The address of the ragistered office is given on
page 188. The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
{the 'Group') and the nature of the Group's operations are set out
in the Strategic Report.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in pounds stariing,
the functional currency of the Company. Foreign operations are
included in accordance with the policias set out in note 2.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

There are no standards or interpretations that are not yet effactive
and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable

future transactions.

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

0On 31 December 2020, IFRS as adopted by tha European Union
at that date was brought into UK law and became UK-adopted
International Accounting Standards, with future changes being
subject to endorsement by the UK Endorsement Board. The Compary
transitioned to UK-adopted International Accounting Standards in its
consalidated financial statements on 1 January 2021. This change
constitutes a change in accounting framework. However, thera is
no impact on recognition, measurement or disclosure in the period
reportad as a resuit of the changs in framework.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards
and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable
to companies reporting under those standards.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

The principal agcounting policies adopted are set out below.

Golng concern

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through
its bank facilities. The current aconomic conditions continue to create
uncertainty, particularly over the leval of demand for the Group's
'products. The Group’s forecasts and projections take account of
reasonably possible changes in trading performance and a severe but
plausible downside scenario has been prepared, linked to our principal
risks. This scenario does not threaten the Group's ability to operate
within the lavel of its current facilities. No mitigating actions have been
inciuded for any of the scenarios and, should it need to, the Group
could take action quickly to significantly reduce costs and cash
outflows as demonstrated during the course of the COMID-19
pandemic in 2020.

Having assessed the principal risks and the other matters discussed
in connection with the viability statement (see page 81), the Directors
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing its consolidated financial statemants.
Further information on the Group's borrowings is given in note 21.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
{its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each ysar. Control is
achiaved whan the Company:

s has the power over the Invastes;

« i exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investes; and

= has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins from the date the Company
oblaing control and ceases from the date the Company loses control.
Where necessary on obtaining control, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiarigs to bring the accounting policies
into line with those used by the Group.

The results of joint ventures are accounted for using equity accounting.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group's equity therein. Subsequent to the date on which
the Company obtains control, the carrying amount of non-contralling
interasts is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus
the nen-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

All intra-group assets and llabiities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating 1o transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair valug, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transfarred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of

the acquiree. Acguisition related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as ingurred.

At acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are raecognised at thsir fair value, except that:

s deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes;

liabilities or assets related to smployes benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with 1AS 19 Employee
Benefits; and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS & Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in agcordance with

that standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete

by the end of the reporting pericd in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplets. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during a measurement period (see below), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
tacts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that,

if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

A measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition

to the date the Group cbtains complete information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject
to a maximum of one year.

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously
held interest in the acquired entity is remeasured to its acquisition date
fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit

or loss.

Synthomaer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Goodwill

Goodwil is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred
over the Group's interast in acquisition-date identifiable assets
acquired less liabilities assumed.

Goodwil is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least
annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwlll Is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash generating units expsected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Cash generating units are defined as
our reportable segments: Performance Elastomers, Functional
Solutions, Industrial Speciaiities and Acrylate Monomers.

Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when therae is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocatad first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then 1o the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
An impairment kss for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the attributable
amournt of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS
has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being
tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves
under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not
included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accountad for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity mathod, interests in joint ventures are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements
in other comprehensive income.

Revenue

General -

Synthomer manufactures and sells mainly water-based polymers
across a diverse range of end use applications. Qur products are
predominantly sold in liquid farm, in butk containers.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitlad in a contract with a custormer when
performance obligations are satisfied, Revenue is recognised

at the point in time when control of the product is transferres
from Synthomer to the customer.

The customer is deemed to obtain control of the resuttant asset in line
with tha Incoterms under which it is soid. The significant majority of
Synthomer's products are sold under Carriage Paid To (CPT) and
Carriage and Insurance Paid (CIP) International Commaercial Terms.
Under thass terms, control of the product Is transferred when the goods
reach their destination. At this point the risks of obsolescence and loss
have baen transferred and there is no unfulfilled abligation that could
affect the customer'’s acceptance of the product. A receivable is
recognised at this point in time as consideration is unconditional and
only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Rebates

Synthomer may grant customers rebates if the goods purchased by
the customer exceed a contractually defined threghold within the
specified period. Rebates are usually deducted from tha amounts
payable by the customer, Depending on the terms of the underlying
contract, Synthomar uses either the expected valua or the most likely
amount to estimate the variable consideration for expestad future
rebates. Historical, current and forecast information is considered
when calculating rebates.

142
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The majority of rebate programmes are aligned with the Group’s
financial year end, providing certainty around how much should be
recognised in the financial statements.

Other

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of promised goods to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group applies
the practical expedient in IFRS 15 and does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statemaents of the individual companies,
transactions in cusrencies other than the entity's functional currency
are racognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions, At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities carried at fair value that arg denominated in
foreign cummencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was dstermined. Non-monetary iterns that are
measurad in terms of historical cost in a forsign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the periad in
which they arise axcept for:

« gxchange ditferences on transactions entered into to hedge certain
foreign currency risks (see beilow under ‘hedge accounting’), and

* pxchange differences on monetary items receivable or payable to
a foreign operation for which settiement is neither planned nor likely
o accur in the foresesable future (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit
or loss on disposal of the net investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of tha Group's non-Sterling
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are tranglated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. The Group elected to treat goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions before the date of
transition to IFRS as sterling-denominated assets and liabilities.

Operating profit
Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before
financing costs and taxation.

Taxation
The tax expense represants the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liakility for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax
determination is uncertain but it is considered probable that thers

will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are
measured at best estimate of the amount expected to becoms payable.
The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within
tha Company supported by previous experienca in respact of such
activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.



Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or racoverabla on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabllities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
cornputation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability methed. Deferred tax liabilities are genarally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and defarred tax assats are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will

be available against which deductible temporary differences can

be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to conirol the reversal of
the temporary diffarences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foraseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probabla that sufficient taxabls profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset 1o be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the pericd when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.
Defarred tax is charged cor ¢redited in the income staterment,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly 1o other
comprehensive income, in which case the deferrad tax is also dealt
with in other comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax kabilitios and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting peried, 10 recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred incoms tax assets and liabilities refate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention

{o setile the balances on a net basis.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,

at inception of the contract. The lease term is determined from the
commencement date of the contract and covers the non-cancellable
term. If considered reasonably certain, extension or termination
options are included in the lsase term.

At the commaeancemant date, a lease liability is recognised, measurad
at the present value of the future lease paymants and discounted
using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Subsequently, the lease
liability is adjusted by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made and rermaasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications.

At the commencement date, a right of use asset is recognised,
measured at an amount equal to the lease liability plus any lease
payments macde before the commancement date and any initial direct
costs, less any lease incentive payments. An estimate of costs to be
incurrad in restoring an asset, in accordance with the terms of the
leass, is also included in the right of use asset at initial recognition.
Subsequently, right of use assets are measured in accordancs with
the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment and are
depraciated over the shorter period of lease tarm and the useful life
of the underlying asset. Any adjustments to the correspending lease
liability are reflected In the corresponding right of use asset.

Short-term leases and low value leases are not recognised as lease
liabilities and right of use assets, but are recognised as an expense
straight-line over the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. Cost comprises
ariginal purchase price and the costs attributable to bringing the asset
to its warking condition for its intended use, including. where
appropriate, capitalised finance costs.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write-off the cost of assets less
thair residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line

method, on the following bases:
Fraehold buildings - 50 years

- the lesser of 50 years and the
pericd of the fease

Leasehold land and buildings

Piant and equipment — between 3 and 15 years

Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost, Iass any
recognised impairment Ioss. Finance costs directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as pan
of the cost of those assets. Depreciation of these assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted tor on a prospective basis.

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially,
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, which is regarded
as their cost. Where necessary the fair value of assets at acquisition and
their estimated useful lives are based on independeant valuation reponts.

Acquired intangible assets are camied at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives, on the
following bases:

Customer relationships - between 5 and 15 years

Other intangibles - up to 10 years *

Assets with an indefinite life are not subject to amortisation.

Acquired intangible assets are derecognised upon reaching the end of
their useful lives.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are not acquired through a business
combination are initially measured at cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of up to ten years.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development {or
from the developmant phase of an internal project) is recognised only if
all of the following conditions have been demonstrated:

* the technical feasibility of completing the asset;

= the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the asset once development has basn

complated;

the probability that the asset created will generate future eaconomic

benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, tinancial and other resources

to complete the development; and

» the asset created can be separately identified and the development
cost can be measured refiably.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

The amount initialty recegnised for internally generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised as an expanse in the period
in which it is incurred.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its plant, property and equipment and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. H any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to datermine
the axtent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cosis of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assassments of the time
value of money and the risks speacific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset {or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the iIncome statement.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset {or cash generating unit) is increased to the ravised
astimate of its recovarable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in the income statarment.

inventories

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicabla, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their presant location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and
costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Provision is
made for obsolete, slpw-moving or defective itemns where appropriate.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financiat liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomas a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group classifies its financial instruments in the
following categories:

* financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost (AC);

« financial assets and fiabilities at fair value through profit and loss
{FVTPL); and

« financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FYVTOCI).

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value
including, whera permittad, any directly attributable transaction costs.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measurad in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on their classification.
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Financial assets and liabllities measured at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other racsivables. Cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash hald in bank accounts with no access
restrictions, bank term deposits repayable on demand or maturing
within three months of inception.

At each reporting date the Group recognises a loss allowance for
expacted credit losses on financial asssts measured at amortised
cost. In establishing the appropriate amount of loss allowance to

be recognised, the Group applies either the general approach or the
simplified approach, depending on the nature of the underlying class
of financial asssts:

= Under the generat approach, the Group recognises a loss allowance
for a financial asset at an amount aqual to the 12 month expected
credit losses, unless the credit risk on the financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition, in which case a loss
aliowance is recognised at an amount equal to the lifetime expected
cradit losses.

The simplified approach is applied 10 the impairment assessment

of frade and other receivables. Under this approach, the Group
recognises expected ifetime losses upon initial recognition.

Financial liabilities measured at amartised cost include trade and other
payables, lsase liabilities and borrowings. Borrowings are measured at
amortised cost unless they form part of a fair value hedge relationship.
The differance between the initial carrying amount of borrowings and
the redemption value is recegnised in the income statement over the
contractual terms using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value

Financial assets and liabilities are measurad at fair value through
profit or loss when they do not meet the criteria to be measured at
amortised cost or at fair value through cther comprehensive income.

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period with falr value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent thay are not part of a
designated hedging relationship {see below),

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a varisty of derivative fmanr:lal instruments to
manage its exposure to intarest rate and foreign exchange rate risk,
including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and
foreign currency options. Further details of derivative financial
instruments are set out in note 22.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or

loss is recognised in the income statement immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in the income statement
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

To mitigate foreign currency and interest rate rigk, the Group
designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in fair value
hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investrnents in foreign
operations as appropriate.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents

the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged

itern, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whather
the hedging instrument is effactive in offsetting changes in fair value or
cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

On adoption of IFRS 9, the Group electad to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 as parmitted by the standard.



Fair value hedges
The Group only applies fair value hedge accourtting for foreign
currency risk.

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognised
in the incorme statement and is recognised in the same line as the
hadged item.

Cash flow hedges

The effactive portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash
flow hedging reser ve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of
the hedged item from inception of the hedge.

Gains or losses relating to an ineffective portion are recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified in the income statement in the
periods when the hedged itemn affects profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged.item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction rgsults in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a
non-financial liability, the gains and losses praviously recognised in
other comprehensive income and accurmulated in equity are remaoved
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the
non-financial asset or non-financial fiability.

Hadge accounting is discontinued when tha Group raevokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.
Any gain or loss accumulated at that time in equity is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss.
When a foracast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or #0ss in equity is recognised immediately in profit

or loss,

Hedges of net investments In foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for
similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging
instrument relating to the effactive portion of the hedge is recognised
in other comprehensive income in the foreign currency translation
reserva. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement. .

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective
partion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign currency translation
roserve are reciassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
foreign operation,

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entiting them to the contributions, Payments mada to state-managed
retiramant benafit schemes are treated as payments to defined
contribution schemes where the Group's obligations under the schemes
are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution scheme.

For defined benefit schamaes, the cost of providing benefits is
calculated using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations carried out at the end of each reporting period.

Defined benelit costs are spiit into three categorias, namely:

= service costs, which includes current service cost, past service cost
and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements;

* nat interest expense; and

& remeasurements.

The Group presents service costs within cost of sales and
administrative expenses in its consolidated income staterment,

Past service cost is recognised when the plan amendment or
curtailment ocours.

Net interest expense is recognised within finance costs and is calculated
by applying a discount rate 1o the net definad benefit fiability.

Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return
on scheme assets {excluding interest) are recognised immediately in
the balance shoet with a charge or credit to the statement of cther
comprahensive income in the period in which they occour and are not
subssquently reclassifisd to profit and loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
{legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group wil be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured
as tha bast estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation
at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where
the effect is material.

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group
has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring that has been
communicated to affacted parties.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees, These are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of
non-market-based vesting conditions. The fair value determined

at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensad on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group's estimate of eguity instruments that will eventually vest.
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the
nurmber of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect
of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adiustment o equity reserves. The Group will on
occasion, at its own discretion, settle these share-based payments
in cash rather than equity.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a kiability is recognised for
the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of
the liabifity. At each balance sheet date untit the liability is settled, and
at the date of settlemant, the fair value of the liability is remeasurad, |
with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Alternative Performance Measures
The Group has consistently used two significant Afternative
Performance Measures (APMs) since its adoption of IFRS in 2005:

* Underlying performance, which excludes Special lterns from IFRS
profit measures; and

« EBITDA, which excludes Special tems, amortisation and
depreciation from IFRS operating profit.

The Board's view is that Underlying performance provides additional
clarity for the Group’s investors and so it is the primary focus of the
Group's narrative reporting. It is not intended to be a superior measure
to IFRS, however, these measures are used internally to manage

the business.

Further information and the reconciliation to the IFRS measures are
included in notes 4 and 5.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

in tha application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are
required to make judgements (othar than those involving estimations)
that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and 1o make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are ¢considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoeing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period In which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment ta the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the naext financial year are discussed balow.

The assumptions for each estimate are set out in the relevant note
referenced below.,

» Definad bensfit obligation (note 26):

Calculation of the Group's defined benefit obligation includes a
number of assumptions which impact the carrying value of the
abligation.

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets on acquisition:

In a business combination, intangible assets are identified and
recognised at fair value. The assumptions involved in valuing these
intangible assets require the use of estimates that may differ from
the actual outcome. These estimates cover future growth rates,
expectad inflation rates and the discount rate used. Changing the
assumptions selected by managsment could significantly affect the
allocation of the purchase price paid between goodwill and other
acquired intangibles.

Current tax liability and deferred tax [notes 10 and 11):

The Group annually incurs significant amounts of income taxes
payable to various jurisdictions around the world and it also
recognises significant changes in deterred tax assets and
defarred tax liabilities, all of which are based on management's
interpretations, of applicable laws, regulations and relevant

court decisions.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

Ouring 2018, the European Commission (the Commission) initiated
an invastigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by companies, including Synthomer, operating in the
European Economic Area. The Company has and will continue to
fully cooperate with the Commission during its investigation. In prior
years given the ongoing investigation and the inherent uncertainties
associated with it, it was not possible to determine whether or not a
liability existed. Similarly, given the many variables in the Commission’s
fining framework and accordingly the range of possible outcomes,
the Directors were not able to refiably estimata any potential possible
liability. Therefora a contingent liability was disclosed in each set of
financial statements. Now based on the information available and the
resulting assessment of the expected outcome of the investigation

a provision of £57.2 million has been made in relation to this case.

There are no other critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (which are discussed above), that the Directors have made
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.
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3 Adoption of new and revised standards
No new or revised accounting standards were adopted in the year.

In Aptil 2021, the IFRS Interpretations Committes issued a new
intarpretation in relation to accounting for customisation and
configuration costs of cloud computing arrangements. Following

a detailed review, it was confirmed that the new interpretation does
materially impact the accounting treatment for costs incurred on the
Group's Pathway programmae.

There are a number of other amendments and clarifications to IFRS,
effective in future years, which are not expected to significantly impact
the Group's consolidated results or financial position.

4 Special tems

{FRS and Underlying performance

The IFRS profit measures show the performance of the Group

as a whale and as such include all sources of income and expense,
including bath one-off items and those that do not relate to the
Group's ongoing businessas. To provide additional clarity on the
ongoing trading performance of the Group's businesses, management
uses 'Underlying’ performance as an Alternative Performance
Measure to plan for, controt and assess the performance of the
segments. Underlying performance differs from the IFRS
measures as it excludes Special items.

Special tems
Special Itams are disclosed separatsly in order to provide a clearer -
indication of the Group's Underlying performance.

Special Items are either irregular, and therefore including them in

the assessment of a segment’s performance would lead to a distortion
of trends, or are technical adjustmants which ensure the Group's
financial statements are in compliance with IFRS but do not reflect the
operating performance of a segment in the year, or both. An example
of the latter is the amortisation of acquired intangibles, which
principally relates to acquired customer retationships. The Group
iNGUrs costs, which are recognised as an expense in the income
statement, in maintaining these customer relationships. The Group
considers that tha exclusion of the amortisation charga on acquired
intangibles from Underlying performance avoids the potential double
counting of such costs and thersfore excludes it as a Special ltem
from Underlying performance.

The following are consistently disclosed separately as Special
ltems in order to provide a clearer indication of the Group's
Underlying performance:

Restructuring and site closure costs;

Sale of a business or significant asset;

Acquisition costs;

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets;

Impairment of non-current assets;

Fair value adjustrments in respect of derivative financial instrumants
whare hedge accounting is not applied;

* [tems of income and expensae that are considered material, either by
their size and/or nature;

Tax impact of above items; and

Settlement of prior period tax issues.



Special ltems comprise:

2021 2020
Note £m £m
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 15 (36.2) {30.9)
Restructuring and site closure costs {29.7) {42.5)
Acquisition costs and related gains {11.9) (14.6)
Sale of business (7.4) 6.6
Regulatory fing {57.2) -
Impairment charge - (36.6)
Total impact on operating loss (142:4) (131.2)
Finance costs
Fair value gain/floss) on unhedgad interest rate derivatives 9 6.2 (3.8)
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilities 9 - {4.9)
Total impact on pratit bafore taxation {136.2) (129.7)
Taxation Special ltarns 10 a8 (4.9)
Taxation on Special ltems 10 11.8 20.5
Total impact on profit for the year {115.6} (124.%)

Amportisation of acquired intangibles increased in 2021, reflecting the first full year charge since the acquisition of OMNOVA Solutions Inc on
1 April 2020, The fair value of the intangible assets arising on the acquisition of OMNGVA amounting to £330.1 million are being amortised over
a period of 9-11 years mainly dependent on the characteristics of the customer relationships.

Restructuring and site closure costs in 2021 comprise:

* A £13.2 million charge in refation to the substantially completed integration of the OMNOVA acqunsatlon net of a £1.2 million pension curtailment
credit in relation to the French business;

* A £11.6 million charge to democlish and rationalise assets at a small number of sites, to bring them inte line with our ESG strategy; and

¢ Afurther £4.9 million ior the completion of the rationalisation of the Group’s European Performance Materials network.

Restructuring and site closure costs in 2020 comprised £19.5 million for integration of OMNOVA, £20.9 milicn for the rationalisation of the

Group's European Performance Matarials network and £2.1 million to rationalise the Acrylate Monomers site.

Acquisition costs and related gains are for the acquisition of Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business and comprise £15.0 miflion of costs, mainly
professional adviser fees, offset by a £3.1 million gain on a foreign exchange derivative entered into in Cctober 2021 to hedge the acquisition
price. Acquisition costs in 2020 refated to the acquisition of OMNOVA,

Sale of business mainly comprised a fuﬁher £7.1 miflion loss on the onerous contract for the disposal of Synthomer's European Tyra Cord
business as production is relocated to Cacjing (China) to enable the Marl 3 asset (Germany) to be fully closed. This is incremental to the charga
taken in 2020,

During 2018, the Eyropean Commission initiated an investigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene monomer by companies,
including Synthomar, operating in the European Economic Area. The Company has and will continug to fully cooperate with the Commission
during its investigation, Based on the information available and the resulting assessment of the expected outcome of the investigation a provision
of £57.2 million has been made in relation to this case. ’

In 2020, a £36.6 milion impairment charge was booked relating to four sites.

In July 2018 the Group enterad into swap arrangemants to fix Euro interest rates on the full value of the then €440 million committed unsecured
revolving credit facility. The fair value movement of the unhedged interest rate derivatives relates to the movement in the mark-to-market of the
swap at 31 December 2021 in excess of the Group's current borrowings.

Following the Group's successiul refinancing in 2020, capitalised debt costs relating to the 2018 refinancing and the 2019 bridge to bond were
written off, leading to a loss on extinguishment of £4.9 million.

Taxation Special tems comprised the release of uncertain tax provisions in relation to historical tax issues in France and Malaysia.

Taxation on Special ltems is mainly deferred tax credits arising on the amortisation of acquired intangibles and restructuring and site
closure costs.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021 o

5 Segmental analysis
The Group’s Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, examines the Group's performance.

The Group’s reportabls segments are as follows:

Performance Elastomers !

Performance Elastomers is focused on healthcare, paper, carpet, ompounds and foam markets through our Nitrile Butadiene Rubber latex
{Nitrile latex) and Styrene Butadiene Rubber latex and Elastomeric Modifiers businesses (Performance Materials).

Functional Solutions
Functional Seclutions is focused an ¢oatings, construction, adhesives and technical textiles markets through our water-based acrylic and vinylic
based dispersions products.

Industrial Specialities
Industrial Specialities is focused on speciality chamical additives and non-water-based chemistry for a broad range of applications from polymer
additives, coated fabrics, and taminates and fims to emerging materials and technologies.

Acrylate Monomers
Acrylate Monomers is focused on the production of acrylate monomers which are sold to external customers in Eurcpean markets as wall as our
European Functionat Solutions dispersions business.

The Group's Executive Committes is the chief operating decision maker and primarily uses a measure of earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) to assess the performance of the operating segments. No information is provided to the Group's
Executive Committes at the segment level conceming interest income, interest expense, income tax or other material non-cash items.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group’s revenue.
A segmental analysis of Underlying performance and Special Items is shown below.

2021
Porformance Functional Industria) Acrylate
El Soluti Specialitles M s  Corporate Total
Em £m Em Em Em. £m
Revenue
Total revenue 951.5 900.3 382.5 110.3 - 234486
Inter-sagmental revenus - - - {15.1) - {15.1)
951.5 900.3 382.5 95.2 - 23295
EBITDA 320.7 138.2 47.6 35.3 (20.6) 5222
Depraciation and amevtisation (25.8) {28.1) {13.7) (0.8) {2.9) {71.3)
Operating profit/{loss) before Special tems 294.9 111.1 339 34.5 (23.9) 450.9
Special Hems (8.0) {41.3) {14.1) (5.2) (73.8) {142.4)
Cperating profit/{loss) 2688.9 69.8 19.8 29.3 {97.3) 308.5
Finange costs (24.6)
Profit before taxation 283.9
2020
Periarmance Functional iredustrial Acrytate
Elastomers Solutions Speclalities Monomers Corporate Totat
tm m £m Cm £m £m
Revenue
Totai revenue 680.3 646.7 264.9 64.4 - 1,656.3
Inter-segmental revenue - - - {12.1) - {12.1)
680.3 B46.7 264.9 52.3 - 1,644.2
EBITDA 142.5 95.6 41.2 {2.4) (17.5) 259.4
Depreciation and amartisation (25.7) {26.5) (12.2) {3.2) (2.2) (69.8)
Operating profit/{loss) before Special tems 116.8 69.1 29.0 (5.6} 19.7) 189.6
Special items {36.0) (38.0) (10.2) {20.7) {26.3) (131.2)
Operating profit/{loss) - IFRS 80.8 311 18.8 (26.3) (46.0) 58.4
Finance costs T @8
Profit before taxation 20.3

Finance costs for the period include a £6.2 million gain in Special tems (2020: £8.5 milion loss) as set out in note 4.
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Geographical information :

The Group’s revenus from external customers and its non-current assets (exctuding deferred tax) by geographical location are detailad below: %’
Revenue by degtinatlon Non-currenl assata ‘g
2021 2020 - 202% 2020 ]
£m £m £m £m B
UK : 103.6 766 1548 1406 |
Germany 257.2 183.2 188.4 1946
ftaly 102.9 B63.2 © 339 52.7
Netherlands 81.4 57.5 10.9 15.1 o
France 97.2 64,6 29.2 111.4 g
Belgium 49.2 36.0 62.3 70.2 3
Other Europe 380.6 293.4 75.8 788 |3
Malaysia 3924 304.5 170.5 162.7
China 1459 933 22.3 223
Other Asia 205.5 144.2 225 363 L
USA 399.6 254 .6 497.5 5141
Rest of World 105.0 74.1 ‘7.6 8.6 o
' 23295 16442 13467  13%4 [H
6 Operating profit H
2021 2020 =
Nate £m £m -
Revenue 2,329.5 16442 [
Cost of sales ] {1.620.3)  (1.2068 H
Gross profit i . 709.2 2374 JH
Salss and marketing costs {55.8) (83.9)
Adminisirative expenses {133.8) {125.3)
Share of joint ventures 18 2.6 1.2
EBITDA 522.2 259.4
Depraciation and amortisation — Underlying performance {(71.3) (69.8)
Operating profit - Underiying performance 450.9 189.6
Special ltems {142.4) {131.2)
Operating profit - IFRS ) ! 308.5 58.4 §
' 2021 2020 g
Notg £m m =
Operating profit is stated after charging the following: §
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 15 36.2 30.9 ®
Amortisation of other intangibles 16 71 49 | E
Depreciation of proparty, plant and equipment 17 54.4 54.0 F
Depreciation of right of use assets 17 9.8 109 2
Research and development expenditure 289 258
Net loss/{gain} on foreign exchange 0.7 {1.0)
7 Auditors’ remuneration
2021 2020
£'600 £'000
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for: —
audit of the Company's annual financial statements and the consolidated annual financial statements 332 222
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and their associates for other services to the Group: g
audit of the Company's subsidiaries' annual financiat statements 1,291 1,504 §
Total audit fees 1,623 1,816 g‘
Audit related assurance services 42 40 §
Other assurance services 1,582 567 7
Total non-audit fees ® 1,624 607

Details of the Company's policy on the use of auditors for non-audit services, the reasons why the auditors were used rather than ancther
supplier and how the auditors’ independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee section of the Corporate
Governance report on page 101, No services were provided pursuant to contingent fea arrangements.

%

sovuarpon 2000 | 149




Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

8 Staff costs

2021 2026
The average monthly number of employees during the year by segment was:
Parformance Elastomars 044 893
Functional Solutions 1,826 ' 1656
industrial Specialities 1,176 963
Acrylate Monomers . 344 351
Corporate ' 324 321
4,614 4,184
R 2021 2020
4 £m £
The aggregate remuneration of all Group employees comprised:
Wages and salaries 243.7 211.3
Social security costs 26.5 256
Qther pension costs 13.9 14.0
Share-based payments 2.1 20
‘ 286.2 2529
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 112 to 126.
9 Finance costs
2024 2020
» £m £m
Interest payable on bank lpans and overdrafis ) ’ 21.9 255
Less: interest receivable ' (+.0) (1.2
Net intarest expense on defined benefit obligations 24 3.7
Interest element of lease payments 1.5 1.6
Underlying finance costs 3038 29.6
Fair value (gain)/loss on urthedged interast derivatives ’ (6.2) 36
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilitiss - 4.9
Finance costs ) 24.6 38.1
10 Taxation
2021 2020
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax 0.3 -
Overseas tax 89.0 39.9
89.3 39.9
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differances . 5.2 (2.5)
94.5 3r.4
Special Items
Current tax:
Historical issues ‘ ' {8.8) 49
Purchase and sale of business {0.2} 0.2
Restructuring and site closure costs ‘ {4.2) 0.2)
Deferred tax:
Restructuring and site closure_’costs {6.1) (10.5)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (6.9) (10.7)
Acquired tax attributes 56 -
Other deferred tax on acquisition of business { - 1.1
{20.6) (15.6)
Total tax on profit before taxation 73.9 21.8

UK corporation tax is calgulated at 18.0% (2020: 19.0%) of the astimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before taxation

The differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the

prafit before tax is as follows.

2021 2020
£m £m
Profit before taxation 283.9 203
Tax on profit before taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2020; 19.0%) 53.9 3.9
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 16.7 5.8
Tax incentives and items not subject to tax {0.8) {3.6)
Higher tax rates on overseas eamings 16.6 60
Other deferred tax asset not recognised less amounts now recognised (7.6) 7.2
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (7.5) 33
Effect of change of rate on deferred tax 24 0.8}
Tax charge for year 73.9 21.8
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income
2021 2020
. £m f'm
Current tax credit in respect of actuarial losses 14 1.3
Deferred tax (charge)/credit in respect of actuarial movements {13.2) 2.2
Total tax (charge)/credit in respect of actuarial movements (11.8) 3.5
Current tax liabilities
2021 2020
£m £m
Current tax liabilities {45.2) {58.5}

The expenses not deductible for tax purposes includes a disaflowance of the £57.2 million in relation to the Eurcpean Commission

Styrene investigation.

11 Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets to the

axtent that it is probable that these assets will be recovered.
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below.

Deferred tax iiabilities

2021 .
Acceleratad
tax Acquired Right of
deprecistion intangibt Sub-total Offseat Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 32.8) {81.6) {114.4) 711 {43.3)
{Charged)/credited to income statement {1.2) 6.9 57
Exchange adjustment 0.8 1.2 20
At 31 December {33.2) (73.5) {106.7) 49.2 {67.5)
2020
Accelarated
1ax Acquired Right of
depraciation Intangibles Other Sub-total Offsat Total
£m £m £m m fm £m
At 1 January 17.9 {11.8) {1.1} [30.8) - {30.8)
Purchase of business {10.0) {76.0} - [86.0)
(Charged}/credited to income statement (5.2} 10.7 141 66
Exchange adjustment 0.3 {4.5) - (4.2)
At 31 December {32.8) (81.6) - {i14.4) 71.1 {43.3)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

No deferrad tax liability has been recognised on temporary differences relating to unramitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries of £71.7 mitlion

(2020: £30.5 millior), as the Group is able to controt the timing of the raversal of the temporary differences and it is not probable that the

differences will reverse in the forasesable future.

S
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Groug financial statements

Notes to the consolidated fmanmal statements continued

31 Decemnbar 2021

11 Deferred taxation continued

Deferred tax assets \
2021
Right of
Losses Pension Restructuring Other Sub-total Offzat Totel
£m £m £m £m £m £m Em
At 1 January - 29.0 37.2 105 18.2 94.9 71.1) 238
{Charged)/credited to incorne staterment (3.1) (3.4) 6.1 (3.1) (3.9)
Charged to statement of other comprehensiva income - {13.2) - - (13.2)
Exchange adjustment 0.2 {0.6) {0.5) 141 0.2
At 31 December 26.1 20.0 16.1 16.2 78.4 {49.2) 29.2
2020
' Right of
Losses Fansion  Restructuring Cther Sub-total Ottset Tota!
£m £m £en £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2.2 187 - 1.8 228 - 228
Purchase of business 26.5 189 - 104 55.5
Credited/(charged) to income statement 28 (1.9) 10.5 4.5 16.0
Credited to statemant of other comprehensive income - 2.2 - - 22
Exchange adjustment {2.6) {0.7) - 1.7 (1.6)
At 31 December 29.0 37.2 10.5 18.2 G4.9 71.1) 23.8
Tax losses not recoghised
The arnounts of tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised at the balance sheet dates are as follows:
2021 2020
£m £m
Tax logses 53.4 110.3
534 1103
All of the unrecognised tax ksses set out above can be carriad forward indefinitely.
12 Dividends
2021 2020
Pence 2021 . Pence 2020
per shara Em per sharg tm
Interim dividend a.7p 368.9 3.0p 12.8
Proposed final dividend 21.3p 99.5 8.6p 36.6
30.0p 1364 11.6p 49.4
The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM and has not been included as a liability in these financial
statements.
Dividends paid
2021 2020
£m m
Interim dividend 36.9 12.8
Prior year final dividend 36.6 —
73.5 12.8

The proposed fina! 2019 dividend was suspended and subsequently cancelled to preserve cash, liquidity and balance sheet strength at the

onset of COVID-19 in March 2020.
13 Earnings per share

2021 2020
Undarlying Spaecial i Undertying Speclal

periormance Items IFRS . performance ftams FRS
Earnings
Profit/{loss) attributable to aquity holders of the parent £m 325.2 (116.5) 208.7 122.9 (119.8) 3.1
Numbeér of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — basic ‘000 432,280 424,843
Effect ot dilutive potential ordinary shares ‘000 1,654 2.505
Waeighted average number of ordinary shares — diluted ‘000 - 433,944 427,348
Earnings per share
Basic sarnings per share pence 75.2 (26.9) 48.3 28.9 (28.2) 07
Diluted earnings per share pence 74.9 {26.8) 481 28.8 (28.1) 0.7
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14 Goodwill

2021 2020
£m £m

Cost
Al 1 January v 508.8 338.5
Measurement period adjustment 21 -
Purchase of busingss - 180.2
Exchange adjustments ‘ (8.5) {9.9)
At 31 December 502.4 508.8
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 15.4 ’ 141
Impairment charge - 1.3
At 31 December - 154 15.4
Net book valug
At 31 December 487.0 493.4

+Goodwill acquired in a business combination is aliocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from
that business combination, '

In March 2021, 4 £2.1 million measurement period adjustment was recognised, retating to the acquisition of OMNQOVA Solutions Inc.

The allocation of the carrying value of goodwill is represented below: .
Nel boak Net book Net book

valug at valus at Moasure- value at

1Januvary  Pinchase of Exchanga 31 December ment period Exchange 31 December

2020 business impairment  edjustments 2020 adjustment adjustments 200

Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Performancs Elastomers . 119.0 - - 4.2 123.2 - {59y 1173
Functional Solutions 180.0 138.0 - {11.6) 306.4 1.9 {1.4) 306.9
Industrial Spacialities 241 42.2 - (2.5) 63.8 0.2 {t.2) 628
Acrylate Monomers 1.3 — (1.3} - - - - -
Total 3244 180.2 (1.3 9.9) 493.4 2.1 {8.5) 487.0

uodes aberens

Tha Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more fraquently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts for CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are the
discount rate, profitability and growth rate. These assumptions have been revised in the year in light of the current economic environment,

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and tha risks
specific to the Group. The discount rate is based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital adjusted, where appropriate, for the risk
premium attributable to a particular CGU’s activities and geography of operation. A pre-tax discount rate of 10.2% has been used in the above
calcutations for sach CGU (2020: 9.7%).

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts for each CGU, derived from tha most recent five-year business plans approved by the Board. The finat
year cash flow is then assumed to apply into perpstuity with estimated annual growth rates of 3.1%, 1.9% and 2.0% for Performance Elastomers,
Functional Solutions and Industrial Specialities respectively {2020: 1.7%, 1.6% and 1.6% for Performance Elastamers, Functional Solutions and
Industrial Spacialities respectively). These rates do not exceed averags long-term growth rates for relevant markets.

A sensitivity analysis has been undertaken on these impairment tests, with scenarios covering increased cost of capital, the impact of potential
carbon taxes, reduced margins and reduction in customer demnand. For each CGU, the Directors belisve that there is no reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based that would cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the
aggregate recovarable amount of the CGU.
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Group financial statemaents

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 Decermber 2021

P

15 Acquired intangible assets

Othor
Customer acquired
T hips  Intangibl Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2021 ‘ 373.2 216 394.8
Derecognition of fully amortised assets @.1) - 3.19)
Exchange adjustments (8.4) {0.5) {8.9)
At 31 December 2021 361.7 211 a82.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 48.8 5.0 53.8
Amorlisation charge for the year 341 21 36.2
Derecognition of fully amortised assets 3.1} - (3.1)
Exchange adjustments {1.3} {0.4) 1.7)
At 31 December 2021 78.5 6.7 a5.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 . 283.2 14.4 297.6
- Other
Customer acquired
! relationships  intangibles Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2020 71.3 . a.1 80.4
Purchase of business ) 3169 132 330.1
Daracognition of fully amortised assets {0.9) - (0.9
Exchange adjustmentis {14.1) {0.7) (14.8)
At 31 December 2020 373.2 21.6 3948
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 20.8 2.8 236
Amortisation charge for the year 29.0 1.9 309
impairment charge A - 0.1
Deracognition of fully amortised assets 0.9 . - 0.9
Exchange adjustments {0.2) 0.3 0.1
At 31 December 2020 48.8 50 53.8
Net book value
- At 31 December 2020 324.4 16.6 341.0
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16 Other intangible assets

uodes 2i6eiens

BOUBLIBADE)

Other
Intanglble Assets under
asgsets  construction Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 danuary 2021. 14.8 209 4.7
Additions 9.5 6.4 15.9
Transfers 36.1 (36.1) -
Exchange adjustments 14 (0.2) 1.2
At 31 December 2021 v 61.8 - §1.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 B.1 - 8.1
Amortisation charge for the year 7.1 - 71
Exchange adjustments 0.2 - 0.2
At 31 December 2021 15.4 - 154
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 , 46.4 - 46.4
‘ Other '
intangible Agsals under
assets construction Totat
L £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2020 8.2 17.9 26.1
Additions 14 12.4 13.8
Purchase of business ) 5.7 - 5.7
Transter 0.2 0.2} -
Disposals {0.8) - {0.8)
Exchange adjustments 0.1 0.2} 0.1)
At 31 December 2020 14.8 29.9 447
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 4.1 - 4.1
Amortisation charge for the year 4.9 - 49
Impairment ’ 0.1 - 01
Disposals 0.8} - (0.8)
Exchange adjustments {0.2) - {0.2)
At 31 December 2020 8.1 - 8.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 6.7 29.9 366

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
As disclosed in note 2, there are various conditions required by 1AS 38 for an internally generated intangible asset to be recognised.

During the year the Group invested a further £12.9 million in its Pathway programme (2020: £12.2 million). This programma is designed to deliver
a unified operating mode! on a single set of integrated systems to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Group. The investment in this
programime was shown as an asset under construction untit the deployment phase began.
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Group financial staterments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 Dacember 2021

17 Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets Right of use asuets
Freshold Leasehold
land and land and Plantand Assets under Land and Flant and

[] buildl i t ¢onstruction bulldings  equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2021 1814 8.7 739.4 251 36.9 29.4 1,020.9
Additions 6.0 - 48.5 13.4 1.6 21 71.6
Sale of business {3.6) - (3.6) - - - (7.2}
Disposals {1.1) - 9.9) - (1.7 (8.0) 20.7)
Transter from assets under constiuction 0.2 - 9.9 {10.1} - - -
Exchange adjustments (4.2} - (23.3) [0.5) {0.2) . [0.5) {28.7)
At 31 Decembar 2021 178.7 a.7 761.0 27.9 36.6 23.0 1,035.9
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 59.0 5.1 4178 - 6.0 11.2 499.1
Depreciation charge for the year 16.6 0.1 37.7 - 3.6 6.2 64.2
Sale of business 2.4} - {3.6) - - - {6.0)
Disposals 0.7) - (9.6) - {0.9) {4.9) {16.1)
Exchange adjustments {1.9) - {12.6) - 0.7 0.2 {13.6)
At 31 December 2021 70.6 5.2 429.7 - 9.4 127 527.6

1
Net book value .
At 31 December 2021 108.1 35 331.3 271.9 27.2 10.3 508.3
Qwned assets Right of use asssis
Leasshold
Freehold land land and Ptant and  Assets under Land and Ftant and
and bulldings buildings equipment  construction bildings equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2020 106.1 8.7 636.7 13.4 21.5 24.4 810.8
Additions . 79 - 9.0 19.8 1.6 2.9 41.2
Purchase of busingss 68.2 - ar.2 8.2 18.0 59 184.5
Disposals 0.1 - {10.3) - 0.9) (4.5) {15.8)
Transfer from assets under construction 1.5 - 141 {15.6} - - -
Exchange adjustments {2.2) - 2.7 {0.7) {0.3) 0.7 0.2
At 31 Decembear 2020 181.4 B.7 739.4 251 36.9 29.4 1.020.9
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 40.5 4.9 353.5 - 24 4.6 4059
Depreciation charge for the year 7.7 0.2 48.1 - 45 6.4 64.9
lmpairmant 9.7 - 231 - - 0.7 33.5
Disposals .1 - (R )] - {0.9) 0.8) (10.9)
Exchange adjustments 1.2 - 4.2 - — 0.3 5.7
At 31 December 2020 59.0 5.1 417.8° ~ 6.0 - 11.2 498 .1
Net book valug
At 31 December 2020 122.4 3.6 321.6 251 30.89 18.2 521.8

Freehold land is not depreciated and is held at historical cost. At 31 December 2021, the Group's freehold land was recognised at £50.4 million

(31 December 2020: £54.3 million).

At 31 December 2021 the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipmert amounting to

£18.8 million {2020: £18.9 mikion).
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18 Investment in joint ventures

[4]
Details of the Group's joint venturas are as follows: 8
&
Place of &
Name of entity incorporatian Ownarship Principal activity Sagment F
Synthomer Middle East Company Ltd  Saudi Arabia 49% Manufacture and sale of acrylic and vinyl resin emulsions Functional Solutions §
Synthomar Functional Solutions FZCO  UAE 49% Trading in adhesives and oiffield chanmivaly Functional Solutlons
Synthomer FZCO UAE 49% Sates and marketing support for Synthomear companigs  Functional Solutions
Super Sky Ltd UK 50% Non-trading Corporate

Joint vantures are accounted for using the equity mathod in these financial statements. The ownership of entities has not changed since

the prior year.

Summarised financial information in respect of the joint ventures is set out below. This information represents amounts in the joint ventures’

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Summarised balance sheet (100%)

2021 2020
£m £m
Non-curent assets 64 46
Cash and cash equivalents 26 42
Qther current assets 245 14.6
Total turrent assets 2741 18.8
Other current liabilities {18.5) 0.9
Total turrent liabilities {18.5) {9.9)
Net agsets 15.0 13,5
2021 2020
Group share: £m tm
Total assets 18.5 11.5
Total liabilities 9.1) {4.9)
Net agseats 7.4 6.6
Sumrmarised statement of comprehensive income (100%)
2021 2020
'm £m
Revenue . 61.8 39.4
Cperating profit 54 27
Taxation - {0.2)
Profit for the year 54 25
Exchange differences on translation 0.2 {0.4)
Total comprehensive income 5.6 21
Dividends paid {3.9) {3.8)
Movemant in retained earnings 1.7 {1.7)
Group share: ¢
Profit for the year . 26 1.2
Exchange differences on transiation 0.1 0.2)
Dividends paid (1.9) 1.9)
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Group financial statemeants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021 : '

18 Investment in joint ventures continued
The following table reconciles the sumimary information above to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint ventures:

Investment in joint ventureg

2021 2020
£m Em
At 1 January 6.6 75
Profit from continuing operations 26 1.2
Exchange differences on translation 0.1 0.2)
Dividend paid ) (1.9) (1.9) -
At 31 December 74 8.6
19 Inventories
2021 2020
£m m
Raw materials and consumables 1204 78.9
Finished goods 1333 91.4
253.7 170.3
Stock written off during the ysar 5.9 D.5
Cost of inventory recognisad as an expanse and included in cost of sales 1,338.4 926.2

The natura of the chemical reaction necessary to produce finished goods from raw raterials is such that ‘work in progress’ is not a material part
of the Group's inventory at any given point of time.

20 Trade and other receivables

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade receivables 2751 229.3
Other raceivables 25.4 236
Prepayments 123 . 95
312.8 262.4

~

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and othar receivables approximates to their fair value.

Before accepting a new customer, the Group uses appropriate procedures 1o assess the potential customer’s cradit quality in orderto set a
cradit timit.

The Group applies a simplified approach to measure the loss aliowance for trade receivables classified at amortised ¢ost, using the lifetime
expscted loss provision. The expected credit 10ss on trade receivables is estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experisnce and credit rating, adjusted as appropriate for current observable data. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a large number of customaers, The following table details the risk prefile of trade receivables based on the Group's
provision matrix.

Trade receivables - days past due

Not yet due <80 81-120 > 120 Total

2021 £m £m £m £m £m

Gross carrying amount 249.3 25.3 0.3 1.7 276.6

Expected credit loss rate 0.06%
Lifetime axpected credit loss f {1.5)

Total 275.1

Trade receivables - days past due

Not yel due < B0 61120 > 120 Total

2020 fm £m £m £m £m

Grosg carrying amount 2144 15.1 03 1.7 231.2

Expetied credit loss rate 0.12%
Litetime expected credit loss ) (1.9)

Total ) 228.3
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The fallowing table shows the movement in the iitetime expected credit loss that has been recognised for trade receivatiles in accordance with
the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9:

2021 2020

£m £m

At t January 1.9 0.9

Exchange adjustrents (0.1) {0.1)
Acquisition of business N 1.4
Transter {from)/to credit impaired (0.2) 0.1

Uncollactable amounts written off or recovered (0.1) {0.4)
At 31 Dacember 1.5 1.9

21 Cash and borrowings Cash  Exch
as achange

1 January inflows? and other 31 December

2021 {outflows) movements 2021

£m £m £m £m

Bank ovardrafts ' (10.5) 10.5 - -
Current borrowings (9.6) - 9.6 -
Current liabilities : {20.1) 10.5 9.6 -
Bank loans (186.2) - (1.7 {187.9)
€520m 3.875% senior unsecured loan notes due 2025 ’ {457.7) - 26.1 {431.6)
Non-current liabilities {643.9) - 244 {619.5)
Total borrowings {664.0) 10.5 34.0 {619.5)
Cash and cash equivatents 201.8 302.9 0.6 505.3
Net debt } (462.2) 313.4 346 {114.2)

Capitalised debt costs shown in the tables above, which have been recognised as a reduction in borrowings in the financial statemants,
amountad to £9.9 million at 31 December 2021 {31 December 2020: £11.2 million).

Analysis of net debt by currency:

2021 2020
Cashand Cash and 2020
cash Total cesh Total
equivalonts borrowings equivalents borrowings
. £m £m £m £m
Sterling 2115 - 12.5 -
Euro 50.7 4373 388 4847
US daliar 1248 192.1 54.1 180.5
Malaysian ringgit 51.0 - 61.0 -
Other 87.3 - 35.4 =
Total 5053 §29.4 201.8 675.2

The principal features of the Group's borrowings are as follows:

The Group has committed unsecured borrowing facilities comprising a $260 million term loan, a €460 million revolving credit facility both of
which have terms ending July 2024, The Group also has a $300 milion term loan with a term ending in October 2024 and €520 million 3.875%
unsecurad senior loan notes due in June 2025.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below detaits changes In the Group’s liabllities arising from financing activities, including bath ¢ash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows are classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash
fiows from financing activities.

Mon cash changes

e Financing Exchangoe
1 January cash and other 31 Decomber
2021 outflows Acquisitions movements 2021
£m £m £m £m £m
Borrowings {653.5) - - 34.0 {619.5)
Lease liabilities (55.0) 9.7 - 1.8 (43.5)
Total {708.5) 9.7 - a5.8 {663.0)
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021 N

22 Financial instruments
The table below sets out the Group's accounting classification of each class of financial assets and fiabilities:

021 2020
Carrying Carrying
Veluation amount amount within
category in Falr vatue Carrying withinscope | Carrying scope of
accordance hisrarchy amgunt ofIFRS 7 Falr value amount IFRS 7 Falr value
with IFRS 8' level £m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade receivables AC Level 2 2751 2751 275.1 229.3 229.3 229.3
Other receivablas AC Level 2 254 15.0 15.0 23.6 13.9 13.9
Cash and cash squivalents AC Level 2 505.3 505.3 505.3 201.8 201.8 2018
Derivatives — no hedge accounting FVTPL  Level 2 3.2 3.2 3.2 1.4 14 1.4
Total assets B809.0 798.6 798.6 456.1 446.4 446.4
Borrowings AC  Level2 (619.5)  (619.5) . (620.4) 664.0)  (664.0) (675.2)
Trade and other payables AC Level 2 {416.5) {404.6) {404.6) (337.8) {324.9) 3249
Derivatives - no hedge accounting FVTPL Level 2 {10.1) {10.1) {10.1) {19.4) (19.4) {19.4)
Total liabilities (1,046.1) (1,034.2) {1,044.1) {1,021.2) (1.008.3) {(1,018.5)

Note:
1. AC: amortised coyt; FVTPL: fair value through profit or loss; a mare detalled descrption of the categorias can be found in note 2.

The tair value of the Group's borrowings at 31 Dacamber 2021 was £629.4 million {31 December 2020: £675.2-million).

Financial risk management
The Group's palicies, approved by the Board, provide written principles on financial risk managemant and the use of financial derivatives.
These risks include market risk (including currency risk and inerest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has 4 policy of hedging significant foreign exchange transactional exposure at operating company level. The Group regularly reviews
its net assets and barrowing currency exposures, borrowing In overseas currencies in order to hedge the net assets held in those currencies as
appropriate. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instrumnents, for speculative purposes.

Currency risk

The Group presents its consotidated financial staternents in sterling and conducts business in many currencies. As a rasult, it is subject to
fareign currency risk due to exchange rats movements, which will affect the Group's transactions and the translation of the results and underlying
net assets of its operations,

To manage the Gurrency risk the Group uses foreign currency barrowings, forward contracts and currency swaps to hedge overseas net assets,
which are predominantly denominated in Euros, US dollars and Malaysian ringgits. Profit translation exposures are not hedged.

The Group hedgas currency transaction exposures at the point of confirmed order, using farward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's
poligy is, where practicable, to hedge all exposuras on monetary assets and liabilities. Consequently, there are no material currency exposures to
disclose (2020: nane). !

Interest rate risk

The Group has an exposure to interest rate risk, arising pringipally on changas in US dollar and Euro interest rates. To manage interest rate risk,
the Group manages its proportion of fixed to floating rate borrowings, and utilises interest rate swaps. These practices aim to rinimige the
Group's net finance charges with acceptable year-on-year volatility.

At 31 December 2021 the Group had in place swap arrangements to fix interest ratas on €440 million of borrowings.

The Group's intarest rate derivatives are designated as fair value hedges with fair value movermant on the hedged portion recognised in equity.
Interest paid on these derivatives is recognised in the income statement, within Underlying interest costs. Fair value movement in the unhedged
portion is also recognised in profit and loss, as a Special Item.

After taking account of interest rate swaps, the Group's currency and interest rate exposure as at 31 December 2021 was:

2021 2020
Floating rate Fixed rate Total Floating rate Fixed rate Total
borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowinga
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Euro - 437.3 437.3 10.3 474.4 484.7
US dollar 192.1 - 1921 190.5 - 190.5
Total 192.1 437.3 6294 200.8 474 .4 675.2
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Market risk sensitivity analysis

The Group's main exposura to market risk is in the form of interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group uses a sensitivity analysis that
estimates the impacts on the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income of either an instantaneous increase or decreass
of 1.0% in market interest rates or a 10% strengthaning or weakening in stering against all other currencies, from the rates applicable at

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 with all other variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis excludes the impact of market
risks on the net post employment benefit liabilitias and assets, and corporate tax payabla. This analysis is for fllustrative purposes only, ag
interest and foraign exchange rates rarely change in isolation.

Thers has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

2021 2020

Incomao statement Equity Incoma statement Equity
Underiying IFRS iFRS Underlying IFRS IFRS
-f+ Em -/+ £Em -+ Em -/+ £m -+ £ -+ Om

Interest rate sensitivity analysis .
UK interest rate +/- 1.0% 2.1 - - - - -
Euro interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.5 4.4 - 0.4 4.4 -
US interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.7 - - 1.4 - -

Fareign surrency sensitivity analysis

Sterling -/+ 10% 19.9 19.9 23.0 3.4 34 313
Euro exchange rate -7+ 10% 1.0 1.0 10.0 2.8 28 7.6
US dollar exchange rate -/+ 10% 19.6 19.6 1.6 1.0 1.0 215
Malaysian ringgit exchange rate -+ 10% 0.5 0.5 - - - -

wodey yBeteng

BIUBILOACD)

The interest rate sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to intarest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the balance sheet date. For fioating rate iiabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of liability outstanding at the
batance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.

For interest rate derivatives the mark-to-market adjustment, and amount recognised in equity as part of a hedging arrangement, is estimated
using the interest rate sensitivity against the nominal amount.

The foreign curren\cy sensitivity analysis includes only cutstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their transiation at
the period end for 2 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations
within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currancy other than the functional currency of tha lender or borrower.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit risk arises
on cash balances, derivative financial instruments and cradit exposures 1o customers.

The carrying amount of finaricial assets represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date as disclosed at the start of this
note. A financial asset is in default when the counterparty fails 1o pay its contractual obligations. Financial assets are written-off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Credit risk is managed separately for financial and business-related credit exposures.

Financial credit risk

Synthomer aims te minimise its financlal credit risk through the application of risk management policies approved and menitored by the Board.
Counterparties are predominantly limited to maijor banks and financial institutions with a ¢redit rating of investrent grade and the policy restricts
the exposure to any one countarparty by setting credit limits. The Group’s policy is designed to ensure that individual counterparty limits are
adhered to and that there are no signiticant concentrations of cradit risk. The Board also defines the types of financial instruments which may be
transacted. Synthomer annually reviews the cradit limits applied and regularly monitors the counterparties’ credit quaiity, reflecting marke?! credit
conditions.

Business related credit risk '

Trade and other receivables exposures are managed locally in the operating units whare they arise and active risk management is applied,
focusing on country risk, cradit limits, ongoing credit evaluation and monitoring procedures. There is no significant concentration of cradit risk
with respect to receivables as the Group has a large number of customers which are internationally dispersed. See note 20 for information on
credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables. -

Liquidity risk { .

Liquidity risk is the risk that Synthomer is unable to mest its payment obligations when due, or that it is unable, on an ongoing basis, to borrow
funds at an acceptable price to fund actual or proposed commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking faciiities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity
profiles of assets and liabilities.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consclidated financial statements continued
3t December 2021

22 Financial instruments continued

Tha following tables provide an analysis of the anticipated undiscounted contractual cash flows including interest payable for the Group's
financial liabilities and derivative instruments. The liquidity analysis for lease liabilities is included in note 23. Where interest payments are
calculated at a floating rate, rates of each cash flow until maturity of the instruments are calculated based on the forward yield curve prevailing at
the raspective year ends. Derivative contracts are prasented on a net basis.

2021 2020
Amaount dus Amount dua

hetwaen batween betwean between

within 1and 2 and within ¥ and 2and

1 yaar 2years Syoars 1 yesar 2 years 5 years

. £m £m £m £m £m m
Ovardrafis - - - (10.5) - -
Financial liabilities in trade and other payables {402.3) {1.5) {0.8) (321.2) 2.0 (1.7}
Bank loans - principal - - (192.1) - - {1802
€520m 3.875% senior unsecured |oan notes due 2025 - - (3713 - - [(484.9)
Interest payments on borrowings (20.5) (20.5) {27.5) @21 {(220) (80.0)
Total non-derivative financial liabilities (422.8) (22.0) (657.7) (353.8) {24.0) (716.8)

2021 2020
Amount due o~ Amount due

between betwean betwean  betwaeen

within 1 and 2and wiithin 1 and 2 and

1year 2years 6 years 1 year 2 years 5years

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Currency forwards 3,2 - - 1.4 - -
Total derivative financial assets 3.2 - - 1.4 - -
Interest rate swaps 4.0) (4.0) {7.1) 4.2 {4.3) {11.5)
Currency forwards {1.2) - - 0.8 - -
Total derivative financial liabilities {5.2) {4.0) {7.1) {5.0) {4.3) {i1.5)

The tinancial covenant at 31 December 2021 for the RCF is that net debt must be less than 4.0 times EBITDA. At 31 December 2021 the actual
covenant for the net debt was 0.3 times EBITDA.

Any non-compliance with covenants underlying Synthomer's financing arrangements could, if not waived, constitute an event of default with
respact 1o any such arrangements, and any non-compliance with covenants may, in particular circumstances, lead to an acceleration of maturity
on certain borrowings and the inability to access committed facilities. Synthomer was in full compliance with its financial covenants in respect of
its borrowings throughout each of the years presented.

At the year end, Synthomer had undrawn committed bank facilties as follows:

20 2020
Expliring Explring
betwaen batwaen *

2and$ 2and §
years Total years Tolal
£m £m £m £m
Unsecured €460m multi-currency RCF expiring 3 July 2024 3733 3733 397.0 397.0
Unsecured $300m Term Loan Factility expiring 28 October 2024 221.7 2217 - -

5950 595.0 397.0  397.0

Fair value measurement
Certain of the Group's financial instruments are held at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrurnent is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderty transaction between market participants at the balance shaet date.

As prescribed by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, fair values are measured using a hierarchy where the inputs are as follows:

* Lavel } - quoted prices in activa markets for identical assets or liabilities.
+ Level 2 — not level 1 but are observable for that asset or liability efther directly or indirectiy,
* Lavel 3 - not based on observable market data.

Interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards and swaps are valued using discounted cash flow techniques. These techiniques incorporate
inputs such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, which are used in a discounted cash flow calculation incorporating the instrument's
term, notional amount and discount rate, and taking credit risk into account. As significant inputs to the valuation are observabie in active
markets, all of the Group’s financial instruments are classified as level 2 financial instruments.

Tha fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and currency swaps is estimated by discounting the future contraciuval
cash flows using forward exchange rates, intarest rates and prices at the balance sheet date.

There were no transters of any financial instrument between the levals of the fair value hierarchy during the current or prior year,
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Hedge relationships

The Group targets a one-to-one hedge ratio. Strengths of the economic ralationship batwean the hedged itsm and the hedging instrument is g

analysed on an ongeing basis. Ineffectiveness can arise from subsequent change in the forecast transactions as a result of timing, cash flows or 3

valua sxcept when the critical tarms of the hedging instrument and hedged item are ciossly aligned. Tha change in the credit risk of the heaging i

instruments or the hedged items is not expected to be the primary factor in the economic relationship. ' ‘3

The notionat amounts, contractual maturities and rates of the hedging instruments designated in hedging relationships as of 31 December 2021

by the main risk categories are as follows; —_
Hadged risk Notional amount Maturity Rangs of hedged retes

2021 o)

Cash flow hedges 3

Interast rate swap Interest rate  Up to €440m 2B8/08/2018 - 28/08/2025 0.517% to 0.535% fixed 8

Net investment hedges §

Net investment Currency  Up to €560m 01/04/2020 - present 1.11-1.20

Nat investrment Currency Up to $370m 01/04/2020 - present 1.33-1.42

2020 —

Cash flow hedges

Interast rate swap Interest rata  Up to €440m 28/08/2018 - 28/08/2025 0.517% to 0.535% fixed

Net investment hedges

Net investment Currency  Up to €560m from 01/04/2020 1.08-1.15

Net investment Currency Upto $370m from 01/04/2020 1.23-137

Whars hedge accounting is applied, hedges are documentsd and tested for effectiveness on an ongoing basis.

The ratio for hedging instruments designated in both net investment and cash flow hedge retationships was 1:1. Ineffectiveness could occur on
either hedging relationship due to significant changes in counterparty credit risk or a reduction in the notional amount of the hedgad ftem during
the designated hedging period. { '

Cash flow hedges
The Group designated as a cash flow hedge the interest rate swaps used to manage intarest rate risk on its Euro borrowings.

In 2021 a gain of £3.4 million {2020: £0.8 million loss) was recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in respect of these derivatives.
At 31 December 2021 the cash flow hedge reserve includes a cumulative loss of £10.0 million {2020: loss of £13.4 million}, alt of which relates 1o
continuing cash flow hedgss. The cash flows are expected to ocour between 2022 and 2025.

in the year, the Group's borrowings fell below the total of the interest rate derivative contracts, leading to a reduction in the balance designated as
a cash flow hedge. The change in fair value relating to the unhedged portion of the interest rate swaps was a gain of £6.2 milion (2020: loss of
£3.6 million) which was recognised in the income statement within finance costs as a Special item.

Capital management
The Board is committed to enhancing sharsholder value in the long term, both by investing in the business so as to deliver continued
improvement in the return from those investments and by managing the capital structure,

Synthomer manages its capital structure to achieve capital sfficiency and to provide flexibility to invest through the economic cycle and give
efficient access to debt markets at attractive cost levels. This is achieved by targeting a net debt to EBITDA ratio between 1.0 and 2.0. In order fo
finance acquisitions, the Group may increase the ratio to 3.0, with deleveraging within 12-24 months.

As at 31 December 2021 the net debt to EBITDA ratio was 0.3 times {2020: 1.8 times).
Tha Board maintains a dividend policy to 2.5 times earnings covar. Should excess capital not be deployed for acquisitions or capital expenditure,
the Board will periodically consider one-off capital returns to shareholders in order to maintain an efficient balance sheet.

23 Lease liabilities
The Group has a portfolio of lkases mainly comprising land and buildings, chemical storage tanks and vahicles. Further details are given in note 2.

Information in respect of right of use assets, including the carrying amount, additions and depreciation, are set out in note 17 to these financial
statements. Information in respect of the carrying vaiue is set out below and information in respact of interest arising on lease liabilities is set out
innote 9.

Synthomaer also enters into short-term leases and low value leases which are not recognised as right of use assets and lease liabilities.
The expense recognised in the year in relation to these leases is not material. Synthomer has no material exposure to variable lease payments,
axtension options or committed leases not yet commencad.

The total cash outflow tor leases in the year was as tollows:

2029 2020

£m £m

Paymenits for the principal portion of lease liabilities 9.7 9.7
Payments for the interest portion of leasa liabilities 1.5 1.6
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

23 Lease liabilities continued
|_aass liabilities included in the balance sheet are as follows:

o b 31 D
2021 2020
£m £m
Current 8.8 10.6
Non-current 34.7 44.4
43.5 55.0
The following table details the maturity of contractua! undiscounted cash flows for leass liabilities:
' 2021 2020
£m £m
l.ess than ona year : 9.4 11.2
Between one and two years 8.1 10.5
Between two and five years 11.3 171
More than five years 17.0 19.0
24 Trade and other payables .
2021 2020
£m £m
Amount due within one year
Trade payables 264.0 204.6
Other payables 50.8 40.5
Accruals 99.4 89.0
414.2 334.1
Amount due affer one year
Accruals 2.3 3.7
2.3 37

Avarage trade payable days in 2021 was 60 (2020: 64). This figure represents trade payable days for all trading operations within the Group,

Galculated as a weighted average based on cost of sales.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables, other payables and accruals approximates {o their fair value.

25 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Restructuring Reguiatory
& site closure fine Total
£m Em £m
At 1 January 2021 316 - nse
Charged to the income statement 26.9 57.2 84.1
Unilised during the year (10.5) - (10.5)
Exchange adjustments {2.0) - {2.0)
At 31 December 2021 46.0 57.2 103.2
Analysis of provigsions
31 December 31 Dgcember
2021 2020
£m £m
Non-currant 18.0 5.9
Currant 85.2 25.7
103.2 31.6
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Analysis of charge to the income statement

2021 2020

£m £m

Underlying performance - -
Special ltems ' a84.1 27.0
84.1 27.0

The closing balance inctudes £57.2 million for the European Commission fine, £15.8 million and £1.0 million in relation to the rationalisation of the
Group’s European Performance Materials network in Marl and Culu respectively and £10.6 milion in relation to the onerous contract arising on
the disposal of tha European Tyre Cord business. In the year, a £5.1 million provision was recognisad for the closure of OMNOVA's administrative
and R&D site in Villejust (France). A £11.6 million provision was recognised to demolish and rationalise assets at a small number of sites, to bring
them into line with our ESG strategy.

26 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a variety of retirement benefit arrangements, covering both definad contribution and defined benefit schemes.

Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes for its employees. Costs recognised in respect of defined contribution pensicn
plans across the Group for tha year ended 31 December 2021 were £10.9 million (2020: £9.2 million).

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the depandants of scheme members (widow and orphan benefits) is re-insured with an external
insurance company.

Multi-employer schemes .
The Group participates in sevaral taritis of the Pensionskasse Degussa in Garmany, which is a multi-employer pension schame.

Regular contributions are payable to the scheme by each participating employer for new benefits accruing. The assets of all participating
employers are pooled, and contributions are calculated based on aggregated demographic experisnce. Thersfore sufficient information is not
available to identify the Group's share of the assets on a consistent and reliable basis and the Group accounts for the schemes on a defined
contribution basis. The Group expects to make a regular contribution of £2.4 million to the scheme in 2022.

To the extent that there is undarfunding in the scheme, deficit contributions are payable based on an actuarial assessment of each participating
employer's share of the future benefit accrual. At 31 December 2021 there is no indication of any commitment for additional deficit contributions
in excess of regular contributions.

Defined benefit schames

UK

The Group's UK defined benefit scheme is administered by a fund that is Iegally separata from the Company. The trustees of the pension fund
are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholdars in the scheme. The trustees of the pansion scheme are
responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

The schems was closed to future accrual in 2009 and all retirement benefits since that time are provided by way of a defined contribution
scheme. The assets of the schemae are held separately from those of tha companies concerned. A triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was
undertaken in 2021 and is in the process of heing finalised by the trustees of the schame and the Company.

USA

The Group's US defined benefit scheme was acquired as part of the OMNOVA acquisition and is administered by a fund which is legally separate
from OMNOVA Solutions Inc. The fiduciary committes is required by law to act in the interest of the fund and is responsible for the investment
policy with regard to the asseis of the fund.

The scherme was closed to futyre accrual in 2011 and all retirament benefits since that time are provided by way of a defined contribution
scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the companiaes concerned and a formal valuation is undertaken on an
annual basis.

Germany

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes in Germany. These schemes are closed to new members. In line with common
practice, these schemes are unfunded and liabilities are settled on a ¢ash basis as they fali due. At each balance sheet date, obligations are
calculated by external actuarigs.

Other

The Group operates a number of smaller oversaas pension and retirement benefit schemes, For the funded schemes, assets are held separataly
from those of the Group. The aggregated pension disclosuras for the other defined benefit schemes have been compiled from a number of
actuarial valuations at 31 December 2021,
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 Dacember 2021

26 Retirement benefit obligations continued

Retirement benefit risks

Defined bensfit schemes axpose the Group to a numbaer of risks, the most significant of which are detailed balow:

Asset return risk

underperform this yiald, this will increase the deficit.

The plan liabiities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets

Interest rate risk

in the value of the plan assets in bond holdings.

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially oftset by an increase

Longevity risk

will result in an increase in the plans’ liabilities,

The majority of the plans’ obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy

Charges fo the Income statement in respect of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes are as follows: .

2021 2020 .
UK USA Germany Other Total UK USA Germany Other Total ~
£m £m £m Em £m £m Lm £m £m
Service cost 0.9 1.7 . D4 - 3.0 1.6 16 0.6 1.0 4.8
Net interest expensa 06 1.0 0.6 0.2 24 1.0 1.4 1.0 0.3 3.7
1.5 2.7 1.0 0.2 5.4 2.6 3.0 1.6 1.3 8.5
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are set out balow:
2021 2020
UK USA Gormany Other Total UK usa  Germany Cther Total
£m £m £m fm £m m £m £m £rn £m
Return on plan assets
excluding arnounts included
in interest expense 3.1) 19.5 - {0.8) 15.6 32.0 331 - - 0.6 65.7
Gains/(losses) fram changes in
assumptions M5 7.2 6.9 26 51.2 {43.3} {20.8) {7.6) {1.6) (73.3)
Actuarial gains/{losses} M4 26.7 6.9 1.8 66.8 (11.3) 12.3 7.6) (1.0) (7.8)
Amounts included in the Group's consolidatad balance sheet arising from the Group's defined benefit scheme obligations are:
2021 2020
* UK USA Germany Uther Total UK USA Germany Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m tm Em £m £m
Prasent value of defined .
benefit obligations {410.1) (206.2) (77.6) (24.9) ({718.8) (456.4) (2203) (91.0) {30.0) (797.7)
Fair value of schemes' assets 405.5 178.5 2.9 9.5 596.4 404.1 158.5 3.2 10.6 576.3
Net liability arising from
defined benelit obligatiens (4.6) (27.7) (74.7) 15.4) {122.4) (62.3) (61.8) (87.8) (19.5)  {221.4)
Fair value of the schemes' assets are set out below:
2021 « 2020
UK USA Germany Other Total UK USA  Germany Onher Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m tm
At 1 January 404.1 1585 32 105 5763 366.5 - 3.1 20 3786
Interast income 5.7 2.4 - - 8.1 7.2 2.8 - - 10.0
Amounts recognised in income in
respect of defined benefit schemes 5.7 2.4 - - a.1 7.2 28 - - 10.0
Remeasurament:
Return on plan assets excluding amounts
ingluded in interest income (3.1) 19.5 - {0.8) 15.6 32.0 33.1 - 0.6 65.7
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income {3.1) 195 - (0.8) 15.6 32.0 33.1 - 0.6 B85.7
Contributions:
Employers 169 ° 100 - 0.6 27.5 16.5 04 - 0.7 17.6
Payments from plans:
Benefit payments {18.1) (13.9) - (0.2) (32.2) (18.1} (11.5) - 08 {30.4)
- 2 {3.9) - 0.4 (4.7) 1.6 (111} - ©.1) (2.8
Plan assets from acquired entities - - - - - - 1486 - 0.5 14841
Exchange adjustments - 2.0 {0.3) {0.6) 1.1 - (14.9) 0.1 0.5 {14.3)
At 31 December 405.5 1785 2.9 95 5964 4041 158.5 3.2 105 576.3
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Plan assets for the principal schemes comprised: W
2021 2020 3
UK USA Germany UK USA Germany é.
£m £m £m £m £m m P
Hedgs funds 175 - - 20.8 - - g
Equities 9.5 97.2 1.5 107.2 88.8 1.6
Debt instruments 2701 56.8 1.4 258.3 49.1 1.6
Property 9.2 245 - 88 20.6 -
Anquity assets 31 - - 5.2 - - o
Cash 9.1 - - 3.8 - - 2
Fair value of schemes’ assets 405.5 178.5 29 404.1 158.5 3.2 g
All investments in equities, bonds and property are quoted. ’
Present value of defined bensfit abligations comprised:
2021 2020 —_—
uK USA QGermany Other Total UK usA  Germany Gthaer Totat
£m £m £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January (456.4) (2203) (.0) (30.0) (797.7) (422.2) - (793 {(17.1) (518.6
Current service cost 09 (1.7 (0.4) (1.2) 4.2) ©.8) (1.8) {0.5) {1.0) 3.9
Past service cost - - - 1.2 1.2 [0.8) - {0.1) - 0.9
Interest expanse {6.3) {3.9) {0.6) (0.2) (10.5) B.2) 4.2) {1.0) 0.3 {137
Amounts recognised in income in
respect of defined benetit schames 7.2) (5.1) (1.0) 0.2) (13.5) (9.8) (5.8) (1.6} - (1.3) (185
Remeasuremant gains/losses) from: ' '
changes in financial assumptions 14.3 10.9 7.0 - 322 43.3) (19.8) (7.6} (1.8 (72.9)
changes in demographic assumptions 6.4 {0.3) - 1.1 T2 - - - 0.3 03
axpaerience adjustments 13.8 {3.4) {0.1) 1.5 11.8 - (1.2) - {0.1) (1.3
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income 34.5 7.2 8.9 2.6 51.2 {43.3) {20.8) (7.6 (1.6} {73.3)
Contributions:
Employers 0.8 - 2.2 0.6 3.7 0.8 20 2.1 0.3 5.2 T
Payments from plans: 3
Benefit payments 18.1 13.9 - 0.2 32.2 18.1 11.5 - 0.8 30.4 g
19.0 13.9 2.2 0.8 359 189 13.5 2.1 1.1 356 >
Scheme liabilities from acquired entities - - - - - - {228.7) - {(102) (2389 "_?Z‘
Disposals of subsidiary - - - 0.2 0.2 - - - — - %
Exchange adjustments - {1.9) 5.3 1.7 5.1 - 21.5 {4.6) {0.9) 16.0 2
At 31 Decomber (410.1) {206.2) (77.6) (24.9) (718.8) (4564} (220.3) (91.0) (30.0) (797.7} §

The Group remains committed to funding the deficits for the UK and US defined benefit schemes.

Following the 2018 triennial vatuation of the UK scheme, which completad in 2019, the Company committed to paying contributions for the
period to 5 April 2023, ingraasing from £16.4 million in the year commencing 6 April 2018 to £18.2 million for the year commencing € April 2022,
Contributions from the sponsoring companies are expected to be £17.8 million in 2022. The 2021 triennial valuation will be completed in 2022,

The defined benefit obligation of the US scheme was £73.4 million on acquisition. This has reduced to £27.7 million at 31 December 2021.
The Group is currently contributing $6 million par annum to help reduce this deficit,

The Group's other defined beneiit schemes are largsly unfunded, with minimal plan assets. Liabifities from these schemes are settled on a cash

basis as they fall duse.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

26 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Actuarial assumptions
The major assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2021 2020
ux usA Qermany Other UK USA Genmany Other
% % % % % % % %
Rate of increase in pensions in payrnant 3.20 0.00 1.00 2.00-3.40 2.80 0.00 100 1.80-2,75
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment 290 0.00 250 2.00-3.40 2.20 0.00 250 1.50-2,75
Discount rate 1.80 2.66 1.20 0.27-2.48 1.40 219 0.70 {0.80}-1.94
Inflation assumption 3.40 0.00 1.75 1.20-2.00 2.90 0.00 1.756 1.00-2.00

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics. Mortality assumptions are based
on country-specific mortality 1ables and, where appropriate, inciude an allowance for future improvements in life expectancy. in addition, where
cradible data exists, actual plan experience is taken into account. The Group's most substantial pension liabilities are in the UK, the US and
Germany where, using the mortality tables adopted, the expected Ifetime of average members currently at age 65 and average members at age
65 in 20 years’ tima is as follows:

201 . 2020
Retiring today Retiring in 20 years Retlring today Retlring in 20 years
UK USA Germany UK USA Germany UK USA  Germany UK Usa  Germany
Male . 812 86.4 85.5 88.8 874 88.2 87.3 86.4 85.3 889 87.3 88.1
Female 89.5 87.5 88.9 950.9 88.5 91.1 89.5 B7.4 88.8 91.4 88.4 91.0

The weighted average duration of the benafit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 14.9 years for the UK scheme (2020: 16.2 years),
10.7 years for the US scheme (2020: 11.3 years) and 17.2 years for the German schemas (2020: 18.4 ysars).

Sensitivity analysis
Significant actuarial assumptions for the dstermination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and mortality, The sensitivity analysis
below has been determinad based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, assuming

that all other assumptions are held constant: ~ .
Increase in schema liabllities
UK USA Germany
£m £m £m
Discourt rate ({decrease of 1%) 72 23 14
Future mortality rate (one year increase in expectancy) 19 7 3

The above sensitivities are basad on a change of assumption while halding all other assumptions constant. In practice this is unkikely to occur
and changes in some of the assumplions may have some corrglation. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to
significant actuarial assumptions, the same mathod (present value of tha defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period) has been appliad as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the balance sheet.

27 Share capital and reserves
Share capital

2021 2020 ‘ 2021 2020
Numbar Numbar £m Em
Ordinary shares of 10 pence
Shares in issue at 1 January 424,860,961 424 850,961 42.5 42.5
Issued in yoar 42,485,080 - 4.2 =
Shares in issue at 31 December 467,336,041 424 850,961 48,7 42.5

Ordinary shares carry no right to fixed income.
On 28 Octaber 2021 the Group completed a share placing, resulting in the issue of 42,485,080 ordinary shares at 485 pence per share.

Share premium

2029 2020

£m m

Batance at 1 January : 4211 421.1
Prernium arising on issue of shares 201.7 -
Expensaes of issug of shares (2.8) -
Balance at 31 December . 620.0 421.1

The shara premium account represents the difference between the issue price and the nominal value of shares issved.
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Retained aarnings

2021 2020
£m £m
Balance at 1 January 1924 204.4
Dividends paid {73.5) {12.8)
Net profit for the year 208.7 3.1
Actyarial gains/{losses) recognised in other comprehensive income 66.8 7.8)
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income {11.8) 3.5
Charge to aquity for equity-settled share-based payments 12 18
Balance at 31 December 3a83.8 192.4
Hedging and translation reserve
Cash flow
hedging Transiation
reaserve reserve Total
£m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2021 {13.4) {28.5) (41.9)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - 28 2.8
Gains on net investment hedges taken to equity - 33 33
Gain recognised on cash flow hedges:

Interest rate swaps 34 - 34
Reclassification to profit or loss:

Exchangs difference recycied on sale of business - 0.3 0.3
Balance at 31 December 2021 {10.0} (22.1) (32.1)
Balance at 1 Januvary 2020 {12.6) (6.9) (19.5)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - (37.5) (37.5)
Gains on nat investment hedges taken to equity - 15.9 159
Loss recoghised on cash flow hedges:

Interest rate swaps {0.8) - 0.8
Balance at 31 December 2020 {13.4) (28.5) {41.9)

Cash flow hedging reserve

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective in cash fow hedges.
The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss only when the hedged transaction impacts the
profit or loss, or is included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy.

Translation reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations, which relate to subsidiaries only, from their
functional currency into the parent’s functional currency, being sterling, are recognised directly in the tranglation reserve, Gains and losses on
hedging instruments that are designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations are included in the translation reserve.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021
i

28 Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations

2021 2020
£m m
Operating profit - continuing operations 308.5 58.4
Less: share of profits of joint ventures {2.6) (1.2)
305.9 57.2

Adjustments for:

. Depreciation of property, plant and equipmaent 54.4 54.0
Depreciation of right of use assets 9.8 10.9
Amortisation of other intangiblas 71 49 -
Sharu-Lused payments 21 20
Special ltems 142.4 131.2

Cash impact of restructuring and site closure costs (17.8) (25.3)
Cash impact of acquisition costs and related gains {&.6) 7.4
Pension tunding in excess of service cost ' (27.0) (18.8)
Movement in warking capital (82.8} 235
Cash generated from operations 387.5 232.2
Reconciliation of movement in working capital

{Increase)/decrease in inventories 87.7) 171
(Increase)/dacrease in trade and other receivables (64.8) 19.1
Increase/{decrease) In trade and other payables 69.7 (2.7
Movement in working capital (82.8) 23.5

29 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not included
in this note. Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are disclosed in the Company's financial stateaments where appropriate.

The UK defined benefit scheme is a related party; see note 26.
A summary of the key management compensation ralates to the Directors and members of the Executive Committee, is set out below:

2021 2020

Key t p tion £m £m
Short-term smployes bensfits 8.3 9.1
Pension costs 05 | 0.4
Share-based payments 24 2.0
10.9 11.5

30 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees
Guarantees and contingent liabilities of the Group amount to £2.5 milion (2020: £2.7 millicn) and relate to an environmental liability in France.

The Company and its subsidiaries have, in the normal course of business, entered into guarantees and counter-indemnities in respect
of performance bonds, relating 1o the Group's own contracts,
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31 Share-based payments

Performance Share Plan
The Group's Parformance Shara Plan is described in the Directors’ Ramungration raport on pages 112 to 126. In addition to the two Executive
Diractors, it is available ta other senior management. Movement in the options held under the scheme are defined as follows:
Welghted av. Weighted av.
axarcise axerclse
Options price (£) Uptions price (D)
2021 2021 2020 2020
numbar number number numbar
Qutstanding at 1 January 2,551,622 - 1,936,998 -
Granted during the year 875,330 - 1,134,333 -
Exercised during the year {214,389) - {40,146) -
Lapsed during the year (821,270) - {479,563) -
Outstanding at 31 December 2,391,293 - - 2,551,622 -
Exercisable at 31 December B 22,3687 - 49,554 -

The outstanding share options were all issuad under the Performance Share Plan. As at 31 December 2021 the foliowing options
wera outstanding:

Number

Exercisable between 20156 and 2023 . 8,318
Exercisable between 2017 and 2024 . 6,945
Exarcisable between 2018 and 2025 7,108
Exercisable between 2022 and 2029 729,704
Exercisable between 2023 and 2030 954,432
Exercisable between 2024 and 2031 . ' 684,790
2,391,293

The total exercise price far all the abova grants is Enil.

~
For options outstanding as at 31 December 2021, the exercise price was Enil and the weighted average remaining contractual life was 4.95 ysars
{2020: 5.16 years).

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was £4.64 (2020: £2.83).
The weighted average fair value of the options at the measurement date granted during the year was £3.60 (2020: £1.94). The valuation was

based on the following inbuts and assumgtions, using a Monte Carlo simulation model:

2021 2020
Weighted average share price (£) 4.68 2.59
Option price (E) - -
Valug of optionality . nil il
Vesting assumption 7% 75%

The vesting assumption is the sstimate at the measurement date of the percentage of the options that will uitimately vest and is based on market
conditiocns and management’s assessment of the likelihood of achievement of the perfarmancae criteria.

The Group also operatss a cash-settied share-based payment scheme for which there was an expense in the year of £1.8 mition
{2020: £2.4 million) and far which there was a liability at the year end of £4.0 million {2020: £2.9 million).

The Synthomer Employee Benefit Trust

The Company establlshed a trust, formerly the Yule Catto Employse Benefit Trust, on 17 July 1996 to distribute shares to employees snabling the
obligations wnder the Yule Catto Longer-Term Performance Share Plan and the Yula Catto Longer-Term Deferred Bonus Plan to be met.

Thae Trust is managed by the RBC Trustees (Guernssey) Limited, an independent company located in Guernssy.

At 31 December 2020, the Trust held 2,547 (2020: 8,939) ordinary shares in the Company with a market valye of £0.0 million (2020: £0.0 million}.
The dividends on these shares have baen walved. Al of the shares are undsr option. Costs are amortised over the life of the plans.

32 Share price information :
The middie market value of the listed ordinary shares at 31 December 2021 was 399.6 pence (31 December 2020: 449.6 pence).
During the year, the market price ranged between 388.6 pence and 564.0 pence. The latest ordinary share price is available

on the Group’s websile, www.synthomer.com
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
3 December 2021

33 Audit exemptions .

The tollowing subsidiaries have taken advantage of the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2021 available under S479a of
the Companies Act 20086, as the Company has given a statutory guarantee of all of the outstanding tiabilities of these subsidiaries as at

31 December 2021.

: Campany
Company megistration
Dimex Limited 01763129
Ecatto Limited ' 00978441
Harlow Chemical Company Limited 00778831
OMNCVA Performanca Chemicals Limited 03734749
OMMNOVA UK Holding Lirmiteq 07682224
PolymerLatex Limited 03438041
Revertex Limited 00873653
Super Sky Limited 02021871
Synthomer Overseas Limited 08349474
Temple Fields 510 (1415496
Temple Fields 514 Limitad 04541637
Temple Fields 515 Limited 00692510
Temple Fields 522 Limited ‘05516912
Temple Fields 523 Limited 05516313
Temple Fields 530 Limited 00831113
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Synthomer is a global leading
suppliar of Acrylonitrile Butadiens
Rubber (NBR latex) tor glove dipping
and associated healthcare industries.
Thesea products are designed to mest the highast
performance requirements of medical and industrial
glove manufacturers, providing high flexibitity and
cornfort as well as a high barrier protection for the
end user. Gloves manufactured from Synthomer's
speciality NBR latex ensure a combination of high
tensite strength, good elongation and refaxation
to cater to the specific neads of medical,
. examination, clean raom, food handling,
~ medical drug handling and chemical
' laboratory applications
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Company financial statements 4

Company statement of financial position
as at 31 Decembar 2021

2021 2020

Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 4.4 56
QOther intangible assets 5 41.5 -
Invastrment in subsidiaries and joint vantures 3 537.9 370.8
Defsrred tax assets MY -
Total non-current assets 585.6 376.4
Current assets
Other debtors 6 1,279.7 1,445.6
Cash and cash equivalents 2489 42.6
Derivativa financial instruments 2] 3.0 1.4
Total current assets 1,531.86 1,489.6
Current liabilities
Borrowings B {10.4) {44.0}
Other payables 7 (180.8) (164.8)
Provisions {57.2) -
Derivative financial instrumants ’ 9 - (9.1) (18.8)
Lease liabilities {0.7) {0.7)
Total current liabilities (258.2) (228.3)
Net current assets 1,273.4 1,261.3
Total assets less current liabilities 1,859.0 1,637.7
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 8 (619.5) 643.9)
Lease liabilities ) {1.7) 2.3)
Total non-current liabilities {821.2) ' {646.2)
Net assets 1,237.8 991.5
Equity
Share capital 10 46.7 42,5
Share premium . 10 620.0 421 1
Revaluation reserve 43 0.8
Capital redemption reserve ! 09 0.8
Retained earnings 569.4 526.2
Total equity 1,237.8 991.5

As disclosed in note 2, the Company's profit for the year was £112.1 million {2020: £193.5 millien}.
The notes on pages 176 to 180 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Synthomer plc {Fagistered numbar $8381) on pages 174 to 180 were approved by the Board of Directors
Ha ised forssue on 3 March 202! They are signegl on its behalf by:

an
A/\ b
M Willome S G Bennptt

Director Dirgctor
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Company financial statements

Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2021

Capital w
Share Share dempti Retained Total i
capital premium raserve resorve aarninge aquity =
£m £m £m £m £m £m g
At 1 January 2021 42.5 4211 08 0.9 526.2 991.5 Q
Profit for the year - - - - 1121 1121 5
Total comprahensive income for the year .= - - - 11241 1121
Issue of shares 4.2 198.9 - - - 203.1 I
Dividends - - - - (73.5) (73.5)
Share-based payments - - - - 1.2 1.2 od
Fair value gain on hedged interest rate derivatives - - - - 34 34 ;§;
At 31 December 2021 48.7 620.0 0.8 0.8 569.4 1,237.8 %
Capltal
Share Share  Revaluation redemption Retelned Totat
capital premium raserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m tm £m
At 1 January 2020 425 421.1 08 [ake) 3446 809.9
Profit for the year - - - - 193.5 163.5 o
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 1835 193.5 g
Dividends - - - - (12.8 (28 | g
Share-based payments - - - - 18 1.8 2
Fair valug loss on hadged interest rate derivatives - -~ - - (0.9) 09 |a
At 31 December 2020 42.5 4211 0.8 0.9 526.2 991.5 §‘
4
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements
31 December 2021

1 Significant accounting policies

The separate financial statements of the Company are presentad as required by the Companies Act 2006. The Company meets the definition of
a qualifying entity under FRS 100 ‘Application of Financial Reporting Requirements’ issued by the FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements
were prepared in accordance with FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Cornpany has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to
share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective and
certain related party transactions.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the remeasuremant of certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

The basis of accounting and the principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements except as noted below,

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairmant. The carrying amounts of the
Company's investments are reviewad at each reporting date to determing whether there is an indication of impairment. If such an indication
exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Losses are recognised in the income statement and reflscted in an allowance against
the carrying value. When a subsequent evant causes the amount of impairment 10ss 10 decrease, the decrease in impairment l0ss is reversed
through tha income statement.

Intercompany balances are shown gross unless a right of set-off exists. Balances are valued at fair value at inception and are repayabls on
demand. All intercompany loans are repayabie on demand and the Company has the ability to refinance any of its subsidiaries using equity
allowing the subsidiary 1o repay ahy receivables owed to Synthomer plc.

Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liabilty In the Company's financial staternents in the period in which
the dividends are approvad by the Company's shareholders.

There are no significant accounting judgements and estimates applied in preparing the Company’s account except for the impairment testing of
amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings. When measuring the potential impairment of receivables from subsidiaries, forward-looking
information based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers arg considered.

2 Profit for the year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2008, no separate profit and loss account or statemant of comprehensive income is
presented for Synthomer plc. The Company reported a profit of £112.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: profit of
£193.56 mikion}.

Auditor remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statemeants.

The Company had no employees during the current or prior year.

3 Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures

202 2020
Joint Joint
Subsidiaries ventures Total Subsidiaries ventures Toiat
Em £m £m £m £m cm

Cost
At 1 January 3705 0.5 371.0 264.3 0.5 264.8
Additions 167.1 - 1671 106.2 - 106.2
At 31 December | 537.6 0.5 538.1 3705 0.5 371.0
Provisions
At 1 and 31 December January - {0.2) {0.2) - {0.2) 0.2}
Net hook value
At 31 December 537.6 0.3 537.9 370.5 0.3 3708 -

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries and joint ventures are included in note 12 on pages 179 and 180.
In March 2021 the Company capitalised a loan receivable from Temple Fields 514 Limited.
The Directors consider the value of investmants to be supported by underlying assets.
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4 Property, plant and equipment @
2021 2020 g
Freehold ‘3
Right of use land and Piantand Right ofuss Freehold land Plant and o
qQuip Totel buildings  and buikiings equipmant Total 3
E';n t-rn £m £m £m £m tm £m §
Cost . 2
At 1 January 41 a0 0.6 1.7 4.1 30 - 71
Additions - - 0.1 0.1 - - 06 0.6 -
Transters to other intangible assets - - {0.6) {0.6) - - - - o
At 31 December X 3.0 01 72 41 3.0 v 77|
’ g
Accumulated depreciation 2
At 1 January 1.2 0.9 - 21 06 0.8 - 1.5
Charge for the ysar : 0.7 - - 0.7 0.6 - - 0.6
At 31 December 1.9 0.9 - 2.8 1.2 0.8 - 2.1 I
Net book value g’
At 31 December 2.2 2.1 0.1 4.4 2.9 2.1 0.6 56 §
. . . a
Freehold land amounting to £1.8 million {2020: £1.8 million) has not been depreciated. g
B
5 Other intangible assets 1 &
2021 2020 =3
£m £m g
Cost z
At 1 January - -
Agditions \ 2.1 -
Transfers from Group undertakings 409 . -
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 0.6 -
At 31 December ’ 43.6 -
Accumulated depreciation —
A1 1 January - -
Charge for the year 24 - -§~
At 31 December . 2.1 - 'g
Net book value
At 31 December 41.5 =

The first phase of the Group’s Pathway Programme systams transformation projact was successfully deployed in May 2021. Now that the system
is operational, costs have been transferred to the Company.

SluIwWIes B2

In April 2021, the IFRS Interpretations Commitiee issued a new interpretation in relation to accounting for customisation and configuration costs
of cloud computing arrangements. Following a detailed review, it was confirmed that the new interpretation does materially impact the
accounting treatment for costs incurred on the Group's Pathway programmae.

6 Debtors
2021 2020
N £m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,275.0- 1.443.4
Other receivables 0.8 13
Prepaymaents and accruad income 4.1 1.1

1,279.7 1,445.6

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are rgpayable on demand.

Of the Company's amounts owed by Group undertakings, £149.0 million is impaired (2020: £148.0 million). Future expected credit losses
on amounts receivable from subsidiaries are immaterial.
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Cormpany financial statemants

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2021

7 Other creditors

2021

2020

£m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 1425 1482
Other creditors 35 4.2
Accruals and deferred income _ 348 12.4
180.8 164.8
Amounts owed to Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand.
8 Borrowings Y
2021 2020
£m £m
Current borrowings
Ovardrafts 104 34.4
Current borrowings - 9.6
10.4 44.0
Non-current borrowings
Bank loans 187.9 186.2
€520m 3.875% senior unsecured loan notes due 1 July 2025 431.6 457.7
619.5 643.9
Details of borrowings are provided in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
9 Financial instruments
The fair value of the financial instruments disclosed in the Company’s statement of financial position are as follows:
) 2021 2020
Carrying Carrying
Vatuation amount amount within
categery In Fair valua Carrying within scopa Carying scope of IFRS
accardance hiararchy amount of IFRS 7 Falr value amount 7 Falr value
with IFRS 8' leve! £m £m £m tm Em £m
Other receivables AC Level 2 1,279.7 1,275.6 1,275.6 1,445.8 1,445.8 1,445.6
Cash and cash equivalents AC Level 2 2489 248.9 248.9 42.6 42.6 428
Derivatives — no hedge accounting FVTPL Level2 30 3.0 3.0 14 1.4 1.4
Total assets 1,531.6 1,527.5 1,527.5 1,489.6 1,488.6 1,489.6
Borrowings AC Level 2 (629.9) {629.9) (639.8) 687.9) (687.9) {699.1)
Trade and other payables AC  Level2 (180.8)  {180.6)  (180.8) (164.8) {164.0) {164.0)
Cerivatives — no hedgs accounting FVTPL Level 2 (@.1) {9.1) (9.1) {18.8) {18.8) (18.8)
Total liabilities , (819.8) {819.6) (829.5) {871.5) (870.7} {881.9)

1. AG: amortised cost; FVTOCI: fair value through other comprehensiva income; FYTPL: falr value through profit or loss,

Further disclosuras on financial instrumants are included in note 22 of the consolidatad financial statements.

10 Share capital and share premium
Details of the Company's share capital and share premium are shown in noté 27 of the consolidated financial statements.

11 Guarantees and other financial commitments

The Company has provided financial guarantees amounting to £20.1 million (2020: £31.9 million) in respect of bank and other facilities of
subsidiaries and joint ventures,
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12 Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Principal Ownership

Princlpal Ownership
%

Country of Incorporation and registered addrass activty % Couniry of Incorporation and registered address acthvity

United Kingdom Egypt

Central Road, Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H Industriel Zone 1-B, 10th of Ramadam City, Sharkiya

Dimex Limitad ‘ Holding Company 100 Synthomer SAE Trading 20
Ecatio Limited Holding Company 1000 Finland

Harlow Chemical Company Limited Holding Comparty 1007 PO Box 175, Ouly, FI 80101

OMNCOVA Perlformance Chermicals Limited Dommant 100 Syrithomer Finland Oy Dormant 100
OMNOVA UK Holding Limited Dormant 100 France

PolymerLatex Limited Holding Cormparty 100 14 avenue des Tropiquas, Z.A. de Courtaboeuf 2, VilieJust, 81955
Revertex Limited Dormant 0P OMNOVA Solutions France Holding SAS Holding Company 100
S.A. (300) Limited Helding Company 1008 OMNOVA Solutions Internationat SAS Holding Company 100
Star Pharma Limited Doymant 100 OMNOVA Solutions SAS Trading 100
Super Sky Limited Helding Company 50'3 | 704 rue Pierre ot Marie Curie, Ribécourt-Dreslincourt, 60170
Syntherner (UK} Limited Trading 100 Synthomer France SAS Trading 100
Synthomer Holdings Limited Holding Company 100° 6 Place de la Madelaine, Paris, 75008

Synthomer Overseas Limited Holding Company 100° Yule Catto International SA Non-Trading 100
Témpls Figlds 510 Dormant 100 Germany

Temple Fields 514 Limited Holding Company 100° Waerrestrasse 10, Marl, 45768

Temple Fields 515 Limited Holding Company 100 Synthomer Deutschland GmbH Trading 100
Temple Fields 522 Limited Holding Company 1008 Temple Fiekls GmbH Non-Trading 100
Temgpie Fields 523 Uimited Holding Corrpany 1002 Yule Catto Holdings GmbH~ Holding Company 100
Temgple Fislds 530 Limited Holding Company 100 India

William Blythe Limited Trading 100 1001, Meadows, Sahar Plaza, Andheri-Kurla Road, Andheri East,

45 Pall Mall, London, SW1Y 5.G Mumbal 400059

Synthomer Treding Limitad Trading 100 OMNOVA India Trading LLFP Trading 100
44 Esplanade, St Heller, Jersey, JE4 9WG Italy

Synthomer Jersay Limited Dormant 100% Via delle Industrie 9, Fllago, BG, 24040

Austratla Synthomer S.r.l. Tracling 100
§8 Gipps Street, Collingwood, Victoria, 3066 Via Morozzo 27, Sant’Albano Sture, CN, 12040

Synthomer Australla Pty Limited Trading 100 | Synthomer Speciaity Resing S.r.. Tradling 100
Austria Piazza Cavour 3, Mitano, MI, 20121

Industriepark, Pischelsdort, 34358 UQUIFA ltalia S.r.l. Non-Trading 100
Synthomer Ausiria GmbH Trading 100 Malaysia

China Unit 168-2, Wisma Uoa Damansara I, 8 Changkat Semantan, Damansara

Bullding 53-55, 1000 Zhangheng Road, Zhang)iang Hi-Tech Park,
Pudong, Shanghai, 201203

Shanghal Synthomer Chemicals Co Ltg Trading 100
8 Hua Jing Road, China (Shanghai} Pilot Free Trade Zone, Shanghai,
20091

OMNOVA Performance Chamicals Trading

{Shanghai} Co Lid Trading 100
210 2Zhou Gong Road, Shanghal Chamical Industry Park, Shanghal
201507 .

OMNOVA Shanghai Co Lid Trading 100
308 Jiangbln Road, Xiaogang United Davelopment Zone, Ningbo
Economic & Technical Development Zone, Ningbo, 315803 '

OMNOVA Ninghe Co Ltd Trading 100
55 Xi Li Road, China (Shanghai) Pllot Free Trade Zone, Shanghai,
200131

Eliokem Trading (Shanghai) Co Lid Trading 100
Czech Republic

Tovarni 2093, Sokolov, 356 01

Synthomer AS Trading 100
V Celnicl 1031/4, Prague, 110 00

Synthomer Holdings (CZE) SRO Non-Trading 100

Heights, Kuala Lumpur, 50480

Desa Baiduri Sdn Bha Property Letting 70
Kind Action (M) Sdn Bhd Trading 70
Polymarlatex Sdn Bhd Trading 100
Quality Polvmer Sdn Bhd Trading 0
Revertex {Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Trading 70
Rexplas Sdn Bha Dormant 70
Synthomer Sdn Bhd Trading 100
Terra Simfoni Sdn Bhd Holding Company 100
Mauritius

c/o Citco {Mauritius) Limited, Tower A, 1 Cybarcity, Ebene

OMNOVA Asia Pacific Corp Holding Company 100
Standard Charted Tower, 19 Cybercity, Ebene

OMNOVA Holding Limited Holding Cormpary 10D
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 Decamber 2021

.

12 Subsidiaries and joint ventures continued
Principal Ownership

Principal Ownership
%

Gountry of Incorporetion and registered add:ess activity % Couniry of incorporation and registered addrass aciivity
Netherands Thaltand

ljsselstraat 41, Oss, 5347 KG 111/7 Moo 2, Nikompattana District, Rayong, 21180

Synthomer BV Trading 100 OMNQVA Engineered Surfaces (Thailand) Co

Yula Catto BV Non-Trading 100 Lid Trading 100
Yule Catte Nederland 8V Non-Traging 100 | VAE

Speltdijk 15704Rj Helmond Building 2101, Office S10122A2, Jabel All Free Zone, Dubai

Xynira Invastmants BY Non-Trading a3 Synthomer Functionat Solutions FZCO Trading ag’

Portugal

Rua Francisco Lyon da Castro, 28, 2725-397 Mem Martina

OMNOVA Solutions Portugal 5A Trading 100
Lyon28 - Imabiliario SA Neon-Trading 100
Saudi Arabia ’

27 Street, 2nd Industrial City, Dammam, 31472

Synthomer Middle East Company Ltd Trading 49

Singapore
Ocean Financial Cantre, 10 Collyer Quay, 049315
OMNOVA Performance Chemicals Singapore

Pta Ltd Trading 100

Spain

Camino de Sangroniz 8, Sondika, 48150
Synthorner Asua SL

Paseo de la Castellana 177, Madrid, 28046
OMNOVA Solutions {Espana) SL

Rambla da Catalunya 53, Barcelona, 08007
Yule Catto Spain SL

Trading 100

Non-Trading 100

Non-Trading 100

Sweden
Tostarpsvagen 11, Kavlinge, 244 32 ¢
Synthomer Speciality Additives AB Trading 100

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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East Wing 2, Otfice 201, Po Box 54645, Dubal Alrport Free Zane, Dubai

Synthomer F2C0 Trading 49
Usa

1201 Psachtree Straet NE, Atlanta, GA, 30361

Synthemer LLC Trading 100
Yule Catto Inc Non-Trading 100
160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, DE, 19904

Synthorner USALLC Trading 100
26435 Harvard Road, Beachwood, Ohio 44122-6201

Oecorstive Products Thailand inc Halding Campany 100
OMNOVA Querseas Inc Non-Trading 100
OMNOVA Solutions Inc Trading 100
OMNOVA Wallcovering (USA} Inc Helding Company 100
Synthomer NBR Solutions LLC Dormant 100
Yietnam

B, 6th Street, Song Than Industrial Park, Di An

Synthomer Viaetnam Co Lid Trading &0
Notes

1. Joint vertures.
2. Harlow Chemical Company Uimited is Incorporated in UK but Is resident In Netharlands,
3. Sharas diractly hakd by Synthormer plc,
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Synthomer's Laminates & Films
busingss provides decorative
laminates for residential and
commaergial interior environmants.
The products include innovative, durable T
surfacas for a wide range of applications
from kitchen 1o bathroom, retail to
recreationat vehicles, and performance
fitms for luxury flooting, signage and
industrial applications.
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Other information .

Environment performance summary

2021 vs 2021 ve

2021 2020 2019 20204 2049"*
Energy consumption — metered {GJ)
Total
Entarged Group 5,662,464 5410255 5,466,905 4.66% 3.58%
UK only 838,554 340,477 329,741 -0.56% 2.67%
Energy consumption by source .
Gas 2,574,818 2422543 2479253 6.29% 3.85%
Light and Heavy Qils : 26,297 26,364 30,354 -0.26% -13.37%
Steam and hot water (metered) 392,030 838,485 933,895 6.39% -4.48%
Electricity (metered) 1418872 1,426,718 1,420,687 -0.55% -0.13%
Coal - 750,448 696,145 B02,716 7.80% 2451%
Specific energy consumption {GJ/tonne production)
Enlarged Group 3.16 3.09 3.08 2.36% 2.67%
UK only 4.31 3.95 4.22 9.00% 2,13%
Refrigerant Releases - HCFC and others
Total rafrigerant releases {tonne) , 1,805 1,687 2,581 7.01% -30.08%
Spacific refrigerant releases (kg/tonne production) 0.0010 0.0010 0.0015 4.66% -30.69%
Greenhouse Gas emissions {tonne COze)* %45
Total Scope 1 emissions . .
Enlarged Group 211,205 200,856 198,786 5.15% 6.25%
UK only 12,721 12,867 12,429 -1.13% 2.35%
Total Scope 2 emissions —~ Hybrid approach
Enlarged Group ) 63,362 178,017 213,258 -B4.41% -70.29%
UK onty . - 5893 6.266 5,308 -5.96% 11.01%
Total Scope 2 emissions — Market Base )
Enlarged Group - 69,914 182,701 227,400 -61.73% -69.26%
UK only 5893 6,266 5,308 -5.96% 11.01%
Total Scope 2 emissions - Location Base
Enlarged Group 211,059 222317 225,542 -5.06% -6.42%
UK only 7,828 8,785 8,367 -10.91% -6.46%
Total GHG emissions ]
Enlarged Group 274,557 378,873 412,044 -27.53% -33.37%
UK only 18,613 19,133 17,737  -2.72% 4.94%
Specific GHG emissions (tonne CO:e/tonne production)
Enlarged Group 0.153 0.216 0.232 -28.12% -33.95%
LK only 0.237 0.222 0.227 6.64% 4.39%
Greenhouse Gas emissions by source {tonne COze)
From energy® 269,536 373,984 403,570 -27.93% -33.21%
From refrigerant releases 5,021 4,887 8,474 2.72% -40.76%
Other emissions to air
Sulphur Dioxide (SG;) {tanne) 122,202 132.312 126.322 -7.64% -3.26%
Kilos SO,/tonne production 0.068 0.076 0071 -967%  -4.11%
Nitrous Oxides (NO,) (tonne)® 239.822 236.186  207.396 1.54% 15.63%
Kilos NO,/tonne proguction 0.134 0.135 0.117 -0.69% 14.63%
Volatile Organic Compaounds (VOCs) (tonne) 595.286 504932 5§15.008 17.89% 15.59%
Kilos VOCs/tonne production 0.332 0.288 0.280 15.31% 14.58%
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2021 vs 2021 vs

2021 2020 2019 2020* P
Water Usage
Total water withdrawal {m?) 7,862,459 7,241,228 7,177,835 8.58% 9.54%
Water usage by source {m?)
Fublic Potable Supply 1,712,987 1,683,337 1,811,502 1.76% -5.44%
Raw Water from River 3,357,138 2,978,227 2,791,844 12.72% 20.25%
Raw Water from Borehole 1,358,196 1,172,020 1,200,802 15.89% 13.10%
Raw Water form Canal 115,711 106,553 107,642 8.65% 7.55%
Raw Water from Other i 1,318,387 1,301,081 1,265,856 1.33%  4.15%
Specific water withdrawal (m#/tonne production) ’
Enlarged Group 4.39 413 4.04 6.20% 8.58%
Waste Management
Total Hazardous Waste {tonne) 24,110 22,118 23,909 9.01% 0.84%
Hazardous waste by source (tonne)
Recycled - energy recovery 2,931 3,244 3.777 -9.67% -22.41%
Recychad — saparated - reprocessed 5,065 6,418 5,959 -21.09% -15.00%
Incinerated — nc energy recovery 2,738 1,611 1,430 6994% 91.47%
Disposed by landfill 3,235 2,276 1,643 42.16% 96.91%
Other 10,141 8,567 11,100 18.38% -8.64%
Specific hazardous waste {kg/tonne production) 13.46 12.63 13.47 6.562% -0.04%
Total Non-Hazardous Waste (tonne) . 17,126 16,783 24,310 204% -29.55%
Non-hazardous waste by scurce {tonne)
Recycled — energy recovery 4,278 4,475 8,176 -4,41%  -47.68%
Recycled - separated — reprocessed 2,836 2,377 2,275 19.32% 24.66%
Incinerated — no energy recovery 22.31 17.03 186.00 3087% -BB.O1%
Disposed by landfill 8,011 8,170 11,808 -1.95% -32.16%
Other - municipality 1,979 1,745 1,865 13.44% 6.11%
Specific non-hazardous waste {(kg/tonne production) 9.56 9.58 13.70 -0.20%  -30.17%
Total Waste (tonne) 41,235 38,900 48,219 8.00% -14.48%
Specific total waste (kg/tonne production) 23.03 22.21 27.16 3.68% -15.23%
Total waste ta landfill (kg) 11,246 10,445 13,451 7.66% -16.30%
Specitic waste to landfill {kg/tonne procduction) 6.28 5.96 7.58 530% -17.12%
Production volume {tonne) 1,790,719 1,751,406 1,775,092 2.24% 0.88%
Footnote;

. Data relates to site usage of all fuels, excluding transpart of gods 10 and from site and the movemant of these vohicles on sita. Internal transpori on sita [s included.

2. Emissions 10 aif have been calculated from the wsage of ell fuals, excluding transport fuel. They therefore include both direct emissions and Indirect emissions relatsd to bought-in
electricity, staam, compressed alr, cooling water etc., with the exception of fransmission and distribution 1osges for electricity {thess losses are In Scope 3, his repart is tor Scopa 1 and 2),

3. COz equivalent emisalons inciude conivibutions from CH, and N, esscciated with combustion.

4. All drgct energy production from fossil fusls has been sggregated on a Group-wida basis and converted to COze by using the appropriate emlaslons factors. Ne sliowance hes been made
for possible country to country variaticn in caloriic value or COz emisslon factors for primary fuefs. Electriclty has baen converted 1o COz6 on a country by ¢country basis, Scope 2
emissions heve been calculated using thres diffarent approaches:

Market Base: uging market-basad emissions factors for elactriclty from suppliers of standard grid fuel mix tertfts. In case of suppliers emisslons fecters not availabts, the residual mix was
used for the EU sites and Location Base approach for non-EU sites. .

Location Base: using amigsions factors from DEFAA (dataset pubilshed In June 2021) were used for UK grid electricity and for ovarseas grid slectrichy from the relevant IEA finternational
Energy Aythority) "World COz Emisslons from Fuel Combustion” databases. In accordance with UK Government guidance, factors wsed for 2021 reporting are based on 2019 velidated
data.

Hybriy Approsch: using Location Basa info except for sites within the Group that purchase renewable energy ettriowta certificates, Electricity for these locations has been given a COze
emissions factor of zero in calcutating energy-related smissions toals.

The hybrid approach Is the approach that has baen usad by the Group i previous years 1o es1abligh the baseline and the targets. In order 1o ba able to compare historical performance
year to year, the total emissions (Scope 1 and 2) have been calculated using the hybrid approach.

5. The 1otal CO-e gure I3 the total of the COx equivalent from energy and the refrigerant contribution.

8. NO, emissions are predominantly those from cambustion processes. The GOz equivalant Globael Warming Potentia! contribution from these releases is already included in the CO: from the
energy figure above.

7. 2020 data has been modifled according te the detalls providad in the Envirgrwagnt section.

8. Parcentage changes are calculated from the base deta and may differ slightly from ¢hanges calculated irom the data in the tablas because of rounding.

9. Qur Stalingborough sita In the UK draws electdcity from an adjacent wasta incineratar. But since tha wasta [s both rer ble and nan Ble, tha site hag some assoclated emissions.
19 2021, the emissions trom 1his slectrchy were 0.438kg CO:e per kWh, Basad on cur datermination of tha factors usad for tha Ciimate Change Agreemant submission,

10.Enviranmentel performance data covers all manulaciuring operations and major officaftechnical centres, it excludes ail non-trading and officerales-relafed subsidiarles and joint ventures

Iisted on pages 179 and 180 of this Repor.
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Other information

GRI Content index

GRI Standard Disciosure Fage
GENERAL DISCLOSURES

Organisational profile

GRI 102-1 Name of the organisation + front cover
GRI 102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 3-7
GRI1 102-3 Location of headquarters back cover
GRI 102-4 Location of operations 3, 26, 30, 34, 39
GRI 102-5 Ownership and legal form 127-128
GRI 102-6 Marketa served 67
GRI 102-7 Scale of the organisation 2-5
GRI 102-8 Information on employaes and other workers online data pack
GRI 102-9 Supply chain . 51-53
GRI 102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and its supply chain 9, 22
GRI 102-11 Procautionary principle or approach 69-80
GRI 10212 External initiatives ' 44, 47,54
GRI 102-13 ] Mambership of associations 45
Strategy

GRI 102-14 Statemant from senior decision-maker 8-13
Ethics and integrity .

GRI 10218 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour 62, 65-67
Governance

GRI 10218 Governance structure 45, 84-93
Stakeholder engagement

GRI 102-40 List of stakeholder groups 46, 96-97
GRI 102-41 Collective bargaining agreemants 62
GRI 102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 46, 96-97
GRI 102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 46, 96-97
GRAI 102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 46, 96-97
Reporting practice

GRI 102-45 Ertities included in the conselidated financial staternents 179-180, 183
GRI 102-46 Defining report content and topic Boundaries 178-180, 183
GRI 102-47 List of material topics 46
GRI 102-48 Restatements of information 59, 61,183
GRI 102-48 Changes in reporting 58, 61,183
GRI 102-50 Reporting period 47
GRI 102-51 Date of most recent report 47
GRI 102-52 Reporting cycle a7
GRi 102-53 Contact point for quastions regarding the report 188
GRI 102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GR! Standards 47
GRI 102-55 GRI content index 184-185
GRI 102-56 External assurance 47
SPECIFIC DISCLOSVRES

Strategy and Business

GHAI 10341 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 44
GRI 103-2 The managemeant approach and its components 44
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 44
Risk Management

GAI 10215 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 46, 69-80
Governance and Compliance :

GAI 1031 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 45, 66, 81
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its componants ' 45, 66, 92
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 45, 66
Responsible and involved management

GRAI 102-20 Executive-level responsibility for economic, environmental, and social topics 45
Stakeholder involvement

GRI 102-21 Consulting stakeholders on economic, environmental, and social topics 46, 97
Compliance

GRI 205-2 Communication and training about anti-carruption policies and procedures 66
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GRI Standard Disclosure FPape w
Ethics and Infegrity g
GRI 102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics 66 G
People g
GRI 103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 62-63

GRI 103-2 The management approach and its components 62-63

GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 652-84
Employment conditions

GRI401-1 New employee hires and employae turnover 62 ‘é’
Einployees diversity and inclusion 3
GRI 405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 84 g
Employees development, training and education

GRI 4041 Average hours of training per year per employee online data pack

GRI 404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews online data pack
Communities support

GRI 413-1 Qperations with local community engagement, impact assessments, and development programs 67-68 o
Safety g
GRI 103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 54 2
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its components 54 a
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 55-57 %
Occupational Health and Safety §
GRI 4031 Qccupational health and safety management system 57 £
GRI 403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident investigation 55-57 “
GRI 403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on ggcupational health and safety 54-57

GRI 403-5 Worker training on occupational heaith and safety 55-57

GRt 403-6 Promation of worker heaith 55

GRI 403-8 Warkers covered by an occupational health and safety managernent system 54-57

GRI 403-9 Work-related injuries 65

GAI 403-10 ‘Work-ralated ill health 55
Environment

GRI 1031 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 54,58 o
GRI 103-2 The management approach and #s components 58-59 3
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 58-61 §
Energy g“
GRI 3021 Energy consumption within the organisation 182 g
GRI 302-3 Energy intansity 59, 182 2
GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 59-60, 182 g
Water 2
GRI 303-3 Watar withdrawal 60-6%, 183

GRI 303-5 Water consumption 60-61
Emissions

GRI 30511 Direct {Scope 1) GHG emissions 182

GRI 305-2 Energy indirect {Scope 2) GHG emissions 182

GRI 305-4 GHG emissions intensity B0, 182

GRI 305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 60, 182

GRI 305-7 Nitrogen oxides {NO,), sulphur oxides {SO,), and other significant air amissions 182 o
GRI 306-2 Waste by type and disposal method 61, 183 z
Sustainable Value Chain 3
GRI 1031 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 51 g
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its components 51-53 . ;—’-
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 51-53 2
Procurement

GRt 308-1 New suppliers that were screened using envircnmental griteria 51

GRI 414-1 New suppliers that were screened using social criteria 51
Product Safety

GRI 4161 Assessment of the heatth and safety impacts of product and service catagories 50

GRI 418-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services 50

GRI 417-1 Requirements for product and service information and labelling 50

GRI 417-2 Incidents of non-¢compliance ¢ongerning product and senvice inforimation and labeling 50

GRI 417-3 Incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing communications

50
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Other information

Glossary of terms
AC Amortised Cost IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
ACC American Chemical Council 15 Industrial Specialities
AGM Annual General Mesting ISA International Standards of Auditing
AIMS Accident and Incident Management Sysiem KPIis Key Performance Indicators
AM Acrylate Monomers ktes Kilotonne or 1,000 tonnes (metric)
APMs Alternative Performance Measures LIBOR London Inter-Bank Offer Rates
BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic LMS Learning Management System
c&cC Construction and Coatings LTA Lost Time Accident
CA&F Carpet and Foam LTIP Long-Term Incentiva Plan
Capital Net assets excluding thirg party net dabt M&A Mergers and Acquisitions
emptoyed ManEx Manufacturing Excellence
CASE Coatings, Adhesives, Sealants and Elastomers MCO Movement Control Order
CDP Carbon Disclosure Project MOC Managemant of Change
CGU Cash Generating Unit MYR Malaysian Ringgits
CH, Methane N,0 Nitrous Oxide
CHP Combined Heat and Power NBR Nitrile Butadiene Rubbear
CIA Chamical Industries Association NED Non-Executive Director
CO; Carbon Dloxide Net debt Cash and cash equivalents together with short- and
CO.e Carbon Dioxide equivalent long-term borrowings
Constant Reflacts current year results for existing business NO, Nitrogen Oxides
currency translated at the prior year's average exchange rates, | OEM Qriginal Equipment Manufacturer
and includes the impact ot acquisitions Operating Opoerating profit represents profit from continuing
CRM Customer Relationship Management system profit activities before finance costs and taxation
CSR Corporate Social Responsibility PBT Profit Before Tax
DEFRA Departmant for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs PE Parformance Elastomers
EBITDA EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before PHA Process Hazard Assessmant
depreciation, amortisation and Special ltems PPE Property, Plant and Equipment
EGM Extraordinary General Meeting PSA Pressure Sensitive Adhesive
EPDLA European Polymer Dispersion and Latex Association | pgg Process Safety Events
EPS Earnings Per Share PSP Perlormance Share Plan
ERP Enterprise Resource Planning PTW Permit to Work
ESG Environmental, Socia! and Governance PVGC Polyvinyl Chiorice
EUUS Europe, Middle East, Africa and Americas R&D Research and Development
FEED Front End Engineering Design RC Responsible Care
FP Functional Polymers ROIC Return on Invested Capital is calculated as Group
FRC Financial Reporting Council Underlying operating profit as a percentage of Group
Free Cash The movement in net debt before financing activitias, capital employed )
Flow foreign exchange and the cash impact of Special SBR Styrene Butadiene Rubber
ltemns, asset disposals and business combinations sSD Sustainable Developmant
FRS Financial Reperting Standard SDG Sustalnable Development Goals
FS Functional Solutions SEC Speciiic Energy Consumption
FVTOCI Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income SHE Safety, Health and Environment
FVTPL Fair Value Through Profit or Loss SHEMS Satety, Health and Environment Managament
GDP Gross Domestic Product System
GDPR General Data Protection Regulation SOFR Secured Qvernight Finanging Rate
GHGs Greenhouse Gases SONIA Sterling Overnight Index Average
GJ Gigajoule STEM Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics
GR! Global Reporting Initiative TCFD Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
GTI Global Technology and Innovation The Code The UK Corporate Governance Code
GWP Global Warming Potential TSR Total Shareholder Return
H&P Heaith & Protection UK GAAP UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
HR Human Resources Underlying Underlying parformance represents the statutory
HSSBR High Solids Styrene Butadiene Rubber performance performancs of the Group under IFRS, excluding
IAS Intgrnational Accounting Standard Special tems
IBORS Inter-Bank Offerad Rates vOCs Volatile Organic Compounds
ICCA International Council of Chemical Associations
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Qther information

‘Historical financial summary

2021 2020 2019 2018 007 2016 2015 @
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m g
Revenue 2,329.5 1,644.2 1,459.1 1,618.9 1,480.2 1,045.7 870.1 2
Q
Underiying performance (a) E
EBITDA [(=)] 522.2 259.4 177.9 181.0 176.2 160.1 125.0 g
Qperating profit © 450.9 189.6 12658 142.1 139.0 130.2 102.9
Finance costs {30.8) {29.6) 9.65) {7.0) (9.0) {8.0} (7.6
Profit before taxation 420.1 160.0 116.2 135.1 130.0 122.2 95.3
Baslc garnings per share vl 75.2p 28.9p 25.3p 30.7p 28.7p 26.4p 20.1p o
Dividends per share {f} 30.0p 11.6p 4.0p@ 12.2p 11.4p 10.5p 8.0p 2
Dividend cover 25 2.5 6.3 25 2.5 2.5 2.5 g
@
IFRS :
Operating profit {c) 308.5 58.4 11086 128.7 95.4 144.7 80.3
Finance costs (24.6) {38.1) (10.1) {8.4) {9.0) 8.0} 78 —
Profit before taxation 2839 20.3 100.5 120.3 86.4 136.7 72.5
Basic earnings per share I 48.3p 0.7p 21.5p 27.4p 20.3p 30.3p 16.6p %’
Dividends per share 1] 30.0p 11.6p 4.0p@ 12.2p 11.4p 10.5p 8.0p g
Dividend cover 1.6 0.1 5.4 2.2 1.8 2.9 2.1 §
B
Net debt d {114.2) (482.2) 20.7 {214.0) {180.5) {150.3) {80.1) §
Capital expenditure (8) B82.2 53.8 69.1 75,7 80.3 45,6 22.8 g
Notes: - =
{a) As presented In the consolidated Income statement on page 137.
(b} As defined In the accounting policies nole and reconclied In note 5.
{c) As defined In the accounting pokcies note on page 142.
{d} As reconciled in nota 21,
1#) As prasented on the consolidated cash ficw statemant.
[0 Diidends and earnings per share figures for 2018 and prior have been restalad to reflect the bonus factor of 1,0713 arising from the rights Issue which completed on 29 July 20189,
ig) The proposed final 2019 dividend was cancelled to presarve cash, kquidily and balance sheat strength at tha onset of COVID-18 In March 2020.
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Other information

Advisers

Registered office
Synthomer plc

Temple Fields

Harlow

Essex

Ch20 2BH

Registered number 98381

Caompany Secretary
Richard Atkinson

Bankers

Barclays Bank plc
Citibank
Commerzbank AG
HSBC Bank plc
Santander
Goldman Sachs
SEB

Joint stockbrokers
Barclays Bank plc and Numis Securities Ltd
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Registrars

Computershare Investor Services pic
Lochside Mouse

7 Lochside Avenue

Edinburgh Park

Edinburgh

EH12 60J

Independent auditors
PricewatarhouseCoopers LLP

Charterad Accountants and Statutory Auditors
tondon

Solicitors
Harbert Smith Freehills LLP
Squire Patton Boggs (UK) LLP



